ASLP Dairy Project Publications



ASLPDairyProject

UniversityofVeterinary&AnimalSciences,Lahore Tel:+92-42-37212339Website:www.aslpdairy.com



ASLPDairyProject UniversityofVeterinary&AnimalSciences,Lahore www.aslpdairy.com





Contents

Sr. No.	TOPICS	Page No.
	PUBLISHEDPAPERS	
1.	Effectofpre-weaningfeedingregimensonpost-weaninggrowth performanceofSahiwalcalves	02
2.	Selectinganappropriategeneticevaluationmodelforselection inadevelopingdairysector	10
3.	Pattern of partitioning of a flat oxins from feed to urine and its effect on serum chemistry in Nili-Ravibuff aloheifers	21
4.	Transferofaflatoxinsfromnaturallycontaminatedfeedto milkofNili-Ravibuffaloesfedamycotoxinbinder	27
5.	PerinatalNutritionoftheCalfandItsConsequencesfor LifelongProductivity*	36
6.	AReviewofRecentDevelopmentsinBuffalo ReproductionAReview	47
7.	Strategictest-dayrecordingregimestoestimatelactationyield intropicaldairyanimals	54
8.	ParticipationofWomeninDairyFarmPracticesunder SmallholderProductionSysteminPakistan	71
9.	ProductionAndReproductionPerformanceOfNili- RaviBuffaloes UnderFieldConditionsOfPakistan	75
10.	EffectofdietonpreweaningperformanceofSahiwalcalves	81
11.	ModificationOfLactationYieldEstimatesForImproved SelectionOutcomesInDevelopingDairySectors	90
12.	Factorsaffectingmilkpriceundersmallholderdairy productionsysteminPakistan	94
	CONFERENCEPROCEEDINGS	
13.	DevelopingaFeedCalendarforPakistan; ⁻ sSmall-Holder DairyFarmers	101
14.	RelationshipofBodyConditionScoreonCyclicityand PregnancyRateinNili-RaviBuffaloes	105
15.	ComparisonofTraditionalProstaglandinandCIDRBasedSynchronization ProtocolsonOestrousandFertilityinBuffaloesinLowBreedingSeasoninPakistan	108

Sr. No.	TOPICS	Page No.
16.	The Influence of Improved Colos trum Management and MilkFeeding Regimens on Serum Protein and Weight Gain in Sahiwal Calves in Pakistan Management and Man	114
17.	EffectofImprovedExtensionServicesonAdoptionRatesand ProductionofSmallHolderDairyFarmersinPakistan	117
18.	ParticipationofWomeninDairyFarmPracticesunder SmallHolderProductionSysteminPakistan	121
19.	MarketingMilkfromSmall-HolderDairyFarmersinPakistan	124
20.	ImprovedCalfRearingPracticesUnderSmallholder FarmingSystemsinPakistan	129
21.	EconomicComparisonofFeedingBuffaloandCowMilkto KundhiBuffaloCalvesinPakistan	134
22.	FactorsAffectingtheQualityofColostruminBuffalo	135
23.	FactorsAffectingtheMilkPriceinaSmall-holderDairy ProductionSystemofPakistan	136
24.	Transfer of A flat oxin from Highly Contaminated Feed to Milk and Effect of Mycotoxin Binder on Transferrate in Nili-Ravi Buffaloes	137
25.	$\label{eq:constraint} Utilisation of conserved for a geto improve lives to ckproduction on small holder farms in Asia and A frica$	139
26.	Effectofbodyconditionscoreonmilkproductionand reproductiveinbuffalo	147
27.	EstablishingASuccessfulDairyCommunityDevelopment Program:TheChallengesAndPitfalls	148
28.	New Extension Model for Small Holder Dairy Farmers in Pakistan	151
29.	Dairyenterpriseandwholefarmperformanceinmixed farmingsystems:Punjab,Pakistan	153
30.	Identifyingproducer,middlemen,retailerandconsumerissuesfroma pro-poorvaluechainperspective:AdairycasestudyfromPunjabofPakistan	155
31.	Effectofimprovedextensionservicesonadoptionratesandfarm economicsofsmallholderdairyfarmersinPakistan	165
32.	Sustainabilityofmilkproductionfromsmall-holderfarmers: aPakistaniperspective	169
33.	Theimpactofextensionprogramstoincreasetheproductivity	176

aninternational Journal of Aninternational Journal of Animal Bioscience





Animal,page1of6&TheAnimalConsortium2012 doi:10.1017/S1751731112000250

Effectofpre-weaningfeedingregimensonpost-weaninggrowth performanceofSahiwalcalves

S.A.Bhatti1-,A.Ali1,H.Nawaz1,D.McGill2,M.Sarwar1,M.Afzal3,M.S.Khan4,Ehsanullah5, M.A. Amer6,R.Bush7,P.C.Wynn2andH.M.Warriach2

1 InstituteofAnimalNutritionandFeedTechnology,UniversityofAgriculture,Faisalabad,Pakistan;2EH Graham Centre, NSW Industry and Investment and Charles Sturt University, Wagga Wagga,Australia; 3Pakistan Agricultural Research Council, Islamabad, Pakistan; 4Department of Animal Breeding and Genetics, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan; 5Department of Agronomy, University of Agriculture,Faisalabad,Pakistan;6LivestockProductionResearchInstitute,Bahadurnagar, Okara,Pakistan;7FacultyofVeterinaryScience,UniversityofSydney,Camden,Australia (Received7June2011;Accepted6January2012)

ABSTRACT:

The objective of the study was to assess the post-wearing growth response of Sahiwal calves reared on four differentpreweaningdietaryregimens.Thefourdietswere:(a)wholecow'smilk,starterration(SR:CP520%, totaldigestiblenutrients(TDN)572%)andBerseemhay(H;Egyptianclover;CP521%,TDN563%);(b)whole cow'smilk1H;(c)milkreplacer(MR;reconstitutedtosupplierspecification;SprayfoR)1SR1H;and(d)MR1H. TheproteinandfatpercentagesofreconstitutedMRwere2.22and1.84, respectively.MilkorMRwerefedatthe rateof10% of the calves' body weight (BW) until 56 days of age, and then with drawn gradually until we aned completelyby84daysofage.TheaverageinitialBWofcalvesingroupsA,B,CandDwere56.361.0,47.561.0, 40.461.0 and 30.361.0 kg, respectively. Initially, there were 12 calves in each group with six of each sex; however, one male calf died from each of groups Band Candweren ot replaced. During the post-weaning period, 13to24weeks,thecalveswerefedasingletotalmixedrationadlibitumbasedonmaize,canolameal,wheat strawandmolassescontaining16%CPand70%TDN.DailyfeedintakeandweeklyBWgainswererecorded. ThedatawereanalyzedbyMIXEDmodelanalysisproceduresusingthestatisticalprogramSAS.Theintakeof calvesaspercentoftheirBW,feedconversionratioandcostperkgofBWgainwerenotdifferent(P.0.05)across treatments.Thedailygainat24weeksofageforthepre-weaningtreatmentsA,B,CandDwere746633,660633, 654633 and 527633 g/day and the final live weights of calves were 11964.2, 10264.2, 9564.2 and 7564.2 kg, respectively.Gainswereinfluencedsignificantly(P,0.05)bypre-weaningtreatments.ThecalvesfedMRandH onlyduringthepre-weaningperiodwereunabletocatchuppostweaningwithcalvesonotherdietarytreatments. The calves fed whole milk from birth at the rate of 10% of live weight together with concentrates had higher the standard standweaningweightandsuperiorgrowthratepostweaningaswell. Thus, pre-weaningfeedingwasimportant for higherweaningweightsandsuperiorgrowthratespostweaning.

Implications

The calves fedmilk replacer (MR) and hay only during the pre-weaning period had slower growth rates post weaning compared with calves on other dietary treatments. The calves fed whole milk together with concentrates had higher weaning weights and superior growth rate postweaning as well. Total feeding cost was higher, but cost perkgbody weight (BW) gain was lower in milk-fed calves than in Mr fed calves during the pre-weaning period. However, feed conversion ratio and cost perkgo fBW gain was similar post weaning. Thus, for better performance during pre-and post weaning periods, the nutrition of calves is important from the day they are born.

≪2>

Introduction

Thegrowthpotentialoflivestockremainsunderutilizedbecauseofunderfeedingandpoormanagement.Neglect ofdairycalvesduringthepre-weaningorpost-weaningperiodsresultsindecreasedgrowthratesandadelayin theonsetofpubertyinthefemalecalves.CalvesinPakistanaregenerallyneglectedbecauseoftheirhighfeeding costsandlow-returnsfromtheirsaleatweaning(Bhattietal.,2009).

Hence, farmers are not motivated to raise healthymalecal veso fany breed of coworbuffalo (Ahmadetal., 2009). Raising replacement dairy heifers is costly and no commercial gain is attained until heifers reach lactating age (Greteretal., 2010). Strategies to reduce feeding costs during the pre-weaning period are needed to motivate the farmers to raise they oung calves formeator breeding purposes. Low cost feedings trategies include using milk replacers (Mrs), weaning the calves at an early age and increasing concentrate feed in take from ayoung erage (Hopkins, 1997; Hilletal., 2010). This will lead to decrease dage at first calving through accelerated grow th during the post-weaning phase (Brown et al., 2005). However, the growth performance of calves fed MRs, during the pre-weaning period, is inferior to that of milk-fed calves on an equivalent protein and energy basis until 45 days post weaning (Lee tal., 2009).

Kuehnetal. (1994) reported that low-fat (15.6% ondry matter (DM) basis) MRs promote higher starter dry matter intake than do high fat (21.6%) MR fed from 14 to 42 days of a gean dresult in higher live weight gain of Holstein calves. This suggests that here placement of energy provided by fat with that inconcentrate led to faster growth. Little is known of how tropically adapted breed such as the Sahiwal respond to different milk feeding regimes and their effect on concentrate intake and long-term growth performance postweaning. To develop an economical calfrearing protocol for this breed, the effects of feeding milk or MR at the rate of 10% live weight during the pre-weaning period on their postweaning performance using a single to talmixed ration (TMR) were investigated.

Thus, the objective of the study was to assess whether the poor growth response pre-weaning to milk replace relative to that formilk was offset beyond weaning at 84 to 168 days of age (24 weeks) in Sahiwal calves fed a balance dTMR.

Materialandmethods

Three-month-old weaned Sahiwal calves procured from the Livestock Experiment Station, Bahadurnagar, Okara, wereused for this post-weaning feeding trial. Before weaning, they had been a part of atwo by two factorial pre-weaning feeding trial reported by Bhattietal. (2011). The two factors were – liquid feed (milkor MR) and solid feed (starter concentrateration with Hor Honly). Thus, the four dietary treatments were: milk with starter ration plushay (A:Milk 1SR 1H), milk with Berseem clove thay only (B:Milk 1H),

MR with starter ration plushay (C:MR1SR1H) and MR with Berseemhay only (D:MR1H). The milk and MR were fed at 10% of live weight, whereas the SR and Hwere fed ad libit um and intake measured. The amount of milk or MR fed was adjusted for body weight (BW) until 56 days of age, and then tapered in weekly increments to zero by 84 days of age.

Berseem clover hay (Trifoliumal exandrinum) was fed to all the calves from 14 days of a geuntil we aning. Starter ration was fed to groups A and C starting from 14 days of a geuntil we aning at 84 days of a ge. During the pre-we an ingperiod, initially the rewerel 2 calves in each group with six of each

Table1Compositionoftotalmixedration

Ingredients	Asfed(%)	Ingredients	Asfed(%)
Maizegrains	33.4	Mineralmixture	2.0
Soybeanmeal	4.0	Vitaminpre-mix	0.1
Maizeoilcake	7.0	Sodiumbicarbonate	0.5
Maizegluten(60%)	7.0	Calciumoxide	1.0
Canolameal	15.0	СР	19.5
Molasses	10.0		
Wheatstraw	20.0	Totaldigestiblenutrients	70

≪3≫

sex;however,onemalecalfdiedfromeachoftheBandCtreatmentsandwerenotreplaced.Thus,46calveswere assignedtothecurrentpost-weaningstudy,comprisedof12,11,11and12calvesfromtheoriginalpreweaning groupsA,B,CandD,respectively,asdescribedbyBhattietal.(2011).Duringthepost-weaningperiod,after84 daysofage,thecalvesweregivenasingleTMR(Table1)until168daysofage.Theexperimentwasconducted frommid-Maytomid-August2009.Theambientdaytimetemperatureduringthesemonthsrangedfrom25.18C to40.48C.

Feedingandhousing

Animalswerehousedinseparatecalfpens(14231123112cm:L3W3H).CalveswerefedaTMRcontaining16% CPand70%totaldigestiblenutrients(Table1)adlibitumfrom85to168daysofageandhadfreeaccesstoclean water. The composition of the TMR is shown in Table 1. The TMR and water were placed in plastic bowls attached to the pens.Calveswerefed twiced ailyat0900 and 1700 h, and refusalswere measured to calculate feed intake.During the day, calves were allowed access to an open shed to exercise for 2h.

BWmeasurement

The animals were weighed weekly using an electronic digital scale early in the morning before feeding. The calves were offfeed at midnight before weighing the next morning. The experiment was terminated at the age of 168 days (24 weeks) for each calf.

Datarecording

Dailyfeedintake,refusalsandweeklyliveweightswererecorded.Thedatarecordedwereusedtocalculatetotal liveweightgain,averagedailygain,averagedailyfeedintake,totalfeedintake,nutrientintakeandtotalfeeding cost.

Statisticalanalysis

The data on weekly weight and TMR intake were analyzed using repeated measures analysis using MIXED procedures of SAS (SAS, 2002), with an AR(1) covariance structure as described by Littelletal. (1998). The effects of pre-weaning diets were tested in the post-weaning period. The preweaning treatments were: A: Milk, SR and H; B: Milkand H; C: MR and SR and H; D: MR and Honly (explained in Bhattietal., 2011). The calf was used as a random effect. The statistical modelused for analysis was Yijklm¹/amþsexiþ F1jþ F2kþ Wlþösex F1 F2 WÞijkl þcalf mþeijklm where Yijkis the dependent variable, mist he overall mean, sexiis the sex of the calf where is eithermale or female, F1 jist he fixed effect of factor 1 where jis eithermilkor MR, F2 kist he fixed effect of factor 2 where kis either SR and Hor Honly, Wlist here peated measure of weeks l, (sex 3 F1 3 F2 3 W) ijkl is the interaction term, calf mist her and om effect of calf nand eijklmist here sidual error.

For the other descriptive statistics (average growth rate, weight at the age of 24 weeks, total weight gain, total intake of TMR), the data were analyzed using MIXED procedures.

Results

Feedintake

AveragedailyTMRintakeofcalvesinallgroupsrangedfrom1.5to2.260.17kg/dayduringthe13thweekofage (days 85 to 92) and 3.7 to 5.0 kg during 24th week of age (Figure 1). Daily intake of TMR increased with increasing age (P,0.05). Averagedaily intake of TMR remained the high estingroup A and lowesting roup D during the post-weaning period (Figure 1). The average daily intake of calves in groups B and C was not



significantly different (P.0.05). There was no interaction between liquid feed source and solid feed source. However, there was an interaction (P,0.05) between solid feed source with age, indicating that the response in post-weaning TMR intaket opre-weaning solid feed in gregimes period was not linear with age.

The total TMR in take of calves during the post-weaning period washigher (P,0.05) in group A followed by groups B, Cand D (Table 2). However, there was no significant difference (P.0.05) between the intake of calves in groups B and Conas-fed basis. The milk-fed calves during the preweaning period consumed more TMR post weaning (P,0.05) than the MR-fed calves (Table 2). Similarly, the SR-fed calves during the pre-weaning period consumed more TMR post weaning (P,0.05) compared with calves fed hay only. The rewasno interaction (P.0.05) among treatments for total ITMR in take (Table 2).



 $\label{eq:Figure1} Figure1 \ \ \ \ Effect of diet before weaning on the intake (kg/day) of total mixed ration (as-fed basis) postweaning in Sahiwa lcalves. M1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus hay; M1H: milkplus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus hay; MR1H: milkplus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus hay; MR1H: milkplus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus hay; MR1H: milkplus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus hay; MR1H: milkplus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus hay; MR1H: milkplus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus hay; MR1H: milkplus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus hay; MR1H: milkplus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus hay; MR1H: milkplus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus hay; MR1H: milkplus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus hay; MR1H: milkplus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus hay; MR1H: milkplus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus hay; MR1H: milkplus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus tarter ration plus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus hay; MR1SR1H: milkplus tarter ration plus tarter ration$

TheTMRintakeofcalves(onasisbasis), as apercentage of their BW, ranged from 3.8 ingroup Ato 4.860.19 in group Candwas not affected (P.0.05) by liquid feed source or solid feed source (Figure 2). However, the preweaning MR-fed calvest ended to consume more TMR (P50.07) than milk-fed calves, whereas those fed hay be fore weaning tended to consume more TMR (P50.09) than concentrate-fed calves as percentage of their liveweight during the post-weaning period. The incremental differences in TMR intake post weaning as a percentage of liveweight between the treatment groups increased (P,0.05) with age (Figure 2). There was an interaction (P,0.05) between source of solid feed before weaning and age, indicating that the addition of SR to H fed before weaning did not influence post-weaning intake.

Growthperformance

AveragedailyBWgainofcalvesduringthepost-weaningperiodwashighestingroupA followedbygroupsB,C andD(Table3).However,thisdidnotdiffer(P.0.05)betweengroupsBandC.Thepre-weaningmilk-fedcalves grew faster post weaning compared with MR-fed calves (Table 3). Similarly, SR-fed calves during the pre-weaningperiodgrewfasterduringthepost-weaningperiodthanthosefedhayonlyinthesameperiod(Table3). Therewasnointeraction(P.0.05)betweenliquidfeedsourceandsolidfeedsourceofthetwofactors,liquidfeed sourceseemedtohavethemostsignificanteffectonBWgainpostweaning.

The total weight gain during the post-weaning period, that is, from the 13 thto 24 thweek of age, was 10 kg higher (P, 0.05) in calves fed milk than MR during the preweaning period (Table 3). Similarly, the calves fed SR before weaning gained 9.7 kg more post weaning (P, 0.05) than those fed hay only. There was no interaction (P. 0.05) between liquid feeds our cean double of the source of

The final B Wofcalves at 24 weeks of a gewas 26.3 kg higher (P, 0.05) in calves fed milk before we an ing than those fed MR (Table 3). Similarly, the calves fed SR before

≪ 5≯



Figure2 Effectofdietbeforeweaningontheintake(kg/day)oftotalmixedration(as-fedbasis)postweaningexpressedasapercentageof liveweightinSahiwalcalves.M1SR1H:milkplusstarterrationplushay;M1H:milkplushay;MR1SR1H:milkreplacerplusstarterration plushay;MR1H:milkplushay;MR1SR1H:milkreplacerplushay.

we an ing were 18 kg heavier (P, 0.05) than calves receiving only H before we an ing. Similarly, there was no interaction (P. 0.05) between liquid feeds our ceands olid feeds our ceands of the source.

The post-weaning feed conversion ratio (FCR) of calves was not affected (P.0.05) by any of the pre-weaning dietary treatments (Table3). Feeding costTotal feeding cost of the calves during the 12 weeks postweaning was Pakistani rupees (PKR) 1030 (1US EPKR 87) higher in calves fed milk during the pre-weaning period than those fed MR (Table2). Calves receiving SR before weaning costPKR s932 more to feed postweaning than those fed Honly. There was no interaction (P.0.05) among the treatments.

Thehighestpost-weaningtotalfeedingcostduringthe12weekswasobservedincalvesreceivingmilkandSR duringpre-weaningperiodandthelowestwasinthosefedMRandHonlyforthesameperiod.However,thecost perkgBW gainpostweaning did not differ (P.0.05) among calves receiving any of the pre-weaning dietary treatments (Table2).

Discussion

In the present study, the total TMR in take of calves post weaning fed milk during the pre-weaning period was higher than in MR-fed calves. Daily feed Intake is a function of BW of the animal. Khan et al. (2011) have concluded that post weaning feed in take of calves is governed by rumen volume, metabolic activity of rumen epithelium, rumen motility and feed quality. Higher TMR in take in the milk-fed calves, in the present study, was probably because of the irgreater digestive capacity (as are sult of higher BW at weaning) than in MR-fed calves. The MR-fed calves during the pre-weaning period had lower weaning weights, and thus at eless than heavier calves at weaning. Khan et al. (2007) reported that depression in solid feed in take post weaning as a result of increase damount of milk feeding during pre-weaning period could be avoided if the calves are wean edgradually. Gradually wean edgradually wean edgradualy wean edgradually wean edgradual



ThedailyBWgainofmilk-fedcalvesduringthepre-weaningperiodwashigherthaninMR-fedcalvespost weaning.ThedailyBWgainofgrowinganimalsisafunctionoffheirinitialliveweightandnutrientintake.Inthe presentstudy,thecalveswerefedadlibitumpostweaning.Thus,nutrientavailabilitywasnotthelimitingfactor, resultinginlowergrowthratepostweaningofMR-fedcalvesduringthepre-weaningperiod.Thehigheraverage daily BW gain of milk-fed calves was because of their higher weaning weights. These calves continued to maintainthedifferenceintheirliveweightcomparedwiththeothergroups(Figure3).

Table 3 Least square means of post-weaning liveweight change and daily growth rate and FCR of Sahiwal calves as affected by different preweaning feeding regimens

85	Main effects					Simple effects						
	Milk v. MR		SR v.	. hay		м	/ilk MR		ИR		<i>P</i> -val	ues
Parameters	Milk	MR	SR+H	Н	s.e.	SR+H (A)	Н (В)	SR+H (C)	H (D)	<i>F</i> 1	F2	$F1 \times F2$
Initial liveweight (kg)	52	35	49	38	0.8	56 ± 1	47 ± 1	40 ± 1	30 ± 1	***	* * *	ns
Final liveweight (kg)	110.8	84.5	106.2	88.3	2.2	119 ± 4.2	102 ± 4.3	95 ± 4.3	74.5 ± 4.2	***	* * *	ns
Total weight gain (kg)	59.4	49.4	59.2	49.5	1.8	63.0 ± 2.6	55.2 ± 2.7	55 ± 2.7	44.2 ± 2.6	***	* * *	ns
Daily BW gain (g/day)	705	588	702	590	24	746 ± 33	660 ± 35	653 ± 35	527 ± 33	* *	**	ns
FCR	4.5	4.4	4.5	4.4	0.1	4.5 ± 0.1	4.6 ± 0.1	4.6 ± 0.1	4.3 ± 0.1	ns	ns	ns

FCR = feed conversion ratio; MR = milk replacer; SR = starter ration; H = hay; BW = body weight

ns: non-significant, P>0.05. *Statistically significant, P < 0.05.

*** Statistically highly significant, P < 0.01. F1: factor 1, milk v. milk replacer.

F2: factor 2, SR + H v. H only.

 $F1 \times F2$, interaction of F1 and F2. A, B, C and D refers to respective treatment groups.

SimilaresultshavebeenreportedbyJasperandWeary(2002),whoreportedthatweightadvantageofadlibitum -fed calves persists after weaning. They furtherarguedthatifthisearlyopportunityofrapidgrowthbycalves ismissed, high levels of intake later in life may not allow for compensatory growth. Thus, our initial hypothesisthattheMRcalvesmayshowcompensatorygrowthiffedwellafterweaningcouldnotbevalidatedin thisstudywithSahiwalcalves.

Similarly, the SR component of the pre-weaning diet was important, with SR-supplemented calves growing faster than comparable groups fed hay only. However, there was no difference in the growth performance of calvesreceivingMR+SR1Handmilk1Honlyduringthepre-weaningperiod.Presumably,thehigherenergy component of SR counteracted the superior nutrient availability in milk relative to MR. This study has confirmed and the superior of the supthat weaning weight, which was an indicator of pre-weaning dietary treatment, was the main variable influencing post-weaning growth performance. This isconsistent with the observation that intake aspercent ofBW,theFCR and the feeding cost perkgof BW gain postweaning did not differ among calves receiving different pre-weaning dietary treatments. This indicates that, although the efficiency of feedutilization was similar in calvesacross all groups, calves withhigher weaning weight maintained higher BW post weaningthanalltheothergroups.Similarly,thecalvesreceivingMR+Hduring the pre-weaning period, with lower weaning weights,couldnotcatchupwiththeBWofcalvesreceivingmilkandSRevenattheageof24 weeks.Thisunderlinestheimportanceofpre-weaningfeedingforearlyageatmaturity.

The effects of pre-weaning dietary treatments on post-weaning growth performance of Holstein heifers were extended out to 600 days of age in the report of Moallemetal. (2010). In their study, the Holsteinheifercalvesfedwholemilk (CP525.9 and fat529.4%, on DM basis)ad libitumduringtheirpreweaningperiodwereheavierthanthosefedMR(CP 523.7andfat513%,onDMbasis).Theliveweight



≪7≫



of milk-fed heifers, in their study, was 16.9 and 27.0kghigher than that of MR-fed heifers at 300 and 600 days of age, respectively (P0.04). Similarly with beef breeds, Christianet al. (1965) reported that heavier weaned Here-ford calves reached slaughter grade of 'High Choice' in fewer days post weaning compared with lighter weaned calves. In this study, the heavier calves at weaning required more dryfeed/kg of BW gainimmediately after weaning, which is most likely due to higher body maintenance requirements.

Similar outcomes were observed by Robelin and Chilliard(1989). They reported that differences in MR intake (1380v.819g/day on DM basis, respectively) up to 95 days of ageresulted in a 25% heavier calf; however, subsequent growthrates up to533days ofage were similar (806v.814g/days),resultingin differentialliveweightsatthisageof530and496kg,respectively.However,NocekandBraund(1986)reported thatHolstein calves receiving either all-milk protein replacer (CP524.0andetherextract513.3%,onDM basis)oracidifiedmilkreplacer(CP523.0andetherextract56.9%,onDMbasis)andweanedeitherabruptlyor graduallyreachedl 36kgofliveweightinapproximatelythesamenumberofdays(91to97).

Totalfeedingcostspostweaningwerehigherinmilk-fedcalvesthaninMR-fedcalvesduringthepre-weaning period;thesamewastrueforthecalvesfedSR1Hv.Honly.Thiswas because of the higher TMR intake in the respectivegroups. However, cost per kg BW gain post weaning wassimilar in calves receiving different pre-weaning dietarytreatments.Thus,thehighertotalfeedingcostspostweaninginthecalvesfed milkorSRthanthosefedMRorHduringthe pre-weaning period were compensated with theirsuperior growthratesinthesameperiod.ConclusionsPost-weaning growth performance of Sahiwal calves was established by the intake of nutrients before weaning.

Feedingwholemilk(CP53.35andfat53.5%, onas-fedbasis) from birthattherateo fatleast10% of liveweight with con-centrates lead to a higher weaning weight and post-weaning growth rate, and hence may have agreater possibility for earlier puberty compared with feeding amilk replacer (CP52.22 and fat51.8%, on as-fedbasis) before weaning. Similarly, feeding the concentrate starter ration before weaning in preference to hay induced faster post-weaning growth rates. The cost perkg BWgain in Sahiwal calves was not different among treatment groups postweaning.

Acknowledgments

This project was supported financially by the Agriculture SectorLinkages Program established by the Pakistani and Australiangovernments, which is managed by the Australian Centre forInternational AgriculturalResearchthroughCharlesSturtUniversity,WaggaWagga,Australia.Calveswereprocuredfrom theLivestockProductionResearchInstitute,Bahadurnagar,Okara.

References

- Ahmad S, Yaqoob M, Hashmi N, Zaman MA and Amjad MS 2009. Farmers'attitude towards interventions regarding buffalocal fhealth care and management practices under field conditions. Pakistan Veterinary Journal 29,125–128.
- BhattiSA,KhanMS,SarwarMandEhsanullah2009.Performanceofbuffaloand cow calves during preweaning period under same managementalconditions at the University of Agriculture, Faisalabad. Pakistan Journal ofZoologySupplementSeries9,623–628.
- BhattiSA,AhmadMF,McGillD,SarwarM,AfzalM,UllahE,KhanMA,KhanMS,BushRD,WynnPCandand WarriachHM2011.Effectofdietonpre-weaningperformance of Sahiwal calves. Tropical Animal Health and Production. doi10.1007/s11250-011-9973-3.PublishedonlinebySpringerScienceBusiness Media,September11,2011.
- BrownEG, VandeHaarMJ, DanielsKM, LiesmanJS, ChapinLT, KeislerDHandWeberNielsenMS2005. Effectofincreasingenergy and protein intake on body growth and carcass composition of heifer calves. Journal of Dairy Science 88,585–594.

≪8≯

Christian LL, Hauser ER and Chapman AB 1965. Association of preweaning and postweaning traits with	
weaningweightincattle.JournalofAnimalScience24,652-659.	

- GreterAM,LeslieKE,MasonGJ,McBrideBWandDeVriesTJ2010.Effectoffeeddeliverymethodonthe behaviorandgrowthofdairyheifers.JournalofDairyScience93,1668–1676.
- Hill TM, Bateman HG, Aldrich JM and Schlotterbeck RL 2010. Effect of milkreplacer program on digestion of nutrients in dairy calves. Journal of DairyScience93,1105–1115.
- HopkinsBA1997.Effectsofthemethodofcalfstarterdeliveryandeffectsofweaningageonstarterintakeand growthofHolsteincalvesfedmilkoncedaily.JournalofDairyScience80,2200–2203.
- JasperJandWearyDM2002.Effectsofadlibitummilkintakeondairycalves.JournalofDairyScience85, 3054–3058.
- KhanMA,LeeHJ,LeeWS,KimHS,KimSB,KiKS,HaJK,LeeHGandChoiYJ2007.Pre-andpostweaning performanceofHolsteinfemalecalvesfedmilkthrough step-down and conventional methods. Journal of Dairy Science 90,876–885.
- KhanMA, WearyDMandvonKeyserlingkMAG2011.Invitedreview:effectsofmilk ration on solid feed intake, weaning, and performance in dairy heifers.JournalofDairyScience94,1071–1081.
- Kuehn CS, Otterby DE, Linn JG, Olson WG, Chester-Jones H, Marx GD and Barmore JA 1994. The effectof dietary energyconcentration on calfperformance.JournalofDairyScience77,2621–2629.
- LeeHJ,KhanMA,LeeWS,YangSH,KimSB,KiKS,KimHS,HaJKandChoiYJ2009.Influenceofequalizing thegrosscompositionofmilkreplacertothatofwholemilkontheperformanceofHolsteincalves.Journal ofAnimalScience87,1129–1137.
- Littell RC, Henry PR and Ammerman CB 1998. Statistical analysis offepeatedmeasuresdatausing SASprocedures. JournalofAnimalScience76,1216–1231.
- MoallemU, WernerD, LehrerH, ZachutM, LivshitzL, YakobySandShamayA 2010. Long-term effects of ad libitumwholemilk prior to weaning and prepubertal proteinsupplementation on skeletal growth rate and first-lactation milk production. Journal of Dairy Science 93,2639–2650.
- NocekJEandBraundDG1986.Performance,health,andpostweaninggrowthoncalvesfedcold,acidifiedmilk replaceradlibitumJournalofDairyScience69,1871–1883.
- Robelin J and Chilliard Y 1989. Short-term and long-term effects of earlynutritional deprivation on adipose tissue growth and metabolism in calves.JournalofDairyScience72,505–513.

≪9≫

SAS 2002. The SAS/STATuser'sguide, release 9.2. SAS Institute Inc., Cary,NC,USA



Animal(2014),8:10,pp1577–1585©TheAnimalConsortium2014 doi:10.1017/S1751731114001682

Selectinganappropriategeneticevaluationmodelforselection inadevelopingdairysector

D.M.McGill1⁺,H.A.Mulder2,P.C.Thomson3andJ.J.Lievaart1

- SchoolofAnimalandVeterinarySciences,CharlesSturtUniversity,WaggaWagga,NSW 2650,Australia;
- 2 AnimalBreedingandGenomicsCentre,WageningenUniversity,POBox338,6700AHWageningen,The Netherlands;3FacultyofVeterinaryScience,TheUniversityofSydney,Camden,NSW2570,Australia (Received13December2013;Accepted26May2014;Firstpublishedonline&July2014)

ABSTRACT:

Thisstudyaimedtoidentifygeneticevaluationmodels(GEM)toaccuratelyselectcattleformilkproduction when only limited data are available. It is based on a data set from the Pakistani Sahiwal progeny testing programmewhichincludesrecords from five governmentherds, each consisting of 100 to 350 animals, with lactation records dating back to 1968. Different types of GEM were compared, namely: (1) multivariate v. repeatabilitymodelwhenusingthefirstthreelactations,(2)ananimalv.asiremodel,(3)differentfixedeffects models to account for effects such a sherd, year and season; and (4) fitting a model with genetic parameters fixed the season of the seasonv. estimating the genetic parameters as part of the model fitting process. Two methods were used for the comparisonofmodels. The first method used simulated databased on the Pakistani progeny testing system and compared estimated breeding values with true breeding values. The second method used cross-validation to determinethebestmodelinsubsetsofactualAustralianherd-recordeddata.Subsetswerechosentoreflectthe Pakistani data in terms of herd size and number of herds. Based on the simulation and the cross-validation method, the multivariate animal model using fixed genetic parameters was generally the superior GEM, but problemsariseindeterminingsuitablevaluesforfixingtheparameters.Usingmeansquareerrorofprediction, the best fixed effects structure could not be conclusively determined. The simulation method indicated the simplest fixed effects structure to be superior whereas in contrast, the cross-validation method on actual dataconcludedthatthemostcomplexonewasthebest.Inconclusionitisdifficulttoproposeauniversallybest GEMthatcanbeusedinanydatasetofthissize. However, some general recommendations are that it is more appropriate to estimate the genetic parameters when evaluating for selection purposes, the animal model was superior to the sire model and that in the Pakistani situation the repeatability model is more suitable than a multivariate.

Keywords: geneticevaluationmodel,Sahiwalcattle,geneticparameterestimation,cross-validation

Implications

This study is concerned with methods to assist in selecting the best dairy animals indeveloping dairy sectors such as Pakistan. Limited data are available in these sectors and so selection can be difficult. Genetic evaluation models can be used to help this process but models that are to oscillate to complex can be added to be a sector such as the sector set of the sector sector set of the sector sector set of the sector

Introduction

The genetic evaluation model (GEM) used in a country is dependent on the type of dairy system, the population of an imals and the number of an imals recorded for both performance and pedigree. Throughout the world there are varying levels of development in dairy sectors, and many of the mhave the irow nGEM. Indeveloped dairy

sectorssuchas Australiaand The Netherlands where the national herds ize is ~1.5 millionani mals, about 45% of animals are being herdrecorded (CRV, 2008; Australian Dairy Herd Improvement Scheme (ADHIS), 2011). In contrast, indeveloping dairy sectors performance records are seldom keptand therefore there is avast difference in the options available for the genetic evaluation of animals. For example, in Pakistan there are ~25 million dairy cattle, but the most established progeny testing system in the country records <1000 milking animals per year. Furthermore, indeveloping dairy sectors, problems can be exacerbated due to the large environmental effects, poormanagement due to limited resources and poor data † quality (Dahlin, 1998; Ilatsia et al., 2007). These problems have their implications and potentially reduce genetic gain. For example indeveloped dairy sectors, evidence shows genetic gains in milk production of ~2% per year (Hill, 2010), whereas looking at similar information from Pakistan we can see little to no increase (Khanetal., 2008). This difference insuccessis not confined to the Pakistanidairy system, but is common in low-input small holder systems throughout the world (Rege tal., 2011).

TheprimaryaimofanyGEMistoselectanimalsbasedonperformance-recordeddataasaccuratelyaspossibleto maximizegeneticgaininthepopulation.Indevelopeddairysectors,complexGEMssuchasrandomregression test-daymodelsareusedtoaccountforasmuchvariationaspossiblewithinthedata(Interbull,2009)Althougha theoretically superior model, it requires sufficient recorded data to ensure the evaluation is accurate. In developingdairysectorsthenumberofrecordedanimalscanoftenbeverylowandhencecomplexGEMsmay notbefeasiblewithintheirsystem.Thiscanalsooccurindevelopeddairysectorswherethereareanimalsbeing evaluatedfromsmallherdsorwheretraitsarerecordedonlyonresearchfarms.Inthesecases,simplermodels involvinglesscomputationandrequirementsforrecordedinformationmaybehelpful.

A particular problem with a low number of animals in an evaluation is to account for environmental or managementeffectsforanimalsrecordedfromthesameherd, yearandseason. These are generally fitted as fixed effects within the evaluation model and account for ~40% of the variation seen in milkand fatyield (Chauhan, 1987; Van Bebberetal., 1997). It is well established that ignoring fixed effects can lead to biased predictions of breeding values (Henderson, 1975a). However, it is also important to consider that when fixed effects are of fittle consequence, the resultant decrease in the contemporary group (CG) size may lead to an increase in prediction error variance. Furthermore, if records are obtained from closely related animals, then these records contribute little information to the evaluation (Van Vleck, 1987; Visscher and Goddard, 1993).

Therefore, the aim of this study was to assess the best GEM stop redict breeding values indairy cattle in Pakistan where the reare limited data available. To address this aim, simulated data sets with known breeding values were used and compared with the estimated breeding values (EBVs) from various GEMs. Second, actual herd recorded data from an Australian progeny testing system was divided into subsets resembling the Pakistani progeny testing system. These subsets were then analysed using GEMs and breeding values were estimated and compared using cross-validation (CV).

Materialandmethods

Overall this study compares a number of different types of GEMs. The main factors considered are: (1) a multivariate (MV) v. are peatability (RP) model in accounting for production in the first three parities; (2) an animal (ANIM) v. asire (SIRE) model in modelling the random genetic effects; (3) different fixed effects models to account for effects such as herd, year and season; and (4) fitting a model with genetic parameters fixed v. estimating the genetic parameters are the model fitting process.

This was carried out by using historical data from Pakistan's Sahiwal progenytesting system to provide a basis of the herd structures and sizes. Subsequently, two methods were used for the comparison of models. The first method used simulated data based on the Pakistani progenytesting system. The second method used subsets of actual herdrec or ded data from the Australian dairy system to provide an indication of how the models compare based on actual industry data. Model comparisons were not carried out on the original Pakistani data sets with small numbers of records per year and a small number of herds making CV less reliable.

≪11>

Data

Pakistanmilkyielddata.HistoricaldatafromtheResearchCentrefortheConservationofSahiwalCattle,Jhang, Pakistan(RCCSC,http://www.rccsc.com.pk/),wereusedinthisstudyasthebasisforsimulationandanalysis. TheserecordsincludedbothlactationandpedigreerecordsfromfivemajorgovernmentSahiwalherdsinvolved inherdrecordingsince1968.Theherdsizeofthesefarmswasbetween100and350milkinganimals.Intotal therewere29790lactationsfrom310siresand6895damswithanaveragenumberoflactationsperdamof4.3. The information available for each lactation record was the herd, date of calving, age at calving and in the majorityofcases,thesireandthedamofthelactatinganimal.

Simulateddata.Dataweresimulatedbasedongeneticparametersestimatedfromapreliminaryanalysisofthe RCCSCherdrecordeddata(seeSupplementarymaterialS1).

Specifically, additive genetic effects (breeding values, a) we regenerated for each of nanimals and for three parities from a MV norma N(0,G) distribution where

$$\mathbf{G} \quad \begin{pmatrix} 2 & a_{12} & a_{13} \\ a_{1} & 2 & a_{23} \\ a_{21} & a_{2} & a_{23} \\ a_{31} & a_{32} & a_{3} \end{pmatrix} \quad \mathbf{A}$$

where A is the numerator relationship matrix based on the RCCSC pedigree, and where the additive genetic variances and covariances (oaij) were based on the output of the preliminary analysis of the first three parities. Residual effects (e) we regenerated from a MV normal N(0, R) distribution, where

$$\mathbf{R} \quad \begin{pmatrix} 2 & e_{12} & e_{13} \\ e_{1} & 2 & e_{23} \\ e_{21} & e_{2} & e_{23} \\ e_{31} & e_{32} & e_{3} \end{pmatrix} \qquad \mathbf{I}_{n}$$

where the residual variance-covariance matrix (fDeij) was also based on the preliminary analysis, MV normal data were generated with the rmvnorm (Genzetal., 2013) function in RV ersion 3.0.2 (RC ore Team, 2013). These additive and residual effects were summed to obtain phenotypes for the first three parities of each animal (y = a+e). Note that no McGill, Mulder, Thomson and Lievaart 1578 fixed effects were added to the simulated data (though fixed effect terms were included in the model fitting to assess the impact of CG size on the analysis, see below). Subsequently, a sample of second and third parity lactations were removed to mimic the culling and mortality levels seen in the original RCCSC dataset. This process was repeated 500 times to yield multiples imulated datasets to compare the GEM sinthestudy.

 $\label{eq:started} Actual herdrecorded data. For assessing the GEM son actual herdrecorded data it would be difficult to obtain sufficient data sets from Pakistan to compare numerous models. So instead, historical test-day records were obtained from the ADHIS (http://www.adhis.com.au) and were used as a pool of data to draw subsets which resemble the general herds tructure of the progeny testing records from Pakistan.$

Intotal 178 dairy herds from Victoria with between 100 and 350 milking Holstein. Friesiananimals each year from 1993 to 2002 were used to select five herds at random to represent the size of the Pakistanidata set. This was repeated 500 times and for each subset of data the test-day records were used to determine anadjusted 305-day lactation yield for the first three parities using the test-interval method (ICAR, 2009).

 $\label{eq:lisevident that Australian Holstein. Friesian animals do not truly represent the situation of the recorded Sahiwal population in Pakistan. However, for the purposes of this study by repeating the process of randomly selecting five herds of similar herds is zest to the Pakistanisituation 500 times, we can assess the effect of different models with respect to fixed and random effects using CV. So although not truly representing the Pakistanisituation, conclusion scould be drawn from the Australian data by limiting the data included in its analysis. GEM stested Two types of GEM were tested, the RP model(1) and MV model(2). The RP model is the state of the state of the respective of the state of the respective of t$

wherey is the vector of random variables of the recorded trait; betweet or of fixed effects with an incidence of the vector of

y.Xb+Z1a+Z2pe+e(1)



matrixXrelatingobservationstoeffects; a the vector of additive genetic effects (or an imalors ir effects) with an incidence matrix Z1 relating observations to random (polygenicanimalors ire) effects where the a Nd0; f D2 a AT where A is the numerator relationship matrix and f D2 a is the additive genetic or sire variance; pethevector of random permanent environmental effects with an incidence matrix Z2 relating observations to permanent environmental random effects where pe Nd0; f D2 peIT where I is the identity matrix and f D2 peis the permanent environmental variance; and the vector of independent residual effects where N d0; f D2 eIT. The MV model is:

y_i X_ib_i ⊬Z_ia_i ⊬e_i

(2)

where the terms in the model (2) represent the same as in (1). However, there are now three traits indexed by i (that is parity one, two and three) and instead of a permanent environmental effect (pe) for each animal there is a genetic (G) and residual (R) variance-covariance matrix such that:

$$\mathbf{G} \quad \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ a_1 \\ 2 \\ a_{21} \\ a_{21} \\ a_{31} \\ a_{32} \\ a_{32} \\ a_{31} \end{pmatrix} \quad \mathbf{A} \text{ and}$$
$$\mathbf{R} \quad \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ e_1 \\ e_1 \\ e_{21} \\ e_{21} \\ e_{21} \\ e_{21} \\ e_{21} \\ e_{31} \\ e_{32} \\ a_{3} \end{pmatrix} \quad \mathbf{I}$$

 $assuming the data vector is stored in the formy \frac{1}{4} \delta y 01; y 02; y 03 PO. For both the RP(1) and MV(2) model the random effects structure (Za) and the fixed effects (Xb) can be altered. In this study, the random effects were altered to compare the 'ANIM' model with the 'SIRE' model and the fixed effects structures (Table 1) were compared to see the impact of CGs izeand structure on an imale valuation.$

The number of levels of each fixed effect washerd (five), year (up to 10) and parity (three). The number of levels of season was two, four or 12 as depicted within the brackets of Table 1. A geat calving was fitted as a second or depolynomial effect.

Ineachofthesimulatedandactualherdrecordeddataruns,therewere20modelsfittedandcompared.Thatis, two model types (RP and MV), with two random effect structures (ANIM and SIRE) and five fixed effects structures (F1toF5,fromTable1).AllmodelswerefittedusingASReml-RDiscoveryEdition1.0(Butleretal., 2009).

Table 1	Specification	of fixed effect	model structures
---------	---------------	-----------------	------------------

Model number	Fixed effects structure
F1	Herd \times parity + year \times parity + season[2] \times parity + AgeAtCalving \times parity + AgeAtCalving ² \times parity ¹
F2	Herd : year : parity + season[2] \times parity + AgeAtCalving \times parity + AgeAtCalving ² \times parity ¹
F3	Herd : year : season[2] \times parity + AgeAtCalving \times parity + AgeAtCalving ² \times parity ¹
F4	Herd : year : season[4] \times parity + AgeAtCalving \times parity + AgeAtCalving ² \times parity ¹
F5	Herd : year : season[12] \times parity + AgeAtCalving \times parity + AgeAtCalving ² \times parity ¹

The symbol ' \times ' indicates fields fitted with an interaction and ':' indicates concatenated fields which were fitted without the main effects. ¹The number of levels of season was two, four or 12 as depicted within the brackets.

Themodelswerefitted with the estimation of genetic parameters included in the model fitting process, as well as fitted using fixed genetic parameter values. These fixed parameter values were obtained from the different analyses of: (1) theoriginal RCCSC data that we reused for the simulation study and (2) the entire Australian dataset of 178 herds. Details of these values can be found in Supplementary material S land S2.

Comparisonofmodels

Convergenceandestimation of genetic parameters. When genetic parameters are fixed, the model fitting process requires one non-iterative BLUP runtos of vethegeneralized leasts quares equations and therefore every model successfully returns estimates of fixed and random effects (e.g. breeding values). If genetic parameters are estimated as part of the model fitting process, the REML iteration process may fail to converge. Where parameters were estimated, the percentage of model fitting static on verged was used to assess the robust ness of

≪13≫

Meansquareerrorofprediction.Fordeterminingthe'best' modelineachstudy,ameansquareerrorofprediction (MSEP) was calculated and used to compare the ability of the model to estimate breeding values. In the simulationstudy,thesimulatedbreedingvalueswerecompareddirectlywiththeEBVspredictedbyeachofthe models.FortheMVmodels,theEBVswereaveragedoverthethreeparitiestoyieldasingleEBVforcomparison with the RPmodels.TheMSEPwascalculatedforeachmodelaccordingtoequation(3)(MevikandCederkvist, 2004).

$$MSEP_1 \sum_{i=1}^{n} Simulated BV$$
Estimated BV ²/₁ (3)

wherenisthenumberofrecordsinthesubsetofdata.

 $In the study using subsets of a ctual herdrec or ded data from Australia, the true breeding values were unknown. Therefore, adjusted milkyields were calculated by subtracting the fitted fixed effects from the raw milkyields using the most complex model (MV-ANIM-F5) to the whole Australian data set of 178 herds. These adjusted yields (y¹/4^a+^eforthe MV and y¹/4^a+^pe+^eforthe RP) we recompared to predicted sire effects (predicted yields; 'y¹/4's for the SIR Emodels) or additive genetic effects (predicted yields; 'y¹/4' afor the ANIM models).$

ACV procedure was conducted to assess the ability of the models to estimate breeding values with smaller subsets of data. This was repeated tentimes for each model in every run. In this procedure, 90% of the animals in the subset of the data for each run we reselected at random and used to fit the model. The remaining 10% had their yields predicted using the model output. The MSEP for the analysis using actual herd recorded data was calculated for each of the 10 CV procedure subset of lowing equation (Mevikand Cederkvist, 2004):

$$MSEP_2 = \sum_{i=1}^{''} AdjustedYield$$
 PredictedYield ²/₁ (4)

Anaverageofthe10CVswastakentobetheMSEP2forthatparticularmodelandrun.Forboththesimulation methodandtheCVmethodusingactualdata,themodelyieldingthelowestMSEP2foreachrunwasconsidered tobethe'best' modelforthatparticulardataset.

Sireranking. The correlation and corresponding rankings of the EBVs of the sires evaluated was used as a secondarycheckonthedifferences between models. For each subset of data, the EBV of all sires with greater than fived aughters was compared with the ranking according to: (1) the true Bvs for the simulation study; and (2) the EBVs from the 'gold standard' model output (MV-ANIM-F5) for the study on actual data. This is an important verification step as the sire ranking and selection is the primary outcome following the genetic evaluation process.

Results

Convergence

When genetic parameters were estimated, the results for both the simulated datasets and the subsets of actual herdrecorded data (Table2) show the RP model was the most robust models at the high estimates are much lower than the RP models suggesting that the semodels fail to estimate the genetic covariance between parities one, two and three. Within the simulated datasets, the SIRE model was lightly more successful than the ANIM model in contrast to the results from the actual herdrecorded data in which the ANIM model was more successful. Models that failed to converge were not included in subsequent analysis or calculations.

 $\label{eq:table2} Table2 \ \ Percentage of converged models for the 500 simulated datasets and 500 subsets of actual herdrecord edd at a where genetic parameters were estimated as part of the model fitting product of the set of t$

 Table 4 Percentage of times from 500 simulated data sets that the specified model had the lowest MSEP1

	Genet	ic para	ameters f	ixed	Genetic parameters estimated				
Fired	Multivariate		Repeatability		Multivariate		Repeatability		
nodel ¹	Animal	Sire	Animal	Sire	Animal	Sire	Animal	Sire	
F1	76.20	0.00	5.00	0.00	25.20	0.20	43.20	0.00	
F2	10.40	0.00	0.80	0.00	6.20	0.00	10.20	0.00	
F3	4.60	0.00	0.40	0.00	4.00	0.00	4.20	0.00	
F4	2.40	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.80	0.00	1.40	0.00	
F5	0.20	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.80	0.00	1.80	0.00	
Total	93.80	0.00	6.20	0.00	39.00	0.20	60.80	0.00	

Table 5 Average estimates of heritability (h²) of the actual herd recorded data and their standard deviations for the repeatability models of 500 subsets of data

	Ani	mal	Si	re	
Fixed model ¹	h ²	s.d.	h ²	s.d.	
F1	0.329	0.089	0.255	0.252	
F2	0.311	0.090	0.205	0.181	
F3	0.312	0.090	0.209	0.183	
F4	0.316	0.093	0.218	0.185	
F5	0.321	0.095	0.222	0.186	

¹Fixed model: F1 to F5 refer to the fixed effects structures described in Table 1.

This was calculated separately for models when genetic parameters were fixed

and estimated.

¹Fixed model: F1 to F5 refer to the fixed effects structures described in Table 1.

Simulateddata

the ``goldstandard'` than that of the RP-SIRE. Considering only the RP models, the RP-ANIM-F1 model was the one with the closest h2 estimate to the ``goldstandard' The average estimates of genetic parameters for the MV analyses can be seen in Table 6. The results for the F2 and F4 models are not shown here, but they we resimilar to those presented for F3. From Table 6 we can see that the h2 estimates for the F1 are higher than that of F3 and F5. In addition, the stimates for the results when using the F1 model are lower. Comparing the sevalues

Table 6 Average estimates of genetic parameters (r_g , h^2) for parities one, two and three and their standard deviations as calculated from the F1, F3 and F5 multivariate models on actual herd recorded data

Fixed model ¹	Random model	Parity	h²	s.d.	Correlation between parity X and Y	r _g	s.d.
F1	Animal	1	0.413	0.107	1 with 2	0.770	0.140
		2	0.355	0.106	2 with 3	0.873	0.132
		3	0.397	0.128	1 with 3	0.715	0.161
	Sire	1	0.648	0.301	1 with 2	0.677	0.217
		2	0.540	0.252	2 with 3	0.816	0.178
		3	0.550	0.255	1 with 3	0.557	0.264
F3	Animal	1	0.369	0.104	1 with 2	0.886	0.110
		2	0.300	0.109	2 with 3	0.974	0.140
		3	0.348	0.132	1 with 3	0.879	0.125
	Sire	1	0.296	0.122	1 with 2	0.801	0.196
		2	0.239	0.124	2 with 3	0.946	0.230
		3	0.287	0.160	1 with 3	0.803	0.237
F5	Animal	1	0.381	0.106	1 with 2	0.894	0.121
		2	0.318	0.117	2 with 3	0.973	0.135
		3	0.355	0.143	1 with 3	0.873	0.163
	Sire	1	0.294	0.124	1 with 2	0.782	0.407
		2	0.234	0.126	2 with 3	0.953	0.356
		3	0.291	0.161	1 with 3	0.797	0.291

¹Fixed model: F1 to F5 refer to the fixed effects structures described in Table 1. The results for the F2 and F4 models are not shown here, but they were similar to those presented for F3.

to each other; its eems that the h2 of the MV-ANIM-F1 model are the close sttothe 'goldstandard' (0.429, 0.344 and 0.378). However, the goldstander f1 model are very low compared with the 'goldstandard' (0.945, 0.926 and 0.996). Contrastingly, the MV-ANIM-F5 model estimates of rgare much closer to the 'goldstandard' than that of the MV-ANIM-F1 but the h2 estimates are slightly lower. Despite this, its eems that the MV-ANIM-F5 model estimates are the close stover all.

The greatest difference from these results is between theh2 and rgest imates from the ANIM and SIRE models. Not only do the estimated values differ, but the standard deviation values from the SIRE model are much higher than the ANIM. This again suggests that the ANIM model is more precise with data sets of this size. Model comparison. Using MSEP2, Table 7 shows the percentage of times where each model was considered bestwhen genetic parameters were fixed or estimated Whengenetic parameters were fixed, the MV model (69.6%) was superior to the RP (30.4%), the ANIM model (92.0%) was superior to the SIRE (8.0%) and the fixed effects of the size. The set of the size of the



modelsF3(24.2%), F4(23.8%) and F5(23.8%) we reconsidered superiormore often than the F1(10.4%) and the F2(17.8%) models. When genetic parameters we reestimated, the MV(44.4%) and RP(37.8%) models were similar, the ANIM model (82.2%) was still superior to the SIRE(17.8%) and models with increasing complexity of fixed effects we remore frequently the best model (F1toF5:9.6%, 18.4%, 21.0%, 24.0% and 25.0%).

Theoveralloutcomeusingactualherdrecordeddatashowsthatwhengeneticparametersarefixedorestimated, theMV-ANIM-F5modelisconsideredtobethesuperiormodel Thisisincontrasttotheresultsfromthe Table 7 Percentage from 500 runs that the specified model had the

lowest MSEP₂ *for the subset of five selected herds from the actual herd recorded data*

	Geneti	c para	ameters fi	xed	Genetic parameters estimated					
Finad	Multiva	riate	Repeata	bility	Multiva	ariate	Repeatability			
Fixed model ¹	Animal	Sire	Animal	Sire	Animal	Sire	Animal	Sire		
F1	5.8	0.4	4.0	0.2	2.8	1.0	5.6	0.2		
F2	10.8	1.0	5.6	0.4	9.8	2.8	7.2	0.6		
F3	14.8	1.0	6.6	1.8	9.4	2.8	7.4	1.4		
F4	16.2	1.2	5.4	1.0	10.4	3.8	9.2	0.6		
F5	18.2	0.2	4.6	0.8	12.0	3.6	8.4	1.0		
Total	65.8	3.8	26.2	4.2	44.4	14.0	37.8	3.8		

¹Fixed model: F1 to F5 refer to the fixed effects structures described in Table 1.

simulateddatastudywhichdeterminedtheMV-ANIM-F1modeltobesuperiorwhenparameterswerefixedand theRP-ANIM-F1whenparameterswereestimated.

Sire ranking. Despite the differences in the MSEP2 the correspondence between the sire rankings from the output of each of the models varied very little for the herdre corded Australian data (see Table 8). These results show that the number of sires ranked in the top 10 sires from each model output had an arrow range with the lowest average across all models being 3.37 (MV-SIRE-F1) and the high est average value at 4.31 (MV-ANIM-F2 and RP-ANIM-F2). Furthermore, the correlation between the EBV so the different test edmodels with the

Table 8 Mean number of corresponding sires with the 'gold standard' model in the top 10 breeding value rankings when calculated from actual Australian herd recorded data using both fixed and estimated genetic parameters

		92.	Genetic para	ameters fixed		Genetic parameters estimated				
		Multivariate		Repeatability		Multivariate		Repeatability		
Random model	Fixed model ¹	Mean	s.d.	Mean	s.d.	Mean	s.d.	Mean	s.d.	
ANIM	F1	3.39	1.38	3.39	1.39	3.56	1.39	3.59	1.42	
	F2	4.31	1.43	4.31	1.42	4.00	1.38	4.15	1.35	
	F3	4.28	1.46	4.30	1.45	3.99	1.34	4.13	1.35	
	F4	4.19	1.52	4.22	1.43	4.04	1.38	4.11	1.34	
	F5	4.26	1.42	4.13	1.45	3.94	1.32	4.11	1.34	
SIRE	F1	3.37	1.41	3.43	1.44	3.42	1.37	3.49	1.40	
	F2	4.18	1.43	4.11	1.38	3.92	1.40	4.03	1.38	
	F3	4.17	1.44	4.11	1.39	3.95	1.38	3.99	1.37	
	F4	4.18	1.44	4.07	1.5	3.98	1.41	4.01	1.38	
	F5	4.19	1.48	4.14	1.42	3.86	1.37	3.99	1.39	

¹Fixed model: F1 to F5 refer to the fixed effects structures described in Table 1.

'gold standard EBvsranged from 0.980 to 0.985 with standard deviations of ~0.01 for all models. I nese statistics demonstrate that sire rankings between the models compared were both highly correlated and showed little variation in selection outcomes. Discussion Data The primary aim of this research was to assess the best GEM stopped ic breeding values in Pakistanidairy cattle when the reare limited data available.

Before discussing the results, it is important to first high-lightsome key assumptions that will affect breeding value estimation in any situation where data may be limited or of poor quality. A key problem is the accuracy of the pedigree information. Research shows that pedigree misident if ication is common (Visscheretal., 2002; Welleretal., 2004, Sandersetal., 2006) and can reduce the accuracy of breeding values and hence reduce genetic gain (Sandersetal., 2006). This is likely to be an even greater problem in Pakistan, but in the short-term is



unavoidable. Therefore, for the purposes of this study it is assumed that the pedigree errors will have an equal effect on the different models tested. Keeping this in mind, the outcomes of this work are discussed below relating to convergence rates, estimation of genetic parameters, and finally the choice of model.

Convergence

Fromboththesimulateddataandactualdataitwasapparentthatwhenusingsmalldatasets,ahighnumberof MVmodelfittingsfailedtoconvergewhengeneticparameterswereestimated.Thissuggeststhatthesemodels maynotbesuitableandinsteadaRPmodelwouldbemoreappropriate,becausefewerparametersneedtobe estimated.ComparingbetweentheANIMandSIREmodelstheratesdifferedslightlybetweenthetwodatasets. However, thisdifferenceismorelikelyareflectiononthedepthofpedigreeratherthananimplicationforthe modelofchoice.

ThepedigreefortheAustraliandataismoreaccurateandcontainsfewergapsinparentalinformationthanthe Pakistanipedigreeusedforthesimulation.Forthisreason,theadvantagesoftheANIMmodelovertheSIRE modelcouldnotbeexploitedwiththesimulateddata,whereasincontrast,theAustraliandatacould.Estimation ofgeneticparametersResultsfromboththesimulateddataandactualherdrecordeddatashowthatinsomecases although model fittings may converge and yield genetic parameter estimates, they may yield biased genetic parametersorviolateassumptionsmade.Forexample,theMVmodelrgestimates,althoughclose,arelessthan oneandthevariancecomponentsofthefirstthreeparitiesarequitedifferent(SupplementarymaterialS2).These valuessuggestthattheRPmodelassumption,thateachparityisgeneticallythesametrait,isnotcorrect.Thisis consistentwiththeliteraturewhichgenerallyreportsthethreeparitiesasseparatetraits(Weller,1986;Schaeffer etal.,2000;PowellandNorman,2006).Furthermore,theANIMmodelwouldbemoresuitablethantheSIRE modelasthegeneticparameterestimatesareclosertothecorrectvaluesandmuchmorepreciseasshownbythe lowerstandarddeviations.

LookingfurtherintotheMVresultsfromtheactualherdrecordeddata(Table6),estimatesofh2intheF2toF5 SIRE models were generally lower, by 20% to 30%, compared with both the ANIM models and the 'gold standard 'using the whole Australian dataset (Supplementary material S2). This is presumably due to the inclusion of more complete relationships in the ANIM model as ignoring relationships that exist results in a reduction of estimatesofgenetic variance (Henderson, 1975b). Incontrast to the h2estimates, the estimatesofg were not somuch affected by the random effects in the model (ANIM or SIRE) as expected (Dongetal., 1988). However, the rg estimates from the ANIM model were where genetic parameters are estimated a closer examination of the fixed effects models can be carried out. These results show clearly that the F1 model is superior (43.2%) more times than models F2 to F5 (10.2%, 4.2%, 1.4% and 1.8%) when using the simulated Sahiwakdata (Table4).

However, when using the actual herdrecorded data the distinction is not asclear with the model superiority being very similar ranging only from 5.6% to 9.2% (Table 7). Therefore, as discussed earlier it is difficult to recommend aspecific fixed effects structure for datasets of limited size.

This align swith the generally accepted view that every data set and structure is unique and hence it is difficult to make general statements about the most suitable model to analyse it (Henderson, 1975c). Consequently, we would refer to the general recommendation in the literature to keep the average CG size between 8 and 25 and to have no less than three records within each CG (Urgate tal., 1992; Van Bebberetal., 1997).

Conclusions

ThispaperaimedtoselectandrecommendthebestmodeltouseforgeneticanalysisinPakistansdairysector wherelimiteddataareavailable.Althoughaspecificfixedeffectsmodelstructurecouldnotbechosen,broad recommendationscanbegivenregardingthetypeofGEMtobeimplemented.Themainoutcomeofthisresearch suggeststhatapplyingaRPanimal model where genetic parameters are estimatedappearedtobethebest GEMforthePakistaniSahiwalprogenytestingsystem.

≪17≫

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge the Australian Dairy Herd Improvement Scheme and the Research Centreforthe Conservation of Sahiwal Cattle (Jhang, Pakistan) from where the historical test-day records and pedigrees were obtained from. Supplementary material Toview supplementary material for this article, please visit http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S1751731114001682.

References

- Australian Dairy Herd Improvement Scheme (ADHIS) 2011. Australian dairy herd improvement scheme, Melbourne, Victoria. Retrieved 6 May 2011, from http://www.adhis.com.au
- ButlerDG,CullisBR,GilmourARandGogelBJ2009.ASReml-Rreferencemanual(version3).Departmentof PrimaryIndustriesandFisheries,Queensland.
- ChauhanVPS1987.Partitioningofherd, year and season variation in milk production. Livestock Production Sciencel 6,107–116.CRV2008.
- CRVannualreport20072008, Arnhem, TheNetherlands. Retrieved 6May 2011, from www.crv4all.com
- DahlinA1998. Genetic and environmental causes of variation in milk production traits of Sahiwal cattle in Pakistan AnimalScience66,307–318.
- DongMC, VanVleckLDandWiggansGR1988.Effectofrelationshipsonestimationofvariancecomponents withananimalmodelandrestrictedmaximumlikelihood JournalofDairyScience71,3047–3052.
- GenzA,BretzF,MiwaT,MiX,LeischF,ScheiplF,BornkampBandHothornT2013.mvtnorm:Multivariate normalandtdistributions.Rpackageversion0.9-9996.Retrieved2December2013,fromhttp://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=mvtnorm
- HendersonCR1975a.Comparisonofalternativesireevaluationmethods.JournalofAnimalScience41,760–770.
- Henderson CR 1975b. Use of all relatives in intraherd prediction of breeding values and producing abilities. Journal of Dairy Science 58, 1910–1916.
- HendersonCR1975c.Bestlinearunbiasedestimationandpredictionunderaselectionmodel.Biometrics31, 423-447.
- Henderson CR 1984. Estimation of variances and covariances under multiple trait models. Journal of Dairy Science67,1581–1589.
- HillWG2010.Understandingandusingquantitativegeneticvariation.PhilosophicalTransactionsoftheRoyal SocietyofLondon,SeriesB:BiologicalSciences365,73-85.
- ICAR 2009. International agreement of recording practices. International Committee for Animal Recording, NiagraFalls, NY, USA.
- IlatsiaED,MuasyaTK,MuhuyiWBandKahiAK2007.Geneticandphenotypicparametersfortestdaymilk yieldofSahiwalcattleinthesemi-aridtropicsAnimal1,185–192.
- Interbull 2009. National GES information. Retrieved 22 January 2009, from http://wwwinterbull.slu.se/national ges info2/framesida-ges.htm

≪18≫

KhanMS,RehmanZUR,KhanMA andSohailA 2008.Geneticresourcesand

Khan MS, Rehman ZUR, Khan MA and Sohail A 2008. Genetic resources and diversity in Pakistani cattle. Pakistan Veterinary Journal 28,2.

- Mevik B-H and Cederkvist HR 2004. Mean squared error of prediction (MSEP) estimates for principal componentregression(PCR)andpartialleastsquaresregression(PLSR).JournalofChemometrics18,422 –429.
- MeyerK1987.Estimateofvariancesduetosire×herdinteractionsandenvironmentalconvariancesbetween paternalhalf-sibsforfirstlactationdairyproductionLivestockProductionScience17,95–115.
- MostertBE, TheronHE, KanferFHJandvanMarle-KosterE2006. Comparison of breeding values and genetic trends for production traits estimated by lactation model and fixed regression test-day model. South A frican Journal of Animal Science 32,71–78.
- PowellRLandNormanHD2006.Majoradvancesingeneticevaluationtechniques.JournalofDairyScience89, 1337-1348.
- RCore Team 2013. R: Alanguage and environment for statistical computing, Vienna, Austria. Retrieved 1 December2013, from http://www.R-project.org
- RegeJEO, MarshallK, NotenbaertA, OjangoJMK and OkeyoAM2011. Pro-poor animalim provement and breeding-what can science do? Livestock Science 136, 15–28.
- SandersK, BennewitzJandKalmE2006.WrongandmissingsireinformationaffectsgeneticgainintheAngeln dairycattlepopulation.JournalofDairyScience89,315–321.
- SchaefferLR,JamrozikJ,KistemakerGJandvanDoormaalBJ2000.Experiencewithatest-daymodel.Journal ofDairyScience83,1135-1144.
- Urgate E, Alenda R and Carabano MJ 1992. Fixed or random contemporary groups in genetic evaluations. JournalofDairyScience75,269–278.
- VanBebberJ,ReinschN,JungeWandKalmE1997.Accountingforherd,yearandseasoneffectsingenetic evalatuionsofdairycattle:areview.LivestockProductionScience51,191–203.
- VanVleckLD1987.Contemporarygroupsforgeneticevaluations JournalofDairyScience70,2456-2464.
- Visscher PM and Goddard ME 1993. Fixed and random contemporary groups. Journal of Dairy Science 76, 1444–1454.
- Visscher PM, Woolliams JA, Smith Dand Williams JL 2002. Estimation of pedigree errors in the UK dairy population using microsatellite markers and the impact on selection. Journal of Dairy Science 85, 2368–2375.
- WellerJI1986.Comparisonofinultitraitandsingle-traitmultipleparityevaluationsbyMonteCarlosimulation. JournalofDairyScience69,493–500.
- WellerJI,FeldmesserE,GolikM,Tager-CohenI,DomochovskyR,AlusO,EzraEandRonM2004.Factors affecting incorrect paternity assignment in the Israeli holstein population. Journal of Dairy Science 87, 2627–2640.
- WiggansGRandGoddardME1997.Acomputionallyfeasibletestdaymodelforgeneticevaluationofyield traitsintheUnitedStatesJournalofDairyScience80,1795–1800.

≪19≫

CSIROPUBLISHING

Animal Production Science

Food, Fibreand Pharmaceutical from animals

Patternofpartitioningofaflatoxinsfromfeedtourineanditseffect onserumchemistryinNili-Ravibuffaloheifers

N. AslamA, C, Z.M. IqbalB, H.M. WarriachA, BandP.C. WynnA

AGraham Centre for Agricultural Innovation, NSW Department of Primary Industries and Charles Sturt University, Wagga Wagga, 2650 NSW, Australia. BUniversity of Veterinary and Animal Sciences (UVAS), Lahore54000, Pakistan. CC or responding author. Email: drnaveed as lam@gmail.com

Abstract

The objectives of the present study were (1) to monitor the pattern of excretion of a flat oxin M1 in urine after its a study of the present study of theconversion from a flat ox in B1 and (2) to observe the effects of different levels of a flat ox in B1 infeed on serum the set of tconcentrationsofkeymetabolitesglucose,totalprotein,cholesterolandureaasindicatorsofmetabolicstatus. Nili-Ravibuffaloheifers(n=12)ofsimilarageandweightwererandomlydistributedtofourgroupsAnimalsin GroupsA, BandCwereofferedacontaminatedcottonseedcake-basedconcentraterationat0.5%, 1.0% and 1.5% of bodyweight, respectively. Control animals in Group Dwere fed with a flatox in B1-free green fodder. BasedonthelevelofcontaminationoftheconcentraterationwithaflatoxinB1(554mg/kg),GroupsA,BandC consumed953,2022,3202mgofaflatoxinB1daily.FeedsampleswereanalysedatRomerLaboratoriesPtyLtd, Singapore by high performance liquid chromatography. AflatoxinM1 quantification in urine samples was conducted using a competitive enzyme-linked immunos or bentassay with kits supplied by Helica Biosystems, Inc., USA. Serums amples were analysed for concentrations of glucose, total protein, cholesteroland ure ausing clinical chemistry kits provided by Human diagnostics (HUMAN, Biochemica und Diagnostica mbH, Germany).Carry-overrateofaflatoxinM1inurineforGroupsA,BandCwas15.51%,15.44%and14.04%of aflatoxinB1 while there was no detectable aflatoxinM1 in the urine of the control group (D). There was no significant difference in the concentrations of serum glucose, total protein and cholesterol between treatment groups.However,theconcentrationofserumureawassignificantlyhigher(P<0.05)inthegroupofferedthe highest level of aflatoxinB1-contaminated concentrate. This result suggests that mycotoxicosis may compromiseproteinmetabolismandaccretioninaffectedanimals. This leaves open the possibility that high concentrationsofaflatoxinsinmilkmayultimatelyaffectthehealthstatusofhumanmilkconsumers.

Additionalkeywords: AFLB1,AFM1,mycotoxins,transferrate.

Received18March2014,accepted17June2014,publishedonline19August2014

Introduction

Aflatoxins(mycotoxinsproducedbyAspergillusflavusandA.parasiticus)arereadilyabsorbedanddistributed toalmostallvitalorgansandbodyfluidsafteringestion(Stubblefieldetal.1981).Themicrosomalcytochrome P450system in liver facilitates both activation and deactivation of aflatoxinB1 (AFB1). Oxidation of AFB1 results in the formation of the biologically active metabolite, AFB1–8,9-epoxide(Kuilmanetal.2000). This metabolitecanthenreactwithRNA andDNA leading to hepatocellular carcinomasor with liver protein (Judahet al.1993) tocause liver toxicity. AflatoxinB1–8,9-epoxide is then converted into severalless toxic metabolites suchas aflatoxinM1(AFM1), aflatoxinQ1(AFQ1) and aflatoxinP1(AFP1) after hydroxylation(Kuilmanetal. 2000). The body has a mechanism to regulate toxicity through conjugation of AFB1 with glutathione, facilitated by glutathione S-transferases (Hayesetal.1991). The kidneys, lungs, liver and mammary glands were found to sequester the highest concentrations of total aflatoxins (Stubble fieldetal.1983) while brain, gall bladder, bile, small intestine, heart, skeletal muscles, spleen, supramammary lymph nodes and tongue were also found to retain considerable amounts of aflatoxins. Trucknessetal. (1983) found that the transfero faflatoxicol AFB 1 and AFM1 to milk, plasma and red blood cells of the cattle is very rapid, reaching high levels within 1 hof dosing. Consistent with this rapid increase, the circulatory system is highly efficient at eliminating aflatoxin metabolites



through milk and urine. Stubble field et al. (1983) found concentrations of AFM link idneys to be almost 40 times higher than the intact AFB1, showing extensive metabolism of the original feed contaminant in cattle. Thus urine isone of the major routes for excretion of AFM lafter its conversion from AFB lint heliver (Nabney et al. 1967).

Pakistanissecondintheworldinbuffalomilk(22.96milliontonnes)andmeat(0.775milliontonnes)production after India (FAO 2011). Ingredients used as concentrate are often contaminated with fungi, which secrete mycotoxinsthatarethenincorporated into the feedbase (Sultana and Hanif2009).

CSIROPUBLISHING

 $\label{eq:animal} Animal Production Science, 2014, 54, 1671-1675 \qquad http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/AN14302 \ Journal compilation CSIRO2014www.publish.csiro.au/journals/anThepatternofsecretionofAFM1inbuffalourinemayprovidea meansformeasurementofmycotoxinlikelytobestoredincarcassesprovidingmeatenteringthehumanfood chain.Theobjectivesofthepresentstudywere(1)todeterminetherelationshipbetweenfeedAFB1statusand urinaryAFM1 contents and (2) to observe the effect of mycotoxins on key serum constituents in Nili-Ravi buffaloheifers.$

Materialsandmethods

ThegovernmentBuffaloResearchInstitute,Pattoki(latitude:31050Nandlongitude:73520E)districtQasurof provincePunjabinPakistanprovidedNili-Ravibuffaloheifers(n=12)ofsimilarage(18.7–20.4months)and liveweight(339–387kg),whichwererandomlyassignedtofourgroupsofferedwithdifferentlevelsofAFB1 naturallycontaminatedconcentratefeed.GroupsA,BandCwerefedwithcontaminatedconcentrateat0.*5*(1.72 kg), 1.0(3.65 kg) and 1.5(5.78 kg)% ofbodyweight, respectively; whileGroupDwaskeptasthe control (animalswereonlyfedwithfreshgreenfodder,freeofAFB1).Animalsineachgroupwereofferedindividually abovementioned contaminated concentrate and ad libitum AFB1-free green fodder (Berseem, Trifolium alexandrium)for10daysbeforethestartoftheexperimentalperiodof5days.Theconcentraterationwashighly contaminatedwithAFB1(554mg/kg).TotaldailyintakesofAFB1 foranimalsinGroupsA,B,CandDwere 953,2022,3202 and0mg overthe5 days, respectively. TheAFB1-free green fodder was also available ad libitumduringthe5-daytestperiodanddailyintakewasrecordedbyweighingbackfeedresiduals.Waterwas madeavailableadlibitumandintakewasmeasuredonadailybasis.Totaldailydrymatter(DM)intakewas calculatedbyaddingtheDM%ofconcentrateandgreenfodder.TotaldailyexcretionofAFM1wascalculatedby multiplyingconcentrationofAFM1(mg/L)bytotalurineproductionofthatday.

Samplecollection

Feedsamples

 $\label{eq:linear} A representative sample of green fodder was dried and preserved on Day 1 together with a representative concentrates ample. These were analysed for AFB 1 at Romer Laboratories, Singapore.$

Serumsamples

Bloodsamples(10mL)werecollectedbyvenipunctureusingdisposablesyringes(19-gaugeneedles)andstored at23Cfor2hforserumtoform. Theywerethencentrifugedat1200gat25Cfor20mintocollecttheserum, whichwasstoredat20Cpendinganalysis. Concentrationsofglucose, totalprotein, cholesterolandureawere determined by using clinical chemistry kits provided by Human diagnostics (HUMAN, Biochemica und DiagnosticambH,Wiesbaden,Germany). Serumsampleswereanalysedusingachemistryanalyser(Microlab 300) providedbytheELITechGroup,Paris,France.

Urinesamples

Foley balloon catheters (24-gauge, NingboGreat careMeditechCo.Ltd, Zhejiang, China) we repassed through the ure thrain to the urinary bladder of all animals on Day 1 after the adjustment period of 10 days and kept there are the unit of the unit



for 5 days. The secatheters were directed to airtight plastic bottles (20 L). Urine samples (5 m L) we recollected every 24 h after mixing and stored at 4 C pending analysis. All animals were monitored continuously after catheter introduction.

AflatoxinB1analyses

Samples of green fodder and contaminated concentrate ration were sent to Romer Laboratories, for AFB1 analysis and were analysed by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). Samples were also analysed for AFB2, deoxynival en ol, fumonisin B1, och ratoxin A and zearal en one. Sample preparation and cleanup Atotal of 25 gofs ample was ground. Ground sample was mixed well and the next racted with 100 mLacetonitrile/water (84:16). After blending for 3 min, it was filtered through folded filter paper. Tween 20 (33 mL of 1%) in PBS was then added in 2 mL of filtrate (acetonitrile/water sample extract). All diluted sample extract was applied to AflastarFit (immuno affinity column) columns. The sample was allowed to pass through the column at the rate of 1-3 mL/min. The column was then was hed with 10 mL of PBS Allexcessiveliquid was removed and to xins were eluted from the column by applying two times 0.5 mL methanol followed by two times 0.5 mL of deionised water. After mixing, 100 mL was injected into HPLC.

HPLC

HPLCanalyseswereperformedusinganHPLCseries1100fromAgilentTechnologies(Waldbronn,Germany). ChromatographicseparationofAFB1wasconductedbyuseofanAgilentZorbaxSB-Aqcolumn(4.6mm·150 mm,5um).Themobilephaseappliedwaswater/acetonitrile/methanolmixture(5/1/1),including100mLnitric acidand0.3gpotassiumbromideperL.Theflowratewas2mL/min,columnoventemperature30C,injection volume100mL.AKobracellwasusedforpost-columnderivatisation,fluorescencedetectorsettingswere360 nm(excitation),440nm(emission).

AflatoxinM1analysesinurine

AFM1quantificationinurinesampleswasconductedwithacompetitiveenzyme-linkedimmunosorbentassay (ELISA)kit(Cat.No.991AFLMO1Y-96HelicaBiosystemsInc.,SantaAna,CA,USA).Meanrecovery of AFM1inspikedsamples(0.5and2.0ng/L)accordingtothemanufacturer'sspecificationswere96.40% and recoveryrangewas78–111%.Carry-overrateofaflatoxinM1inurineThecarry-overrateofAFM1inurinewas calculatedbyfollowingtheformula:

Carry-ovenate/4TotaldailyAFM1excreted= TotaldailyAFB1intake100:

Statisticalanalyses

Dataweremeasured5timesoneachanimalssotheywereanalysedusinglinearmixedmodelswithGroup*Day asfixedeffectsandAnimal/Dayasrandomeffects.Asdataforserum1672AnimalProductionScienceNAslam etal.concentrationsofglucose,totalproteins,cholesterolandureaweremeasuredatonlyonetimepoint,they wereanalysedbyone-wayANOVA usingacompletelyrandomiseddesign.



Fig.1. TotaldailymeanexcretionofaflatoxinM1inurineofbuffaloesexposedtodifferentlevelsofaflatoxinB1(P<0.001:s.e.d.= 30.07).Note:AnimalsinGroupsA,B,CandDwereexposedto953,2022,3202and0mg/day,respectively.

GENSTAT16thedition(HemelHempstead,UK)wasusedforallanalyses.

Results

The rewassignificant (P<0.001) difference intotal daily excretion of AFM1 inurine among the four groups; higher levels of AFM1 inurine were associated with higher levels of consumption of AFB1 (Fig.1). There were no significant differences in urinary excretion between days, with levels remaining constant over the 5 days of treatment (Fig.2). A highly significant difference (P<0.001) was observed in urinary AFM1 concentrations (mg/L) among Groups A, B, Cand D. The mean concentrations of AFM1 (mg/L) were 14.37, 18.96, 24.17 and 0 for the animal sfed with 953, 2022, 3202 and 0 mg/day of AFB1, respectively. There was no difference in the daily pattern of excretion of AFM1 (mg/L) over the 5-day experimental treatment period. Astrongly significant (P<0.01) difference in water in take on the concentrate ration. There was a highly significant (P<0.001) difference in water in take on Dayl for all animals was 21.72 L, which was



Fig.2. DailyvariationinexcretionpatternofaflatoxinM1inbuffaloesexposedtovariouslevelsofaflatoxinB1(P>0.05: s.e.d. =29.00).Note:animalsinGroupsA,B,CandDwereexposedto953,2022,3202and0mg/day,respectively.

Table 1. Mean values for daily urine production, water intake, dry matter intake, carry-over rate, excretion of aflatoxinM1 and mean concentrations of serum constituents in buffaloes exposed to different levels of aflatoxinB1

Group	Urine production (L/day)	Water intake (L/day)	Dry matter intake (kg/day)	AflatoxinB1 intake in feed (µg/day)	AflatoxinM1 excretion in urine (µg/day)	Carty-over rate of aflatoxinM1 in urine (%) ^A	Glucose (mg/dL)	Total protein (mg/dL)	Cholesterol (mg/dL)	Urea (mg/Ll)
Λ	10.35	23.01	8.139	953	147.8	15.51	79.0	6.40	67.7	46.0
в	16.59	29.04	10.002	2022	312.3	15.44	65.7	6.17	88.0	62.7
C	18.67	33.35	12.252	3202	449.5	14.04	70.3	6.27	76.0	69.0
D	9.39	20.81	6.623	n.a.	0	n.a.	73.3	6.30	73.3	46.0
P-value	< 0.001	≤ 0.01	< 0.001	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	0.744	0.990	0.617	0.030

^ACarry-over rate = aflatoxinM1 excretion in urine/aflatoxinB1 intake in feed ×100.

significantly (P<0.001) lower than mean intakes for the subsequent days i.e. 26.37, 27.68, 28.78 and 28.21 L for second, third, four thand fifth day, respectively (s.e.d.=1.368). Consequently urine production in an imals from each group was significantly (P<0.001) different (Table 1). There was no significant difference in urine production from daytoday. A highly significant (P<0.001) difference intotal DM intake was detected between groups and days. Total DM intake was significantly (P<0.001) lower for the control animals (6.623 kg/day) relative to Groups A, Band C(8.139, 10.002 and 12.252 kg/day, respectively). Total DM intake for all groups on Day 2 was 8.945 kg, which was significantly lower (P<0.001) than the values for the other days. No interactions were apparent between groups and days for total AFM1 excretion per day and per litre of urine, daily water intake, daily urine production or daily total DM intake.

Difference in the mean blood concentrations of glucose, total protein and cholesterol among treatment groups were not significantly influenced by treatment (Table 1). Mean concentration of urea in blood serum was significantly higher (P<0.005) in Group Cexposed to the highest AFB lconcentrate than all other groups.



Discussion

DeathsofseveralhundredcalvesinAustralia(McKenzieetal.1981),numerousanimaldeathsonachinchilla farm in Argentina (Pereyra et al. 2008) and the death of 493 buffaloes in Landhi colony Karachi, Pakistan (SultanaandHanif2009)provideexamplesofthepotentialimpactofacuteaflatoxicosesinproductionanimals. Nabney et al. (1967) reported a carry-over of AFM1 in urine of up to 5.94% in sheep. This result is clearly different from the results (14–15.5%) produced in the present study. The reason for this differences as Nili-Ravi buffalo heifers were used in this experiment. Another reason may be the resistance of sheep tomycotoxins. AFM1 was carried over at the rate of 1.23–2.18% of AFB1 in the urine of humansfed with contaminated cornand peanutoilinan others tudy conducted by Zhuetal. (1987) when average daily intake of AFB1 was 58 mg/day. The reason for this reduced carry-over rate may be the difference in physiology between humans and ruminants.

 $\label{eq:linear} A total of 4.52\% of the aflatoxining ested was excreted through milk (0.18\%), urine (1.55\%) and faeces (2.79\%) in a study with beef cattle (All croftetal. 1968). The apparent lower transfer in this study could relate to the single dose of a flatoxinad ministered to an imals. The sensitivity of the analytical technique (ELISA) used in the present study relative to the methodology in use 40 years ago may also contribute to the differences. The mechanisms of transfer may also vary between the heifer sused in this study and lactating cattle. Different factors may influence the variation in carry-over ate (0.3–6.2\%) of AFM 1 in milk (Creppy 2002).$

Transferofmycotoxinstothehumanfoodchainsisparticularlycommonindevelopingcountries.InCameroon for example, 35.5% and 45.5% of the urine samples of children suffering from kwashiorkor and Marasmic kwashiorkor were positive, having mean values of 0.109-2.840 mg/L and 0.109-0.864 mg/L, respectively (Tchanaetal.2010).AnotherreasonforthedifferenceinAFM1concentrationinurinemaybethesynergistic effect with the presence of other my cotoxins. The concentrate ration used in the present study contained 50,166, 230, 31.2 and 18 mg/kg of aflatoxinB2, deoxynivalenol, fumonisinB1, ochratoxinA and zearalenone, respectively. Various studies (Pozzi et al. 2001; Rajmon et al. 2001; Gelderblom et al. 2002) have reported synergistic effects of AFB1 with other mycotox in satcellular and hepatic levels in different animals: similar and hepatic levels in the same set of the sameffectsmayhaveoccurredinthepresentstudyalsoMeanconcentrationsofglucoseandcholesterolobservedin thisstudywereallhigherthantheconcentrationsreportedbyHagawaneetal.(2009).Concentrationsofglucose andcholesterolwerefoundtobe50.06and26.76mg/dL,respectively,inhealthylactatingbuffaloes.Thismost likelyistheresultoftheseanimalsbeinginfullactation.Differences in the expression of urea with increasing mycotoxinlevelscould result from a disruption of proteins yn the sise it her within the runnen in the synthesis of the size of the sizemicrobial proteinor in the post-ruminal gastrointestinal tract. The mycotoxins may also be acting in muscle tissueandliverhamperingproteinsynthesisandcausingdeaminationandgreaterexcretionofureaintotheurine. This mechanism deserves further investigation as it may be important in inhibiting growth or lactational efficiency.

References

- Allcroft R, Roberts BA, Lloyd MK (1968) Excretion of aflatoxin in a lactating cow. Food and Cosmetics Toxicology6,619–625.doi:10.1016/0015-6264(68)90311-8
- CreppyEE(2002)Updateofsurvey, regulation and toxic effects of mycotoxinsin Europe. ToxicologyLetters 127, 19–28. doi:10.1016/S0 378-4274(01)00479-9 FAO (2011) FAO STAT. Available at http://faostat.fao.org/site/339/default.aspx[VerifiedIJuly2014]
- GelderblomWCA,MarasasWFO,Lebepe-MazurS,SwanevelderS,VesseyCJ,HallPDLM(2002)Interaction of fumonisin B1 and aflatoxin B1 in a short-term carcinogenesis model in rat liver. Toxicology 171, 161–173.doi:10.1016/S0300-483X(01)00573-X
- Hagawane SD, Shinde SB, Rajguru DN (2009) Haematological and blood biochemical profile in lactating buffaloesinandaroundParbhanicity.VeterinaryWorld2,467–469.
- Hayes JD, Judah DJ, Mclellan LI, Neal GE (1991) Contribution of the glutathione s-transferases to the mechanismsofresistancetoaflatoxinB1.Pharmacology&Therapeutics50,443–472.doi:10.1016/0163-7258(91)90053-O

- Judah DJ, Hayes JD, Yang JC, Lian LY, Roberts GCK, Farmer PB, Lamb JH, Neal GE (1993) Research Communication:anovelaldehydereductasewithactivitytowardsametaboliteofaflatoxinB lisexpressed inratliverduringcarcinogenesisandfollowingtheadministrationofanantioxidant.BiochemicalJournal 292,13–18.
- KuilmanMEM,MaasRFM,Fink-gremmelsJ(2000)CytochromeP450-mediatedmetabolismandcytotoxicity of aflatoxin B1 in bovine hepatocytes. Toxicology In Vitro 14, 321–327. doi:10.1016/S0887-23 33(00)00025-4
- McKenzie RA, Blaney J, Connole D, Fltzpatrlck LA(1981) Acute aflatoxicosis in calves fed peanut hay. AustralianVeterinaryJournal57,284–286.doi:10.1111/j.1751-0813.1981.tb05816.x
- NabneyJ,BurbageMB,AllcroftR,LewisG(1967)Metabolismofaflatoxininsheep:excretionpatterninthe lactating ewe. Food and Cosmetics Toxicology 5, 11–17. doi:10.1016/S0015-6264(67)82880-3 1674 AnimalProductionScienceNAslametal.
- PereyraMLG, CarvalhoECQ, TisseraJL, KellerKM, MagnoliCE, RosaCAR, DalceroAM, CavaglieriLR (2008)Anoutbreakofacuteaflatoxicosisonachinchilla(Chinchillalanigera)farminArgentina.Journalof VeterinaryDiagnosticInvestigation20,853–856.doi:10.1177/104063870802000629
- Pozzi CR, Correa B, Xavier JG, Direito GM, Orsi RB, Matarazzo SV (2001) Effects of prolonged oral administrationoffumonisinB1andaflatoxinB1inrats.Mycopathologia151,21–27.doi:10.1023/A:101 0954119980
- RajmonR,SedmikovaM,JilekF,KoubkovaM,HartlovaH,BartaI,SmerakP(2001)Combinedeffects of repeatedlowdosesofaflatoxinB1andT-2toxinontheChinesehamster.Vet.Med.-Czech46,301–307.
- Stubblefield RD, Shotwell OL, Richard JL, Pier AC (1981) Transmission and distribution of aflatoxin in contaminated beef liver and other tissues. Journal Association of Official Analytical Chemists 64, 964–968.
- StubblefieldRD,PierAC,RichardJL,ShotwellOL(1983)Fateofaflatoxinsintissues,fluidsandexcrements fromcowsdosedorallywithaflatoxinB1AmericanJournalofVeterinaryResearch44,1750–1752.
- SultanaN,HanifNQ(2009)Mycotoxincontaminationincattlefeedandfeedingredients.PakistanVeterinary Journal29,211–213.
- TchanaAN,MoundipaPF,TchouanguepFM(2010)Aflatoxincontaminationinfoodandbodyfluidsinrelation tomalnutritionandcancerstatusinCameroon.InternationalJournalofEnvironmentalResearchandPublic Health7,178–188.doi:10.3390/ijerph7010178
- TrucknessMW,RichardJL,StoloffL,McDonaldJS,BrumleyWC(1983)Absorptionanddistributionpatterns ofaflatoxicolandaflatoxinM1andM1inbloodandmilkofcowsgivenaflatoxinB1.AmericanJournalof VeterinaryResearch44,1753–1756.

26

ZhuJQ,ZhangLS,HuX,WiaoY,ChenJS,XuYC,FremyJ,ChuFS(1987)CorrelationofdietaryaflatoxinB1 levelswithexcretionofaflatoxinM1inhumanurine.CancerResearch47,1848–1852.

Transferofaflatoxinsfromnaturallycontaminatedfeedto milkofNili-Ravibuffaloesfedamycotoxinbinder

N. AslamA,E,I.RodriguesB,D.M.McGillA,C,H.M.WarriachA,C,A.CowlingA,A. HaqueDandP.C.WynnA

AgrahamCentre for Agricultural Innovation, Charles Sturt University, Wagga Wagga, 2650NSW, Australia. BBIOMIN Holding GmbH, Herzongenburg, Austria. CASLP Dairy Project, University of Veterinary and AnimalSciences, Lahore 54000, Pakistan. DBuffaloResearchInstitute (BRI), PattokidistrictKasur, Pakistan. ECorrespondingauthor. Email:naslam@csu.edu.au;drnaveedaslam@gmail.com

Abstract

The objectives of this study we reto observe the extent of transfer of a flat oxin B1 infeed to the a flat oxin M1 infeed to the ametabolite in milk in Nili-Ravi buffaloes and to evaluate the efficacy of a commercial mycotoxin binder (Mycofix,BiominSingapore)incorporatedintofeedtominimisethistransfer.Multiparousanimals(n=28)were randomly distributed to four groups corresponding to two treatments each with two levels of aflatoxin B1. Individualanimalswereexposedtonaturallycontaminatedfeedprovidingatotalof1475mg/day(GroupsA and B) or 2950 mg/day (Groups CandD) of a flat oxin B1. Groups BandDwere given 50 go finy cotoxin binder daily mixedwithfeedwhereasGroupsAandCwerekeptascontrols.Feedsampleswereanalysedbyreversephase highperformanceliquidchromatographyforaflatoxinB1 andmilksampleswereevaluatedbyenzyme-linked foranimalsfed2950mg/dayofaflatoxinB1(112.6mg/day)wasalmostdouble(P<0.001)thantheexcretionin buffaloesfed1475mg/day(62.2mg/day).ThemeandailyconcentrationofaflatoxinMlinmilkofanimalsfrom bothtreatmentgroupssupplementedwith50g/dayofmycotoxinbinderwas76.5mg/day,nearly22mglower thanthosewithoutbinderat98.3mg/day(s.e.d.=5.99:P<0.01).Theinteractionofbinderandtreatmentwasnot significanti.e.the50g/dayofbinderwasabletosequesteraflatoxinB1withthesameefficiencyingroupsfed with high and low concentrations of a flatoxin B1. Carry over was (3.44%) lower (P=0.001) in animals supplemented with 50g/day of my cotoxin binder (4.60%). Thus buffaloes are highly efficientattransferringaflatoxinsinfeedtotheaflatoxinM1metaboliteinmilk,whereasmycotoxinbinderis capableofalleviatingwithoutpreventingthiscontaminationrisk.

Additionalkeywords: AFB1,AFM1,mycotoxinbinder,Nili-Ravibuffaloes,transfer. Received28October2014,accepted6March2015,publishedonline16June2015

Introduction

Aflatoxins(AF) are one of the principal my cotoxins of concern for human foods a fety (MacLachlan 2011). They are among the most acutely toxic and carcinogenic compounds known (Lilly 1965). The negative impact of a flatoxin B1 (AFB1) and a flatoxin M1 (AFM1) has been recognised by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC 2002). Due to its genotoxicity and cytotoxicity (Hagawane et al. 2009), AFM1 has now been categorised as a carcinogen for animals (IARC 2002). The mutagenice ffects of AFM1 inmilkand milk products are potentially greater for children and infants due to the irrapid grow than developmental processes (Sadiaetal. 2012). However, my cotoxins exert antimicrobial, anti-protozoal and antifungal action directly in the rumen (Fink-Gremmels 2008). AFs, which are degraded in the rumen, are reduced to form the less active metabolite a flatoxicol (Pawlowski et al. 1977). The remaining undegraded fraction is absorbed in the digestive tract and converted in the live nint of AFM1 (Up ad hay a et al. 2010).

The maximum permissible level of AFM1 in milk and milk products is 0.05 mg/kg in the European Union whereas the USFDA has suggested alevel of 0.5 mg/kg (Berg2003). The extent and rate of transfer of AFM1 into milk from feed in Nili-Ravibuffaloes has not been reported. Indairy cattle, transfer of AFB1 from feed to AFM1 in milk may be as high as 3% (Veldman et al. 1992). AFM1 appears in milk within 12 hofting estion of AFB1 and reaches a maximum concentration after 3 days. Similarly, it dis appears from the milk within 4 days of frem oval of the source in feed (Diazet al. 2004). The carry over of AFM1 depends on milk yield and stage of lactation.



Furthermore, species differences, animal variability and health of mammary alveolar cell membranes may also contribute towards the efficiency of AFM ltransfertomilk (Masoero et al. 2007). Therefore, incountries that rely on the buffalo for their milk supply, for example Pakistan (Wasti 2013), it is important to investigate the extent of carry overtomilk in buffalo esinthe interests of consumers afety.

Several in vitro studies reporting on the effectiveness of sequestering agents such as activated carbons and aluminosilicates have shown positive binding effects on AFB1 in feed (Huwigetal. 2001) whereas in vivo studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of sequestering agents against AFB ltoxicosisinanimals and against the secretion of AFM1 in milk (Galvano et al. 1996). Charcoals or activated carbons are widely used for detoxification of mycotoxins (Diazetal. 2004) but are highly variable in the infectiveness. This variation may be because activated charcoal is a relatively non-specific adsorbent and many essential nutrients are also adsorbed at equivalent efficiencies to the mycotoxins (Huwigetal. 2001).

As such, their practical application in animal feeds is questionable. In a more recent study, bentonites were reported as effective adsorbents for AFB1 (Vekiruetal. 2007). Given the importance of buffalomilk, the present study was conducted with the objectives of investigating the efficiency of transfer of AFM lintomilk in Nili-Ravi buffaloes and to evaluate the ability of a commercial my cotox in binder to minimise this transfer.

Materialsandmethods

Thisstudywasconducted at the BuffaloResearchInstitute, Pattoki (latitude:31050N, longitude:73520E) in districtK asurofPunjabprovince, Pakistan. MultiparousNili-Ravibuffaloes(Table1) were randomly allocated to four groups corresponding to two treatments each with two levels of AFB1. A cottonseed cake-based concentratefeed wasobtained from alocal commercial source and was being used at the time of the study as the concentrate supplement for the buffaloher dacross the Institute Animals in low(A and B) and high (Cand D) AF groups were individually offered this my cotox in contaminated cottons eed cake-based concentrate feed (2.5 and 5 kg/day: 88.2% DM) and corn (200 and 400 g/day: 91% DM), respectively. This provided at the 1475 and 2950 mg/day of AFB 1 to animal sin low and high groups, respectively. Moreover, animal swereoffered either 80 kg/day (Groups A and B) or 70 kg/day (Groups Cand D) of AF-free fresh cubers eem clover (17.8% DM).

Therefore, total daily DM intake for low and high groups was 16.62 kg and 17.26 kg, respectively. The AFB1 concentrations infeed for the low and high groups were 88.7 and 171.2 mg/kg of DM. Both, concentrate feed and cornwere naturally found to have these levels of contamination and were being fed already to an imals. Groups B and D were given 50 g of a my cotoxin binder daily mixed with feed where as Groups A and C were kept as controls. All data and sample collection were performed on individual animals. Experimental period was 10 days excluding week of an adjustment period.

Treatment	Low aflat	oxin intake	High aflatoxin intal		
	Without binder A	With binder B	Without binder C	With binder D	
Number of animals	7	7	7	7	
Average milk production (kg/day)	9.5	8.6	8.6	9.4	
Months in lactation	1-4	1-4	1-4.5	0.5-4	
Average bodyweight (kg)	510	480	535	550	
Lactation number	2-6	3-6	4-7	3-7	
Body condition score	2.62	2.5	2.94	2.84	

Mycotoxinbinder

The mycotox in binder used in this study was a 50-50 mixture of commercial available products Mycofix Secure and Mycofix Plus of BIOMIN (Getzers dorf, Lower Austria, Austria). Mycofix Secure is composed of 100% of benton ite/dioctahedral montmorillon ite. Mycofix Plus is composed of benton ite/dioctahedral montmorillon ite. Mycofix Plus is composed of benton ite/dioctahedral montmorillon ite, Biomin BBSH 797 (Gen.sp. nov. nov., formerly Eubacterium), Biomin MTV (Trichos poronmy cotoxinivor ans DSM 14153), phytophytic (Ascophyllum nod osum) and phytogenic (sily marin) substances. All these products areauthor is edby the European Union Commission for the irsafety for use in an imal sand humans.



Samplecollection

Milkproductionofeachanimalwasrecordeddailyat0500hoursand1700hours.Milksampleswerecollected onDays0,2,4,6and8oftheexperimentalperiod.Milksamples(100mL)fromallanimalsfrommorningand eveningmilkingsweremixedinproportionwiththemilkproductiontoconstituteonerepresentativesamplefor eachanimaleveryday.Sampleswerethenstoredat20Cuntilanalysed.

Mycotoxinanalyses

Samples of green fodder and concentrate fed to the animals were analysed forAF(B1, B2, G1 and G2), deoxynivalenol,fumonisin(B1andB2),ochratoxinA andzearalenonebyreversephasehighperformanceliquid chromatography following sample clean up. All samples were sent to Romer Laboratories, Bukit Merah, SingaporeformanlysisasdescribedbyAslametal.(2014).

AflatoxinM1analyses

Aflatoxin M1 was measured by direct competitive enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) using the AgraQuant AFM1 Fast ELISA kits supplied by Romer Laboratories Singapore, according to the method provided with the kits. There covery of AFM1 in the assay was 93–119% and cross reactivities with AFB1, B2, G1 and G2were 88%, 27%, 11.5% and 4.7%, respectively.

Samplepreparation/extraction

A 5-mLmilksamplewasincubatedfor30minat4C.Thesamplewasthencentrifugedat3000gat4Cfor10min. After centrifugation, the milk serum below the fat layer was diluted 20 times with double distilled water. Followingthis,0.4mL ofthedilutedmilkserumwasmixedwith0.1mLof100%methanol(4:1)andusedinthe ELISA.

ELISA assayprocedure

One AFM1 - specific antibody coated well was used for each standard (0, 100, 200, 500, 1000, 2000 ng/L) or sample. To each dilution well, 200 mL of the AFM1 - specific monoclonal antibody - enzyme conjugate was dispensed. Then 100 mL of each standard or sample was placed into the appropriate dilution well. Each well was then mixed carefully. These solutions (100 mL) were then dispensed into the corresponding antibody coated microwell. Samples were incubated at room temperature (1830C) for 20 min.

MicrowellstripswerethenplacedintoanautomaticELISAwasher(ELx50,BioTek,Winooski,VT,USA)and washedfivetimesandthendrainedusingabsorbenttowelstodryresidualsolution.Enzymesubstrate(100mL) wasdispensedintoeachwellandincubatedfor10mininthedark.Stopsolution(100mL)wasdispensedinto eachwell.Atthistime,thecolourchangedfrombluetoyellow.Opticaldensitieswererecordedinamicrowell platereader(MultiskanEX,ThermoScientific,Schaumburg,IL,USA)atawavelengthof450nm.Carryoverof alfatoxinM1intomilkThecarryoverofAFM1intomilkwascalculatedbyfollowingtheformula:

Transferð%Þ¼100·ðTotalAflatoxinMlinmilk TotalAflatoxinBlinfeedÞ

Statisticalanalyses

 $\label{eq:allotation} Alldatawere analyse dusing linear mixed models with AFB1 level in feed (high and low), my cotoxin binder (with and without), Day (1,2,3 and 4) and all interactions as main effects and animal/day as random effects. This use of animal/day as random effect identifies the individual animals as the experimental unit with repeated measurement on several days. GENSTAT (16 the dition) was used for all analyses.$

Results

MycotoxincontentsoffeedsTheconcentrationofAFB1inthecottonseedcake-basedconcentrateforthisstudy was554mg/kg.TheconcentrationsofAFB2,deoxynivalenol,fumonisinB1,ochratoxinAandzearalenonewere 50,166,230,31.2and18mg/kg,respectively.ThecornsupplementusedinthestudyalsocontainedAFB1(454 mg/kg),AFB2(52mg/kg),fumonisinB1(275mg/kg),fumonisinB2(328mg/kg)andochratoxinA (9.2mg/kg).

TransferofaflatoxinM1intomilk

The rewas a difference (P=0.001) in carry overof AFM1 into milkof animals fed with and without my cotox in binder. Carry overwaslower (3.44%) in animals supplemented with 50g/day of my cotox in binder than those fed nobinder (4.6%). However, there was no difference (P=0.219) in transferinanimals exposed to high and low levels of AFB1. Carry over in an imal sexposed to high (2950 mg/day) levels of AFB1 was 3.82% whereas it was 4.22% in an imals fed low (1475 mg/day) levels of AFB1. No interaction was observed between high of owlevels of AFB1 and presence of my cotox in binder (P=0.109). The values of transfer for individual groups are presented in Table 2.

TotalaflatoxinM1excretioninmilk

The dynamics of AFM 1 transfer into milkare shown in Table 2. The rewas a difference (P<0.001) into taldaily AFM 1 excretion between an imals fed 1475 mg (Group A and B) and those fed 2950 mg (Group C and D) AFB 1 perday. The mean for those fed 2950 mg was 112.6 mg/day, almost double the mean of those fed 1475 mg, which was 62.2 mg/day (s.e.d.=5.99).

 $\label{eq:addition} Addition of the my cotoxin binder to the dietre sulted in a decrease (P < 0.001) in the excretion of AFM lint omilk. The mean daily excretion rate for the combined groups with the binder was 76.5 mg/day, nearly 22 mg/day lower than concentrations without the binder (98.3 mg/day; s.e.d.=5.99). The interaction between AFB lint a keand the presence of the my cotoxin binder on transfer to milk was non-significant, showing that the binder was able to bind my cotoxin with almost the same efficiency at both levels of AFB lint ake.$

The effect of binder over a period of 5 days was different (P < 0.01), showing a progressive decrease in concentration of AFM1 expressed inmilkover the 5 days of the study in an imals offered the mycotoxin binder (Fig.1). No such decrease was observed in the animal sfed the mycotoxin without the binder (Fig.1).

AflatoxinM1concentrationinmilk

Adifference (P < 0.001) was observed in concentration of AFM1 (mg/kg) in milk between the animals supplemented with low (1475 mg/day, i.e. Group A and B) and high (2950 mg/day, i.e. Group C and D) concentrations of AFB1. The concentration of AFM1 was 12.4mg/kg for the animals from Groups C and D, almost wice that found in Groups A and B(6.9mg/kg:s.e.d.=0.44). There was also adifference (P < 0.001) in the concentration of AFM1 limit kbetween the animals supplemented with (8.0mg/kg:GroupBandD) and without (11.3 mg/kg:GroupA andC) themy cotoxinbinder (s.e.d.=0.44). The my cotoxinbinder was equally effective (P = 0.051) at suppressing transfer to milk irrespective of level of my cotoxin in the diet (Table 2). However, the binder was more effective (P=0.017) with time over the 5-day course of the trial. A similar decrease with time was not observed in the control groups (P=0.461).

 $\label{eq:table2} Table2. The effect of a flat oxin B lint a kean due of a my cotox in binder on concentration of a flat oxin M linmilk, total a flat oxin M link total a$

Variables	Low aflatoxin intake		High aflatoxin intake		s.e.d.	Significance level			
	Without binder A	With binder B	Without binder C	With binder D		Effect of aflatoxin	Effect of binder	Effect of aflatoxin × binder interaction	
Total aflatoxin B1 intake (µg/day)	1475	1475	2950	2950	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	
Concentration of aflatoxin M1 (µg/kg)	8.1	5.6	14.6	10.3	0.44	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	0.051	
Total aflatoxin M1 excreted (µg/day)	74.6	49.8	122.0	103.3	5.99	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	0.613	
^A Transfer of aflatoxin M1 into milk (%)	5.06	3.37	4.14	3.50	0.45	0.219	0.001	0.109	

≪30≫

^ATransfer of aflatoxin M1 into milk calculated as total aflatoxin B1 excreted/total aflatoxin B1 intake ×100.





Milkproduction

Milkproduction(kg/day)wasnotaffectedbylevelofinclusionofmycotoxininthedietirrespectiveofthelevel ofadditionofthemycotoxinbinder(Fig.2).

Discussion

CarryoverofaflatoxinM1intomilkGiventheprevalenceofinadequatefeedstoragefacilitiesonsmall-holder farming operations in subtropical environments, the likelihood of fungal contamination of feed is high. Concentrate feed containing AFB1 at a concentration of more than 500 mg/kg DM is commonly used. Contaminationlevelsmaybehigherinfieldconditionsespeciallyinperi-urbanareaswherekitchenandbakery wastes contaminated with fungi are routinely offered to animals in developing countries (Sultana and Hanif 2009).Concentratefeedusedinthepresentstudywasnotonlycontaminated withAFB1,butalsocontainedhigh levels of AFB2, fumonisins, deoxynevalonol, ochratoxins and zearalenone. The influence of these co contaminantsonthemetabolismandtransferofAFintomilkisnotknownandshouldbetheobjectiveoffurther study.

The milk AFM 1 concentrations measured in this study of 8.1 or 14.6 mg/kg exceeded international standards of 0.5 mg/kg by up to 27-fold. The carry-over efficiency from feed to milk of 4.14% and 5.06% observed with high (2950 mg/day) and low (1475 mg/day) concentrations of AFB 1 we resimilar to the 3.85% observed in Italian Friesiandairy cows (Pietrietal. 2009). In the Italian study, however, an imals we reoffered only 97.3 mg/day of 1.0 mg/day and 1.0 mg/day of 1.0 mg/day. The study of 1.0 mg/day and 1.0 mg/day of 1.0 mg/day and 1.0 mg/day of 1.0 mg/day. The study of 1.0 mg/day and 1.0 mg/day of 1.0 mg/day and 1.0 mg/day and 1.0 mg/day of 1.0 mg/day. The study of 1.0 mg/day and 1.0 mg/day of 1.0 mg/day and 1.0 mg/



 $\label{eq:Fig.2.} Fig.2. Averaged all ymilk production for an imal swith mycotoxin binder (Groups Band D) represented by triangles and without mycotoxin binder (Groups A and C) represented by squares (s.e.d.=0.528).$

AFB1,whichtheoreticallyshouldimprovetheefficiencyoftransfer.Thesetransferefficienciesaremuchhigher thanthe0.54%carryoverreportedforHolsteincowsbyGalvanoetal.(1996).However,cowsenrolledinthat studywereinlatelactation,whentherateoftransferisreducedmarkedly(Veldmanetal.1992).Withthestudyof Veldman a transfer of 6.1% and 1.8% for AFM1 was observed for early and late lactation dairy cows, respectively.TheNili-Ravibuffaloesusedinthepresentstudywereinearlylactation.

Bantaokul and Ruangwises (2010) reported a transfer of 2.35% in Holstein Friesian cows with milk AFM1 concentrations with in the range of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentrations observed in the range of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of the range of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of the range of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of the range of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of the range of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of the range of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 mg/kg, which are comparable to the milk concentrating to the milk concentration of 0.035-11 m

≪31≫

the present study. Moreover, Masoero et al. (2007) reported at ransfer of 1.29% and 2.70% in low (21.2 kg/day) and high (41.8 kg/day) producing Holstein cows, which is again lower than the percent transfer of the present study. Clearly in order to compare the efficiency of transfer in buffaloes and cows, a controlled study using the same feed baseneeds to be conducted. Studies published to date show that stage of lactation, health, breed and nutritional status of an imal sall contribute to the sed ifferences. In addition, AFs are also excrete dfrom the body through urine (Aslametal. 2014) and faces (All croft et al. 1968). Transfer of 15% of the total AFM1 ingested has been observed in the urine of Nili-Ravibuffaloheifers in a related study (Aslametal. 2014). However, the excretion infaces was likely to be less than 3% as demonstrated previous ly in alactating cowfollowing a single do seo f300 mg of mixed AF, 44% of which was AFB1 (All croft et al. 1968).

EffectofamycotoxinbinderoncarryoverofaflatoxinM1inmilkTheeffectivenessofmycotoxinbindersin minimisingAFtransferfromfeedtomilkvarieswidelydependingondose,breedandspeciesofanimalstudied. TheadditionofthesamequantityofMycofixPlusasusedinthepresentstudyinthefeedofHolsteinFriesian cattleconsumingonly5.6mgofAFB1perdaydecreasedmilkconcentrationsofAFM1by31%or 41%(Pietri et al. 2009). In the present study using the same concentration of a related but more advanced mycotoxinbinderproductat300-foldhigherdosesofthecontaminantinfeed,34%ofthetransferwas prevented. When the dose was increased further to 600-fold higher, the efficiency of binding was decreasedto16%.However,thefactthattheefficiencyofsequestrationofthemycotoxinbythebinder wasnotcompromisedwhenexposurelevelswere300-foldhigherinthepresentstudy,suggeststhat thisproductsubtypeisequallyeffectiveacrossawiderangeofcontaminationlevels.

ThestudybyPietrietal.(2009)withlowerlevelsofcontaminationandthepresentstudywithhigher levelofcontaminationshowednoeffectonmilkyield,suggestingthatthemammaryepitheliumisnot damaged by the circulating concentrations of AFM1. The efficacy of various other carbon matrix-based mycotoxinbindershasals obeen assessed:

Galvanoetal.(1996), for example investigated the efficacy of the inclusion of three activated carbon products to reduce transfer of low levels (56.4–67.2 mg/day) of AFB1 into milk of Holstein Friesian animals. The reduction intransfer was 27%, 36% and 50% for the three products, respectively, which are comparable to the fficiency reported in the present study.

Inanotherstudy,theefficacyofmontmorillonite-basedmycotoxinbinderswasassessedatinclusion levelsof0.2% and 1% of DM inthedietofanimals offered75 mg/kgoffeed (Queirozetal.2012). The higher concentration of binders reduced milk AFM1 concentration by 17% whereas the lower concentrationwasineffective. Inanotherstudy Diazetal. (1999) explored the efficiency of activated charcoal (0.25% of DM), MTB-100, an esterified glucomannan (0.05% of DM), calcium bentonite (1.25% of DM) and so dium bentonite (1.25% of DM) in reducing transfer of AFM1 inmilkagain in Holstein Friesian cows offered low levels of contaminant.

Sodiumbentonite, calciumbentoniteandmycosorbreducedAFM1transfertomilkby64.6%,31.4% and58.5%, respectively. Furthermoreusing an invitromodel, Diazetal. (2003) found that activated charcoals, sodiumbentonites, calciumbentoniteand esterified glucomannanwereable to bind5mgof AFB1 in a solution with efficiencies of 99%, 98%, 98% and 97%, respectively. This study in essence simply assessed the maximum potential binding capacity of the matrix without assessing its bio-effectiveness in the animal. Perhaps themost comprehensive study has been provided by Diazetal. (2004) who evaluated six different sequestering agents: SA-20, an activated carbon (AC-A); Astar Ben-20, as odiumbentonite (AB-20); MTB-100, an esterified glucomannan (MTB-100); RedCrown, acalciumbentonite (RC); FlowGuard, as odiumbentonite (FG) and Mycosorb, as odiumbentonite (MS), for the inpotential to reduce AFM1 transfertomilk.RC, MTB-100, MS, FG and ABwereableto reduce the carry over of AFM1 by 31%, 59%, 50%, 65% and 61%, respectively. Again, these results are comparable to the efficacy of the mycotox in binder used in the present study. Although mycotox in binders are able to reduce the risk of incorporation of AFM1 into the humanfood chain, they do not



seemtobesufficientlyeffectivetoreducecontaminationofmilktotheminimumlevelsof0.05mg/kg ofmilksetbytheEuropeanUnion.

Conclusion

The present study shows that the transferk in etics of AFB1 from feed to AFM1 in milk is very similar in the Nili-Ravibuffaloes to that observed in dairy cows. Furthermore, it was demonstrated that a commercial my cotox in binder production and the second strategy of the transfer of

Acknowledgement

Authors acknowledge the support provided by BIOMINA ustria for funding offeed and milks amples analysis.

References

- Allcroft R, Roberts BA, Lloyd MK (1968) Excretion of aflatoxin in lactating cow. Food and Cosmetics Toxicology6,619–625.doi:10.1016/0015-6264(68)90311-8
- AslamN,IqbalZM,WarriachHM,WynnPC(2014)Patternofpartitioningofaflatoxinsfromfeedtourineand its effect on serum chemistry in Nili-Ravibuffalo heifers.Animal Production Science 54, 1671–1675. doi:10.1071/AN14302
- BantaokulC,RuangwisesS(2010)Carry-overrateofaflatoxinM1intocowmilkduringearlylactationperiod. In'Proceedingsofthe9thChulalongkornUniversityveterinaryannualconference',1April2010,Bangkok, Thailand.TheThaiJournalofVeterinaryMedicine40,128.
- BergT(2003)Howtoestablishinternationallimitsformycotoxinsinfoodandfeed?FoodControl14,219–224. doi:10.1016/S0956-7135(02)00021-X
- DiazDE, HaglerWM, HopkinsBA, EveJA, WhitlowLW (1999) The potential fordietary sequestering agents to reduce the transmission of dietary a flatoxintomilkof dairy cows Journal of Dairy Science 82,838–839.
- DiazDE,HaglerWM,HopkinsBA,WhitlowLW (2003)AflatoxinbindersI:invitrobindingassayforaflatoxin B1 by several potential sequestering agents. Mycopathologia 156, 223-226. doi:10.1023/A:1023388321713
- DiazDE, HaglerWM, BlackwelderJT, EveJA, HopkinsBA, AndersonKL, JonesFT, WhitlowLW (2004) AflatoxinbindersII:reductionofAfM1inmilkbysequesteringagentsofcowsconsumingaflatoxininfeed. Mycopathologial 57,233–241.doi:10.1023/B:MYCO.0000020587.93872.59
- Fink-GremmelsJ(2008)Theroleofinycotoxinsinthehealthandperformanceofdairycows.VeterinaryJournal (London,England)176,84–92.doi:10.1016/j.tvjl.2007.12.034GalvanoF,PietriA,BertuzziT,FusconiG, GalvanoM,PivaA,PivaG(1996)Reductionofcarryoverofaflatoxinfromcowfeedtomilkbyadditionof activatedcarbons.JournalofFoodProtection59,551–554.
- Hagawane SD, Shinde SB, Rajguru DN (2009) Haematological and blood biochemical profile in lactating buffaloesinandaroundParbhanicity.VeterinaryWorld2,467–469.
- Huwig A, Freimund S, Kappeli O, Dutler H (2001) Mycotoxin detoxication of animal feed by different adsorbents. ToxicologyLetters122,179–188. doi:10.1016/S0378-4274(01)00360-5
- IARC (2002) Some traditional herbal medicines, some mycotoxins, naphthalene and styrene. IARC MonographsontheEvaluationofCarcinogenicRiskstoHumans82,275–276.
- LillyLJ(1965)Inductionofchromosomeaberrationsbyaflatoxin.Nature207,433-434.doi:10.1038/207433a0
- MacLachlanDJ(2011)Estimatingthetransferofcontaminantsinanimalfeedstuffstolivestocktissues,milkand eggs:areviewAnimalProductionScience51,1067–1070.doi:10.1071/AN11112
- MasoeroF,GalloA,MoschiniM,PivaG,DiazD(2007)Carryoverofaflatoxinfromfeedtomilkindairycows withloworhighsomaticcellcountsAnimal1,1344–1350.doi:10.1017/S1751731107000663

≪33≫
- Pawlowski NE, Schoenhard GL, Lee DJ, Libbey LM, Loveland PM, Sinnhuber RO (1977) Reduction of aflatoxin B1 to aflatoxicol. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 25, 437–438. doi:10.1021/ jf60210a052
- PietriA, BertuzziT, PivaG, BinderEM, SchatzmayrD, RodriguesI (2009) Aflatoxintransfer from naturally contaminated feed to milkofdairy cows and the efficacy of amy cotoxinde activating product. Internation Journal of Dairy Science 4, 34–42.
- QueirozOCM, HanJH, StaplesCR, AdesoganAT(2012)Effectofaddingamycotoxin-sequesteringagenton milkaflatoxinM1concentrationandtheperformanceandimmuneresponseofdairycattlefedanaflatoxin B1contaminateddietJournalofDairyScience95,5901–5908.doi:10.3168/jds.2011-5287
- SadiaA,JabbarMA,DengY,HussainEA,RiffatS,NaveedS,ArifM(2012)A surveyofaflatoxinM1inmilkand sweetsofPunjab,Pakistan.FoodControl26,235–240.doi:10.1016/j.foodcont.2012.01.055
- SultanaN,HanifNQ(2009)Mycotoxincontaminationincattlefeedandfeedingredients.PakistanVeterinary Journal29,211–213.
- UpadhayaSD,ParkMA,JongHK(2010)Mycotoxinsandtheirbiotransformationintherumen:areviewAsian-AustralasianJournalofAnimalSciences23,1250–1260.doi:10.5713/ajas.2010.r.06
- VekiruE, FruhaufS, SahinM, OttnerF, SchatzmayrG, KrskaR (2007) Investigation of various adsorbents for their ability to bind AflatoxinB1.
- Mycotoxin Research 23, 27–33. doi:10.1007/BF02946021 Veldman A, Meijs JAC, Borggreve GJ, Tol JJH (1992) Carry-over of aflatoxin from cows' food to milk. Animal Production Science 55, 163–168. doi:10.1017/S0003356100037417
- WastiSE(2013)'Agriculture,economicsurveyofPakistan,2012–13.'(GovernmentofPakistan,Ministryof Finance:Islamabad)

34



Asian-Australasian Journalof AnimalSciences



Asian-Aust.J.Anim.Sci. Vol.22,No.5:756-764 May2009

www.ajas.info

PerinatalNutritionoftheCalfandItsConsequencesfor LifelongProductivity*

P.C.Wynn1,**,H.M.Warriach1,2,A.Morgan3,D.M.McGill1,S.Hanif1,2,M.Sarwar4 A.Iqbal5,P.A.Sheehy3andR.D.Bush3

EHGrahamCentreforAgriculturalInnovation(CharlesSturtUniversityandNSWDepartmentofPrimary Industries)LockedBag588,WaggaWagga,NSW2678,Australia

ABSTRACT:

Provisionofanoptimalenvironmentforthecalfiscriticaltoestablishingthepatternsofgrowthanddevelopment essentialtoallowtheheifertoexpressitsgeneticpotentialformilkoutputandreproductivecapacityduringits productivelife.Maternalnutritionduringgestationisnowrecognisedasakeytogeneticprogramminginutero and this influence is extended through the complexity of hormones, growth factors and immunostimulants incorporatedintocolostrumandmilkconsumedbytheneonatalcalf.

This natural process is most often disrupted as calves are weaned abruptly to maximise milk output for commercialexploitation. Thekeythenistoacceleratetherateofmaturationoftheruminalepitheliumthrough the provision of concentrate starter rations and high quality forage, which promote VFA production. ManagementsystemstopromotetheseprocessesinHolsteinFriesiancattlearewelldeveloped,however,littleis knownoftheseprocesses withbuffaloandBosindicusdairycattlesuchastheSahiwal. Thedevelopmentof methodstoprogramtheneonatetogrowfastertopubertyinthesespecieswillbeimportanttoimprovingtheir productivity for the dairy industries in tropical and sub-tropical environments in the future. (Key Words : PerinatalNutrition,Calf,Buffalo,Productivity)

INTRODUCTION

The potential for growth and high health status in the newborn calf is largely influenced by the health and metabolic status of the irdam. Muchof the focus of cowmanagement has been on the perinatal period as the calf prepares for delivery into a totally for eignenviron mentinwhich placentally derived nutrition is replaced by the initial lacteal secretion from the mammary gland, colos trum. The composition of this secretion is extremely important inestablishing the growth potential and life-long productivity of the calf. This then reverts to normal milk which acts as a source of dietary energy and protein through to the point when the calf is able to be weaned. This initial phase is most of the nermed the pre-ruminant period during which milk is passed directly into the aboma sum through there flex closure of the oes ophage algroove. This initial period of development is the initial end of dryfeed. During the subsequent 3-6 weeks ruminal function develops and the calf derives more of its nutrient substrate from this source than from milk. At this point the animal is wean ed and derives its nutrient substrate solely from dryfeed sthrough the activity of the newly established ruminal microbial population: this describes therum in an type as of calf development.

This process is universal for bovine species although the rearem any variations in procedure sused in different parts of the world.

PROGRAMMINGDEVELOPMENT FROMCONCEPTION

Feeding cowstosupport the protein, energy, vitaminand mineral requirements of the growing conceptus is now recognised as just one factor that influences the life-long productivity of the calf. We are now aware of the importance of environmental factors ongenex pression patterns and therefore development much earlier during embryogenesis. These so-called epigenetic mechanisms challenge the very basis of Darwinian evolutionary theory that the variability in populations occurs exclusively through random mutations. The mechanism through which this occurs is by altering genemethylation patterns (Khoslaetal., 2001) which might not only regulate the growth potential of the calf but also alter the germ line which may then persist as mutations across subsequent generations (Surani, 2001). Factors that initiate the sechanges which may persist differentially across different regions of DNA are influenced by changes indictary components providing methyl groups for this mechanism. Synthetic (Danzo, 1998), the estrogenic molecules in plants the phytoe strogens and is of lavones, all of which can be found in the cow's diet contribute to the sechanges (Guerrero-Bosagna et al., 2005).

Thus a tcalving the growth potential of the animal may have already been compromised by factors other than the mere supply of nutrient substrate to support the growth process.

THEIMPORTANCEOF COLOSTRUM

It is generally considered that then ewborn calf should receive 4L of colos trum in the first 12 h, although up to 6L is often recommended for the first day (University of Sydney, 2007). Requirements will dependent the quality of colos trum usually determined by assessing its density associated with immunoglobulin (Ig) content. the presence of enzymes to form curd in the aboma sum is also a rate limiting factor for Ig absorption (Gregory, 2003; Mastellonietal., 2005).

The observation that over 100 hormones and growth factors have been identified in colostrum or milk (Koldovsky, 1995;Koldovsky, 1996)suggeststhatthesesecretionsarecomplexbiologicalfluidsdesignedto extendtheinfluenceofthedamoverdevelopmentalprocessesbeyondtheuterineenvironment. Theseinclude hormonesofthehypothalamic-pituitary,thethyroid-parathyroidgroup,gastrointestinalregulatoryhormonesas wellas growth factors. Whilethephysiological significance of growth hormone regulatory peptides is most apparent theimportance of the gonatrop in regulatory peptide GnR Hatthisearly stage is more obscure. However the developmental processes that these hormones regulate are most likely important when calves are born into a challenging environment in which ambient temperature varies significantly from that experience dinuter oand when pathogen loads are high. The provision of key nutrients to support growthis also an integral function of milk with proteins, essential and non essential amino acids, lactose, fatty acids, vitamins and minerals all contributing to the sere quirements. Other non-nutritional factors includenucleotides, polyamines, enzymes as wellas functionally important proteins such also been extensively characterized in buffalomilk (Sharmaetal., 1999).

Cellular components are also incorporated including mammary epithelial cells, erythrocytes macrophages, polymorphs,lymphocytes,plasmacellsandepithelialcells(Uruakpaetal.,2002)whileanumberofthenon-nutritional and bioactive molecules are sequestered from the circulation. These include growth hormone, prolactin,oestrogen,insulinandglucagon,allofwhichplayaroleinregulatingproteinandenergymetabolism.It is often difficult to envisage a functional role for these protein hormones since they will be hydrolysed extensivelyintheabomasumpriortoaccessingfunctionalreceptors.Howeverthekeymayresideintheircosecretionwiththeimmunoglobulins,mostnotablyIgG1.

These macromolecules comprises more than 90% of the protein content of colos trum and appear at concentrations 5-10-fold higher than in the circulation (Larson, 1992). Their sequestration coincides initially with higher oestrogen level suptol month pre-parture and subsequently with level at educortic osteroids, growth hormone and prolact in the last week and then with depressed progesterone at 48 hpre-calving.



Thefunctionalsignificanceoftheserelationshipsisyettobeestablished.Equallyintriguingisthemechanism thatfacilitatespreferentialuptakeofIgG1,whichistypically10-foldhigherthanIgG2incolostrum,butpresent inequivalentconcentrationsinthecirculation.Thisimbalanceprovidesadefinitivecharacteristicofcolostrum andisexplainedbythepresenceofspecificreceptorsonthebasalmembraneofsecretoryepithelialcellswhich activelyendocytoseIgG1andpassittothesecretorylumenofthealveolus(Butler,1983;Barringtonetal.,2001). It is important to note that this mechanism is only in place during colostrum synthesis and therefore IgG1 concentrationfallsmarkedlyafterthecolostralphase(Kemleretal.,1975).Theimmunestatusofthebuffalocalf post-colostrumfeedingisinfluencedalsobythevitaminstatusofthedam:circulatingIglevelswereincreasedby 80% in calves fed colostrum from their dams receiving bolus injections of vitamins A., D3 and E late in pregnancy(Sikka and Lal, 2005). VitE and selenium also limitthe adverse effects of endotoxin from E coli infectionsassociatedwithmanycalfrearingsystems(Sharmaetal.,2005).

Furtherprotectionagainstpathogenicbacteriaandvirusesisprovidedbythepresenceofantimicrobialproteins, lactoferrinandlysozyme.Lactoferrinisanironbindingmoietythatpreventsmicrobialgrowththroughdepriving microbial of this essential mineral and by binding to bacterial cell membranes thereby compromising their permeability (van Hooijdonk et al., 2000), while lysozyme lyses bacterial cell walls (Lonnerdal, 2002). Interestingly these two proteins are capable of acting synergistically to enhance their bacteriostatic activity (PakkanerandAalto,1997).

The immunoglobulins are accompanied by a range of protease inhibitors including trypsin inhibitor, f_{ℓ}^2 macroglobulin, f_{ℓ}^2 -antiplasmin, antithrombin III, C1-inhibitor, inter- f_{ℓ} -trypsin inhibitor, bovine plasma elastase inhibitor and bovine plasma trypsin inhibitor, all of which serve to protect their functional integrity (Christensenetal.,1995).

Othermulti-functional proteins are coming to light including a proline-rich polypeptide colostrinin. This was originally found as a fraction accompanying sheep colostralimmuno globulins which promoted T cell-tropic and maturational activity. It is also associated with the development of precognitive functions which inhibit pathological states centrally (Zimecki, 2008).

 $\label{eq:loss} In addition to the role of the simple carbohydrate lactose in providing energy, more complex carbohydrates also add to the multi-functionality of colostrum. Sialy loligos accharides are present in high concentrations for the first 12 hof lactation in the cow and are thought to be important in preventing infections acting against rotavirus, rhe ovirus and Helicobacter pylorum (Nakamura tal., 2003). Interestingly they also appear to be involved in the development of cognitive processes in the brain, with the supplementation of milk for piglets with sial icacid improving learning and memory in the piglet (Wang et al., 2007). There is little reason to suspect that suck ling be haviour in both cows and buffalo is not influenced by these molecules, although bovine and human milk diverges in the concentration and composition of the issially loligos accharide content: this has implications for the development of infant formulae (Martin-Sosa et al., 2003). Interestingly buffalo milk ganglios is des appear to have greater to xin binding and antiinflammatory properties than cows milk suggesting some potential novel applications for the product from buffalo in the future (Colarow et al., 2003). This is also important for the survival of the buffalo calfinenviron ments with high path ogen loads. Certainly buffalo milk is highly value das analternative to breast milk among Indianmothers (Kaushaletal, 2005).$

The composition of colostrum changes rapidly and its provision to the calf during the first 24 hoflife is critical to the calf for the

COLOSTRUMANDTHEDEVELOPMENT OF THE GASTROINTESTINAL TRACT

The richmix of hormones, growth factors, cytokines and nutrients incolos trumprovide the ideal developmental mix to initiate digestive activity in the aboma sum, small and large intestines. The initiation of the functional integrity of the intestinal epithelium is essential for the absorption of nutrients and bioactive molecules to direct developmental processes in the body. In particular the apical junctional complex plays an important role in maintaining the integrity of the processes in the body. In particular the apical junctional complex plays an important role in maintaining the integrity of the integri



-II,VEGF,IL-1,IL-4andIL-13alldecreasingbarrierfunctionwhileEGF,TGF-â,GDNF,neurturin,IL-10,and IL-17havetheoppositeeffect(Sawadaetal.,

Table 1 The composition of colostrum and milk	(Blum and Hammon 2000; Klimes et al. 19	986
rubic 1. The composition of corost and and	(Diani and Hammon, 2000, Rimnes et al., 1)	200

Nutrient	Colostrum (1st milking day 1)	Mature milk (5-14days postpartum)
Total protein (%)	17.12	3.57
Fat (%)	4.69	5.26
pH	6.31	6.43
Gross energy (MJ/L)	6.0	2.8
Crude protein (g/L)	133	32
Immunoglobulin G (g/L)	81	<2
Lactoferrin (g/L)	1.84	0.36 (at 4th milking)
Transferrin (g/L)	0.55	0.21 (at 4 th milking)
γ-glutamyltransferase (μkat/L)	509	52
Alkaline phosphatase (µkat/L)	19	4
Aspartate aminotransferase (µkat/L)	1.5	0.1
Tumour necrosis factor-α (µg/L)	5	<2
Insulin (µg/L)	65	1
Glucagon (µg/L)	0.16	0.01
Prolactin (µg/L)	280	15
Growth hormone (µg/L)	1.4	<1
Insulin-like growth factor-I (µg/L)	310	<2
Insulin-like growth factor-II (µg/L)	150	ND

ND = Not determined.

2003). Clearly this is a closely regulated and functionally important property which can be influenced by the balance of these factors present in colos trum. Again there is evidence to suggest that the intestinal epithelium in the buffal ocal fismore resistant to some infections including paratuber culos is (Sivakumaretal., 2006).

NUTRIENTREQUIREMENTS FORTHENEWBORNCALF

The calf requires nutrients for both maintenance and grow than ditis important that the requirements for these two processes are combined. Environmental factors are extremely important indetermining requirements with both extremes of heat and cold, high pathogen loads and physical and psychosocial stressors contributing to requirements.

The activation of the immunesystem and the role that maternal immunity plays in this process is important to animals calving in sub-optimal environments (Chase et al., 2008). As a guideline the metabolisable energy requirements for a 45 kg calfunder thermoneutral conditions is 7.3 MJ/day. Since cow's milk contains 22.5 MJ ME/kg of solid sthey require 2.5 Lof whole milk, while the equivalent with lower fats tatus milk replacers is around 3 L (Drackley, 2008). Others recommend higher intakes up to 10 and 12% of body weight per day to support growth (University of Sydney 2007). Milk requirements will belower in the buffalo as milk fat content is higher than incows milk, although colos traffac ontent is the same ineach species (Ganovski, 1979).

Proteinrequirements formaintenance are low in the neonate (30g/df or a45kg calf) and reflect rates of protein turn over intissue. However the requirements for grow that eap proximately 6-fold higher than this, equating to 250-280 go for ude protein from milk replacer (Drackley, 2008). In general milk replacers containing up to 25% crude protein are recommended as long as dietary energy is not limiting.

 $\label{eq:second} Aminoacid composition of replacers is also important with those most closely resembling the composition of cowsmilk being most effective. Changes in energy requirements incold and hot environments are quited ramatic as body temperature is not buffered by the heat offermentation in the undeveloped rumen. Maintenance ME increases by approximately 20% for each 10°C incremental decrease from 20 to -20°C (National Research Council, 2001). Incontrast the effects of heats tress have not be enpublished although older animals require an additional 20-30% ME (National Research Council, 2001): there adyavailability of water on demand and shade for calves is well established yet not always adhered to immany countries.$

The water content of body tissues is in the vicinity of 70% (Diazetal., 2001), thus the constant availability of water is mandatory in any production system. Promoting the intake of dryconcentrate feeds to enhance rumen and the system of the system of the system of the system. The system of th



development is also dependent on constant water availability. Requirements for minerals and vitamins have also been documented (Council, 2001). Whole milk provides an adequate source of all minerals with the exception of iron and sometimes selenium and manganese. As most milk starters are supplemented with minerals and fat soluble vitamins these rarely compromise call fhe althand growth.

TheonlymajorconcernsarewithVitaminsAandE:NRCrecommendationsforVitaminAareconsideredtobe toohighleadingtopotentialtoxicity,whilethoseforvitaminEareunder-estimated(Drackley,2008).Whilea state of deficiency will rarely be found, finding the correct dose for optimal growth represents a greater challenge.

DEVELOPINGTHERUMEN

Thegeneralruleofthumbistoadoptstrategiesthatallowcalvestoconsume700-900gofconcentraterationby thetimethattheyareweaned.Essentiallythisrequirescalvestocommenceintakeofconcentrateswithin14days post-partum(UniversityofSydney,2007).Animalsconsuming10%oftheirownbodyweightasmilkperday willingeneralbeconsumingupto300gofconcentratebyday25.Themicrobialpopulationaccumulatinginthe rumen will ferment carbohydrate to form predominantly butyric acid and then propionic acid which in turn promote the differentiation of the ruminal epithelium to form the characteristic papillae (Heinrichs and Lesmeister,2005).

Different sources of fermentable carbohydrate yield different responses, with corn and wheat based diets promotingruminaldevelopmentfasterthanoatsorbarley(Khanetal.,2008).Similarlyprocessingcanexertand influencethegrowthresponse:steamflakingofcornforexampleinducedruminalepithelialdevelopmentfaster thaneitherdryrollingonleavinggrainwhole(LesmeisterandHeinrichs,2005).Thesestudiesshowedalsothat processingcaninfluencethepatternofvolatilefattyacidsreleased.

Other alternative concentrate sources such as phalaris minor seeds have also been assessed as providing appropriate carbohydrate sources to support volatile fatty acids ynthesis and rumendevelopment (Kauretal., 2006). Much has been written on the role off breand the so called "tickle factor" in the diet of the pre-ruminant calf.

Results varywidely with concentrate persebeing more effective insome studies (Kleinetal., 1987), while in others for a gesprovided at a specific particle size (8-19 mm) with concentrate sgave superior results (Coverdale et al., 2004). Infurther studies pelleted diet syielded superior responses to mixed length fibre with other dietary ingredients held constant (Bach et al., 2007). Clearly our understanding of the development of the ruminal environment requires further investigation, although the role of the volatile fatty acids in this process is well established. The inclusion of cellulolytic enzymes as feed additives also provides abeneficial growthe ffect if include dass ubstitute formore conventional additives inbuffal ceal fdiets (El-Kadyetal., 2006).

CALF REARING: THE PAKISTANIE XPERIENCE

Pakistan, likemany developing countries has an agrarian rural based economy. The livestock sector is amajor contributor to the national (12%) and agricultural (50%) economy (Pakistan Economic Survey, 2006). This sector is growing quickly and provides a livelihood for more than 35 million people. The productivity of livestock for meat and milk is low, with improper calf management programming animals for a life of low productivity. Highmarket prices formilk dictate that calves are we and very early without appropriate quality milk replacers being used to meet the demand of the calfforgrow than development.

Male calves are most of tensold for slaughter or left to feed on poor quality rough ages. The slow grow tho fheif er calves results in delayed puber ty and age at first calving. Thus both the efficiency of milk and be efford uction are compromised.

FEEDINGTHETRANSITIONBUFFALO

LatepregnantortransitionHolsteincowscanbeaffectedbyarangeofproductiondiseasesassociatedwiththeir inability to cope with the metabolic demands of high production. These include hypocalcaemia,



hypomagnesaemia, ketosis, retained placenta, displacement of the abomasum and laminitis (Mulligan and Doherty, 2008). These are often associated with an imbalance in metabolites entering keybiochemical pathways (Payne, 1972) which may lead to infertility.

Similar problems are associated with buffalo production, although the causes are most likely related to undernutrition. The pregnant buffalone edstosupport the nutrient demands of both lactation and grow tho f the foetus. Yet the condition score of most small-holder buffalore mains very low despite the need for additional nutrients to meet these demands. Very few studies have been conducted to investigate the sere lationships, but a positive relationship has been shown between live weight of the calving damand the calf. At lower body weights (350-573kg) calf birthweight increased by 18 gfore ach kgincrease inweight of dam. This increment decreased to 5.5 gperkglive weight indams weighing 576-815 kg (Usmanietal., 1987; Usmaniand Inskeep, 1989).

Aswiththecowthefirst24hpost-calvingarecriticalforthebuffalocalftoabsorbcolostrum.Infacttotalprotein andIglevelsarehigherinthebuffalothanincross-bredcows(SinghandAhuja,1993).Inthisstudy75%ofIg and68%ofcolostralproteinwereabsorbedwithin1hoffeedinga7holdcalf.Thisrateofabsorptiondeclined rapidly after the first feed. However little other data are available on colostrum usage to account for high susceptibilitytoinfectionofbuffalocalves.

CALFMORTALITY

Neonatalcalfmorbidityandmortalityaremajorcausesofeconomiclossesinlivestockproduction. Itisroughly estimated that a calfmortality of 20 percent can reduce the net profit of an enterprise by 60% (Blood and Radostits, 1989). Ideallycalfmortalityshouldbelessthan5percentwithgrowthratesof0.5-0.7kg/d(Bloodand Radostits, 1989). Mortalityratesfordifferentcountriesemployingdifferentproductionsystemsaredetailedin Table2. Veryhighmortalityratesofover50% havebeenreported inbuffalocalvestoonemonthofage. Footand mouthdisease (FMD) and haemorrhagicsepticaemia (HS) areendemictoPakistanandaccountforupto3 1 and 21.5% respectively of deaths inbuffalocalvesaged from 6-12 months (Ramakrishna, 2007). Onother farms extrememortalityratesofupto80% have been recorded (Tiwarietal., 2007). Although disease contributed to this statistic, the failure to provide colostrum, to deworm, to disinfect navalcords and to provide anadequate milk substitute and appropriates helter and waterall played the irrole in the etiology of the semortalities. Othercauses of calfmortality include the greater susceptibility of cross bred and primiparous animals (Raoand Nagarcinkar, 1980). The failure to provide colostrum has also of the been implicated (Afaqetal., 1992).

The giving of colos trum to friends is a custom found in some regions and assuch the calfisine vitably deprived. Overall farmers in many regions consider calfrearing avery low priority, as the commercial value of this practice is not apparent to them.

SUCKLINGANDHANDFEEDING

OF BUFFALOCALVES

The average birth weights for buffalo and Sahiwal calves are 34.85 ± 0.46 and 21.87 ± 0.20 kg respectively (Ahmad, 1988). The method of provision of milk for these calves has been shown to influence their growth efficiency. For example calves reared by restricted suckling of their

Age (days)	e (days) Mortality (%) Country Reference		Reference	
Buffalo calves				
30	7.1	Pakistan	(Khan, 1994)	
1-30	51.8	India	(Ramakrishna, 2007)	
30	27.5	India	(Bhullar and Tiwana, 1985)	
90	34.0	India	(Bhullar and Tiwana, 1985)	
15	12.6	Vietnam	(Sharma et al., 1984)	
16-30	29.9	Vietnam	(Sharma et al., 1984)	
30	51.7	India	(Khera, 1981)	
Cow calves				
30	11.0	Pakistan	(Khan, 1994)	
15	32.5	India	(Veerapandian et al., 1993)	
0	61.6	U.S.A.	(Bellows et al., 1987)	
1-10	23.4	U.S.A.	(Bellows et al., 1987)	
2	8.2	Ireland	(Mee, 1988)	
14	56.4	Germany	(Fink, 1980)	
4-7	1.2	Italy	(Mariani et al., 1986)	
28	3.0	Norway	(Simensen, 1986)	
90	8.7	Nigeria	(Umoh, 1982)	
28	12.5-26.0	Libyia	(Gusbia and Hird)	
30	6.9	Iraq	(Maarof et al., 1987)	

efficiency. For example calves reared by restricted suck ling of their dams yielded better growth rates than if the milkwas provided in a feeder or pale (552 vs. 370 g/d) (Khan and Preston, 1992) and 500 vs. 350 g/d in the study of (Gayaetal., 1977). If a dequate milk is provided the sehigh growth rates are attainable: the provision of 15% of the milk production from Sahiwal cows or buffal owhich equates to 10% of the calf's body weight has resulted in the segrowth rates (Ahmad, 1988). The training of buffal ocal vest of the use of automatic suck ling units may compromise the irgrowth performance by limiting in take (Rossietal., 2004).

Given these problems it is most likely more effective to delay the weaning of buffal ocal ves reared in sub-optimal environments particularly as the buffal odams displays trong maternal instincts. Thus the provision of some milk to calves combined with the harvest of milk from a second milking each day for commercial sale or home consumption may provide the most effective means of rearing the calves of Sahiwal cattle and buffalo. This method also negates the need to use oxytocin to induce milk let-down: use of the calf is biologically more sustainable.

STARTERRATIONSFORCALVES

Poorgrowthratesresultfromthelimitedmilksupply,lowproteinandenergyoffoddersandconcentratesthatare availableforcalves.Inorderforthefarmertosellahighproportionofhismilk.cost-effectivemilkreplacersneed tobedeveloped.Starterrationscontaining17%crudeproteinandtotaldigestiblenutrientsof75%haveresulted ingrowthratesofupto470g/d(AhmadandJabbar,2000).

Similar esults have been achieved through the substitution of milk with soybe annilk containing 1% soybe anoil (Matteretal., 2005). The levels of protein used in the sestudies are below recommendations for Holstein Friesian calves: thus productivity could be boost edfurther through the use of high error terms upplements. The importance of offering calves a soluble concentrateration high inprotein and energy from calving should be considered.

FEEDINGPOST WEANING

Feeding strategies used post-weaning involve the use of low quality crop residues, straws and stovers characterized by high fibre and low crude protein. Numerous studies have been undertaken to improve their efficiency of utilization largely through their treatment or use inconjunction with strategic supplements (Sarwar etal., 2002).

Ure a treatment of straw is popular as it increases the N content of roughages. The addition of molasses then provides a balance of N and energy for the rumen microbial population to utilise in digesting the insoluble carbohydrates. Wheat straw treated with varying levels of urea (0%, 2% and 4%) and molasses (2% and 4%) ensiled with 30% cattle manure (ondry matter basis) for different fermentation periods (20, 30 and 40 days) proved to be an ideal supplement providing linear grow thresponses with amount fed in buffal ocal ves (Sarwaret al., 2006). Similar results we reachieved by Khan et al. (1992) who reported that crude protein increased by 18.4% to 22.2% insugar can bag as seen siled with cattle manure for 30 and 60 days, respectively. However, the increasing cost of ure aworld-wide may make this option prohibitive.

Caution must be used in the evaluation of supplements. In one study sunflower meal was substituted for cottonseedmealat0, 12, 24 and 36% on an isonitrogenous basis to 11 month-old buffalocalves (Yunusetal., 2004). The sunflower meal yield edinferior esponses both biologically and on a cost basis, suggesting that its use should be approached with caution. Maize has proved to be an effective concentrate for buffalo and Sahiwal calves in an umber of studies. Incomparing starter ations based on maize, oats and their combination normalized to 20% crude protein and 80% TDN, growth rates on the maize based diet were 18% higher (Rafique and Manzoor, 2000).

Supplementing with protein that is resistant to ruminal digestion can also yield excellent responses, such as has been achieved through the use of formal dehydet reated must ard cake (Chatter jee and Walli, 2003). Again caution should be used as if the basal diet consists of poor quality rough age more cost effective supplements providing any source of Nandenergy to the rumen may yield similar esponses.

CONCLUSION

Thekeytosuccessfulcalfrearingcommences with the appropriate feeding of the late pregnant or transition cow, as any metabolic disturbance will have consequences for the growth potential of the calf. Increasingly we are becoming aware of the key metabolic cues responsible for programming the growth and ultimately the production potential of the calf. Disturbingly most of the available literature pertains to the growth and development of the Holstein Friesian calf: inspite of the importance of the buffalo and the Sahiwal cow to the provision of dairy products for Asia, our fundamental understanding of the sequences existing a veloped. Future research should focus on the nutritional regulation of the sequences existing a pregnancy through to weaning: if this is not optimised then research on feeding of the weaner calf is compromised.

REFERENCES

Butler, J.E. 1983. Bovineimmunoglobulins: an augmented review. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 4:43.

- Afaq, M., M.Ashfaque, M.Akhtarand B.Hayat. 1992. Colostralimmunoglobulinsagainst Rotaand Corona viruses in crossbred cows using Streptavidin Biotin peroxidase enzyme linked immunosorbantassay. PakistanJ Agric. Sci 29:227-229.
- Ahmad, F. and M.A. Jabbar. 2000. Comparative efficiency of calfstarter and conventional ration in buffalo suckling calves. Annual report, Livestock Production Research Institute, Bahadurnagar, Okara, Pakistan 21:89.
- Ahmad, M.1988. MilkfedtobuffaloandSahiwalcalvesfrombirthtoweaningatL.E.S, Bahadurnagar. Annual report, LivestockProductionResearchInstitute, Bahadurnagar, Okara, Pakistan10:6-12.
- Bach,A.,A.Gimenez,J.L.JuaristiandJ.Ahedo 2007.Effectsofphysicalformofastarterfordairyreplacement calvesonfeedintakeandperformanceJ.DairySci.90:3028-3033.
- Barrington,G.M.,T.B.McFadden,M.T.HuylerandT.E.Besser.2001.Regulationofcolostrogenesisincattle. Livest.Prod.Sci.70:95-104.
- Bellows, R.A., D.A. Patterson, P.J. Burfening and D.A. Phelps. 1987. Occurrence of neonatal and postnatal mortality in range beef cattle. II. Factors contributing to califdeath. The riogenol. 28:573-586.
- Bhullar, M.S. and M.S. Tiwana. 1985. Factors affecting mortality among buffalocal ves. Indian J. Anim. Sci. 55:599-601.
- Blum, J.W. and H.M. Hammon. 1999. Endocrine and metabolic aspects in milk fed calves. Domestic Anim. Endocrinol. 17:219-230.
- Blum, J. W. and H. M. Hammon. 2000. Colostrum effects on the gastrointestinal tract and on nutritional, endocrineandmetabolicparametersinneonatakalves.Livest.Prod.Sci.66:151-159.
- Chase, C., D. Hurley and A. Reber. 2008. Neonatalimmuned evelopment in the calf and its impact on vaccine response. Veterinary Clinics of North America-Food Animal Practice 24:87-104.
- Chatterjee, A. and T.K. Walli. 2003. Economics offeeding formal dehydetreated mustard cake as by passprotein to growing buffalocal ves. Indian J. Dairy Sci. 56:241-244.
- Christensen, S., T. Weigers, J. Hermansen and L. Sottrup-Jensen. 1995. Plasma-derived Protease Inhibitors in Bovine Milk. Intl. Dairy J 5:439-449.
- Colarow, L., M. Turini, S. Tenebergand A. Berger. 2003. Characterization and biological activity of gangliosides in buffalomilk. Biochimicaet Biophysica Acta 1631:94-106. Council, NR 2001. Nutrient requirements of dairy cattle (National Academy Press, Washington DC).
- Coverdale, J.A., H.D. Tyler, J.D. Quigleyand J.A. Brumm. 2004. Effect of various levels of for a geand form of dietonrum endevelopment and growthin calves J. Dairy Sci. 87:2554-2562.
- Danzo, B. 1998. The effects of environmental hormoes or eroduction. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences 54:1249-1264.

≪43≫

Diaz, M.C., M.E. Van Amburgh, J.M. Smith, J.M. Kelseyand E.L. Hutten. 2001. Composition of growth of

Holsteincalvesfedmilkreplacerfrombirthto105-kilogrambodyweightJ.DairySci.84:830-842.

- Drackley, J. 2008. Calf nutrition from birth to breeding. Veterinary Clinics of North America-Food Animal Practice 24:55-86.
- El-Kady, R.I., I.M.Awadalla, M.I.Mohamed, M.Fadeland H.H.A.El-Rahman. 2006. Effect of exogenous enzymes on the growth performance and digestibility of growing buffalocal ves. International Journal of Agriculture and Biology 8:354-359.
- Ganovski, K.H.1979. Changes in the composition of the colostrum from cows and buffaloes and its significance in the nutrition of new born calves. Veterinarno-Medits in ski Nauki 16:3-6.
- Gaya, H., J.C. Delaitreand T.R. Preston. 1977. Effect of restricted suckling and bucketfeeding on the growth rate of calves and on milkyield. Trop Anim. Prod. 2:284-287.
- Gregory, N.2003. Effectofenhancingcurdformationduringthefirst colostrum feedonabsorption of g-glutamyl transferase by new borncalves Aust. Vet. J. 81:549-552.
- Guerrero-Bosagna, C., P.Sabatand L.Valadares. 2005. Environmental signal lingand evolutionary change: can exposure of pregnant mammal stoen vironmental oestrogens lead to epigenetically induced evolutionary changes in embryos? Evol. Develop. 7:341-350.
- Gusbia, A. M. and D. W. Hird. 1976-1980. Calf mortality rates on five Libyan dairy stations. Preventive VeterinaryMedicinel:105-114.
- Kaur, J., M.S. Pannu, S. Kaushal, M. Wadhwaand M.P.S. Bakshi. 2006. Invitroevaluation of phalarisminor seeds a slivestock feed Asian-Aust J.Anim. Sci. 19:363-367.
- Kaushal, M., R.Aggarwal, A.Singal, H.Shukla, S.K.Kapoorand V.K.Paul. 2005. Breastfeedingpractices and health-seekingbehavior forneonatal sickness in arural community. Journal of Tropical Pediatrics 51:366-376.
- Kemler, R. H., H. Mossmann, B. Strohmaier, B. Kickhofen and D. K. Hammer. 1975. Invitrostudies on the selective binding of IgG from different species to tissues ections of the bovine mammary gland. Europ. J. Immunol. 5:603.
- Khan,A.1994.Studiesonthebacterialaetiopathologyofmortalityinbuffaloandcowneonates.Universityof Agriculture.
- Khan, M.A., H.J.Lee, W.S.Lee, H.S.Kim, S.B.Kim, S.B.Park, K.S.Baek, J.K.Haand Y.J.Choi. 2008. Starchsourcævaluationincal fstarter: II. Ruminal parameters, rumendevelopment, nutrient digestibilities, and nitrogenutilization inholst eincalves J.DairySci. 91:1140-1149.
- Khera, S.S. 1981. FoetalandyoungcalfmortalityamongbovinefarmstockinIndia. III. Agedistribution and causes of mortality. Indian J Anim. Sci. 51:432-438.
- Khosla,S.,W.Dean,D.Brown,W.ReikandR.Feil.2001.Cultureofpreimplantationmouseenbryosaffects developmentandthexpressionofimplantedgenes.Biol.Reprod.64:918-926.
- Klein, R.D., R.L.Kincaid, A.S.Hodgson, J.H.Harrison, J.K.Hillersand J.D.Cronrath. 1987. Dietaryfiberand earlyweaning on growth and rumendevelopment of calves J.DairySci. 70:2095-2104.
- Klimes, J., P. Jagos, J. Boudaand S. Gajdusek. 1986. Basic qualitative parameters of cow colostrum and their dependence on season and postpartum time. Acta Vet. Brno 55:23-39. Koldovsky, O. 1995. Hormones in milk. Vitamins and Hormones 50:77-149.
- Koldovsky, O. 1996. The potential physiological significance of milk-bornehormonally active substances for the neonate Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasial: 317-323.
- Lesmeister, K. E. and A. J. Heinrichs. 2005. Effects of corn processing on growth characteristics, rumen development, and rumen parameters inneonatal dairy calves J.Dairy Sci. 87:3439-3450.
- Lonnerdal, B. 2002. Bioactive Proteins: Clinical Applications for Gastrointestinal Health. Bulletin of the InternationalDairyFederation375:22-24.

44

Maarof, N.N., K.N.Tahirand R.A.Mahmoud. 1987. Factors affecting mortality among Friesian calves in Iraq. Indian J.Anim. Sci. 57:647-650.

Annals.oftheFacultyofMedicir	neandVeterinaryScienceParma3-4:169-195.
Martín-Sosa, S., MJ. Martín, L-A. bovinemilkandininfantformula	García-Pardoand P. Hueso. 2003. Sialyloligosaccharides in human and svariations with the progression of lactation J. Dairy Sci. 86:52-59.
Mastellone, V., Lombardi, P. and Pe newbornwaterbuffalocalves.Bu	llagalli, A. (2005) Effects of high quality colostrums administration to ubalusbubalis11:59-63
Matter,B.B.,H.M.RadwanandN.A. buffalocalves.1-Theeffectofr calves.EgyptianJ.Agric.Res.83	Ibrahim.2005.Soymilkasbuffalomilksubstituteinfeedingnewborn eplacementofwholebuffalomilkbysoybeanmilkonsucklingbuffalo 389-403.
Mee,J.F.1988.CalfmortalityinIrishda	iryherd.IrishGrasslandAnim.Prod.Assoc.22:106-110.
Mulligan,F.J.andM.L.Doherty2008.	Productiondiseasesofthetransitioncow.VetJ.176:3-9.
Nakamura,T.,H.Kawase,K.Kimura sialyloligosaccharidesinbovin 86:1315-1320.	,Y.Watanabe,M.Ohtani,I.AraiandT.Urashima.2003.Concetrationsof ecolostrumandmilkduringtheprepartumandearlylactation.J.DairySci.
Pakkanen,R.andJ.Aalto.1997.Revi Intl.DairyJ.l17:285-297.	ewpaper:Growthfactorsandantimicrobialfactorsofbovinecolostrum.
Payne,J.M.1972.Productiondisease 1999.Effectofdifferentlevelsof AnnualReport,LivestockProdu	e.J.RoyalAgric.Soc.England133:69-86.Rafique,M.andM.A.Jabbar. energyongrowthrateandnutrientutilizationinNili-Ravibuffaloheifers. actionResearchInstitute,Bahadurnagar,Okara,Pakistan.
Ramakrishna,K.V2007.Investigatio	ononbuffalocalfinortality.IndianVet.J.84:537-539.
Rao,M.K.andR.Nagarcinkar.1980.0 144.	Calfimortalityincrossbreddairycattle.Trop.Anim.HealthProd.12:137-
Rossi,C.A.S.,M.Bregoli,A.L.Bassin inbuffalocalves.Bubalus-Buba	iandV.DellOrto.2004.Experimentalstudiesonautomaticsucklerused lis10:50-57.
Sarwar,M.,M.A.KhanandZ.Iqbal.20 192.	002.FeedresourcesforlivestockinPakistan.Intl.J.Agric.Biol.4:186-
Sarwar, M., M. Nisa, Z. Hassan and fermented with cattle manure of Livest.Sci.105:151-161.	M.A. Shahzad. 2006. Influence of urea molasses treated wheat straw on chemical composition and feeding value for growing buffalo calves.
Sawada,N.,M.Murata,K.Kikuchi,M humandiseases.MedicalElectro	I.Osanai,H.Tobioka,T.KojimaandH.Chiba.2003.TightJunctionsand onMicroscopy36:147-156.
Sharma,M.C.,N.N.Pathak,N.N.Hung calvesofVietnam.IndianJAnim	g,N.H.LienandN.V.Vuc.1984.MortalityingrowingMurrahbuffaloes .Sci.54:998-1000.
Sharma,N.,S.P.S.SinghaandS.Ahuja endotoxicshockinbuffalocalv 18:192-196.	a.2005.Changesinserumprofile,cholesterolandbloodglucoseduring essupplemented with Vitamin Eand selenium.Asian-Aust. J.Anim.Sc.
Sharma,S.,T.P.SinghandK.L.Bhatia ofbuffalolactoferrinproducedb	1999.PreparationandcharacterizationoftheNandCmonoferriclobes yproteolysisusingproteinaseK J.DairyRes.66:81-90.
Sikka, P. and D. Lal. 2006. Studie immunoglobulinsinbuffalœalv	s on vitamin mineral interactions in relation to passive transfer of vesAsian-AustJAnim.Sci.19:825-830.
Simensen,E.1986.Calfmortalityepi 43.	demiologicalconsiderations.WorldReviewofAnimalProduction22:39-
Singh,A.andS.P.Ahuja.1993.Individ antibodiesbytheprecolostralbut	lualvariationinthecompositionofcolostrumandabsorptionofcolostral ffalœalfJ.DairySci.76:1148-1156.
Sivakumar, P., B. N. Tripathi, N. paratuberculosisinwaterbuffalo	Singh and A. K. Sharma. 2006. Pathology of naturally occurring bes(Bubalusbubalis).Vet.Pathol.43:455-462.
Surani,M.A.2001.Reprogrammingo	fgeneticfunctionthroughepigeneticinheritance.Nature414:122-128.

- Tiwari, R., M.C. Sharmaand B.P. Singh. 2007. Buffal ocal fhealthcare incommercial dairy farms: a field study in Uttar Pradesh (India). Livest. Res. Rural Develop. 19:38.
- Umoh, J. U. 1982. Relative survival of calves in a university herdin Zaria, Nigeria. Br. Vet. J. 138:507-514. University of Sydney 2007. Moremilk from healthy cows: a handbook for dairy farmers. PubDepartment of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry (Common wealth of Australia).
- Uruakpa,F.O.,M.A.H.IsmondandE.N.T.Akobundu.2002.Colostrumanditsbenefits:areview.Nutr.Res. 22:755-767.
- Usmani, R.H. and E.K. Inskeep. 1989. Effect of prepartum feeding on milkyield and calfgrowth rate in limited suckled and non-suckled buffaloes J.Dairy Sci. 72:2087-2094.
- Usmani, R.H., G.S.Lewisand N.A.Naz. 1987. Factors affecting length of gestation and birthweight of Nili-Ravibuffaloes. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 14:195. van Hooijdonk, A.C.M., K.D.Kussendragerand J.M. Steijns. 2000. Invivo antimicrobial and antiviral activity of components in bovine milkand colos trum involved in nonspecific defence. Br J. Nutr. 84:S127-S134.
- Veerapandian, C., D.J. Chandran, S. Jayarajanand V. Kathaperumal. 1993. Birthweightandmortalityratein Jersey-Sindhicrossbredcalves. Indian Vet J. 70:439-440.
- Wang, B., B.Yu, M.Karim, H.Hu, Y.Sun, P.McGreevey, P.Petocz, S.Heldand J.Brand-Miller. 2007. Dietary sialicacid supplementation improves learning and memory inpiglets. Am J. Clin. Nutr. 85:561-569.
- Yunus, A.W., A.G.Khan, Z.Alam, J.I.Sultan and M.Riaz. 2004. Effect of substituting cotton seed meal with sunflower meal in rations for growing buffal ocal ves Asian-Aust J.Anim. Sci. 17:659-662.
- Zimecki, M. 2008. A proline-rich polypeptide from ovine colostrum: colostrinin with immunomodulatory activityAdvancesinExperimentalMedicineandBiology606:241-250.

46



Open Access

Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci. Vol. 28, No. 3 : 451-455 March 2015 http://dx.doi.org/10.5713/ajas.14.0259

www.ajas.info plSSN 1011-2367 elSSN 1976-5517

AReviewofRecentDevelopmentsinBuffaloReproduction AReview

H.M.Warriach1,2,*,D.M.McGill2,R.D.Bush3,P.C.Wynn2,andK.R.Chohan4 UniversityofVeterinaryandAnimalSciences,Lahore54000,Pakistan

ABSTRACT:

ThebuffaloisanimportantlivestockresourceinseveralcountriesofSouthAsiaandtheMediterraneanregions. However, reproductive efficiency is compromised due to known problems of biological and management origins, such as lack of an imal selection and poor mutrition. Under optimal conditions puber ty is attained at 15 to 18 months in river buffalo, 21 to 24 months in swamp buffalo and is influenced by genotype, nutrition, managementandclimate.However,underfieldconditionsthesevaluesdeteriorateuptoasignificantextant.To improvereproductiveefficiency, several protocols of oestrus and ovulation synchronization have been adopted from their use incommercial cattle production. These protocols yield encouraging pregnancy rates of (30% to 50%), which are comparable to those achieved in buffaloes bred at natural oestrus. The use of sexed semenin buffaloheifers also showed promising pregnancy rates (50%) when compared with conventional non-sexed semen.Assistedreproductivetechnologieshavebeentransferred and adapted to buffalobut the efficiency of these technologies are low. However, these latest technologies of fer the opportunity to accelerate the genetic gain of the second sein the buff a loind us try after improving the technology and reducing its cost. Most buff a loes are kept under the second sesmallholderfarmingsystemindevelopingcountries.Hence,futureresearchshouldfocusonsimple,adoptable and impact-oriented approaches which identify the factors determining low fertility and oestrus behaviour in this species.Furthermore,roleofkisspeptinneedstobeexploredinbuffalo.(KeyWords:Buffaloes,Reproduction, Developments, Techniques)

INTRODUCTION

Buffalohas a significant role in the agricultural economy of many developing countries by providing milk, meat and draughtpower. The worldpopulation of buffalois estimated to be 199 million (FAOSTAT, 2012) with more than 96% of the population located in Asia including 16.4% of Pakistan's contribution. In recent decades, buffalo farming has expanded widely in the Mediterrane an and Latin America as well as, in Central/Northern Europe where several herds were introduced.

Dairy buffaloes have been used formilk production in India, Pakistan, some other South Asian countries, the Middle East and Italy; while dairy characteristics are being induced in the local population of Indo-Chinese Region and South America through cross breeding with Pakistani Nili Raviand Indian Murrah buffaloes. The milkyield increased from 700 to 2,000 kg/yean in Chinathrough cross breeding (Yangetal., 2007).

Thebuffaloscanutilizepoorerqualityroughages, adapt to harsheren vironments and are more resistant to several bovine tropical diseases. Despite these merits, buffalo have relatively poor reproductive efficiency irrespective of their location throughout the world. Buffalo exhibit many of the known reproductive disorders including delayed on set of puberty, poor oestrus expression, longer postpart unovarianquiescence, and most importantly lowered conception rates particularly when bred artificially (Gordon, 1996). However, high effect is achieved through better feeding and management (Pereraetal., 1987; Usmanietal., 1990; Qureshietal., 2007). It appears that because buffalo are located mostly indeveloping countries with meager essources, there is limited quality research in the area of basic physiology, health, management, nutrition and applied reproduction.



The objective of this review is to examine the major recent developments in buffalore production. We discuss the impact of the various techniques as well as bottlenecks and possible future developments which will lead to improve reproductive performance in this species.

PUBERTY

Buffalousuallyattainpubertywhentheyreachabout60% of theiradultbodyweight (250to400)kg, but the age at which they attain puberty can be highly variable, ranging from 18to46 months (Jainudeen and Hafez, 1993). The factors that influence this are genotype, nutrition, management and climate. It could be attained under optimized conditions at 15to 18 months in river buffalo and 21to24 months in swamp buffalo (Borghese, 2005). The delay inpuberty, consequently delay sconception and results in low reproductive efficiency and lengthening of the non-productive life. Amajor cause of delayed puberty may be poorfeeding and management under field conditions.

OESTROUSCYCLE

Inordertoenhancereproductiveefficiencyofbuffalo,athoroughunderstandingoftheregulatorymechanisms involvedintheoestruscycleisrequired. Thedurationoftheoestrouscycleinbuffaloissimilartothatincattle, ranging from 17to26dayswithameanofaround21days(JainudeenandHafez, 1993). However, there is a greatervariability of theoestrous cycle length in buffalo compared to cattle, with agreater incidence of both abnormally short and long oestrous cycles. This may be attributed to various factors including adverse environmental conditions, nutritionand irregularities insecretion of ovariansteroid hormones (KaurandArora, 1982; Nandaetal., 2003).

In buffaloes, ovarian follicular dynamics during the oestrous cycle is similar to that in cattle. Studies from India (Tanejaetal., 1996), Brazil (Barusellietal., 1997) and Pakistan (Warriach and Ahmad, 2007; Figure 1) have shown clearly that the majority of buffalohave two waves of follicular activity during the iroe strous cycle. More investigations on the effect of follic lest imulating hormone and nutrition on number of follicular waves need to be studied in buffaloes.

Studiesonoestrousbehaviorandendocrinologyinbuffalo(RoyandPrakash,2009;Singhetal.,2000)indicate considerable variations in reproductive endocrine activity without external signs of oestrus (silent heat) are common. The low intensity of oestrus in buffaloes may be due to low circulating concentrations of 17-â oestradiolincomparisonwithdairycattle(Serenetal.,1995).



Figure1.Observedpatternsofdevelopmentforthelargestfollicleduringoestrouscycles.Shownaretheaverage diametersofthefirst(\blacksquare),second(\bullet)andthird(\blacktriangle)sequentiallylargestfolliclesinbuffaloesthat had(a)two(n=9)or(b)three(n=3)wavesoffolliculardevelopmentrespectively(WarriachandAhmad,2007).

Furthermore, tying up the animals as pernormal husbandry practices in many developing countries restricts the ability of buffalo farmers to observe heat signs (Warria chetal., 2009). Buffalos also tend to show heat signs (Warria chetal., 2009). B

during then ight when farmers are not observing their animals (Unpublished data). Season is another extrinsic factors that influences the characteristics of oestrous behaviour. In the tropics, high ambient temperature reduces sexual activity during the day (Jainudeen, 1977) and shortens the oestrous period (Gilletal., 1973) with the incidence of silent oestrous more common during the hot summers eason. These adverse effects of heat stress make oestrous detection much more difficult in buffalo. Oestrous detection could be significantly improved through the introduction of a teaser bullor anandrogenzied female (Chohanetal., 1992).

The interval between standing oestrous and ovulation, which is very important for artificial insemination, was 30 hours in buffaloes (Warriachetal., 2008). Under field conditions, the am-pmrule of insemination originally developed for cattle (Trimberger, 1948) is generally followed in buffaloes. To follow this rule, the buffaloes should be bred 12 h after the detection of standing oestrus. However, onset of heats igns instead of onset of standing oestrus has been erroneously considered as the land mark with buffaloes often being inseminated, earlier than required. This early breeding is potentially responsible for lowered fertility, and can be explained by the fact, there is an interval of about 8 to 10 hbetween onset of heats igns and onset of standing oestrus. This indicates buffaloes should be being in seminated 12 hafter the detection of standing oestrus (detection by bull/teaser) or alternatively 18 to 24 hafter the onset of heats igns. In order to confirm this approach, investigations are required on the timing of insemination in relation to standing oestrus and pregnancy rate.

SYNCHRONIZATIONOFOESTROUSCYCLE

Variousstudiesusingprotocolsforsynchronizationbasedonprogesteroneandgonadotropinreleasinghormone (GnRH)administrationtogether withprostaglandintoinduceluteolysisduringbreedingseasonhaveyielded quitepromisingconceptionratesrangingfrom30%to50%(Tablel).However,somebuffaloesdonotrespondto treatment,especiallyduringthelowbreedingseason.Therecouldbeseveralreasonsforthis,butamongthemost likelyistheanimal'sfollicularstatusatthebeginningoftreatment.Theidealtimeoftreatmentcanbeestablished by determining ovarian activity by ultrasound (De Rensis and López-Gatius, 2007). The presence of the dominant follicle and an active corpus luteum (CL) indicate the success of synchronization. Protocols for buffaloeswithlimitedfollicularandlutealactivity, remaintoberefined, buttheymostlikelywillbedevised around the strategic timing of administration of reagents currently used in synchronization protocols while ensuringthatthesupplyofdietaryenergyandproteinarenotlacking.

Reference	Treatment	Pregnancyrates(%)
Warriachetal.,2008	GnRH+PGF2á+GnRH	36
Naseeretal.,2011	CIDR	37
PaulandPrakash,2005	GnRH+PGF2á+GnRH	33
Berberetal.,2002	GnRH+PGF2á+GnRH	56.5
Negliaetal.,2003	GnRH+PGF2á+GnRH	36
Chohan,1998	PGF2á(cloprostenol)	53
RaoandRao,1983	PRID	41

SEXEDFROZENSEMEN

Semensexinghasbeensuccessfullyusedforproducinglivingoffspringinbovinespecies(Seideletal.,1999).In buffalo,adifferenceinDNAcontentbetweenXandYspermwasfound,andbasedonthisdifferenceithasbeen furtherdemonstratedthatprocessingbuffalosemenwasfeasible(Luetal.,2007).Inarecentstudy,promising pregnancy rates (50%) were achieved when inseminating a dose of sexed semen containing 4 million spermatozoa(Gaviraghietal.,2013).Inordertoexpanduseofthistechnology,thereisaneedtofurtherrefine thisprotocolforbuffalobreedsofcommercialsignificancesuchastheNili-RavibuffaloofPakistan.

ASSISTEDREPRODUCTIVETECHNOLOGIES

Thefirst successful embryotransferinbuff alowasperformed in the United States of America (Drostetal., 1983). Subsequent successful transfers have been reported from many other countries. However, the success rate is much lower in buff aloes, due to their inherently low fertility and poor superovulatory response (Misraetal.,



1990). The average yield of transferable embryosis less than one persuper ovulated donor. The buffaloovary has a smaller population of recruitable follicles at any given time; an average of 12,000 primary follicles has been reported (Danell, 1987), compared to the average in the ovary of the cow, which has an average of 133,000 (Erickson, 1966). This technique comprises a series of carefully integrated sequential steps including donor selection, donor treatment, recipients election, insemination of the donor, embry or ecovery, embry ohand ling and evaluation, embry otransfer, and recipient care. The technology has to be refined to account for the lower, less responsive follicle population in the buffalo.

Assisted reproductive technologies have been introduced to overcome the inherent reproductive problems, fast propagation of superior germplasm, and to reduce the generation intervals. These technologies provide an excellent source of embryos for carrying on basic research indevelopmental physiology, farmanimal breeding, and for commercial application of the emerging biotechniques like cloning and transgenesis. During the past wo decades, considerable advances have been made in our understanding of buffalo reproductive physiology, however, previous reviews (Palta and Chauhan, 1998; Gasparrini,

2002) and more recents tudies suggest that the rate of transferable embryoyield remains a taplate au (Manjuna tha et al., 2009). Results have been quite variable between laboratories and are most likely related to differences in embryophysiology, metabolism, and culture requirements among buffalobreeds. Furthers tudies are also needed to improve the cryopreservation of invitroembry oproduction embryos.

FUTURERESEARCH

The hypothalamo-pituitary-gonadal axis is the regulatory system for reproduction in mammals. A newly discoveredneuralpeptide,kisspeptin,hasopenedanewerainreproductiveneuroendocrinology.Asshownina variety of mammals,kisspeptin is a potent endogenous secretagogue of GnRH, and the kisspeptin neuronal system governs both the pulsatile GnRH secretion that drives folliculogenesis, spermatogenesis and steroidogenesis,andtheGnRHsurgethattriggersovulationinfemales(Okamuraetal.,2013).Roleofkisspeptin needstobeexploredinbuffalo.

CONCLUSIONS

Buffaloes are an important lives to ckresource form any countries. Most buffaloes are kept under the smallholder farming system indeveloping countries. Future research should focus on simple, adoptable and impactoriented approaches which identify the factors limiting fertility and oestrus behaviour in this commercially significant species.

Despite the inherited problems in buffalos low progress has been made in the application of assisted reproductive techniques. Artificial insemination is practiced commercially; embry otransfer, invitroembry oproduction, and nucleus transferemain in the real mofex perimentation. If their costs are reduced these latest techniques of fer the opportunity to accelerate the genetic gain in the buffaloin dustry with the proviso that the yare used in conjunction with efficient national progeny testing and size valuation programs.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thispaperwaspresented atfirst the joint International Symposium on the Nutrition of Herbivores/International Symposium on Ruminant Physiology (ISNH/ISRP) in Canberra, Australia, (September 8-12th, 2014).

REFERENCES

Baruselli,P.S.,R.G.Mucciolo,J.A.Visintin,W.G.Viana,R.PArruda,andE.H.Madureira,C.A.Oliveira,and J. R.Molero-Filho.1997.Ovarianfolliculardynamicsduringtheestrouscycleinbuffalo(Bubalusbubalis). Theriogenology47:1531-1547.

≪50≫

Berber, R.C.A., E.H.Madureira, and P.S.Baruselli. 2002. Comparison of two ovsynchrotocols (GnRHvs. LH) for fixed time dinsemination in buffalo (Bubalus bubalis). The riogenology 57:1421-1430.

Borghese, A 2005. In: Technical Series 67. Foodand Agriculture Organization, Rome, Italy.

- Chohan, K. R., R.A. Chaudhry, J. Iqbal, and T. Rahil. 1992. Comparative efficiency of male and and rogenized female teaser foroestrus detection in buffaloes. J Appl Anim. Res 2:23-26.
- Chohan,K.R.1998.EstrussynchronizationwithlowerdosesofPGF2*f*₆andsubsequentfertilityinsubestrous buffalo.Theriogenology50:1101-1108.
- Danell, B. 1987. Oestrous Behavior, Ovarian Morphology and Cyclical Variation in Follicular System and EndocrinePatterninWaterBuffaloHeifers.PhDThesis:SverigesLantbruksuniversitet,Uppsala,Sweden pp.54-94.
- DeRensis, F. and F. Lopez-Gatius. 2007. Protocols for synchronizing estrus and ovulation in buffalo (Bubalus bubalis): A review. Theriogenology 67:209-216.
- Drost, M., Jr. J. M. Wright, W.S. Cripe, and A.R. Richter. 1983. Embryotransferin waterbuffalo (Bubalus bubalis). Theriogenology 20:579-84.
- Erickson, B.H.1966. Development and senescence of the postnatal bovine ovary J.Anim. Sci. 25:800-805.
- Gasparrini, B.2002. Invitreembry oproduction in buffalos pecies: state of the art. The riogenology 57:237-256.
- Gaviraghi,A.,R.Puglisi,D.Balduzzi,A.Severgnini,V.Bornaghi,G.Bongioni,A.Frana,L.M.Gandini,A. Lukaj,C.Bonacina,andA.Galli.2013.MinimumnumberofspermatozoaperdoseinMediterraneanItalian buffalo (Bubalus bubalis) using sexed frozen semen and conventional artificial insemination. Theriogenology79:1171-1176.
- Gill,R.S.,P.C.Gangwar,andD.S.Kooner.1973.Studiesonoestrousbehaviourofbuffaloes.IndianJ.Anim. Sci.43:472-475.
- Gordon, I.1996. Controlled reproduction in cattleand buffaloes. CABI, Wallingford, UK.vol.1.pp.452.
- Jainudeen, M.R. 1977. Reproduction of Malaysianswampbuffalo (Bubalusbubalis). Proceeding of Ist Joint Conference on Health and production Australian and Local Cattle in South East Asia, Ministry of Agriculture, Malaysia, Bull. No. 146, pp. 162-169.
- Jainudeen, M.R. and E.S.E. Hafez. 1993. Cattleandbuffalo. In: Reproduction in FarmAnimals (Ed.E.S.E. Hafez), 6thed. LeaandFebiger, Philadelphia, PA, USA, pp.315-329.
- Kaur,H.andS.P.Arora.1982.Influenceoflevelofnutritionandseasonontheoestrouscyclerhythmandon fertilityinbuffaloes.TropAgric.(Trinidad)59:274-278.
- Lu,Y.Q.,X.W.Liang,M.Zhang,W.L.Wang,Y.Kitiyanant,S.S.Lu,B.Meng,andK.H.Lu.2007.Birthof twinsafterinvitrofertilizationwithflow-cytometricsortedbuffalo(Bubalusbubalis)sperm.Anim.Reprod. Sci.100:192-196.
- Manjunatha,B.M.,J.P.Ravindra,P.S.P.Gupta,M.Devaraj,andS.Nandi.2009.Effectofbreedingseasononin vivooocyterecoveryandembryoproductioninnon-descriptiveIndianriverbuffaloes(Bubalusbubalis). Anim.Reprod.Sci.111:376-383.
- Misra, A.K., B.V.Joshi, P.L.Agrawala, R.Kasiraj, S.Sivaiah, N.S.Rangareddi, and M.U.Siddiqui. 1990. MultipleovulationandembryotransferinIndianbuffalo (Bubalusbubalis). Theriogenology 33:1131-1141.
- Nanda,A.S.,P.S.Brar,andS.Prabhakar.2003.Enhancingreproductiveperformanceindairybuffalo:major constraintsandachievements.Reproduction61(Suppl.):27-36.
- Naseer,Z.,E.Ahmad,J.Singh,andN.Ahmad.2001.FertilityfollowingCIDRbasedsynchronizationregimens inanoestrousNili-Ravibuffaloes.Reprod.DomestAnim.46:814-817.
- Neglia, G., B. Gasparrini, R. Di Palo, C. De Rosa, L. Zicarelli, and G. Campanile. 2003. Comparison of pregnancy rates with two estrus synchronization protocols in Italian Mediterranean Buffalo cows. Theriogenology60:125-133.
- Okamura, H., T. Yamamura, and Y. Wakabayashi. 2013. Kisspeptinasa masterplayer in the central control of reproduction in mammals: An overview of kisspeptine search indomesticani mals. An im. Sci. J. 84:369-381.

≪51≫

Palta, P. and M.S. Chauhan. 1998. Laboratory production of buffalo (Bubalus bubalis) embryos. Reprod. Fertil. Dev. 10:379-392.

- Paul, V. and B.S. Prakash. 2005. Efficacy of the ovsynchrotocol for synchronization of ovulation and fixed-time artificial insemination in Murrah buffaloes (Bubalus bubalis). The riogenology 64:1049-1060.
- Perera,B.M.A.O.1987.AreviewofexperienceswithoestroussynchronizationinbuffaloesinSriLanka.Buff. J.1(Suppl.):105-114.
- Qureshi,M.S.,S.Khan,andN.Ahmad.2007.Pregnancydepressesmilkyieldindairybuffaloes.ItalianJ.Anim. Sci.6:(Suppl.2):1290-1293.
- Rao, A. R. and C. Rao Ch. 1983. Synchronization of oestrus and fertility in buffaloes with a progesterone releasing intravaginal device. Vet. Rec. 113:623-624.
- Roy,K.S.andB.S.Prakash.2009.Plasmaprogesterone,oestradiol-17âandtotaloestrogenprofilesinrelationto oestrous behaviour during induced ovulation in Murrah buffalo heifers. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 93:486-495.
- Seidel, Jr. G. E., J. L. Schenk, L.A. Herickoff, S. P. Doyle, Z. Brink, R. D. Green, and D. G. Cran. 1999. Inseminationofheiferswithsexedsperm. Theriogenology 52:1407-1420.
- Seren, E., A. Parmeggiani, and G. Campanile. 1995. The control of ovulation in Italian buffalo. In: Proc. of the Symposium Reproduction and Animal Breeding: Advances and Strategy, Milan, Italy. pp. 265-275.
- Singh, J.A.S.Nanda, and G.P.Adams. 2000. The reproductive pattern and efficiency offemale buffaloes. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 60-61:593-604.
- Taneja, M., A.Ali, and G.Singh. 1996. Ovarian follicular dynamics inwater buffalo. Theriogenology 46:121-130.
- Trimberger, G.W. 1948. Breeding Efficiency in Dairy Cattle from Artificial Inseminationat Various Intervals before and after Ovulation. Nebraska Agriculture Experimental Station. 153:1.
- Usmani, R.H., R.A.Dailey, and E.K.Inskeep. 1990. Effects of limited suckling and varying prepartum nutrition on postpartum reproductive traits of milked buffaloes J.DairySci. 73: 1564-1570.
- Yang, B., X.L.Q.Zeng, J.Qin, and C.Yang. 2007. Dairy buffalobreeding incountryside of China. Italian J. Anim. Sci. 6: (Suppl 2): 25-29.
- Warriach, H. M. and N. Ahmad. 2007. Follicular waves during the oestrous cycle in Nili-Ravi buffaloes undergoingspontaneousandPGF2alpha-inducedluteolysisAnim.Reprod.Sci.101:332-337.
- Warriach, H.M., D.McGill, R.D.Bush, and P.C.Wynn. 2012. Production and reproductive performance of Nili-Ravibuffalound effield conditions of Pakistan J. Anim. Plant Sci. (Suppl. 3): 121-124.
- Warriach, H. M., A. A. Channa, and N. Ahmad. 2008. Effect of oestrus synchronization methods on oestrus behaviour, timing of ovulation and pregnancy rated uring the breeding and low breeding seasons in Nili-Ravibuffaloes Anim. Reprod. Sci. 107:62-67.

≪52>

GeneticsSelection Evolution





McGilletal.GeneticsSelectionEvolution2014,46:78 http://www.gsejournal.org/content/46/1/78

Strategictest-dayrecordingregimestoestimatelactationyieldin tropicaldairyanimals

DavidMMcGill1,2*,PeterCThomson3†,HermanAMulder4†andJanJLievaart2†

ABSTRACT:

Background:

Indeveloping dairy sectors, genetic improvement programs have limited resources and recording of herds is minimal. This study evaluated different methods to estimate lactation yield and sampling schedules with fewer test-day records per lactation to determine recording regimes that (1) estimate lactation yield with a minimal impact on the accuracy of selection and (2) optimise the available resources.

Methods:

Using Sahiwal cattle as a tropical dairy breed example, weekly milk records from 464 cows were used in a simulation study to generate different shaped lactation curves. The daily milk yields from these simulated lactation curves were subset to equally spaced (weekly, monthly and quarterly) and unequally spaced (with four, five or six records per lactation) test-day intervals. Lactation yield estimates we recalculated from these subsets using two methods: the test-interval method and Wood's (Nature 216:164-165, 1967) lactation curve model. Using the resulting lactation yields, breeding values were predicted and comparisons were made between the sampling regimes and estimation methods.

Results:

Theresults show that, based on the mean square error of prediction, use of Wood's lactation curve model to estimate total yield was more accurate than use of the test-interval method. However, the differences in the ranking of an imal sweres mall, i.e. alto 5% difference in accuracy. Comparisons between the different test-day sampling regimes showed that, with the same number of records per lactation (for example, quarterly and four test-days), strategically timed test-days can result in more accurate estimates of lactation yield than test-days at equal intervals.

Conclusions:

Animportantout come of these results is that combining Wood's model for lactation yield estimation and as few as four, five or six strategically placed test-day records can produce estimates of lactation yield that are comparable with estimates based on monthly test-day records using the test-interval method. Furthermore, calculations show that although using fewertest-days results in a decrease in the accuracy of selection, it does provide an opport unity to progeny-test more sires. Thus, using strategically timed test-days and Wood's model to estimate lactation yield, can lead to amore fficient use of the allocated resources.

Background

Breed improvement and selection in dairy systems of developing countries is a challenge because field conditionsarerestrictedbylimitedresourcesandinfrequentmilkrecording.Inthesesituations,frequenttest-day (TD)recordingthroughouttheentirelactationforgeneticevaluationpurposesisdifficultandimpractical[1]. Thislack of data availability highlights the need to optimise the contribution of each collected record to the geneticevaluation process[2].Therefore, insuch situations, there is an edited evelopane fficient TD sampling regimeands ubsequent geneticevaluation system that optimises selection outcomes given the current resources for TD recording. Indairy systems, genetic est-day models (TDM) provide a solution to the lack of data since they can effectively use fewer records [3-5]. However, TDM require accurate estimates of many genetic parameters calculated from large datasets [6,7], which are difficult to obtain indeveloping country scenarios and hence can cause in accurate results [3,8]. Therefore, an approach in which lactation yield is first estimated and



subsequently used for breeding value estimation may be more appropriate. There are numerous methods to estimatel actation yield based on TD records. The test-interval method (TIM) is therefore neeme tho dto calculate lactation yield [9] and is particularly useful in developing dairy sectors. Other methods involve the use of mathematical lactation models to predict milkyield. TD data from Sahiwal cattle, atropical dairy breed from Pakistan [10], have been used in a number of studies that compare different lactation models. These studies indicated that suitable models include the inverse polynomial function proposed by Nelder [11], the incomplete gamma-type function proposed by Wood [12] and the Wilmink model [13-16]. Various studies have investigated which of each these models is the most appropriate indifferent tropical conditions [11,17-20]. Although some results of the sest udies are conflicting, it is clear that the most suitable model is the Wood model because of its ability to fit different shaped curves and its relative ease to describe characteristics of the lactation curve [20-22]. Furthermore, we recently reported that the Wood model is more robust than others when fitting lactation curves to infrequent and irregulartest-days ampling regimes (TDSR), which are common indeveloping country scenarios [23]. For these reasons, the Wood model was used for data modelling and simulation of data sets for this study, although it is expected that the models of similar complexity would give similar results.

Previous studies have clearly shown that a smilk recording frequency decreases, the accuracy of the lactation yieldes stimates also decreases [24-27]. Despite this, it is possible to record milky ield monthly orevenjust four or five times throughout a lactation and still estimate lactation yields sufficiently accurately to rank cows for selection based on milk production [25-27]. Some studies considered using unequally spaced sampling regimes with more TD around the peak of lactation or time daccording to the visits of an AI (artificial insemination) technician. These studies found that, although the lactation yield estimates were less accurate when TD were unequally spaced [28], they did provide an opportunity to assess more bulls with the same resources while maintaining the reliability of the resulting sires' estimated breeding values (EBV) [27]. What has not been directly considered is whether as few as four, five, or six TD strategically timed through outlactation would have an effect on the accuracy of EBV for lactation yield.

Therefore, the aim of this study was to investigate whether using fewer, but more strategic TD sampling approaches, and the Woodlactation model would improve the accuracy of lactation yield estimates and EBV for milk production. Milk records from Sahiwal cattle were used to simulate lactation curves as an example of the production intropical dairy breeds. The simulated data were then used to compare different TDSR with only four, five or six sampling days within one lactation. Then, comparisons of EBV between sampling and estimation methods were assessed to determine the most efficient approach to estimate breed ingvalues given the resources available.

Methods

Rawdata

Sahiwalcattlewereusedasanexampleofatypicaltropicaldairybreed. Sahiwallactationrecordscollected between 2005 and 2010 from the Livestock Production Research Institute (LPRI), Bahadurnagar Okara, Pakistan,wereused.Therawdataconsistedof839lactationswithweeklyTDrecordsfrom464damsfrom82 sires, withanaverageof5.65 daughterspersire. The damsranged in age from three to overten years, with approximately25% of lactationsfrom cowsin their first lactation, 45% from these conductofour thlactation, and there maining30% from the fifth lactation and above.Using these TDrecords, Wood's [12] lactation curve model was fitted to each lactation. This model is defined as follows in its original nonlinear form (1) and its linear form (2):

$W(t) = at^b e^{-ct}$	(1)
	(-)

$$W(t) = \exp(k + b \ln t - ct), \qquad (2)$$

where W(t) is the model-based lactation yield attimet (days in milk(DIM)), k=lna, and where k, b, and c specify the shape of the lactation curve.

Analysisofrawdata

To obtain estimates of the various components of the Wood model for the simulation study, the raw Sahiwal TD the simulation of the simul

≪55≫

records were fitted using a nonlinear mixed model. This was done by then lme() function of RV ersion 3.0.2 [29], using the methods documented in Pinheir cetal. [30]. In this case the model fitted was:

yit

$$y_{it} = \exp(k_i + b_i \ln t - c_i t) + \varepsilon_{it}, \qquad (3)$$

 $\label{eq:two-states} Twhere f \tilde{A} iteN0; f \oplus 2f \tilde{A}, iindexes the particular cow, with i=1,2, \bullet c, nandnishen umber of cows in the dataset. The linear form (3) of the Wood model was used here because of its closer approximation of parameters (ki, bi, ci) to a multivariate normal distribution [22], as required for the model assumptions to be met. The Wood model can be developed further as a nonlinear mixed model with additive (linear) sub-models forki, bi and ci such that:$

$$k_{i} = k + k_{MOC} + k_{Year} + k_{Age} + K_{i.G} + K_{i.E}$$

$$b_{i} = b + b_{MOC} + b_{Year} + b_{Age} + B_{i.G} + B_{i.E} , \qquad (4)$$

$$c_{i} = c + c_{MOC} + c_{Year} + c_{Age} + C_{i.G} + C_{i.E}$$

wherek,bandcareoverallfixedparameterintercepts,kMOC/Year/Age,bMOC/Year/AgeandcMOC/Year/Age arethefixedeffectsofeachparameterformonthofcalving(MOC),yearofinilking(Year)andage(Age)ofthe cowatcalving,Ki.G,Bi.GandCi,Garecow-specificorenvironmental"randomeffects.Theserandomcomponentswillhavemultivariatenormaldistributions suchthat:

$$\begin{pmatrix} K_{i.G} \\ B_{i.G} \\ C_{i.G} \end{pmatrix} \sim N \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{K.G}^2 & \sigma_{KB.G} & \sigma_{KC.G} \\ \sigma_{KB.G} & \sigma_{B.G}^2 & \sigma_{BC.G} \\ \sigma_{KC.G} & \sigma_{BC.G} & \sigma_{C.G}^2 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix},$$
and
$$\begin{pmatrix} K_{i.E} \\ B_{i.E} \\ C_{i.E} \end{pmatrix} \sim N \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{K.E}^2 & \sigma_{KB.E} & \sigma_{KC.E} \\ \sigma_{KB.E} & \sigma_{B.E}^2 & \sigma_{BC.E} \\ \sigma_{KC.E} & \sigma_{BC.E} & \sigma_{C.E}^2 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix},$$
(6)

whereiindexesthecow,withi=1,2,• c,nandnisthenumberofcowsinthedataset.First,consideringthe polygenicterms(Ki.G,Bi.GandCi,G),itwillbeassumedthatf["]G=(K1.G,K2.G,• c,Kn.G)• (E,*f*G=(B1.G, B2.G,• c,Bn.G)• (E and CG=(C1.G,C2.G,• c,Cn.G)• (E have the following distributions: *f*["]GeN0; *f*D2 K:GZAZ• (E,BGeN0; *f*D2B:GZAZ• (Eand CGeN0; *f*D2C:GZAZ• (E,where Zlinksthe• gphenotypes• h (ki,biorci)totheanimalpedigreerecords,andAisthenumeratorrelationshipmatrix.Inthecurrentsituation,it was assumed that only one lactation is simulated per cow, so Z = In. It is also assumed that the • genvironmental• hcomponentsf["]E=(K1.E,K2.E,• c,Kn.E)• (E,*f*E=(B1.E,B2.E,• c,Bn.E)• (Eand CE =(C1.E,C2.E,• c,Cn.E)• (Eareallindependentandtheircovariancesareassumedtobe0,i.e.*f*["]EeN0;*f*D2 K:EIn,BEeN0;*f*D2B:EInandCEeN0;*f*D2C:EIn

Puttingthesetogether,equation(5)yields:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{K}_{G} \\ \mathbf{B}_{G} \\ \mathbf{C}_{G} \end{pmatrix} \sim N \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0}_{n} \\ \mathbf{0}_{n} \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{K,G}^{2} & \sigma_{KB,G} & \sigma_{KC,G} \\ \sigma_{KB,G} & \sigma_{B,G}^{2} & \sigma_{BC,G} \\ \sigma_{KC,G} & \sigma_{BC,G} & \sigma_{C,G}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \otimes \mathbf{A} \end{pmatrix}$$
(assumingZ=In),andequation(6)yields
$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{K}_{E} \\ \mathbf{B}_{E} \\ \mathbf{C}_{E} \end{pmatrix} \sim N \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0}_{n} \\ \mathbf{0}_{n} \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{K,E}^{2} & \sigma_{KB,E} & \sigma_{KC,E} \\ \sigma_{KB,E} & \sigma_{B,E}^{2} & \sigma_{BC,E} \\ \sigma_{KC,E} & \sigma_{BC,E} & \sigma_{C,E}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{n} \end{pmatrix}$$
Simulateddata
$$(8)$$

Fromtheinitialnlme()modeloutputthatfittedtheWoodmodeltotherawSahiwallactationrecords,estimatesof the fixed effects of k, b, and c and the variance and covariance matrix of the combined random effects (Ki.G+Ki.E, Bi.G+ Bi.E and Ci.G+Ci.E) were obtained. This variance-covariance matrix was split up to resembletheseparaterandomcow-effects(Ki.G,Bi.GandCi.G)andtherandom"environmental"effects(Ki.E, Bi.EandCi.E),suchthatsimulatedlactationcurvesyieldedrealisticcurves.Forthepurposesofthesimulation, non-zero covariances were used in equation (7) but all covariances in equation(8) were set equal to 0 (see Additional file 1).Thesetwovariance-covariancematrices and therelationshipmatrix(A,basedontheLPRI

56

pedigree) we reused with therm vnorm () [31] function of RV ersion 3.0.2 [29] to generate random effects drawn from multivariate normal distributions (equations (7) and (8)) for a simulated population. These we rethen added to the estimates of fixed effects parameters (from the Sahiwall actation data) to yield realistic simulated values for ki, biand ciac cording to equation (4).

The outcomes of this simulation were values forki, biand cifor apopulation of Sahiwal cattle (wheren=464) that calved in January 2006 at 4 years of age. The resulting lactation curves had a general shape that had an average peak of production and high persistency (APHP; as lowly declining curve). As econd set of data was simulated in which only the fixed effect of a gewasch anged to 9 years to generate lactation curves that on average had high erpeak and aless persistent tail (HPLP). The fixed effects of 4 and 9 years of a gewere selected for the simulations incet the yyield edlactation curves that we required ifferent inshape, yet still typical of Sahiwal cows. Plots of the average simulated lactation curves that highlight differences between these fixed effects are in Figure 1.

To ensure that the simulated data sets we rerealist ict othe Pakistanisi tuation, and omerror term a itwas added to each simulated day of milking (according to equation (3)) to take into account the important environmental variation that occurs in milk production due to daily variation in nutrition, management and other factors. Note that the random errors we retaken as independent, although in reality they may be serially correlated with an autoregressive errors tructure.

To calculate the true simulated lactation yield (Y) for an imali within the herd, the yield one ach DIM (t=1, 1, 1) and 1) and



2,3,...,280)wassummedaccordingtothefollowingequation;

$$Y_{i,\text{TRUE}} = \sum_{i=1}^{280} \exp(k_i + b_i \ln t - c_i t) + \varepsilon_{it}.$$
(9)

This value Yi, TRUE was calculated for each animal and is considered the 'true' lactation yield from the simulations. This was donese parately for the simulated datasets for which animals were 4(APHP) and 9(HPLP) years old. An assumed lactation length of 280 days was used here since the average lactation length in Sahiwal cattle in Pakistanis 235 days [10] and only a small proportion of an imal sproduce milk form or ethan 305 days [32].

Test-daysamplingregimestestedStandardlactationyieldestimationmethodsusetheTIMbasedonTDrecords collected at equally spaced weekly, monthly and quarterly intervals. By sub-setting the simulated data to represent these recording regimes, lactation yields were calculated (Yi, TIM, WKL, Yi, TIM, MON, Yi, TIM, QTR) and used for comparison with otherTDSR and estimations using Wood's model. The main a imofth is study was to investigate the possibility of using fewer (m) TD perlactation (where misequal to 4,50r6), strategically timed



throughout lactation to estimate lactation yield. In order to determine the 'ideal' TDSR, numerous TD combinationsweretestedandcompared.

 $The number of possible TDSR within a single lactation is very large. For example, from a lactation of 280 DIM, if each combination of five (m=5) randomly selected TD was tested, there would be over 1.6 \times 1012 possible combinations. Since it is unrealistic to compare each of these possible TDSR, an ethod was developed to refine the selection process of the TDSR to be tested based on previous results. A diagram of this process is in Figure 2, and details are given below.$

The process of TDSR comparison was carried out over a number of loops by selecting combinations of m(=4,5 or 6) TD from the pool of DIM. In the first loop, the pool of TD included all DIM (1,...,280). In subsequent loops, the pool of DIM was reduced by one quarter based on th



resultsfromthepreviousloop(seeFigure2).ThestepstocompareTDwithineachloopwereasfollows:

- Step 1: Select mTD at random from the pool without replacement. This will make up one TDSR for comparison(TDSRj). This was repeated until every TD from the pool was represented at least once in a selected TDSRj.
- Step 2:Repeat'Step1' untileachTDinthepoolisrepresentedinatleast25differentTDSRj,toensurethat thereareenoughrepeatedmeasurementstojustifyvalidcomparisonswhenTDareevaluated.Fewerrepeats couldhavebeenused(forexample5),butforthepurposesofthisstudy,25wereusedtoallowforgreater certaintyintheassessmentofthecontributionofeachDIMtothelactationyieldestimate.
- Step 3:ForeachrandomlyselectedTDSRj,thecorrespondingTDyieldsinthesimulatedpopulationwere usedtoestimatelactationyieldsforeachcow.ThiswasdonebyfittingWood'slactationcurvemodelusing thenonlinearmixedeffectsmodelbythenlme()functionofRVersion3.0.2[29].Thefittingprocessand lactationyieldestimationfollowedtheprocessesoutlinedbyRaadsmaetal.[22].Thisresultedinalactation yieldestimateforeachcow,usingWood'smodelbasedonTDrecordsfromtheTDSRj(Yi,WOOD,TDSRj).
- Step4:ForeveryTDSRj,themeansquareerrorofprediction(MSEP)wascalculatedusingthefollowing formula:

$$MSEP_{WOOD,TDSR_{j}} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (Y_{i,TRUE} - Y_{i,WOOD,TDSR_{j}})^{2},$$
(10)

wherenisthenumberofsimulatedlactationyields.

Step 5: The 25 different TDSR j that contained each TD we reaver aged to yield a single average MSEP for each TD. Using this value, each TD from the pool was ranked from the highest MSEP (most in accurate) to the lowest.

Step6:One-quarteroftheTDwiththemostinaccurateaverageMSEPwereremovedfromthepool.This reducedthepoolofTDforthenextlooptotheoreticallyincludeTDthatonaverageallowformoreaccurate estimationoflactationyield.ThisloopprocesscantheoreticallycontinueuntilthenumberofTDinthepool islessthanthenumberofTD(m)perTDSR.ItwasexpectedthattheMSEP would initially reduceasthesize of the pool decreased but then either reachaplateau or increase again, i.e. decrease inaccuracy. For the purposes of this study, the looping process was repeated ten times, when the pool had only 20 DIM remaining.

Comparisons

The methods used to estimate lactation were compared in three ways: (1) MSEP between true and estimated lactation yield, (2) comparison of EBV based on true lactation yield and estimated lactation yield and (3) number of sires that could be theoretically test edforagive number of test-day recordings. More detailed descriptions of the secomparisons are given below.

First, the simulated lactation yields were compared directly with the various estimates of lactation yields in the MSEP. Simulated lactation yields (Yi, TRUE) were compared with the estimates obtained with methods based on fewer TD records. This included the estimation methods already described (Yi, TIM; WKL; Yi; TIM; MON; Yi; TIM; QTR; Yi; WOOD; TDSRj) and additionally, the TIM at the different TDSRj(Yi; TIM; TDSRj) and the Wood method at the equally spaced sampling regimes (Yi, WOOD, WKL, Yi, WOOD, MON, Yi, WOOD, QTR). Using the estimates of lactation yield, MSEP were calculated (similarly to that described in equation (10)) and used to compare the accuracy of the different lactation yield estimation methods.

Second, the predicted EBV from each method were compared with the 'true'EBV based on the simulated data. EBV for each cow were calculated based on the lactation yield estimates using the TIM (EBVi, TIM, WKL, EBVi, TIM, MON, EBVi, TIM, QTR, EBVi; TIM; TDSRj) and the Wood method (EBVi, WOOD, WKL, EBVi, WOOD, MON, EBVi, WOOD, QTR, EBVi; WOOD; TDSRj). These EBV were calculated in ASR eml-R Discovery Edition 1.0[33], using the A matrix based on the LPR lpedigree data. The EBV based on the simulated data using the true lactation yields (Yi, TRUE) were also calculated (EBVi, TRUE). EBV of the different lactation yield estimation methods were compared by using the number of cows in the top 100 EBV (top 100). This enabled an assessment of the similarities between methods to estimate lactation yield interms of the cows that would be the ore tically selected.

Lastly, the number of sires that could theoretically be progeny-tested was used as a comparison to determine which method could use allocated resources most efficiently. According to the method outlined by Duclosetal. [27], the theoretical reliability (R) of a sire can be calculated as:

$$R = \frac{dh^2}{4 + (d-1)h^2 + 4(\sigma_\Delta^2/\sigma_P^2)},$$
(11)

whereh2istheheritabilityofYi,TRUE,disthenumberofdaughtersandó2 PisthephenotypicvarianceofYi,TRUE.

The $f \oplus 2 f \notin$ represents the increase in the residual variance due to the TDSR recording protocol and can be calculated as the variance of the differences between the estimated yield under the TDSR recording protocol, Yi, ESTIMATE, and yield under a full recording protocol, Yi, TRUE, $f \oplus 2$

$$\sigma_{\Delta}^2 = \operatorname{Var}(Y_{i,\text{ESTIMATE}} - Y_{i,\text{TRUE}}).$$
(12)

Thed12TUsingthese equations and simple algebra, an expression can be developed to determine the theoretical number of daughters necessary to prove as irewith a specific reliability level. Then, the number of sires that could possibly be proven given a limited number of resources can be calculated and compared according to the method used to estimate lactation yield.

InPakistan, the currentSahiwalprogenytesting system (notincluding government farms) records datamonthly from approximately 30 private farms, which we assumed, had 25 milking animal seach. This means that 7500 (30 x25 x10) TD records can be collected within a given lactation. Thus, the number of possible provensires is equal to:

≪59≫

7500 mxd

wheremisthenumberofTDrecorded perlactation and disthenumberof daughters necessary (calculated using equation (11)) to prove a sire with a given reliability (R) and $f \oplus 2f \notin$ based on the method of lactation yield estimation.

Results

TDSRselectionandcomparisonweredoneseparatelyforthetwolactationcurveshapes(APHPandHPLP)and formrecordedTD(wheremisequalto4,5or6)withinalactation. Thisallows for comparison of the key outcomesandpractical applications of the seresults based on both shape of the lactation curve and the number of TD recorded. Test-days ampling regimestes ted Selection of the TDSR to be compared within this study was done using a process that removed DIM with each loop in order to reduce the number of possible combinations of TDSR while maintaining the DIM that contributed to accurate estimates of lactation yield using Wood• fsmodel. We can test the efficacy of this process by examining the trend of the median MSEP of all the TDSR test edwithin each loop (Figure 3). These plots show that, ingeneral, the median MSEP decreased with each subsequent loop. However, this was not the case when the shape of the curve swere APHP and m=4TD, for which as mall increase in the median MSEP was observed (Figure 3).

Test-daysamplingregimestested

SelectionoftheTDSRtobecompared within this study was done using a process that removed DIM with each loop in order to reduce the number of possible combinations of TDSR while maintaining the DIM that contributed to accurate estimates of lactation yield using Wood's model. We can test the efficacy of this process by examining the trend of the median MSEP of all the TDSR tested within each loop (Figure 3). The seplots show that, ingeneral, the median MSEP decreased with each subsequent loop. However, this was not the case when the shape of the curves were APHP and m=4TD, for which as mall increase in the median MSEP was observed (Figure 3). The general down ward trend of the median MSEP with each loop shows that, overall, the accuracy of the TDSR improved with an increasing number of loops. However, this does not necessarily mean that the TDSR with the lowest MSEP will be in the last loop because the TDSR were chosen at random from the remaining pool of TD in each loop. Thus, it is possible to random ly choose the TDSR with the lowest MSEP in the earlier loops, although this is not very likely because the rearem ore DIM to choose from.

Comparisonoflactationyieldestimates

The key question in this study was how lactation yields estimated with Wood's model [12] using fewer TD records compare with estimates from the recommended TIM method [9]. The plots in Figure 4 show the distribution of the MSEP values for the TDS Rusing four, five or six TD to estimate lactation yield. Lowervalues of MSEP indicate more accurate stimates of lactation yield.

The TDSR method based on six TD per lactation resulted incomparable estimates of lactation yield as the TIM with monthly records, which had MSEP values of 12385 (APHP) and 13587 (HPLP), as shown in Table 1. This is indicated in Figure 4 and 4 by the location of the left-tail of the dashed MSEP curve (m=6), which indicates that small proportion of the TDSR tested had MSEP values that we release that one qual to the MSEP for the TIM monthly estimates. Similarly, the position of all three probability density plots show that the use of Wood's model with mTD (where m=4, 50r6) to estimate lactation yield produced more accurate estimates than the TIM with quarterly records (MSEP values; 43621 for APHP and 71631 for HPLP) but less accurate estimates than TIM with weekly records (MSEP values; 2936 for APHP and 3112 for HPLP).

Comparisonofestimatedbreedingvalues

The accuracy of lactation yield estimates, measured by the MSEP, is an important parameter to compare different methods of estimation. However, an easier to apply measure when dealing with an imal selection is to determine the correspondence of the ranking sof EBV calculated using the alternatemethods compared with the 'true' EBV rankings based on the simulated lactation yields. Figure 5 shows the distribution of the number of constitute optimises of the simulated lactation of the simulated lactation



100EBV thatcorresponded with the 'true' top100EBV. In this figure, values closer to 100 are considered more accurate.

InbothFigure5aand5b, the probability density plots show that there was a large proportion of TDSR that had greater Top 100 values than the estimates with the TIM based on quarterly records (Table 1; APHP-73, HPLP-77) and to a less react ent the monthly records



\(Table1;APHP- 85,HPLP- 88).Asthenumber(m)ofTDrecordedperlactationincreased,theproportionof TDSR thathad a greater correspondence with the 'true'EBV rankings also increased compared to estimates obtained based on monthly records. This was event ruer when the graph shapes howed arapid decline (HPLP) as compared to aslow decline (APHP). The median values for the probability density plots are in Figure 5 and Table 1. Results in Table 1 show that, as the frequency of recording increased, the median MSEP decreased. Similarly, as the median MSEP decreased the correspondence between the EBV rankings and 'true'EBV rankings increased. The values of the Top 100 corresponding animals show that using four, five or six TD, strategically timed throughout lactation, allowed for these lection of animals that aligned better with the 'true'EBV than the 'TIMQ uarterly' regime and insome cases the 'TIMM on thly' regime.

Anothermeasure that can be used to compare methods is the correlation of the resulting EBV with the 'true' EBV. For the APHP curves using four, five or six TD, these correlations were equal to 0.882, 0.905 and 0.923, respectively. For the HPLP curves, correlations were equal to 0.931, 0.947 and 0.959. These values concur with the trends seen in the Top 100 values but give a more direct indication of the potential amount of genetic gain lost because of using fewer TD perfact ation.

Comparisonsofsirestested

By applying selection index theory, the EBV results can be further extrapolated for application within a progenytestingsituation. Table2 shows the bias and óÄ of the different methods to estimate lactation yield. The óÄ is the standard deviation of the deviations between true and estimated lactation yields using equation (12), whereas the bias is the mean of the differences between true and estimated lactation yields, (Yi, ESTIMATE. Yi, TRUE). The resulting values of ó2 Ä were used in equation (11) to calculate the number of daughters necessary to prove as irewith are liability of 50%. Subsequently, assuming that given amount of TD recording resources was available, the number of possibles iresthat could be tested was determined using equation (13). Results show that accuracy of the lactation yield estimate lactation yield, fewer daughters were required to prove as ire with a given reliability. However, the results also indicate that, with limited resources, the more frequent TD sampling reduced the number of sires that could be proven.

≪61≫

'Ideal' test-daysamplingregimeUsingtheMSEPvaluesfromthesimulationstudy,anidealsamplingregimefor collecting TD records can be recommended. The accuracy of lactation yield estimates and subsequent EBV predictions with the TDSR evaluated varied greatly. To develop possible recommendations for sampling regimes, acriterionwasestablishedtosubsettheTDSR into those that we reaccurate enough for selection and those that we renot. For this study, the



criterion was sets uch that the estimation method had to have over 80 animals in the top 100 ranked EBV which corresponded with the 'true' EBV ranks. Of all the TDSR test ed with m=4TD within all actation, 18.1% of the APHP and 63.9% HPLP shaped curves methis criteria. Figure 6 shows the distribution of the sampling days (one to four) for the TDSR that methes exciteria. Similar figure 6 shows that it was necessary to have the first TD early in lactation, around the peak of lactation (where the average peak occurs at 34D IM for APHP and 35D IM for HPLP).

 $\label{eq:statistics} Using Kolmogorov-Smirnov goodness of fittests [34], the distributions from Figure 6 were shown to differ significantly from the distributions of m=4 or derstatistics from a uniform U(0,280) distribution (all P < 10-11). Therefore, the results from this study suggest that strategically timing TD sampling throughout the lactation yielded more accurate estimates of lactation yield than random (uniform) sampling.$

Discussion

Thisstudy investigated methods to estimate lactation yield more accurately in a developing dairy sector where resources for data collection and progeny-testing are limited. The focus was to investigate estimation methods using fewer, yet more strategic, TD sampling regimes and to propose a methodology to progeny-test bulls for milk production when milk recording is limited. The two key comparisons were: (1) the TIM with Wood's lactation curve model and (2) TD recording regimes with equal intervals (weekly, monthly and quarterly) with TD recording regimes with four, five on six records perfact ation more strategically placed throughout lactation.

62>>

ab	le	1	Comparison	of	different	estimation	methods an	d samp	ling	protocol	5
----	----	---	------------	----	-----------	------------	------------	--------	------	----------	---

Sampling protocol	Average peak and pe	ersistent tail	High peak and less pe	persistent tail	
	Top 100 _{Med}	MSPE _{Med}	Top 100 Med	MSPEMed	
Test-interval method					
Weekly*	96	2936	96	3112	
Monthly	85	12385	88	13587	
Quarterly	73	43621	77	71631	
6 Test-days/lact	82	26829	87	32229	
5 Test-days/lact [®]	81	30649	86	35479	
4 Test-days/lact [#]	81	35767	85	47048	
Wood model estimation					
Weekly	96	2613	96	2945	
Monthly	87	10530	90	12098	
Quarterly	73	31334	82	34508	
6 Test-days/lact ^F	82	18511	87	20666	
5 Test-days/lact	81	21654	85	24964	
4 Test-days/lact ¹	81	25306	84	30324	

⁺For the equally spaced estimation methods (weekly, monthly, quarterly) only one regime was tested and this value is reported here; ⁺for the different TDSR (m = 4, 5 and 6 test-days/lactation), the values presented here are the median top100 and MSPE values for all the TDSR tested that have at least 80 animals in common in the top 100 compared to the 'true' EBV.

The MSEPM edre sults (Table 1) show that in all cases, the TIM had higher MSEPM edth anthecorresponding to the transmission of transmission of the transmission of transmissionrecordingregimeusingtheWoodmodelwithdifferencesrangingfrom5%(HPLP-Weekly)tomorethandouble (forHPLP-Quarterly). This suggests that estimating lactation yield with the Wood model is more accurate than with the TIM. Therefore, if genetic gain was predicted based on the accuracy of EBV from this analysis, using the standard stanWoodmodelwouldbesuperior. However, the differences between the estimation methods are not as large based on the corresponding Top 100 Med values, which we reeither the same or differed by only one or two animalsranked in the top 100, with a maximum difference of 5 for HPLP-Quarterly. This suggests that the TIM and Wood the top 100, with a maximum difference of 5 for HPLP-Quarterly. This suggests that the TIM and Wood the top 100, with a maximum difference of 5 for HPLP-Quarterly. This suggests that the TIM and Wood the top 100, with a maximum difference of 5 for HPLP-Quarterly. This suggests that the TIM and Wood the top 100, with a maximum difference of 5 for HPLP-Quarterly. This suggests that the TIM and Wood the top 100, with a maximum difference of 5 for HPLP-Quarterly. This suggests that the TIM and Wood the top 100, with a maximum difference of 5 for HPLP-Quarterly. This suggests that the TIM and Wood the top 100, with a maximum difference of 5 for HPLP-Quarterly. This suggests that the TIM and Wood the top 100, with a maximum difference of 5 for HPLP-Quarterly. This suggests that the TIM and Wood the top 100, with a maximum difference of 5 for HPLP-Quarterly. The top 100, with a maximum difference of 5 for HPLP-Quarterly. The top 100, with a maximum difference of 5 for 100, with a maximum difference of 5 fomodel methods ranked the animals similarly for selection purposes and hence genetic progress would be essentiallythesame, regardless of the method.

Although the selection outcomes of the TIM and Wood model estimation methods may be the same, if we extrapolatethis information further, the difference in the accuracy of the estimation will have an effect in the extrapolatethis information will be a set of the estimation of the estimation of the estimated of the estimatedlongterm.Basedontheoreticalcalculations,theWoodmodelestimationmethodcanprovemoresires(Table2) thantheTIMwiththesameTDsamplingregime.Therefore,foragivenTDsamplingregime,wewouldexpect theWoodmodelmethodtoyieldmoreaccuratelactationyieldestimatesandhenceusetheavailableresources more efficiently. None the less, it should be noted that nonlinear models other than the Wood model may also be a structure of the structureappropriate.Themainconsiderationherewastoadoptamodelwithrelativelyfewparameters, bearing inmind therelativelysmallnumberofobservations(m)perlactation.

With regard to the number of TD recorded per lactation, the results in Table 2 show that as the number of records and the results of the rewithinlactationdecreased.theresidualstandarddeviation(óÄ)ofthebiasintheestimationmethodincreased consistent with other studies [26,28]. Using this óÄ value and equations (11) and (13), we can determine the theoreticalnumberofdaughtersrequiredtoproveasiretoattainareliability(R)of50%(Table2).Theseresults show that as óÄ increases, more daughters are required to prove a sire with a given reliability. Despite this, recordingfewerTDperlactationprovidesanopportunitytorecordmorecowswiththesameresourcesallocated totheprogeny-testingsystem(Table2).Thus,recordingregimeswithfewerTDperlactationandusingtheWood model method to estimate la ctation yield are the most efficient interms of use of the resources. The implicationsof this to the overall outcome of the progeny testing program is a greater pool of progeny-tested sizes to select from, which means that genetic gain can be increased by increasing selection intensity. Duclosetal. [27], using similar calculations, also concluded that more animals can be tested by using fewer TD records in a lactation, withoutaffectingthereliabilityofthebulls'EBV.

63



Thenoveltyofthisstudylies in the testing of differents trategically placed TDSR, with the aim offinding TDSR that provide the most accurate lactation yield estimates and the high estaccuracy to select an imals. The purpose of the loops and selection process for the TDSR was to find the seide alrecording regimes. The results of this study show that more DIM are required in the earlier portion of the lactation than in the latter portion. This agrees with the ideadiscussed in previous research that suggests the earlier portion of factation is more difficult to model than the later portion [27,28]. Looking at all the TDSR tested and their lactation yield estimates, Figure 3 shows the median MSEP from each loop. The general trend of both these plots (for APHP and HPLP) is that the median MSEP decreased with each loop. This suggests that she loop process continues, it is testing TDSR that allow for more accurated actation yield estimates and hence is more likely to find the idea ITDSR.

Despite the positive outcomes of the loop process and the selection of superior TDSR, an umber of issues must be considered. First, inreality, each cowhas a different recording regimes incenotal loows will give birth at the same time. Furthermore, data collection occurs at different farms at different times. Therefore, even if one ideal TDSR was found, it would be difficult to implement that precise recording regimen. Therefore, a more realistic outcome of this research is to develop recommendations about possible ranges of TDS ampling times that yield good estimates of lactation. Figure 6 shows the distribution of the four TD of the TDSR tested with over 80 animals in the top 100 ranked EBV which corresponded with the true EBV ranks. The distribution and intersection of the securves indicate that there is a range for each TD, which, if followed, allows for a dequate lactation. The ranges shown in Figure 6 sugges

64

Table 2 Comparisons	between est	timation metho	ds and sampling	g protocols base	ed on the number o	f possible sires
tested						

Sampling	Average peak and pe	ersistent tail		High peak and less p	ersistent tail	
protocol	Average bias $(\pm \sigma_{\Delta})^{\dagger}$	Number daughters	Possible sires tested	Average bias $(\pm \sigma_{\Delta})^{\dagger}$	Number daughters	Possible sires tested
Weekly	-9 (±53)	16.3	11,2	-5 (±56)	15.3	11.9
Monthly	-18 (±110)	19.3	35.4	-29 (±113)	16.8	40.7
Quarterly	-64 (±199)	28.0	66.9	-177 (±201)	20.9	89.6
6 Test-days/lact	5 (±163)	23,9	52.4	61 (±169)	19.2	65.3
5 Test-days/lact	7 (±174)	25:1	59.8	46 (±182)	19.8	75.8
4 Test-days/lact	10 (±188)	26.7	70.2	76 (±202)	21.0	89.3
Weekly	2 (±51)	16,3	11,2	7 (±54)	15.3	12,0
Monthly	14 (±102)	18,7	36.4	21 (±108)	16.6	41.1
Quarterly	33 (±174)	.25.1	74.8	31 (±183)	19.9	94.3
6 Test-days/lact	20 (±134)	21,1	59.1	19 (±142)	17.9	70.0
5 Test-days/lact	23 (±145)	22,1	67.9	21 (±156)	18.5	81.1
4 Test-days/lact	27 (±156)	23.1	81.1	25 (±171)	19.2	97.6

The values reported in this table are the median values calculated from the TDSR tested that have at least 80 animals in common in the top 100 compared to the 'true' EBV;⁺ the 'Average Bias' of each method is presented here with its residual standard deviation (σ_{dy} calculated using equation 12); the 'Number Daughters' reports the theoretical number of daughters that would be required given the σ_{dx} of the estimation method to prove one sire with a reliability of 50%, and a heritability if 0.2 (calculated using equation 11); the 'Possible Sires Tested' shows the predicted number of sires according to equation 13 that could theoretically be a proven (with a reliability of 50%) along the common (with a reliability of 50%) along the required given the common (with a reliability of 50%).

that, although the frequency of TD in the later stages of lactation was not a shigh, it is important to have TD both prepeak and post-peak lactation. Other studies have reported similar results, which suggest that the first TD should be recorded early in lactation [26] and post-peak sampling is important in the estimation procedure [28]. There is evidence to suggest that unequal intervals between TD lead to more biased estimates than equidistant records [27]. However, this study has completed amore thorough and direct comparison of the sed ifferences and found that unequal TD sampling intervals strategically placed throughout the lactation can provide less biased lactation yield estimates. The simulation process used in this study as sume dalactation length of 280 days and an approximate heritability for cumulative milky ield of 0.2 (see Addition alfiel).

These values were used to ensure that the simulated lactations were similar to those of the Sahiwal population in Pakistan. If a longer lactation length (for example, 305 days) was used, the only difference, if any, could be slight changes in the recommended time frames from which one should take TD samples (Figure 6). This is because, although the overall length of the lactation would be longer, the key characteristics of the curve (peak, inflection) would not change and so the ideal to the lactation of the



TDsamplingtimes, which presumably revolve around these characteristics, would also not change. With regard to heritability, iffore xample, a higher heritability was used, partitioning of variation in the raw estimates of the parameters of the Wood model between polygenic random effects and cowspecific "environmental" random effects would be different (see Additional file 1). This would lead to simulate dlactation curves that would be more similar than the lactation curves simulated in this study. The implications of this could lead to lower MSPE values in all TDSR, but hegeneral comparative differences and recommendations would ultimately be expected to be the same.

It can be argued that the use of TDM or daily milk yields would be beneficial indeveloping progeny-testing systems since it would allow for the inclusion of unfinished lactations and handle the analysis of lactations with few records [25]. Several publications suggest that TDM can supersede selection based on even completed lactation yields [35,36] because with improved statistical methods, bothen vironmental and genetic effects [4,37] are better accounted for and can yield more precise definitions of contemporary groups and stage of lactation [38-40]. However, for the semethods to be effective, accurate estimates of genetic and phenotypic parameters are required [3,8] which are difficult to obtain indeveloping countries [3] because in many cases field recording is in efficient and poor [41]. Research on data from Pakistan shows that TDM could be used [42] but his was based on a limited dataset. In the future, as more TD data become available electronically, the use of fixed regression TDM could be availed of the parameters that describe the lactation curve shape in the fixed regression TDM. However, due to the current level of recording and electronic data entry, this study did not consider a TDM suitable for the Pakistani situation and instead looked at various approaches for which lactation yield is first estimated and subsequently used for breeding value estimation.

Conclusions

The results of this study show that using Woods model to estimate lactation yield is more accurate than the TIM, although selection outcomes in terms of the ranking of EBV were very similar. Results also show that using few TD records (say four, five or six TD with in one lactation) that are more strategically placed through out lactation can produce more accurate estimates of lactation yield than a quarterly recording regime and have the potential to be a saccurate as a monthly recording regime. Lastly, although using fewer TD causes an increase in the residual standard deviation for the lactation yield estimate, they provide an opport unity to progeny-test more sires and thus for a more efficient use of the allocated resources. Although this study was based on data from Sahiwal cattle in Pakistan, these recommendations can be applied to any dairy breed with similar lactation curve characteristics.

Additionalfiles

Additionalfilel:Variancematricesusedforsimulation.

This file contains a description of the variance matrix values for the genetic and environmental effects used for the simulation of lactations in this study.

Competinginterests

Theauthorsdeclarethattheyhavenocompetinginterests.

Authors' contributions

DM and PT conceived the study and developed the preliminary design of the study. This was modified within put from both JL and HM. DM carried out all as pects of the study including simulation, data analysis and drafting of the manuscript. PT was heavily involved in the analysis process and the preparation of the manuscript. HM was involved in the design of the simulation study and contributed to the manuscript's intellectual content. JL aided in the interpretation of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge the Research Centre for the Conservation of Sahiwal Cattle (Jhang, Pakistan) and the Livestock Production Research Institute (Okara, Pakistan) from where the historical test-day records and pedigrees were obtained from. Furthermore, the authors would like to thank the ASLPD airy Project team (funded by the Australian Government's Department of Foreign Affairs and Trading Aid Program) for their time and effort in helping to collate and enterthed at used within this study.

Authordetails

IGrahamCentreforAgriculturalInnovation,LockedBag588,WaggaWagga,NSW2678,Australia.2Schoolof AnimalandVeterinarySciences,CharlesSturtUniversity,WaggaWagga,NSW2650,Australia.3Facultyof VeterinaryScience,TheUniversityofSydney,Camden,NSW2570,Australia.4AnimalBreedingandGenomics Centre,WageningenUniversity,POBox3386700AHWageningen,TheNetherlands.

Received:28March2014Accepted:29October2014 Publishedonline:02December2014

References

- KhanMS,BhattiSA,ManzoorA,ChaudharyHZ,IqbalJ:Comparisonofvariousrecordingplanstopredictmilk yieldinSahiwakows_JAnimPlantSci1997,7:11–14.
- BajwaIR,KhanMS,AhmadZ,GondalKZ:Geneticparametersoflactationmilkyieldasaffectedbylactation lengthadjustmentprocedures.InProceedingsofthe7thWorldCongressonGeneticsAppliedtoLivestock Production19–23August2002;Montpellier,France2002:1–56.
- IlasiaED,MuasyaTK,MuhuyiWB,KahiAK:Geneticandphenotypicparametersfortestdaymilkyieldof Sahiwalcattleinthesemi-aridtropicsAnimal2007,1:185–192.
- SchaefferLR,JamrozikJ,KistemakerGJ,vanDoormaalBJ:Experiencewithatest-daymodelJDairySci2000, 83:1135–1144.
- SwalveHH: Theoretical basis and computational methods for different test-day genetic evaluation models. J DairySci2000,83:1115–1124.
- LynchM,WalshB(Eds):GeneticsandAnalysisofQuantitativeTraits.Sunderland:SinauerAssociates,Inc; 1998.
- ThompsonR,BrotherstoneS,WhiteI:Estimationofquantitativegeneticparameters.PhilosTransRSocLond SerB:BiolSci2005,360:1469–1477.
- BilalG,KhanMS:Useoftest-daymilkyieldforgeneticevaluationindairycattle:areview.PakVetJ2009,29: 35-41.
- InternationalCommitteeforAnimalRecording:Internationalagreementofrecordingpractices.Rome,Italy; 2012.
- KhanMS,RehmanZU,KhanMA,SohailA:GeneticresourcesanddiversityinPakistanicattle.PakVetJ2008, 28:95–102.
- NelderJA:Inversepolynomialsausefulgroupofmultifactorresponsefunctions.Biometrics1966,22:128–141.
- WoodPDP:Algebraicmodelofthelactationcurveincattle.Nature1967,216:164-165.
- DongreVB,GandhiRS,AvtarS,AtulG:Abriefreviewonlactationcurvemodelsforpredictingmilkyieldand differentfactorsaffectinglactationcurveindairycattle.IntJAgricResRev2011,1:6–15.
- KolteDV,GoreAK,DeshmukhSN:StudyoflactationcurveinSahiwalbreedofcattle.PKVResJ1986,10:145 –147.

≪67≫

- 4114011	
Conove Mi nee Pander	WJ(Ed): PracticalNonparametricStatistics. 3rdedition. NewYork: JohnWiley&Sons 1971.35. sztall,StrabelT,JamrozikJ,MäntysaariEA,MeuwissenTHE:Strategiesforestimatingtheparameters dedfordifferenttest-daymodels. JDairySci2000,83:1125–1134.
Butler I De	OG, Cullis BR, Gilmour AR, Gogel BJ: ASReml-R reference manual (Version 3). Queensland: partmentofPrimaryIndustriesandFisheries;2009.
Dahlin/ var	, KhanUN, ZafarAH, SaleemM, ChaudhryMA, PhilipssonJ: Geneticandenvironmental causes of iationinmilkproduction traits of Sahiwal cattle in Pakistan Anim Sci 1998, 66:307–318.
GenzA, tdis	3retzF,MiwaT,MiX,LeischF,ScheiplF,BornkampB,HothornT:mvtnorm:Multivariatenormaland tributions.Rpackageversion0.9-9996.[http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=mvtnorm]
Pinhei org	o J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D: Package ' nlme ' . [http://cran.r-pro/ /web/packages/nlme/nlme.pdf]
RCoreT	am:R:A languageandenvironmentforstatisticalcomputing.[http://www.R-project.org]
Anderse est 239	on SM, Mao IL, Gill JL: Effect of frequency and spacing of sampling on accuracy and precision of matingtotallactationmilkyieldandcharacteristicsofthelactationcurve.JDairySci1989,72:2387– 4.
Duclos env	D, Gokhale S, Bacilieri R, Ducrocq V: Simplified milk-recording protocols adapted to low-input ironmentswithverysmallherdsize Animal2008,2:160–166.
McDan 174	elBT:Accuracyofsamplingproceduresforestimatinglactationyields:Areview.JDairySci1969,52: 2–1761.
Narancl day	uluumG,OhmiyaH,MasudaY,HagiyaK,SuzukiM:Selectingthedesirablemethodforpredicting305- lactationyieldsinMongoliaAnimSciJ2011,82:383–389.
Norman for 444	HD,vanKadenPM,WrightJK,ClayJS:Comparisonoftestintervalandbestbestpredictionmethods estimationoflactationyieldfrommonthly,a.mp.m.,andtrimonthlytesting_JDairySci1999,82:438–
McGill sel An	DM, I nomson PC, Mulder HA, Lievaart J: Modification of lactation yield estimates for improved ectionoutcomesindevelopingdairysectors.InProceedingsoftheAssociationfortheAdvancementof malBreedingandGenetics:21–23October2013;Napier,NewZealand2013:74–77.
Raadsm she 200	aHW,JonasE,McGillD,HobbsM,LamMK,ThomsonPC:Mappingquantitativetraitloci(QTL)in ep.II.Meta-assemblyandidentificationofnovelQTL formilkproductiontraitsinsheep.GenetSelEvol 19,41:1–15.
ScottTA dat	,YandellB,ZepedaL,ShaverRD,SmithTR:Useoflactationcurvesforanalysisofmilkproduction a.JDairySci1996,79:1885–1894.
TozerPI Sor	L,HuffakerRG:MathematicalequationstodescribelactationcurvesforHolstein-FriesiancowsinNew thWalesAustJAgricRes1999,50:431–440.
Rowlan Pro	dsGJ,LuceyS,RussellAM:A comparisonofdifferentmodelsofthelactationcurveindairycattleAnim d1982,35:135–144.
YadavN aff	P,KatpatalBG,KaushikSN:Componentsofinversepolynomialfunctionoflactationcurve,andfactors ctingtheminHarianaanditsFriesiancrosses.IndianJAnimSci1977,47:777–781.
QuinnN Fo	,KillenL,BuckleyF:EmpiricalalgebraicmodellingoflactationcurvesusingIrishdata.IrishJAgric dRes2005,44:1–13.
Wilmin wit	cJBM:Comparisonofdifferentmethodsofpredicting305-daymilkyieldusingmeanscalculatedfrom hin-herdlactationcurves.LivestProdSci1987,17:1–17.

Anim Prod 1992, 55: 11–21.

- Rekaya R, Carabaño MJ, Toro MA: Use of test day yields for the genetic evaluation of production traits in Holstein-Friesian cattle. Livest Prod Sci 1999, 57: 203–217.
- Meyer K, Graser HU, Hammond K: Estimates of genetic parameters for first lactation test day production of Australian Black and White cows. Livest Prod Sci 1989, 21: 177–199.
- Ptak E, Schaeffer LR: Use of test-day yields for genetic evaluation of dairy sires and cows. Livest Prod Sci 1993, 34: 23–34.
- Visscher PM, Goddard ME: Genetic parameters for milk yield, survival, workability, and type traits for Australian dairy cattle. J Dairy Sci 1995, 78: 205–220.
- Syrstad O, Ruane J: Prospects and strategies for genetic improvement of the dairy potential of tropical cattle by selection. Trop Anim Health Prod 1998, 30: 257–268.
- KhanMS,BilalG,BajwaIR,RehmanZ,AhmadS: Estimation of breeding values of Sahiwal cattle using test day milk yields. Pak Vet J 2008, 28: 131–135.

doi:10.1186/s12711-014-0078-0

Cite this article as: McGill et al. Strategic test-day recording regimes to estimate lactation yield in tropical dairy animals. Genetics Selection Evolu- tion 2014 46:78.

69

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

Submit your manuscript at

www.biomedcentral.com/submi


The Journal of Animal & Plant Sciences, 24(4): 2014, Page: 1263-1265 ISSN: 1018-7081

ParticipationofWomeninDairyFarmPracticesunderSmall HolderProductionSysteminPakistan

Z.Batool1,H.M.Warriach1,2,M.Ishaq1,S.Latif1,M.Afzal1,A.Bhatti1, N.Murtaza1,S.Arif1andP.C.Wynn2

University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan, 2EH Graham Center for Agricultural Innovation, CharlesSturtUniversity, Australia

The objective of the study was to investigate the participation of women indairy farm practices in the small-holder production system in Pakistan. A question naire was designed to collect the data from female farmers (n=200) of districts Bhakkarand Jhelumin the Punjab province. Our results indicate that the participation of women indairy farm practices was significantly higher (p<0.05) in Bhakkaras compared to district Jhelum. The present study suggested that, in order to maximize the small-holder dairy farm productivity, as trong extension program should be implemented to enhance the skills and knowledge of women. Key Words: Women, Dairy farm practices, Small holder

INTRODUCTION

Livestock are considered a key asset for rural livelihoods and offer significant opportunities for improving household incomes. Women traditionally play a major role in conducting various livestock management activities allover the world. Pakistaniwomenhave as ignificant role in agriculture and livestock rearing. Nearly 65.9 % of Pakistan's population are living in rural areas that are directly and indirectly linked with the agricultural related sector for their livelihood (Farhana et al; 2008). Women comprise half of the rural population and contribute 60 to 80% of labourin the animal husbandry (Younasetal., 2007). Womennot only performnormal household chores such as cooking, cleaning, mending clothes and raising children (Kazmi, 1999), but also participate in rearing of livestock and carry outvarious dairy farm practices. These practices include feeding and watering, fodder cutting, cleaning animals and their sheds, caring for sick animals, calfrearing, milking and the processing of dairy products like ghee, butter and yogurt. Some of the searcivities, like fodder production, are generally considered the responsibility of men, but immany cases the women are also involved

The participation of women in dairy farm practices varies by region, age, culture and social status and are changing rapidly insome parts of the country. The existing information regarding participation of women in dairy farm practices is very limited. Therefore, the present study was aimed to investigate the participation of women indairy farm practices in the small-holder production system within the districts of Bhakkarand Jhelum. Additionally, possible factors affecting their participation indairy farm practices investigated. It is anticipated that the information generated from this study will be helpful indentifying the extension needs and are as where women can improve dairy production by enhancing herskills and knowledge.

MATERIALSANDMETHODS

A dairyextensionproject(no.LPS/2010/2007,fundedbyACIAR)isworkinginPakistanaimedatstrengthening thedairyvaluechainsinPakistanthroughimprovedfarmmanagementandmoreeffectiveextensionservices. A questionnairewasdesignedtocollectdatafromprojectworkingareas,92femalefarmersfromBhakkarand102 from Jhelum. These two districts provide a contrast between an undeveloped arid region poorly served by irrigation and state livestock services (Bhakkar) and a more advanced region where farmers have access to extensive irrigation and support from the state livestock veterinarians (Jhelum). Eightvillages were selected fromBhakkarandninefromJhelum.

Statisticalanalysis

Participation of women indairy farm practices undersmall holder production system in comparison to Bhakkar and Jhelum was analyzed using Chi-square test. All the analysis was carried out with the Statistical Package for the statistical production of the statistical production of the square test. All the analysis was carried out with the Statistical Package for the statistical production of the statistical production of the square test. The statistical production of the statistical productin production of the statistical productin producti



SocialSciences(SPSS-13.0)Ap-valueof0.05wasregardedassignificant.

RESULTS

Participation of women in dairy farm practices was significantly higher (P < 0.05) in Bhakkar as compared to district Jhelum A comparison of female participation invarious dairy farm practices between the two districts (Table1).

Table1.	Comparison of participation	of women invariousdairy farm	practices between districtBhakkarandJhelum
---------	-----------------------------	------------------------------	--

	D	istricts
Livestockmanagementactivities	Bhakkar(%)	Jhelum(%)
ShedCleaning	71(78.3)	80(73.1)
Foddercuttingfromfield	19(20.7)a	17(15.7)b
Feedandwatering	58(64.1)a	22(19.4)b
Careofcalf	67(73.9)a	32(28.7)b
Milking	71(78.3)a	22(19.4)b
Milksale	64(69.6)a	61(56.5)b
Careofsickanimals	37(40.2)a	10(9.3)b
Valueadditionofmilk	71(78)	98(89.9)

a, bmeans with a different superscript with inrows are significantly different (P<0.05)

Socio- economic status and cultural norms areaffectingwomen' sparticipationindairyfarmpracticesinthe small-holderproductionsystemsofbothBhakkarandJhelum.InJhelum15.6%ofwomenarenotparticipating indairyfarmpracticesduetotraditionalculturalbarriersand 24 % do not contribute because of their relativeaffluence.In contrast, in district Bhakkar only 4.4% areprohibitedfrom participating because of cultural barrierswhile 9% are not participating because of their relativeaffluence. The education level for women was observedtobealmostthesameinbothBhakkarandJhelum(FiglandFig2).



DISCUSSION

The present studyrevealsthat the participationofwomenindairyfarmpracticeswassignificantlyhigherin Bhakkarthan indistrict Jhelum. Womencontributeexclusively in various dairy farm practicessuch as routinehusbandryandnutritionalmanagement. The presentstudyproposethattheprovision of appropriate extension services to womenin theseactivitiescansignificantly improve the productivityofanimals. The working competencies of the rural womencan be strengthened and upgraded by providing training on livestock rearing practices(Iftikharet al.,2007). Trainedwomenwillhelptoincreasedairyproductionand enhance household incomes. Furthermore, to enhance the social standards and participation of women in economicactivities, there is need toprovide them with quality education and knowledge of the latest

≪72≫

technical advances in the fields of agriculture and livestock production (Khalida, 2009). Social mobilization and agricultural productivity can be advanced through active involvement of women in the development of land, livestock, education, extension, financial and employment resources (FAO, 2010-11).

Factorsthatlimitparticipation of women indairy farmpractices are socioeconomicstatus andcultural norms.Ideology,religion,economicsandculturearethelimiting factors interms of the provision of gender specificservicesandopportunities(Moser,1989). Fromacultural perspective of Pakistan the role of women hasalwaysbeenmisconceived.Constrainsrelatingtowomenincludecultural values, normative patterns and customs, most of which are without religious and ethicals anction (Khan, 2012). Present study shows that from Jhelum 5.6% women are not taking partindairy farmpractices due to cultural barriers and 24 % due to their higheconomical status. The womenfrom affluentfamiliesdonotworkthemselvesbuttheyhire laborers, whereas most of the rural and tribal women from disadvantaged communities do not of the on farm work themselves(Rangnekaret al,1992). Thefindings of Rathodetal (2011) arealso consistent with the earlier that these women can afford labor which in turn reduces their participation in lives tock managementactivitiesLand holdingis an important determinant of their economical status. Although the average landholdinginBhakkar(9acres)ismorethaninJhelum(6.9acres) thepoorerfertilityandlack of Irrigation watercombined withmore hot weather are major factorslimitingproductioninBhakkar comparetoJhelum The present study indicatesthat the educationlevelwasalmostthesameinthetwo districts.Theoverallliteracyrate(aged10yearsandabove)inPakistanis57.7(PakistanEconomic Survey, 2010-11). It is important toknow that equal opportunities (schools and colleges) areavailable for femalesinboth of the districts, which was consistent with the results of our survey.

The present study suggests that, in order to maximize the dairy farm productivity a strong extension programneed stobe implemented to transfer adoptable technologies and enhance the knowledge and skills of women in all aspects of lives to ck management practices including husbandry, nutrition, calf rearing, health and value addition to milk Additional surveys of this nature will help to identify other regions of Pakistan in which women need to be the focus of specialist workshops. This will then lead to rapid improvements in the prosperity of village communities across the country.

REFERENCES

- Akhtar, H., and B. B. Khan, (2000). Women: dynamic partners in livestock production: review, Pakistan J Agri Sci. 37(3-4):195-199.
- Amin, H., TAli, M. Ahmad and M. I. Zafar(2010).Genderand development: roles of ruralwomen in livestock production in Pakistan,PakistanJAgri.Sci.,47(1):32-36.
- FAO. (2010- 11). Women in Agriculture, Closing thegendergapfordevelopment, FAOoftheUnited NationsRome
- Iftikhar, N., T. Ali and M. Ahmad (2007). Role ofruralwomeninagricultureandtheirtrainingneeds, J. Anim.Pl.Sci.17(3-4):93-95.
- KhalidaJ.,(2009) The role of rural women inagriculture and it's allied fileds: a case study of Pakistan,EuropeanJ.SocialSci.,7:71-77Khan,M.,M.Sajjad,B.Hameed,M.N.Khan, andA.U.Jan (2012)Participation of women inagriculture activities indistrict Peshawar.SarhadJ.Agric.,28(1): 121-127
- Moser, N. O. C.,(1989). Gender planning in the ThirdWorld: meeting practical and strategic gender needs.WorldDevelopment,17(11):1799–1825
- Nosheen, F., T. Ali, M. Ahmad and H. Nawaz (2008). Exploring the gender involvementing agricultural decision making: A case study of district Chakwal, Pakistan J Agri Sci., 45(3):101-106.
- Pakistan Economic Survey (2010-11).Education, page133,PopulationLabourForceandEmployment, Ministry of Finance, Government of Pakistan,Islamabad.
- Rathod, K. P., T.R. Nikam, S. Landge, S. Vajreshwari, and A. Hatey (2011). Participation of Rural Womenin Dairy FarminginKarnataka, IndianRes J. Ext. Edu. 11(2):31-36.



Rangnekar, S., P. Vasiani and D.V. Rangnekar (1992). Women in livestock production in rural India. In Animal Production and Rural Development Ahmedabad (India):271-285.

Siddique, A., Z. Batool, S. Anwar and M. Farooq (2009). An assessment of female participation in income generating activities in a griculture sector in rural areas of district Sialkot, The J. Anim. Plant Sci., 19(4):230 - 233.

14

Younas, M., S. Gulrez, and H. Rehman, 2007. Women's role inlivestock production. The Dawn. Dec 17, 2007.

Zubair, S., S.Rehman, T. AW and M.Z. Slddiqui(1999). Contributionofruralfemalestolivestockcare and management, Pakistan J Agri. Sci. 36(3-4):197-198.

The Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences, 22(3 Suppl.): 2012, Page: 121-124 ISSN: 1018-7081

PRODUCTIONANDREPRODUCTIONPERFORMANCEOF NILI- RAVIBUFFALOESUNDERFIELDCONDITIONSOF PAKISTAN

H.M.Warriach, D.McGill, R.D.Bush*and P.C.Wynn

SchoolofAnimalandVeterinarySciences,CharlesSturtUniversity,Australia,*Facultyof VeterinaryScience,UniversityofSydney,CamdenNSW2570,Australia

ABSTRACT

The objective of the longitudinal study was to evaluate the production and reproductive performance of buffalo on small-holder dairy farms in Pakistan. The data we recollected from 207 farms located in the districts of Okara and Bhakkar. Milk production and reproductive parameters were recorded on a weekly basis by trained extension workers in specifically designed herd books for 18 months from November 2007. Preliminary, results indicate that the average milk production per lactation was higher (P<0.05) in buffaloes (1226.63±43.50 lit) than in cows(1027.04±44.88 lit). The percentage of oestrus detection, A.I. natural service and pregnancy rate for buffaloes were (0.38\%, 7.29\%, 19.17\%, 78\%), respectively, during the whole year. We conclude that the the Nili-Ravibuffalo nor cows are attaining the irpotential formilk production. The low reproductive efficiency of the sean imalismostly likely related to both the poortechnical acumenand the nutritional status of animals. Provision of appropriate extension services for these farmers will improve the productive and reproductive performance of buffaloes.

Keywords: Buffaloes, Production, Reproduction

INTRODUCTION

The world population of domestic buffaloes, Bubalusbubalis, has been estimated to be more than 150 million (Bhat, 1992) or one- eighth the population of cattle, with the numbers steadily increasing. Two main types of domestic buffalo are the river buffalo and the swampbuffalo. The Nili-Ravibree dofbuffalois classed as a river type and is the best milk producer amongs to the river buffalo es in the world. They have a wedgeshape, massive frame, small curly horns, and walleyes. They often have white markings on the forehead, face, muzzleand legs and whites witch oftail (buffaloes with such markings are highly desired and popularly called 'PanjKalian' (Warriachetal, 2008)

Pakistan like many developing countries has anagrarian rural based economy. Livestock is amajor contributor to the national (12%) and agriculture (50%)economy(PakistanEconomicSurvey,2006).Milk is the key livestock product. Pakistan is ranked the 4th largest milk- producing country in the world. Seventy percent(70%) of the milk and fiftypercent (50%) of total meatproduced in Pakistan comes from buffalo (Usmanietal.,1987). An important point considering milk constituents are its higher values in buffaloth hancows: milk fat6.5-8.0% versus 3.5-4.0% and solids-not-fat9.0–10.5% vs.7.5–8.5% (Gordon, 1996). Thus the price of buffalo milk tends to be higher than the milk produced by dairy cattle. Furthermore, buffalo utilize poorer quality roughages, adapt to harsher environments and are more resistant to several bovine tropical diseases (Gordon, 1996).

Despitethese merits, buffalo has relatively poor reproductive efficiency that varies little with location throughout the world. Buffalo exhibit many of the known reproductive disorders and have delayed on set of puberty, poor oestr us expression, longer post partum ovarianquiescence, and most importantly lowered conception rates particularly when bredartificially (Gordon, 1996). It appears that because buffalo is populated mostly indeveloping countries with meager resources, it remained neglected or



underutilized interms of quality research in the area of health, management, nutrition and reproduction. The role of extension has been to provide research based education and information to the production sector. Services to the dairy sector are being provided by government agencies and a range of NGOs, and virtually all services providers who interact with the farmers are veterinarians or para-veterinarians whoperformed vaccination, treatment and A.I. Limitations in the extensionservice and there search/extension interface are considered to be bottlenecks in the development of the dairy sector in Pakistan. Keeping in view these facts the major objective of this study is to evaluate the production and reproductive performance of buffaloes on small-holder dairy farms under field conditions of Pakistan.

MATERIALSANDMETHODS

Dairy ProjectBackground:

In 2007, a 2 ¹/₂ year dairyproject "Improving dairy production in Pakistan throughimproved extension services" was started in the twocontrasting environments of districts Okara (welldeveloped) and Bhakkar (less well endowed) with the objectives of increasing dairy production throughimproved extensionservices. Smalldairyfarmershaving3- 10 (buffalo and/or cattle) for production are the main target group in the project. Improved extension servicesas well as veterinary services are being provided to the farmers by already existing agencies (Livestock Dairy Development Department, Punjab, National RuralSupportProgram and Idara-e-Kissan) in both of the districts.

Longitudinal survey:

Thedata werecollected from207farmslocatedinthedistrictsofOkaraandBhakkar.Milkproductionand reproductiveparameterswererecordedona weekly basis by trained extension workers in specifically designed herd books.Milk was measuredwith weighing scales. One yeardata of milk productionfrom(n=222)and (n=163) buffaloes and cowsrespectively, were collected for analysis. Reproductiveparametersweretrackedfrom (n=385)animalsforanalysis.

Farmersandextensionworkerstrainings:

Theprojectemphasized oncomprehensive interdisciplinary educational program of discussion group meetings, workshops and trainings of both farmers and extension workers separately Table 1. Basic husbandry, nutrition, for ages, health and calf management were the first areas addressed during the first six month of the project.

Statistical analysis

Data was collected on a weeklybasis and entered into a data base containing all theinformationabout eachofthefarm A singlelactation of milkproduction was calculated from each animal based on the weekly production as well as the duration of the particular animal's lactation. Then these estimates of the total milkproduction during the lactation were compared between the different breeds and species of animals using an ANOVA. The reproduction data values are based on observations from the field and counts of observations made by farmers and field workers. These values are simply reported as percentage values of the observations and no statistical analysis was carried out.

RESULTS

Average milk production per lactation washigher(P < 0.05)inbuffaloes(1226.63±43.50lit)thanincows (1027.04±44.88lit). Average milk production per lactation in buffaloes and various breeds of cows have been presented in Fig 1. The percentage of reproductive parameters like oestrus detection, A.I., natural service, dryand pregnancy rate for buffaloes during the whole one yearhave been presented in Fig 3.





Table1. Topicsandvisitationscheduleofthetrainingoffarmersandextensionworkersduringfirstyearofthe project.

Visiting order	Farmers trainings	Extension workers trainings
1.	Basic husbandry management practices	Ultrasonograpy in animal reproduction
2.	Fodder demonstration plot training	Basic farm management principles
3.	Herd health and calf management	Herd health and calf management
4.	Animal health and nutrition module	Animal health and nutrition module
5.	Calf nutrition and health	Calf nutrition and health

DISCUSSION

Thepresent study demonstrates that inbuffaloes, average milk production perlactation washigher than in cows under field conditions. Milkproduction potential is about double the present level of milkproduction(IqbalandAhmad,1999). This is evident by comparing the maximum milkproduction observed in the elite herds maintained at Government research stations with those on private lives tock farms. Several researchers have reported data on maximum milkproduction potential of the breeds. Shah (1991) reported that Nili- Ravibuffalo have a production potential of 5000 lit per lactation of 305 days. Similarly, HusnainandShah(1985) reported that maximum breed potential observed in the elite animals of Sahiwal is up to 6500 lit of milkper lactation of 305 days. A possible short term strategy for increasing the milk production on any farmis by the bettermanagement of the existing feed resources through balanced feeding. Pastrese arch has shown that this yield increases of 30% are achievable if this is carried out (Burkiet al., 2005), as well assignificant reductions inproduction costs (Mahmoodet al., 2004). However, for long terms uccess and sustainable growth there is an editor of the simple and effective selective breeding regime to allow for an increase inmilk production for the entire country.

(11)

Thispresentstudyshows a gradual decline inaverage milkproductionperdayofdairyanimalsduringthe year. This is shown in Fig2.

InPakistan,thisdeclinecoincides with an increase in demand during the hotsummer months. This is due to the fact that most of thebuffaloes calving takes place during July-September(Ahmadetal,1981) and very few calving occurs during February - June. Furthermore, milk production is associated with the availability of green fodder and is atts maximum between January and April and hits a lowfrom May to August. Alternatively, milk consumption islow during the winters and is atits peak during the summerduetohigherintakeofconsumerintakeofmilkproductssuchaslassi.yogurt, and cereamFig4.

In the present study, oestrous detection inbuffaloes was observed in only 0.38% of the small-holder farmers. This could be due to husbandry practices such as the practice of keeping dairy animal stied up. In doing this the animals are unable to show as many signs of oestrous as they could if they were kept free and untied. Furthermore, buffaloes have more tendencies to show heat signs during night and negligible number of the farmers observed theoestrous sings during the night time (Warriachetal.unpublished data). Seasonisal scone of the extrinsic factor that influence on the oestrous behaviour symptoms. In the tropics, high ambient reduces sexual activity in the day time (Jainudeen, 1977) and shortens the oestrous period (Gilletal., 1973), and the incidence of silento estrous detection more difficult and may exert a considerable influence on theoestrous behaviourinbuffaloes.

In conclusion, preliminaryresults indicated thatneithertheNili-Ravibuffalo norcowsareattainingtheir potential for milk production. The low reproductiveefficiency is mostly likely related both to poor technicalacumen and nutritional status of animals. Provision of appropriate extension services for these farmers willimprove the productive and reproductive performance of buffaloes. It is hoped that the data generated from this longitudinal survey will be helpful to devise betterstrategies for improved extension services In order tooptimize the dairy production of smallholder farmers and will have a ripple effect for the otherstofollow.

Acknowledgements:

The authors sincerely thank thecooperatingsmalldairyholderfarmersandtheirfamilies, extensionworkers, research assistants for participationand contribution to this project; ACIAR for funding the projectNo. LPS/2005/132.

REFERENCES

- Ahmad, N., R. A.ChaudhryandB.B.Khan(1981). Effect of month and season of calving on the length of subsequent calving intervalinNili-Ravibuffaloes. Anim. Reprod. Sci.3, 301-306.
- Bhat, P.N.(1992). Genetics of river buffaloes. In:Tulloh, N.M., Holmes, J.H.G. (Eds.), Buffalo Production.Elsevier,Amsterdam,pp.13-58.
- Burki, A.A., M.A.Khanand F.Bari (2005). The state of Pakistan's dairy sector; An assessment, CMER Workingpaper no. 05-34. Lahore University of Management Sciences, DHA, Lahore Cantt.
- Gill, R. S., P.C. GangwarandD. S. Kooner(1973). Studieson oestrous behaviour of buffaloes. Indian JAnim. Sci.43,472-475.
- Gordon, I.(1996)Controlled reproduction in cattle and buffaloes. Vol. 1.p452.
- Husnain, H. U.andS. K.Shah(1985). Sahiwal cattle ofPakistan.Pakistan Agri.Res.Councillslamabad, PakistanIqbal, M.,andM.Ahmad(1999). An assessment of livestock production potential in Pakistan:implicationsforlivestocksectopolicy.PakistanDevelopmentReview38,615-628.
- Jainudeen, M. R.(1977). Reproduction of Malaysianswampbuffalo (Bubalusbubalis), Proc. Ist Joint Cof. on



Hlth.andprod.Austr.&LocalCattleinS. E. Asia, Ministry of Agriculture, Malaysia, Bul.No.146, pp.162-169.

- Mahmood,K.,A.Saha,A.GarciaandT.Hemme(2004).International competitiveness of small scaledairy farmsinIndia/Pakistan.In:ConferenceonRural Poverty Reduction through Research fordevelopment and Transformation.HumboldtUniversity,Berlin,October5-7,2004.
- Pakistan,Economic Survey(2006). MinistryofAgriculture,HealthandFoodTech.,Islamabad.Shah,S.K., (1991). Buffaloes of Pakistan.PakistanAgri.Res.CouncilIslamabad,PakistanUmm E Zia,(2007). Participation for sustainable dairydevelopment improved market access and smallholder dairy farmer.Consultancy Report.CFC/FIGMDP/16FTP p11.
- Usmani, R. H., S. K. Shah, and N. Iqbal(1987). Economic impact of reproductive disorders in Pakistan. ProgressiveFarming7:65-72.
- Warriach, H.M., A.A.Channa, and N.Ahmad (2008) Effect of oestrus synchronization methods onoestrus behaviour, timing of ovulation and pregnancy rate during the breeding and lowbreeding season in Nili-Ravi buffaloes Anim. Reprod. Sci. 107, 62-67.

≪79≫



TropAnimHealthProd(2012)44:819-826 DOI10.1007/s11250-011-9973-3

EffectofdietonpreweaningperformanceofSahiwalcalves

ShaukatAliBhatti&MuhammadFaisalAhmed&PeterCharlesWynn&DavidMcGill&MuhammadSarwar &MuhammdAfzal&EhsanUllah&MusarratAbbasKhan&MuhammadSajjadKhan&RussellBush& HassanMahmoodWarriach&AhrarKhan

Accepted:30August2011/Publishedonline:11September2011 #SpringerScience+BusinessMediaB.V.2011

Abstract

The objective was to study the growth potential of Sahiwal calves given milkormilk replacer withor without concentrates. For this purpose, for ty-eight Sahiwal calves were divided into four groups of 12 animals each with equals exact in the achieves of the formal state of the state of the

thosefedHalone.CalvesofferedmilkplusSR+Hshowedthehighestgrowthrateandweaningweights(401 ± 13 g/dayand56.3 ±1 kg,respectively).Thelowestgrowthrateandweaningweightswereobservedincalvesoffered MRandHonly(115 ± 13 g/dayand30.3 ±1 kg,respectively).CalvesofferedtheMRhadhighernumberofscour daysthanthoseofferedmilk(13.5vs.3.3).Thefeedingofwholemilkincombinationwiththestarterrationand hay resulted in superior growth rates, higher weaning weights, and healthier calves than the other feeding regimens.

Keywords

Calfnutrition.Milkreplacer.Concentrates.Growth

Introduction

Highfeedingcostscoupled with a high mortality in preweaned buffaloand cow calves during the preweaning periodisamajor limitation to productivity in the Pakistandairy system. This leads to are duction in the number of heifer and bull calves raised for breeding and meat production purposes. The cost of feeding whole milk to calves, through to weaning under the traditional feeding system ranges between 7–8 and 10–12,000 Pakistani rupees (US\$94 and 130, respectively) for a cowand buffalocal f, respectively (Bhattietal., 2009) and still may go higher with increasing prices of whole milk perliter. The market price for a wean edmale buffaloor cowcal f is usually less than half the milk feeding cost to weaning. Incommercial enterprises, male calves are most of the respective milk for human consumption or to sell at high enprice than a calf would return. However, the female calves are keptas the future dairy replacements (Ahmadetal., 2009), but they are still not fed appropriately to reach puber ty imminimal time and therefore life time productivity is compromised.

Differental ternatives are available to reduce the feeding cost of the calves during the preweaning period without compromising the irgrowth rate and health.

These include weaning the calves at an early age or substituting milk replacers for whole milk. Milk replacers are generally cheaper and offer an alternative to whole milk feeding to weaning. These practices are common place in the management of calves from temperate breeds such as Holstein-Friesians in contemporary dairy systems. However, comparable grow thresponsed at a to similar feeding regimes in calves of tropical breeds like Sahiwal



(Zebucattle), which is famous for its heat tolerance and tick resistance the worldover (Berman, 2011), are less well documented.

Sahiwal cow originated and developed in Pakistan and has been imported to 29 countries of the world for crossbreeding indifferent agroecological zones including Australia, tropical Latin America and Africa (FAO, 2007).

The objective of the study was to compare the effects of feeding whole milk or milk replacer with or without concentrates on the growth and health status of Sahiwakalves.

Materialsandmethods

Animals

Forty-eight3-day-oldcalvesbornduring the months of January and February, 2009 were procured from the LivestockExperimentStation(LES), Bahadurnagar, Okara. The calves received fresh colos trum at the rate of 10% of their body weight within 6 hof calving that continued to day 3. The animals were housed under hygienic conditions with ample cleans traw as bedding and the irravel cords were disinfected before being transported from the LES to the University of Agriculture Farms at Faisalabad (UAF).

Housingandmanagement

 $Calves were then house disseparate calf penswhich were 142 \times 112 \times 112 cm (length \times width \times height) insize. The woodens latted floor of the penswas raised 23 cm. Paddyrices trawwas used as bedding and replaced on adaily basis. Animal shadaccess to water adlibit umin buckets that we recleaned daily. The present study was conducted in the winter - spring months of January to April. In order to ensure thermoneutrality of calves at night when the ambient temperature fell below 20°C, they we rehouse dtoge the rinanadjacent indoor facility.$

Feeding

The calves we rerandomly allocated to four treatment groups in a two by two factorial arrangement. In each treatment group, there werel 2 calves (sixmales and six females). Factorone was liquid diet, either whole milk replacer. The second factor was the solid diet, either starter ration (SR; Table 1) plus berseem hay (H) (Egyptian clover: Trifolium alexandrium; CP: 16.1%) or Honly, offered ad libitum from day 8 of age until weaning.

WholemilkwasobtainedfreshfromSahiwalcowsonadailybasis.Milkreplacer(MR:Sprayfo®)wasprocured fromSloten, B.V., (Deventer, Netherland) and reconstituted to the manufacturer's recommendations. The milk and MR consisted of 11.49 and 11.11% dry matter, 3.35 and 2.22% protein 3.20 and 1.84% fat and 4.29 and 4.00% lactose, respectively. Milkor MR was offered at the rate of 10% of the calf's body weight with an imals weighed weekly and feed adjusted accordingly. The daily milk offered was divided equally and fed at 0900 and 1600 hat temperature of 40 C. The milk was fed through nipple feeders fitted infeed ing buckets.

Table1Compositionofcalfstarterration

Ingredient(%)	Calfstarterration	
Maizegrains	20.0	
Canolameal	25.8	
Wheatbran	11.2	
Maizeoilcake	20.0	
Maizegluten30%	20.0	
DCP	2.0	
Salt	1.0	
TDN	78.0	
Drymatter%	97.83	
CP%	19.6	
CF%	4.95	
EE%	3.7	
Ash	4.5	
Energykcal/kg	4,046	

Thus, the treatments were: milkwith SR+H (GroupI), milkwith Honly (GroupII), MR with SR+H (GroupIII), and MR with Honly (GroupIV). Milkor MR was offered untilday 63 of a ge, and then tapered to zero by day 84. The calves were weighed week ly in the morning before feeding. Records we real soma intained on the occurrence of calfs cours in each animal and any medical treatments that we regiven.

Economicsofproduction

The costs of whole milk and MR were PKR 30 and 19 per liter and of SR and Hwere PKR 20 and 7 per kg, respectively (1US \$. PKR 87). The cost of feeding for each animal each day was calculated and used for the statistical analysis.

Statisticalanalysis

Therecorded information on weekly growth and liquidandsolid feed consumption was analyzed using repeated measures analysis. This was conducted using the MIXED Procedures of SAS (SAS, 1996) with an AR(1) covariances tructure as described by Little letal. (1998).

The effect of calfwas considered to be random. The statistical model used for analysis was where Yijk is the dependent variable, f Eistheoverall mean, sexire presents the sex of the calf and indicates eithermale or female, F1 jisthe fixed effect of factor one where j=eithermilkormilk replacer, F2 krepresents the fixed effect of factor two where kise ither the SR+HorHonly, Wlisthere peated measure of weeks l, while dsex F1 F2 WT ijkl represents the effect of interaction of sex, factor one, factor two and weeks, calf means ents the random effect of calf mande ijklm the residual error.

Forotherdescriptivestatistics(averagegrowthrate, weaningweight, totalweightgain, totalintakeofinilk, milk replacer, hay and starterration), the birthweight was used as a covariate. The data were analyzed using MIXED procedures. These was also included in the model.

However, sexhadanon significant effect (P=0.07), so it was dropped from the model in the final analysis.

 $The statistical model was: where f \hat{E} is the overall mean, F1 jis the liquid feed either milkormilk replacer, F2k, the solid feed either SR+HorHonly, (F1 \bullet ~F2) is the interactions of liquid feed and solid feed, BWT kis the birthweight of calvestaken as covariate, calf list her and one ffect of calves and eijk represents the residual error.$

OneanimaldiedfromgroupIIandgroupIIIeachduringtheexperiment, butthis is accountedforthein the AR(1) covariance analysis structure. The results are reported as least square means. The means were declared significantly different at P<0.05.

Results

Birthweights

The birth weights of Sahiwal calves were 22.7• $\}0.9$ and 20.3• $\}0.9$ kg in males and females, respectively. IntakeofmilkormilkreplacerTotalintakeofwholemilkwassignificantlyhigher(P<0.05)thantheintakeof MR inthecalvesoverthe84daypreweaningperiod(Table2). Figure 1 shows the changes in consumption of milkorMR during this period. Intakeofs tarter ation and hay Thetotalintakeof SR was not different (P>0.05) in calves fedmilkorMR (Table2), buttended to be higher in the former. The SR consumption was negligible (<200 g/day) until day 42 of age in all calves and then increased gradually (Fig. 3). The intake of starter ration was similar incalves fede ithermilkor MR until day 63. However, from day 70 the SR intake was higher incalves fed milk than those offered MR. By day 84, the SR intakes were 943 and 693 g/day incalves offered milk and MR, respectively. The total hay consumption was not different (P>0.05) in calves in all the treatment groups (Table2). Hay intake was negligible (<200 g/day) in all the calves until day 42 (Fig. 4) and increase dgradually, to more than 400 g/day by 63 days post-partum. From day 70, the calves offered milk plushay only consumed more hay than the other three groups, reaching 1 kg/day by weaning at day 84. Daily hay intake in other groups did not differ significantly to day 84, ranging from 653 to 785 g/day.

Averagedailygrowthrate

 $\label{eq:starsest} A veragedaily growth rate of Sahiwal calves offered milk was 195g/day higher (P<0.05) than those offered MR (Table 3). The SR+H-fed calves displayed 103 g/day higher growth rate (P<0.05) than calves offered the berseem hayonly (311 +) 8 vs 208 +) 8 g/day). The high estgrowth rate$

 $\label{eq:table2} Table2 \ Least means quares off eed consumption of Sahiwak calves off reddifferent dietary treatments during preventing F1 milkvs. MR, F2SR+Hvs.H, MR milkreplacer, Hhay, SR starter ration$

Intake	Milkvs.MR SR+Hvs.hay Milk MR SR+H Hay	F1 F2 F1.F2
Milk/MR(l)	217.5±1.7 184.5±1.7 209.9±1.7 192.0±1.7	0.0001 0.7 0.8
SR(kg)	25.0±2.1 22.1±2.2 23.6±2.1 0	00.36 N/A N/A
Hav(kg)	21.3±1.2 18.4±1.2 17.8±1.2 21.9±1.2	0.08 0.001 0.4

F1milkvs.MR,F2SR+Hvs.H,MRmilkreplacer,Hhay,SRstarterration

 $(401\pm13g/day)$ wasobservedincalvesfedmilkandSR+Handthelowest($115\pm13g/day$)incalvesgivenMR andhayonly.Weeklyweightsofthecalvesondifferentfeedingregimensreflectedsimilartrends(Fig.2).

Weaningweights

 $We an ingweights of Sahiwal calves offered milkwere 17 kg higher (P<0.05) than those offered MR (Table 3). The SR+H-fed calves were 11 kg heavier at we an ing than those offered berseem hay only. The highest we an ingweight (56 \pm 1 kg) was observed in calves offered milk plus SR+H followed by the calves offered milk with berseem hay (Table 3). The lowest we an ingweight (30 \pm 1 kg) was observed in calves given MR and berseem hay only.$

EfficiencyofmilkorMRutilization

 $The efficiency of utilization of milkor MR (FCR) was calculated in this study, by dividing live weight gain (kg) by the volume of milkor MR consumed (liters) when offered SR+Horhayas the supplement. This calculation does not account for differences in hay and SR consumed and, therefore, is only indicative. The conversion ratio of milk to live weight was significantly higher (P<0.05) than for MR (7.4\pm0.8 and 15.8\pm0.8 lof milk and MR, respectively consumed perkgoflive weight gain). There was no difference in milk consumed perkgoflive weight gain in calves offered SR+Horhayonly (8.1\pm1.1 vs.6.8\pm1 lperkglive weight gain, respectively).$

However, less MR was required per kg live weight gain in SR+H fed calves than calves offered hay only $(11.1\pm1.1vs.20.2\pm1.1l_{respectively})$.

Incidenceofcalfscour

 $\label{eq:linear} Numbers of scourdays were higher incalves of fered MR than those on milkonly (13.5 vs.3.3). The calves fed H only had more scourdays than those fed SR plus H (10.1 vs.6.2). Economics of feeding Total feeding cost (including both liquidands olidfeed) was higher (P<0.05) in milk-fed calves relative to those of fered MR (Table 3). The total feeding cost was higher stincal vested milk plus SR+H and low estimatives of fered MR plus hay only. Overall, the production cost perkilogram of live-weight gain was higher in MR fed calves than for those fed milk.$

 $\label{eq:Fig.1} Intake (l/day) of milkormilk replacer (MR) in Sahiwal calves of fered milk plus starter ratio (SR) and hay (H), milk plus H, MR plus SR and Hor MR plus H during prevening$



Table3 GrowthperformanceandfeedingcostofSahiwakcalvesoffereddifferentdietarytreatmentsduringpreweaning

Intake	Milkv Milk	rs.MR MR	SR+Hvs.hay SR+H	Нау	F1	F2	F1.F2
Birthweights(kg) 21.6±0.6	21.5±0.6	22.6±0.6	20.6±0.6	0.9	0.01	0.75	0.66
Totalweightgain(kg)	51.6 ± 0.8 30.0 ± 0.8	35.2 ± 0.8 13.6±0.8	48.7 ± 0.8 26.1±0.8	38.1 ± 0.8 17.5 ± 0.8	0.0001	0.0001	0.66
Dailygrowthrate(g/day)	357±9	162±9	311±9	208±9	0.0001	0.0001	0.67
Totalfeedingcosta(PKR)	6,935±32	3,842±32	$5,878\pm32$	4,898±32	0.0001	0.0001	0.44
Feedcost/kglive-weight gain(PKR)	236±15	323±15	232±15	327±15	0.0005	0.0005	0.005

F1 milk vs. MR, F2 SR + Hvs. hay, Hhay, MR milk replacer, SR starter ration a The total feeding cost is calculated from the feed costs: who lemilk PKR30 perliter, milk replacer PKR19 perliter, starter ration PKR20 and hay PKR7 perkg. (1US\$. PKR85)

Discussion

 $The calves grew faster and had higher live-weight when fedmil k compared with MR. This was because of higher in take of total hutrients in calves of fered milk than MR. The intake of finitk or MR was not influenced (P>0.05) in calves fed SR+HorHonly. However, it was numerically high in calves on SR+H than on Honly (210 \pm 1.7 vs. 192 \pm 1.7 l). The calves of fered SR had better live weight gain than those of fered hay only. This is because of increased supply of nutrient to calves of fered SR than Honly.$

 $\label{eq:calveswereoff} Calveswereoffered starter ration from the second week of the irage. The SR consumption was negligible (<200 g/day) until the six thweek of the irage in all calves and then increased gradually (Fig. 3). Similar results are reported by Khanetal. (2011a) in Holstein calves given higher quantities of milk (approximately 20% of body weight of calves). The intake of hay and starter ration in the irst udy was negligible (<200 g/day) until the fifth week of the age of calves and then increased gradually.$

In the present study, the intake of starter ration was not affected by eithermilkor MR until then in thweek of their age (Fig. 3). However, from the ten thweek, the SR intake was higher incal vested milk than on MR. In the 12th week, the SR intakes were 693 and 943 g/day in calves fed MR and milk, respectively. This was contrary to our initial assumption that calves on MR may consume less SR than milk-fed calves during the initial weeks of their age but will consume more and thus will be equal in performance to the milk-fed calves in the initial area ge. The MR fed calves could not catch up their grow than dwere not at parwith other groups evenduring later weeks of their age. The tenden cytocon sume more starter ration in calves on milk may be due to the immore developed rumenas are sult of greater supply of energy and nutrients from milk (Shenetal. (2004) reviewed by Khanetal. (2011b)) compared with









those on milk replacer. Adlibitum feeding of milk discourages solid feed in take where a slimited milk feeding encourages solid feed in take by calves (Khanetal., 2007; Khanetal., 2011b). In the present study, the calves were offered limited quantity (10% of the ibody weight) of milk rather than adlibitum. The calves offered higher quantity of milk (15.20% of the ibody weight) per days howed lowersolid feed in take (Khanetal., 2007). This may have been the second reason of higher in take of SR by calves fed milk than milk replacer. Higher incidence of calfs cours in Mr fed calves may be another reason for the ipo or performance and less SR in take than milk fed calves.

The calves were offered SR and hay in the second week of the inage but they started nibbling oreating SR or hay in the fourth week. They started eating a reasonable quantity of SR or hay in the ninth week. It seems that the Sahiwal calves with a lower birthweight than Holstein-Friesian calves remained mainly dependent on milk replacer than onsolid feed until the eighthweek of a ge. We an ing of Sahiwal calves at an earlier age (.eighth week) may affect the irsubsequent grow thrate. However, as eparate study is needed to draw a final conclusion. Calves of the irrup start consuming solid feed to support the irgrowth. However, Sweeney et al. (2010) reported that Holstein calves we an edata near lier age (day 19) had poorer gains than later we and calves. Results from our study suggest that Sahiwal calves, fed milk at the cate of 10% of the irbody weight, may show poorer weight gains post we an ing if we and earlier than day 56 than those at the age of day 84. On high ermilk feeding plan, we an ing

age of Sahiwal calves may possibly be reduced without compromising postweaning weight gain; however, further researchis required to be carried out to determine if this is accurate.

 $\label{eq:Fig.4} Fig.4 \ Intake (g/day) of hay in Sahiwal calves offered milk plus starter ration (SR) and hay (H), milk plus H, milk replacer (MR) plus SR and Hort MR plus H during preventing meaning the starter ratio (SR) and hort M and M and$



GrowthrateofcalvesofferedMRwaslowerthanforthoseofferedmilk. Thiswasbecauseofalowerintakeof nutrients incalvesofferedMR. There constituted MR wasoffered to calves at equal volumes with milk rather than on an isocaloric or equal protein basis. Ideally, the reconstituted milk should have had similar nutrient densities to make a comparison. However, in a recent study with Holstein calves we an edatday 49, Lee et al. (2009) have reported that the we an ingweights we relower in MR fed calves than on whole milk (64 compared to 72.2 kg, respectively), despites imilar DM intake and gross composition of both MR and whole milk.

They described that better weaning weight of calves on whole milk was probably because of the better bioavailabilityofnutrientsandsomeunknowngrowthfactorsfromthewholemilk.Increasingfatinmilkomilk replacerincreasedbodyweightgainduringthefirstmonthsofthelifeofcalves(Jasteretal., 1990)butdidnot increasetheleantissuegain(Hilletal., 2008) Atsimilarenergyintake, increasingproteincontentofMRresulted inincreasedaveragedailygaininmaleHolsteincalves(Blomeetal., 2003).Leeetal.(2008) has reported no difference in the performance of Holstein calves fedvaryinglevels of proteininenergy in the MR-fed Holstein calves. However, in the instudy, the general appearance and overall performance of calves was poor in all groups compared with reported figures with milk in the literature.

Hilletal.(2011) have reported that supplementation of MR with a blend of butyrate, medium chain fatty acids and linolenic acid reduced the incidence of scourand clostridium sickness inyoung Holstein calves.

 $\label{eq:loss} LowfatMRarereported to promote higher starter DMI than high fatMR during preweaning period (Kuehnetal., 1994; Cowlesetal., 2006). However, results of the present study are contrary to these findings. In the present study, we an ingweight, SR and hay in take were higher in calves fedmilk than MR. We an ingweight of Sahiwal calves at the Livestock Production Research Institute, Bahadurnagar, Okara has been reported as 45 kg (Anonymous, 1989). This weaning weight is less than that obtained in the present study offered whole milk (Table 3). Higher weaning weights in the present study were probably due to higher milk consumption and improved housing facilities such as raised calf pensand aclean environment. The weaning weights of Holstein calves most often are higher than the weaning weights of Sahiwal calves in the institute, Sahiwal calves in the institute, 2007) have reported weaning weight offemale Holstein calves as 65 kg at 50 days of age. The higher weaning weights of Holstein calves in the institute, was due to the inhigher birthweights (44.6 \pm 1.3 kg) and greater milk consumption (4.63 l/day) than Sahiwal calves (21.4 \pm 0.9 kg and 2.6 \pm 0.05 l/day, respectively).$

There were higher numbers of scourd ays in the calves fed MR than milk. This may be are as on in the lower performance of calves fed MR than milk. These results are contrary to the work of Lee et al. (2008) who reported no difference in scourd ays in Holstein calves fed either milk or MR. The reason for high erincidence of diarrheating and the second seco



inMRfedcalves,inthepresentstudy,couldnotbeestablished.

Total feeding cost (including both liquid and solid feed) was higher (P<0.05) in milk-fed calves than on MR (Table 3). This was due to higher price and intake of milk than MR by the calves. The total feeding cost was highest time alves fed milk plus SR and lowest time alves on MR plus hay only. The total feeding costs of calves on milk plus hay and MR plus SR were not different. The cost togain 1 kg live weight in calves had an opposite response and was higher in MR fed calves than on milk. Although calves on milk plus SR had the highest total feeding cost, they required the lowest money togain 1 kg of live weight gain.

This was despite the fact that the cost of veter in ary medic incused for treatment of scours was not included in the cost calculations of MR fed calves. During the preweaning period, the total feeding cost of MR fed calves was about 45% less than that of the total feeding cost of milk fed calves. However, the cost togain 1 kg live weight gain was 37% higher in MR fed calves than on milk. The calves on MR and hay only had about 53% less ert ot al feeding cost than on calves fed milk plus SR but required about 78% more money togain 1 kg of live weight. Thus, in the present study, feeding MR to Sa hiwal calves did not see me conomical compared with whole milk feeding.

Conclusions

Milk-fed Sahiwal calves grew better and were healthier than those on MR during preweaning period. Milk replacerdidnotsupportgrowthas wellas whole milk fed calves at equal volumes. Feeding milk and starter ration was more economical than milk replacer for having accelerated growthin Sahiwal calves. The addition of calf starter ration to the preweaning feeding regime was beneficial inhelping the animal to grow at faster and more economical rate. Under traditional preweaning feeding plan, we an ingo fSahiwal calves at less than 56 days of age may not be possible without compromising on their growth rate. However, further studies are required to drawafinal conclusion.

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the financial support of the Australian Centre for International Agriculture and AusAIDandtheUniversityofAgricultureFaisalabadfortheuseoftheirfacilities.ThestaffoftheLivestock ProductionResearchInstituteatBahadurnagarisacknowledgedfortheinitialhusbandryofthecalves.

References

- Ahmad, S., Yaqoob, M., Hashmi, N., Zaman, M.A. and Amjad, M.S., 2009. Farmers' attitude towards interventionsregardingbuffalocalfhealthcareandmanagementpracticesunderfieldconditions.Pakistan VeterinaryJournal,29,125–128
- Anonymous, 1989. TenthAnnual Report (1988–89). Livestock Production Research Institute, Bahadurnagar, Okara, Pakistan, pp,166–67
- Berman,A.,2011.Invitedreview:Areadaptationspresenttosupportdairycattleproductivityinwarmclimates? JournalofDairyScience,94,2147–2158
- Bhatti,S.A.,Khan,M.S.,Sarwar,M.andEhsanullah.,2009.PerformanceofbuffaloandcowcalvesduringpreweaningperiodundersamemanagementalconditionsattheUniversityofAgriculture,Faisalabad.Pakistan JournalofZoologySupplementSeries9,623–628
- Blome,R.M.,Drackley,J.K.,Mckeith,F.K.,Hutjens,M.F.andMcCoy,G.C.,2003.Growth,nutrientutilization, andbodycompositionofdairycalvesfedmilkreplacercontainingdifferentamountsofprotein.Journalof AnimalScience,81,164–655
- Cowles, K.E., White, R.A., Whitehouse, N.L. and Erickson, P.S., 2006, Growth characteristics of calves fedan intensified milkreplace regimen with additional Lact of errin, Journal of Dairy Science, 89, 4835–4845
- FAO, 2007. The state of the world's animal genetic resources for food and agriculture, edited by Barbara RischkowskyandDafyddPilling,Rome

- Hill, S.R., Knowlton, K.F., Daniels, K.M., James, R.E., Pearson, R.E., Capuco, A.V. and Akers, R.M., 2008. Effects of milkreplacer composition on growth, body composition, and Nutrient excretion in pre-weaned Holstein Heifers Journal of Dairy Science, 91, 3145–3155
- Hill,T.M.,VandeHaar,M.J.,Sordillo,L.M.,Catherman,D.R.,BatemanII,H.G.andSchlotterbeck,R.L.,2011 Fattyacidintakealtersgrowthandimmunityinmilk-fedcalves JournalofDairyScience,94,3936–3948
- Jaster, E.H., McCoy, G.C. and Fernando, R.L., 1990. Dietary fatinmilkorilkreplacer fordairy calves raised in Hutchesduring the winter Journal of Dairy Science, 73, 1843–1850
- Khan, M.A.Lee, H.J., Lee, W.S., Kim, H.S., Kim, S.B., Ki, K.S., Ha, J.K., Lee, H.G. and Choi, Y.J., 2007. Preand postweaning performance of Holstein female calves fed milk through stepdown and conventional method. Journal of Dairy Science, 90, 876–885
- Khan, M.A. Weary, D.M., Von Keyserlingk, M.A.G., 2011a. Hay intake improves performance and rumen developmentofcalvesfedhigherquantitiesofmilk JournalofDairyScience, 94, 35473553
- Khan, M.A., Weary, D.M., and Von Keyserlingk, M.A.G., 2011b. Invited review: Effects of milkration on solid feed in take, weaning, and performance indairy heifers. Journal of Dairy Science, 94, 1071–1081
- Kuehn,C.S.Otterby,D.E.,Linn,J.G.,Olson,W.G.,Chester-Jones,H.,Marx,G.D.andBarmore,J.A.1994.The effectofDietaryenergyconcentrationoncalfperformanceJournalofDairyScience,77,2621–2629
- Lee.H.J.,Khan,M.A.,Lee,W.S.,Kim,H.S.,Ki,K.S.,Kang,S.J.,Hur,T.Y.,Khan,M.S.andChoi,Y.J.,2008. Growth, blood metabolite and health of Holstein calves fed milk or milk replacer containing different amountsofenergyandprotein.Asian-AustralasianJournalofAnimalScience,21,198–203
- Lee, H.J., Khan, M.A., Lee, W.S., Yang, S.Y., Kim, S.B., Ki, K.S., Kim, H.S., Ha, J.K., and Choi, Y.J., 2009. Influenceofequalizing the grosscomposition of milk replacer to that of whole milk on the performance of Holstein calves. Journal of Animal Science, 87, 1129–1137
- Littell,R.C.,Henry,P.R.andAmmerman,C.B.,1998.StatisticalanalysisofrepeatedmeasuresdatausingSAS Procedures.JournalofAnimalScience,76,1216–1231
- Quigley, J.D., Wolfe, T.A. and Elsasser, T.H., 2006. Effects of additional milk replace reeding on calfhealth, growthands elected blood metabolites in calves. Journal of Dairy Science, 89, 207–216
- SAS®. 1996. User's Guide: Statistics, Version 6 Edition, SAS Inst., Inc., Cary, NCShen, Z.H., Seyfert, M., Lohrke, B., Schneider, F., Zitnan, R., Chudy, A., Kuhla, S., Hammon, H.M., Blum, J.W., Martens, H., Hagemeister, H.andViogt, J., 2004. An energyrichdiet causes rumen papillae proliferation associated with moreIGF type1 receptors and increased plasmaIGF-1 concentrations in young goats. Journal of Nutrition, 134, 11–17
- Sweeney, B.C., Rushen, J., Weary, D.M. and DePassillé, D.M., 2010. Duration of weaning, starter intake, and weightgain of dairy calves fedlarge amounts of milk, Journal of Dairy Science, 93, 148–152

MODIFICATIONOFLACTATIONYIELDESTIMATESFOR IMPROVEDSELECTIONOUTCOMESINDEVELOPING DAIRYSECTORS

D.M.McGill1, P.C. Thomson2, H.A. Mulder3, and J.J. Lievaart1

- SchoolofAnimalandVeterinarySciences,CharlesSturtUniversity,NSW 2650,Australia
- 2 FacultyofVeterinaryScience,TheUniversityofSydney,CamdenNSW2570,Australia
- 3 AnimalBreedingandGenomicsCentre,WageningenUniversity,TheNetherlands

SUMMARY

Animals are extremely important to the livelihood of smallholder dairy farmers in developing countries. However,duetolimitedresources,investmentintolong-termgeneticimprovementisrareandherdrecordingis minimal.Therefore,obtainingadequateperformancerecordsforgeneticevaluationandselectionisdifficultand henceitisimportanttooptimizetheselectionoutcomesfromanydatathatarecollected.Theaimofthisstudyis todeterminearobustandefficientmethodforestimatinglactationyieldforlowproducingdairycattleandtheir subsequentgeneticevaluation.UsingSahiwalcattleasanexample,simulateddatasets,basedonlactationdata fromPakistan,wereusedtocomparedifferentmethodsoflactationyieldestimation(i.e.,test-intervalmethod, andthreenonlinearmodels).Furthermore, these estimates were analysed to explore their implications on the subsequentestimated breeding value (EBV) ranking and selection outcomes. Utilising these results, different test-daysamplingschedules were compared to investigate possible recording regimes involving few records that canaccurately estimatel actationyield without significantly affecting selection. Results indicate that the lactation models proposed by Wood (1967) and Wilmink (1987) yield similar selection outcomes to the recommended test-interval method. These results provide opportunities for further research into test-day scheduling which could reduce the number of records required and have considerable implications on progeny testing systems of lowproducing dairy cattle and developing dairy sectors.

INTRODUCTION

Breed improvement and selection in developing dairy systems can be challenging as field conditions are generally constrained by a lack of infrastructure for regulartest-day recording. For this reason, regular twice daily recording of milkyield for entirelactations is not feasible (Khanetal. 2008). The limited resources and data exacerbate the need to utilise each record efficiently to maximize their contribution to the evaluation process (Bajwa et al. 2002). Therefore, for any developing dairy sector there is a need to develop agenetic evaluation system which optimizes selection outcomes given the current resources for test-day recording.

Therearenumerousmethodsforgeneticallyevaluatingmilkproductionbasedontest-dayrecords.Indeveloped nationscomplexmethodssuchastest-daymodelsarecommonlyused.Thesemodelsrequireaccurateestimates ofgeneticandphenotypicparametersbasedonmanydailymilkyieldsfromlargepopulationsofanimalswhich areunlikelytobeavailableinadevelopingdairysector(Ilatsiaetal.2007).Forthisreason,simplemethodssuch asatwo-stepapproachcanbeused.Thisiswheretest-dayrecordsarefirstusedtoestimatelactationyieldand thenthesevaluesareusedasthephenotypeforgeneticevaluation.Methodsoflactationyieldestimationfrom test-dayrecordsarewellresearched.Inadevelopingcountryscenario,theTest-IntervalMethod[TIM](Sargent et al. 1968) is recommended by the International Committee for Animal Recording (ICAR 2009). Other approachesinvolvefittingamathematicalmodeltolactationcurveofdairyanimals(Dongreeta.12011).A handfulofstudieshaveinvestigatedtheabilityoflactationcurvemodelstodepictSahiwalcattlelactationdata. KolteetIndustryl

al.(1986), found that the inverse polynomial function proposed by Nelder (1966) was the superior fitting model, followed by the gamma function proposed by Wood (1967). Contrary to this, Rao and Sundares an (1979),



reported that Wood's (1967) function was the most appropriate. The Wood (1967) model is one of the most widely accepted lactation models and is commonly used in research (Swalve 2000). Similarly, the Wilmink (1987) model is frequently used within test-day evaluations to model the lactation curve of dairy cattle (Naranchuluum tal 2011).

This currents tudy is concerned with Sahiwal cattle in Paktistan and will focus on how different lactation models behave when fitted to the lactation characteristics of this particular breed. Specifically, this study aims firstly to determine which lactation model is the most robust at model ling the lactation curve of Sahiwal cattle at different test-day recording schedules. The second aim is to discuss what implication this may have on the future of test-days ampling in Pakistan and how it can be used to improve the incurrent transmission of the second at the second

METHODSANDMATERIALS

Lactation Estimation Models and Methods. The lactation estimation methods used within this study were:

1. The test-interval method (TIM) described in Sargent *et al.* (1968) which is based on an approximation of the area under a curve

2. The inverse polynomial model proposed by Nelder (1966): **yield**_i = $\frac{1}{a+b*\dim_i + c*\dim_i^2}$

3. The gamma function proposed by Wood (1967) yield_i = $a * \dim_i^b * e^{-c*\dim_i}$

4. The lactation model proposed by Wilmink (1987): yield_i = $a + b^{\dim_i} + c * e^{-0.05 * \dim_i}$

wherea, bandcared ifferent parameters to be estimated separately within each model and dimare the days in milk $(=1, \dots, 280)$ for a lactation length of 280 days.

Data.Weeklytest-daySahiwallactationrecordsfrom839lactationsfrom464dams,collectedduring2005-2010 fromtheLivestockProductionResearchInstitute(LPRI),BahadurnagarOkara,wereusedasthebasisfordata simulationinthisstudy.Dataweresimulatedusingthreedifferentlactationmodels(Wood,WilminkandNelder). Varianceandcovariancematricesoftheparameters(a,bandc)andaresidualvarianceofeachofthesemodels wasdeterminedbasedontherawPakistanidata.Usingthesevariancestructuresandthepedigreerelationship matrix(A),phenotypiclactationyieldsweresimulatedforentirelactationsforallthedamsinthepopulation. Thiswasrepeated100timesforeachofthesimulationmodelstoyieldthreebatchesofonehundreddatasetsfor comparison.Dataweresimulatedusingthreedifferentlactationmodelsbecauseitallowsforamorethorough comparisonoflactationyieldestimationmethodsasitgivesanindicationoftheirrobustnessacrossdifferent lactationcurveshapes.

ModelComparison.Fourlactationyieldestimationmethodswereusedtofitandcalculatethelactationyieldfor every dam for each set of simulation data. These included the recommended TIM as well as three lactation models, Wood, Wilmink and Nelder, fitted and estimated using the nonlinear mixed effects (NLME) model functioninRVersion2.13.0(RDevelopmentCoreTeam2008)followingasimilarprocessoutlinedbyRaadsma etal.(2009).Thiswascarriedoutforfourdifferenttest-dayschedulingregimes(weekly,monthly,fivetest-days; random selection and five test-days; stratified selection). For each method, the percentage of models which successfullyconvergedwasrecordedaswellasthelactationyieldestimates.Thelactationyieldestimateswere compared with the true simulated lactation yield and summed to calculate a mean square error (MSE) of estimation for each simulated dataset.TheMSEwasthenusedtodirectlycomparebetweenthelactationyield estimated breedingvalues(EBVs)for each of the animalsinthedatasetusingASReml-RDiscoveryEdition1.0 (Butleretal2009).Theoutputsofthisanalysisallowedfurthercomparisonbetweenmodelstodetermineifthe lactationyieldestimationmethodhadanyeffectontherankingandsubsequentselectionofanimals.

RESULTSANDDISCUSSION

The robustness of each of the lactation models for fitting Sahiwaltest-day data can be determined by comparing the percentage of success rates of each model's ability to be fitted to the different simulated data sets (Table 1). These results show that over all the Wood model is superior to the Wilminkand Neldermodels as it generally has the superior to the the superior to the s



higherrates of success, most importantly when fitting data from both ar andom and stratified selection of five test-day records. This has an important practical implication, as in the field conditions of Pakistan, test-day recording is likely to be irregular and infrequent.

 Table1.
 Percentageoflactationyieldestimationmodelsthatweresuccessfullyfittedtoeachsetofsimulatedlactationdataat
 eachofthefourdifferenttest-dayrecordingregimes(weekly,monthly,5test-days:randomsampleand5test-days:stratified
 sample).

Data Simulation	Fitted		Test-Day Rec	ording Regin	ne
Model	Model	Weekly	Monthly	Random	Stratified
	Wood	100	100	82	92
Wood	Wilmink	100	100	76	83
	Nelder	100	100	70	72
	Wood	100	100	88	86
Wilmink	Wilmink	100	100	74	83
	Nelder	100	100	78	75
	Wood	97	98	60	67
Nelder	Wilmink	94	100	69	82
	Nelder	75	71	82	83

Using the MSE values from each of the lactation yield estimation methods we can directly compare between models for the same simulated lactation. The average MSE values across lactation yield estimates can be seen in Table 2. These are presented for only two of the data simulation methods (Wood and Wilmink). The results from the Nelder simulated data are not reported here as the number of failed models caused unreliable values. From Table 2 the MSE values show that the Wilmink and Wood models we resuperior to the TIM and Neldermethods. Furthermore, the Wilmink model has allower average MSE than the Wood model in both sets of simulated data (5,124,550 vs 5,327,934 for the Wilmink simulated data and 5,234,436 vs 5,235,715 for the Wood simulated data). This suggests that the Wilmink model is superior to the Wood model in its ability to accurately estimate lactation yield on different types of lactation data.

DespitchedifferencesintheMSEseeninTable2,theimportantoutcomeofthisanalysisrelatestotheanimalsin thetopproportion of the population that would be selected for breeding and how they compare with the true (simulated) superioranimals. For the different methods of lactation yield estimation, using the Wood simulated data, the average number of corresponding animals with the true top fifty superioranimals were; TIM39.2±2.22, Wood39.7±2.27 and Wilmink39.6±2.28. For the Wilmink simulated data sets, the results were very similar; TIM 36.8±2.33, Wood 37.1±2.38 and Wilmink 37.1±2.41. The results show that the average number of corresponding animals with the true top fifty were all with inone animal of the other estimation.

Industry1

methods. This suggests that these methods of estimating lactation yield, for a given test-dayscheduling regime, are each capable of selecting the superior animals from a given population.

 $\label{eq:table2} Table2: AverageMeansSquaredErrorvalues(\pm st.dev) for four different methods of lactation estimation (TIM, Nelder, WilminkandWood) when calculated using monthly records from two methods of data simulation (the WilminkandWood models)$

22.77 1.5 N		Model used for da	ta simulation	
Model used for	Wilı	nink	1	Wood
	Average N	ASE (±sd)	Average	e MSE (±sd)
TIM	6,102,273	(±385,457.5)	6,143,607	(±377,174.1)
Nelder	5,962,774	(±413,556.1)	5,696,461	(±387,866.5)
Wilmink	5,124,550	(±311,253.8)	5,234,436	(±347,630.8)
Wood	5,327,934	(±342,708.3)	5,235,715	(±368,825.4)

\$92

CONCLUSIONS

The benefit of model lingtest-dayyields is the ability to subsequently estimate lactation yield on fewer records. This then provides an opport unity to record more animals fewer times which will help to improve the accuracy of evaluations as well as increase the population of animals from which selection can take place. The outcomes of this study show that although the Neldermodel is capable of fitting and model ling low producing dairy cattle like the Sahiwal, it is unreliable with different lactation curves and test-days ampling regimes. The results from the other lactation models tested, the Wood or Wilmink, show that they are both robust in different scenarios with the Wood model better fitting irregular and infrequent test-day recording regimes. Despite this, both the Wood and Wilmink models provide an opport unity to further investigate the irus einestimating lactation yield in Sahiwal cattle and the possibility of reducing the number of required test-day records whils the animality in the accuracy of selection outcomes.

REFERENCES

- BajwaI.R.,KhanM.S.,AhmadZ.andGondalK.Z..2002.Pages1-56inProc.7thWorldCongr.Genet.Appl. Livest.Prod.,Montpellier,France.
- ButlerD.G., CullisB.R., GilmourA.R. and B.J. Gogel. 2009. Department of Primary Industries and Fisheries, Queensland.
- DongreV.B., GandhiR.S., AvtarS., and AtulG.2011.Intl.J.Agric.Res.and Rev.1:61CAR.2009.International Committee for Animal Recording, NiagraFalls, USA.
- IlatsiaE.D., MuasyaT.K., MuhuyiW.B., and KahiA.K.2007 Animal1:185
- Khan,M.S.,BilalG.,BajwaI.R.,RehmanZ.andAhmadS.2008.PakistanVeterinaryJ.28:131KolteD.V.,Gore A.K.,andDeshmukhS.N.1986.PKVResearchJournal10:145.Naranchuluum,G.,OhmiyaH.,MasudaY., HagiyaK.,andSuzukiM.2011Anim.Sci.82:383NelderJA.1966.Biometrics22:128.

RDevelopmentCoreTeam2008.R.F.f.S.Computing,ed,Vienna,Austria.

RaadsmaH.W., JonasE., McGillD., HobbsM., LamM.K., and ThomsonP.C.2009. Genet. Sel. Evol. 41

RaoM.K.andSundaresanD.1979 J.ofAgric.Sci.92:393

SargentF.D.,LyttonV.H.,andWallO.G.Jr.1968J.DairySci.51:170SwalveH.H.2000J.DairySci.83:1115

<93

WilminkJ.B.M.1987.Livest.Prod.Sci.17:1WoodP.D.P.1967.Nature216:164

Factorsaffectingmilkpriceundersmallholderdairyproduction systeminPakistan

M.IshaqA,F,S.LatifA,D.M.McGillB,H.M.WarriachA,B,Z.BatoolA,S.MajeedA, M. AijazA,P.C.ThomsonCandP.C.WynnB

AUniversityofVeterinary&AnimalSciences,Lahore,Pakistan B GrahamCentreforAgriculturalInnovation,CharlesSturtUniversity,Australia CFacultyofVeterinaryScience,UniversityofSydney,CamdenNSW2570,Australia FCorrespondingauthorEmail:drishaq rai@yahoo.com

Abstract

Thesmallholderdairyfarmersallovertheworldarefacingdiverseproblemstomaketheirbusinessesprofitable. The production costis growing with the increasing rate of input costs, while the milk prices are not equally supporting them. Due to these reasons small-holders are converting their dairy farms to other profitable businesses. The purpose of this study was to better understand the factors that affect milk price for the small-holder dairy producers to help them derive more profit from their businesses. The major factors which have a direct influence on market rates of milk include geographic location of the farm, nature of business, literacy of farmer, season, circumstances of the milk buyer, terms and conditions for selling milk, and nature of primary business.

 $\label{eq:sterior} A baseline survey data was collected during 2011 from registered farmers (n=523) in five districts of Punjab, Pakistan. Data were analyse dusing uni-variate and multivariate analysis. The results show that education level (p=0.029), geographicarea (p<0.001), season (p<0.001) and milk buyer (p<0.001) affects ignificantly the milk price, whereas the other factors like nature of the contract and primary business did not affect the milk price significantly. We conclude that if small holder dairy farmers are educated about the factors and circumstances which influence milk price, the price of the price of$

Keywords: Milkprice, contract, season, education, geography

Introduction

Milkpriceisamajorissuethataffectsprofitabilityofdairyfarmersandmustnotbeignored. Thesmallholder dairyfarmersindevelopingcountrieslikePakistanarefacingproblemstounderstandthecostofproductionand marketpricesfortheirlivestockanddairyenterprises. If dairyfarmerscanbetterunderstandthosefactors that affect milkpriceand findoptionst obettermarket the imilk, they absolutely beable togain abetter price for what they produce.

InPakistan, within the livestock sector, milkis the single most important commodity with avalue that exceeds the combined value of wheat, rice, maize and sugar cane (Economic Survey of Pakistan, 2013-14). Most of the milk volume is produced by more than 8.5 millions mall hold erfarmers owningless than 0 animals keptons mall areas of one to five hectares (Khan et al, 2010). Milk acts as an exclusive source of animal protein there by improving household nutrition as well as providing money to purchase goods for household consumption, paying the utility bills and for the education of children. Research on diverse factors that affect milk price are generally limited to simple comparisons which provide little information that can be used to help farmers make better decisions. The small holder dairy producers are faced with daunting challenges in the areas of infrastructure, financial security, quality assurance, price regulation, trained manpower, and seasonality (Umme Zia, 2007). Pakistan is gifted with outstanding dairy breeds of buffaloes (Nili-Ravi & Kundhi) and cattle (Sahiwal, Cholistani & Red Sindhi). The consumer's preference for buffalomilk as compared to cattlemilk is based on taste and its higher butter fat percentage. The total volume of buffalo and cattle milk produced during 2013-14 was 31,252,000 & 18,027,000 tonnes, of which 25,001,000 & 14,421,000 tonnes respectively were consumed by the human population (Economic survey of Pakistan, 2013-14).



The base prices of milkin Pakistan are set by the government as well as private agencies but there are many other players who has a vibrantrole indeciding milk prices. There is also seas on alvariation in insupply and demand that affect milk prices. Profits vary across dairy farms, and various studies have investigated factors that affect milk prices (Moreki J. C., 2013, Jonas H., 2012, Sikawa et al., 2011, Omore et al., 2009, Lucy S. K., 2009, Khanet al, 2008 & Takashi K, 1997). These studies have concluded that factors like location, education level, seas on, milk contracts and primary farming activity have as ignificant effect on the pricing of milk. However, there has be envery little research carried out in Pakistan on this majorarea. Therefore, the main objective of the present study was to determine the most critical factors that significantly affect milk price under small-holder dairy production system in Pakistan. The results and conclusions from this study will provide farmers with abetter under standing of the decision making processes that will lead to more profitable dairy businesses.

Materials&Methods

Datacollection

The Australia-Pakistan A griculture Sector Linkages Program (ASLP) dairy project has been working with small-holder dairy farmers since 2007 to enhance their earning through improved extension activities and market linkages. A question naire was developed to obtain data on location, level of education, season, milk marketing channels, milk selling contract and primary farming activities. A copy of the question naire can be found as Appendix 1. The small-holder dairy farmers (n=523) registered with the project were interviewed to study different factors affecting milk priceduring 2011. The wide geographic distribution of farmers is representative of the predominance of small holder farmers of Pakistan.

Statisticalanalysis

Dataon both buffalo and cow milk were analysed statistically using uni-variate and multivariate analyses to determine the effect of each factor on milk price. Data were log transformed to normalise variance and factors were analysed independently in a uni-variate analysis using GenStat (VSNI nternational, London).

Results

Toassessthefactorsaffectingmilkpriceinbuffalosandcows, the analysis was conducted intwostages. Firstly, the effect of each factor on price was considered inisolation, inseparate univariate analyses, although species (cowvs.buffalo) and the interaction with species was fitted using aline armixed model. Farmnumber was added to the model as a random effect to account for any clustering. Secondly, all these factors were considered simultaneously in a multivariate model. As well as the interaction of species with each of the factors, an interaction term was included between geography and season, to allow for district-specific effects. Non-significant terms were removed from the model using aback wards elimination process. In all models, because of the non-normality and unstable variance, the milk price data were log-transformed. Model-based means were back-transformed, with approximates tandard errors calculated.

 $\label{eq:univariate} Univariate analysis: The table 1 shows the univariate associations, as well as individual interactions with species (Sp:Buffalo&Cow). The factors like a defined contract among the seller & buyer_contract free, geography, season and whom the milk sell to, are significantly related to price (all P<0.05), with those terms with a significant interaction with species indicating different effects on converse on the sell of the sell of the second sec$

Multivariable analysis: When putting the variables education, geography, season and sell to in a combined multivariablemodel, allvariables with the exception of education (P=0.822) were significant. Then considering interactions amongs tallvariables, only that between geography and season was significant (P=0.006).

Thefinalformofinodelfittedtothedatawas; logePrice=constant+Education.Species+Geography.Species+Season.Species+ Geography.Season+SellTo+FarmNo+? $Geography \times Season: There was a general trend of high erprices in summer compared with winter, but his varied with location. Milk prices were significantly high erforbut falomilk in both winter and summer in Kasur (P < 0.001), and Pakpatan (P=0.029), but not significantly different for Okara, Jhelumand Bhakkar (all P>0.8). The high est prices were obtained in Jehlum, in both summer and winter, and low est prices obtained in Okara in winter and Pakpattan in summer irrespective whether milk was collected from buffaloo rows.$

Discussion

Theresultsobtainedfromthisstudyrevealedthatspecies,locationoffarms,seasonandthetypeofmarketing systemaffectmilkpricesignificantly(P<0.001).ItisclearthatthepriceinJhelumdistrictremainedhighestas comparedtoothersandthereasonmayprobablyasthislocationisnearthebigcitieswhereasthepriceobtained inPakpattandistrictremainedlowestduetotherelativeremotenessofthisareafromitstargetcommercialmilk outlets.TheresultsareinaccordancetothereportofDairyCo(2012)whichshowsthatlocationandfarmsize willhave an impact on the type of contracts on offer for individual farmers. Similarly, the results of a study conducted by Sikawa et al. (2011) showed that education is a vital factor that assists farmers to make better informed decisions likelinking with associations that attract better prices. This is consistent with the present results which show that education has a significant effect on price of fills. Similarly, the results of a not provide the significant effect on price of milk. Similarly, the results of a not provide the significant effect on price of milk. Similarly, there sults of an other study conducted by Meral et al. (2012) on factors influencing packed and unpacked milk consumption gender of consumer, age, education level, professional status, marital status, household size, income, the type of commercial outlet, milk preferences, and milk price also relates with the results of current study. Therefore, education of the smallholder dairy farmers might bring achange to the inunderstanding of the sefactors resulting inhigher milk prices for all shows and in packet and ingofthese factors resulting inhigher milk prices for all shows and the results of current study. Therefore, education of the small holder dairy farmers might bring achange to the inunderstanding of the sefactors resulting inhigher milk prices for all shows and the results of current study. Therefore, education of the small holder dairy farmers might bring achange to the inunderstanding of the sefactors resulting inhigher milk prices for all shows and the results

Theretailersappeartodominatemarketingchainsandexploittheirsuppliersbyofferinglowpricesandbinding contractsaswellaskeepingadditionalreturnsforthemselveswhenpricesareseasonallyhighduetolowermilk supply(JonasH.,2012):thesefindingsarecloselyrelatedtotheresultsofthecurrentstudythatshowsifthereis monopolyexploitedbymiddlementhenmilkpriceislowered.Similarlytheseasonhashigherinfluenceasprices riseinsummeranddecreaseinwinter.

The results from the current study also show that when farmer sell milk directly to consumers and not to middlementhentheyhaveabetterchancetoattracta highermilkpricesimilartothatreportedbyOmoreetal. (2009). This is also directly proportional to the distance of the farm from the consumer market with higher prices being attracted formilk transported longer distances to the market place also reported by Stephenetal. (2009) and Lucy S.K. (2009). The results of this survey study indicated that where there is a defined contract among the seller and buyer, there the milk price is more and vice versa which is comparable to the findings of the report published by Dairy Co (2012), which showed that the milk buyers prefer to collect milk from those farms which are located in the incollection area and also have asycon tract conditions.

Conclusion:

It is concluded that there are many factors that have director indirect effect on milk price under small-holder dairy farming system in Pakistan. The farmers should be well aware of these factors to increase profitability of their dairy farms. There is a need to explore other factors that can affect milk selling price. In this regard awareness about these factors is necessary to educate farmers through implementation of effective extension strategies.

References

AfzalM(2010).Re-designingsmallholderdairyproductioninPakistan.Pak.VetJ,30(3):187-190.

Dairyco.(2012).Guidetomilkbuyers,"areviewofstrategyandperformance".

EconomicsurveyofPakistan(2013-14),MinistryofFinance,governmentofPakistan

J. C.MorekiandC.M.Tsopito(2013).EffectofclimatechangeondairyproductioninBotswanaanditssuitable mitigationstrategies J.ofAn.andFeedRes.,Volume3,Issue6pp:216-221.



- Jonas H. (2012). Opportunities and constraints of peri-urban buffalo and dairy cattle systems in Faisalabad, Punjab, Pakistan. International Center for Development and Decent Work University of Kassel working paperno.21January,2012.
- Khanetal(2008).StudyonproductionandmarketingpatternsofinilksupplyinMuzaffarabadcity,AzadJammu &Kashmir,JAnim.Pl.Sci.18(2-3):2008
- LucyS.K.(2009).Linkingruralsmallholdermilkproducerstourbanmarkets'Casestudyofselectedwardsin Kibaha District, Tanzania. A research report submitted to Van Hall Larenstein University of Applied SciencesinpartialfulfilmentfortherequirementofMasterinAgricultureProductionChainManagement specializinginLivestockChains.pp:32-33.
- Meral et al. (2012). A case study of probit model analysis of factors affecting consumption of packed and unpacked milk in Turkey. Hindawi Publishing Corporation Economics Research International Volume 2012, ArticleID732583, 8 pages
- Omore,A.,Staal,S.J.,Wanyoike,F.,Osafo,E.K.,Kurwijila,L.,Barton,D.,Mdoe,N.,Nurah,G.,Aning,G.(2009). MarketmechanismsandefficiencyinurbandairyproductmarketinGhanaandTanzania.ILRIresearch report 19. [Online] Available at:http://results.waterandfood.org/bitstream/handle/10568/20 /MarketMechanismsGhanaTanzania_RR_No19.pdf?Sequence=4>[Accessed30June2013].
- SikawaG.Y.andJ.Mugisha(2011).FactorsinfluencingSouth-WesternUgandadairyfarmers'choiceoffhemilk marketingchannel:A casestudyofKirihuraDistrict-SouthWesternUganda.ISSN0856-9681,Vol.I
- TakashiK.(1997).ProductionriskandadvantagesofmixedfarminginthePakistan,Punjab.TheDeveloping Economies,XXXV-1(March1997):28-47
- UmmeZia(2007).ImprovedMarketAccessandSmallholderDairyFarmerParticipationforSustainableDairy Development,consultancyreportCFC/FIGMDP/16FT,2007

Predictor			P-value	Group	Buffalo	Cow
		Mean	SE	Mean	SE	
Contract_Free×Sp	0.043	Contracted	34.40	0.55	34.88	0.38
Contract_Free	0.797	Freearrangement	31.06	0.65	30.17	0.42
Education×Sp	0.275	None	33.58	0.74	28.33	0.93
Education	0.080	Primary+Middle	34.40	0.41	29.84	0.45
		Matric	35.66	0.53	31.79	0.60
		Intermediate	35.41	1.17	30.39	1.40
		University	34.61	1.18	31.56	1.61
GeographyxSpp.	< 0.001	Bhakkar	34.92	0.59	30.17	0.60
		Jehlum	39.33	0.71	34.33	0.79
		Kasur	36.49	0.66	30.94	0.74
		Okara	33.48	0.44	28.62	0.57
		Pakpatan	30.54	0.61	28.70	0.69
PrimaryFarming						
ActivityxSpp.	0.095	Cropping	34.99	0.42	29.99	0.45
PrimaryFarming						
Activity0.846		Dairying	34.33	0.45	30.60	0.49

《97》

 Table1:
 Thisshowstheuni-variateassociations, as well as individual interactions with species (spp. Buffalo & Cow).

Cropping+Dairying			34.74	1.11	31.37	1.44
		Other	35.73	1.43	31.06	1.77
Season×Spp.	0.027	Winter	33.75	0.30	29.90	0.33
Season <0.001		Summer	35.69	0.32	30.85	0.34
SellTo×Spp.	0.497	Bigmilkcompany	35.48	1.21	30.85	1.14
SellTo <0.001		Dodhi	33.31	0.30	29.37	0.35
		Neighbour/Villager	39.77	0.72	34.16	0.82
		Other	32.72	1.96	30.88	2.41
No.ofMilking						
Animals×Spp.*	0.953		0.0002	0.0039	0.0008	0.0097
No.ofMilking						
Animals0.942						
No.ofdodhi's×Sp*	0.115		-0.0009	0.0013	0.0018	0.0020
NDodhis	0.655					

* Forthequantitativepredictors, values shown are regression coefficient (and standard errors) on logarithmics cale.

Herearesomecommentsonsignificantorsuggestiveassociations.

- " DefinedContractFree:WhenthefarmersmadeaContractwiththebuyerthantheycangethigherprices thanFreeArrangement,butthedifferenceisgreaterinCowthanBuffalo.
- " Education:Thelevelofeducationthatfarmersachieveintheircareerhasalittleeffectonpricebutthere isasignificantdifferenceamongspecies.
- " Geography:rangefrom30.54Rs/L(Pakpatan)to39.33Rs/L(Jehlum)forbuffalomilk,and28.62Rs/L (Okara)to34.33Rs/L(Jhelum).
- " PrimaryFarmingActivity:CombinedDairyingCroppingisassociatedwithincreasedpricesinboth species;'Other'ishighestinBuffalo,butdifficulttointerpret,notknowingwhatthiscategorycontains.
- " Season:Higherpricesinsummerthanwinter, butagreater differential forbuffalos.
- " SellTo(Buyer):Neighbour/villagerprovidedhighestpricesinbothspecies(Buffalo:39.77Rs/L;Cow: 34.16Rs/L).

Table2:Thelevelsofsignificanceforthefinalmultivariatemodel,aswellasmodel-basedmeans,are shownintablebelow:

Predictor			P-value	Group	Buffalo	Cow
		Mean	SE	Mean	SE	
Education×Species	0.087	None	36.27	1.05	30.54	1.25
		Primary+Middle	35.80	0.72	32.10	0.71
		Matric	34.95	0.87	29.20	1.08
		Intermediate	35.13	0.63	30.66	0.58
		University	35.27	1.13	32.66	1.47
Geography×Species	< 0.001	Bhakkar	35.02	0.74	30.14	0.75
		Jehlum	39.73	0.95	34.40	0.96
		Kasur	37.30	0.78	31.72	0.89
		Okara	33.92	0.68	28.90	0.72

		Pakpatan	31.91	0.77	30.14	0.81
Season×Species	0.020	Winter	34.50	0.59	30.54	0.61
		Summer	36.49	0.62	31.50	0.63
SellTo <0.001		Bigmilkcompany	36.56	1.07	31.94	0.98
		Dodhi	33.72	0.36	29.49	0.44
		Neighbour/villager	39.02	0.67	34.12	0.69
		Other	32.92	1.73	28.76	1.53
		•				
Predictor			P-value	Group	Winter	Summer
Predictor			P-value Mean	Group SE	Winter Mean	Summer SE
Predictor Geography×Season	<0.001	Bhakkar	P-value Mean 32.46	Group SE 0.71	Winter Mean 32.52	Summer SE 0.72
Predictor Geography×Season	<0.001	Bhakkar Jehlum	P-value Mean 32.46 36.93	Group SE 0.71 0.92	Winter Mean 32.52 37.08	Summer SE 0.72 0.93
Predictor Geography×Season	<0.001	Bhakkar Jehlum Kasur	P-value Mean 32.46 36.93 32.72	Group SE 0.71 0.92 0.75	Winter Mean 32.52 37.08 36.16	Summer SE 0.72 0.93 0.83
Predictor Geography×Season	<0.001	Bhakkar Jehlum Kasur Okara	P-value Mean 32.46 36.93 32.72 30.17	Group SE 0.71 0.92 0.75 0.63	Winter Mean 32.52 37.08 36.16 32.52	Summer SE 0.72 0.93 0.83 0.68

 $\label{eq:appendix1:PakistanSmall-holderdairy production systems longitudinal survey$

a) Whenyousellyourmilk,whatpricedoyougenerallyreceiveinsummerandwinter? (Pleaseonlyfillintherelevantrowsandthemilkqualityspecifications,e.g,fat%ifthereareany)

Summer	Rs/kg	QualitySpecifications:	
Buffalo			
Cow			
Buffalo/cowmix			

Winter	Rs/kg	QualitySpecifications:
Buffalo		
Cow		
Buffalo/cowmix		

b) Howmuchmilkdoyougenerallysellandconsumeeachdayin...

Consume(kg/day)	Sell(kg/day)
Winter	
Summer	

c) Towhomdoyoucurrentlysellmilk?

Neighbororvillager	Dohdi	Bigmilkcompany	Other
Freearrangement	Contract	Freearrangement	Contract
Freearrangement	Contract	Freearrangement	Contract

《99》



Proceedingsofthe15thAAAPAnimalScienceCongress 26-30November2012,ThammasatUniversity,RangsitCampus,Thailand

DevelopingaFeedCalendarforPakistan; sSmall-Holder DairyFarmers

R.D.Bush1,H.M.Warriach2,D.McGill2andP.C.Wynn2

- FacultyofVeterinaryScience,UniversityofSydney,Camden,NSW,Australia,
- 2 EH Graham Centre (NSW Industry and Investment and Charles Sturt University), Wagga Wagga Australia

Providing adequate year-round nutrition to Pakistan.s small-holder dairy cattle and buffalo poses a major challengetoimprovinganimalproductivityandprofitability. Inresponse, aregion-specific feed calendarhas been developed by a Nutrition Focus Group (NFG) formed as part of an Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) research project titled. Strengthening dairy value chains in Pakistan through improved farmmanagement and more-effective extension services. (ACIAR LPS/2010/007). The aim of the calendar is to promote .best practice. in relation to growing and harvesting for ages with an emphasis on combining self explanatory photos and images with descriptive text in an easily understood format. Detailed notes have also be encompiled to enable extension workers to adequately trainfarmers in the use of the calendar. Information will be provided specifically for buffalo and cattler equirements with respect to winter and summer environments under rain fed and irrigated conditions. The availability and feeding of concentrates and by-products will also be incorporated. Members of the NFG ared rawn from university and government research institutions across Pakistan. It is envisaged the calendar will provide avaluable resource for small-hold erfarmers as the format will be able to be adapted to a range of environments within Pakistan as well as other developing countries.

KeyWords: Buffalo,Cow,Forage,Concentrate,Byproducts,Rainfed,Irrigated

INTRODUCTION

Providing adequate year-round nutrition to meet animal requirements poses a major challenge to improving animalproductivityandprofitabilityindevelopingcountries.ThePakistansmall-holderdairycattleandbuffalo industryisnoexception.Withanaverageof5litresofmilkproducedpercowperdayacrossalactation(Warriach etal.,2012), severeunderfeeding is a major contributor. In addition to the lack of quantity provided, very poor quality (nutritional value and digestibility) is also a feature. An important explanation to this underfeeding problem lies in the difficulty in producing for age invastly different winter and summer environments which supportspecificspecies.Wintercanbeverycold(<0oC)whereassummerextremelyhot(>45oC)(Pakistan MeteorologicalDepartment,2012).Small-holderfarmerknowledgeoffheagronomicpracticesrequiredtogrow and harvest for a ges as well as an imal requirement sat different stages of the production cycle are also limited and the state of tacontributortounderfeeding.InabidtoimprovetheprovisionofnutritionfordairyanimalswithinPakistan,a region-specificfeedcalendarwasdevelopedbyaNutritionFocusGroup(NFG)formedaspartofanAustralian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) research project titled "Strengthening dairy value chains in Pakistan through improved farm management and more-effective extension services. (ACIAR LPS/2010/007). The aim of the calendar is to promote, best practice, in relation to growing and harvesting forageswithanemphasisoncombiningselfexplanatoryphotosandimageswithdescriptivetextinaneasily understoodformat.ThispaperreportsonthedevelopmentanddistributionofthisfeedcalendarforPakistan.s small-holderdairyfarmers.

MATERIALSANDMETHODS

FormationofNutritionFocusGroup(NFG)

 $In order to access relevant information relating to the establishment, growth and utilisation of forages across Pakistan, aj^othink-tank; \pm of key researchers was assembled to form the Nutrition Focus Group (NFG). Members are the second s$

from university and government institutions with experience in for a gegrowing and feeding larger uminants were recruited to the group based on their reputation for a chieving solutions through applied research. Regular meetings we reconducted to prioritise research initiatives aimed a timp roving the feeding of small-holder dairy animals as well as to under take major group activities such as the development of the feed calendar.

Developmentofthefeedcalendar

Calendarcontent

Initial meetings of the NFG detailed the feeding management needs of small-holder dairy producers in Pakistan and determined the content to be included in the calendar. It was agreed the information be presented on a monthly basis and be divided into five broad areas, with consideration given to for age species, time of year (winterrabbise as on; and summer kharifs eason) and locality within Pakistan. The subject areas were:

- Agronomic practices for each forage species. forage plot preparation and management (includes seed quality, sowing, fertilization, harvesting and irrigation)
- Yield atharvestforeachforagespecies(note:somespeciesaremulti-cut).
- Animal requirementsfordifferentproductionstages(includesdry/transitionaswellasearly,peakandlate lactationforcattleandbuffalo).
- Husbandry and management practices aimed at improving overall productivity (includes forage conservation, provision of water to animals, feeding concentrates and reproductive management).
- The availability and feeding of concentrates and by-products.

Collectionofinformation

EachmemberoftheNFGwasassignedasubjectareatocollectinformation. Sourcesofinformation included published previous research relevant to Pakistan's four provinces (Punjab, Sindh, Balochistan and Khyber-Pakhtunkhwa) as well as reports and other available technical notes. An emphasis was placed on sourcing information from within Pakistan.

Calendardesign

Theaimwastoappealtosmall-holderfarmerssotheinformationpresentedisinthelocallanguage,Urdu,and wherepossibleimagesanddiagramsareusedtoillustratekeymessages.Initially,utilisingacalendartemplate fromanothercountry,suchaswithinAfrica, wasconsidered. However, despite several attempts this was not possible as a realistic model chart could not be found. Ultimately, a consultant was engaged to design the final product.

Distributionandfeedback

Before mass distribution occurred, several prototype calendars were distributed to NFG teammembers as well as the Agricultural Sector Linkages Program (ASLP) Dairy Project team to distribute to farmers within their local network. Feedback from consultation with these farmers led to some minor, cosmetic. changes relating to message clarity to assist with the rate of adoption to the set of the

ThecalendarswerethendistributedtoabroademetworkoffarmerswithinthevillagesservicedbytheACIAR LPS/2010/007projectinPunjabprovince.Thesebeing:Bhakkar,Jhelum,Kasur,OkaraandPakpattan.Detailed noteswerecompiledtoenableextensionworkerstoadequatelytrainfarmersintheuseofthecalendaratthetime ofdistribution.Thisenablesfarmerstofamiliarisethemselveswithhowtoreadthecalendarandfullyutilisethe information provided. Repeat visits from these trainers provided follow-up information where required. Feedback is being currently sought from these farmers in order to gauge utilisation and make further improvementsifrequired.

An example of the calendar appearance is presented in Figure 1. The top third of the page provides a ground in the top the t



information on the sowing, management and harvesting offoragespecies suited to grow that that time of year. This information includes pictures for each forage species. The bottom part of the page is divided into two sections. The left-hand-side presents a small table containing recommended rations for milking animals at different stages of lactation based on available ingredients whilst the remainder of the page illustrates a management of husbandrymessage. For example, in December (Figure 1-left) themessage relates to harvesting maizewhilst in June (Figure 1-right) themessage relates to feeding supplements (concentrates, hay, hay lage and silage) during summer when feed resources are limiting.



Figure1 AnexampleofcalendarpagesforDecember(left)andJanuary(right)

RESULTSANDDISCUSSION

Small-holderdairyfarmersinPakistannowhaveaccesstoacomprehensivefeedcalendarwhichcanbeusedto provideguidanceontheprovisionofforageforanimalsyear-roundThisisespeciallyimportantduringtheannual feed gaps inwinter and summer. Strategies such as folder conservation as well as the feed ingo f concentrates and the strategies of theby-productswereincludedtocomplementavailableforagesources.Utilisationofthecalendarisbeingcarefully monitoredbyprojectstaffandextensionworkersassociatedwiththeACIARproject.Thissupportisnecessary duringtheimplementationperiodofthecalendartoensurequeriesassociatedwithinterpretingtheinformation areanswered appropriately and in a timely manner. Information provided on when top lantaspecific species and how to manage forage growth and harvesting is dependent on time of year. However, exact dates will be influencedbyclimaticeventssuchasthetimingofthebreakinseasonwhichmayvaryconsiderablybetween seasonsandyears(PakistanMeteorologicalDepartment,2012).Itisthereforeimperativesmall-holderfarmers are instructed to use the calendar as a guide in combination with previous knowledge the ypossess them selves. It is the the selves of the sis envisaged regular feedback will be sought from the small-holder farmers utilising the calendar to ensure improvementscanbemadeinsubsequentversionswhererequired.Havingthebasicformatestablishedwillalso facilitatetheincorporationofnewknowledgeintofutureversions. Thenextsteptoimproveproductivityofthe small-holderdairyfarmennPakistanisthedevelopmentofahandbookonrationformulation.Thiswillprovidea valuable tool for farmers wishing to increase milk production through the feeding of rations which contain ingredientssuchasconcentrates,foragesandby-products(Hussainetal.,2010).Itisenvisagedthecalendarwill provide a valuable resource for small-hold erfarmers as the format can be adapted for a range of environment statement of the statement of twithinPakistanaswellasotherdevelopingcountries.

(103)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the contributions of the members of the NFG which includes: Prof. Dr. Ghulam Habib, Dr. Shoaib Sultan, Dr. Shaukat Ali Bhatti, Dr. Akhtar Ali, Dr. Makhdoom Abdul Jabbar, Dr. Ghulam Mohyuh Dinand Dr. Sartaj Khan. Also, Dr. Shumaila Arif, Training Manager with the ASLPD airy Projectis acknowledged for the considerable efforts incollating the data into a distributable form.

REFERENCES

Hussain, M.Ghafoor, A.and Saboor, A. (2010) Factors affecting milk production in Buffaloes – acases study. Pakistan Veterinary Journal 30:115-117.

PakistanMeteorologicalDepartment(2012)[AccessedJuly2012] http://www.pmd.gov.pk/

Warriach,H.M.,McGill,D.,Bush,R.D.andWynn,P.C.(2012)Productionandreproduction performanceofNili-RavibuffaloesunderfieldconditionsofPakistan.TheJournalofAnimalandPlant Sciences,22:121-124.

Proceedingsofthe15thAAAPAnimalScienceCongress 26-30November2012,ThammasatUniversity,RangsitCampus,Thailand

RelationshipofBodyConditionScoreonCyclicityandPregnancy RateinNili-RaviBuffaloes

S.Latif1,E.Hand2,H.M.Warriach1,2,D.M.McGill2,M.Ishaq1,Z.Batool1andP.C.Wynn2

University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan, 2EH Graham Centre for Agricultural Innovation, CharlesSturtUniversity, Australia

The objective of the study was to establish the relationship of body condition score (BCS) on cyclicity and pregnancy rate in Nili-Ravi buffaloes. The study was conducted at the government Livestock Production ResearchInstitute,Bahadumagar,OkarainPunjab.Buffaloes(n=113)wereassignedforBCS1-5scaleusingan Edmonson chart. Cyclicity and pregnancy status were determined twice at two week intervals by using transrectalultrasonography.Bloodsampleswereanalyzedforprogesteroneusingradioimmunoassay.Results indicated that BCS has a significant relationship with cyclicity (p<0.05) and pregnancy rates (p<0.01) in buffaloes. The datagenerated from this study will be helpful ingaining a better understanding of nutritional relationshipswith reproductive status inbuffaloes.

KeyWords:Bodyconditionscore,Cyclicity,Pregnancyrate

INTRODUCTION

Pakistanisdominatedbyanagriculturalruralbasedeconomy.Livestockarethebackboneoftheagricultural sectorcontributingtothenational(12%)andagricultural(50%)economy(PakistanEconomicalSurvey,2006). Buffalocontribute62%(Zia2011)ofPakistan's62.9millionmilkingherdand67%ofmilkproduction(Afzal 2007).However,buffalohaverelativelypoorreproductiveefficiencyandexhibitmanyreproductivedisorders includingdelayedpuberty,pooroestrusexpression,longpostpartumovarianquiescence,andmostimportantly lowered conception rates particularly when bred artificially (Gordon, 1996). Thus the production and reproductive potential of the Nili-Ravi buffalohas not been fully exploited. This is exacerbated by the fact thatbuffaloaregenerallyfoundindevelopingcountrieswithmeagerresourcesandwherethereisalackofquality researchinhealthnutritionalandreproductivemanagement.BCSprovidesamethodofassessingtheadequacy ofnutritionbeing supplied to annimal (Schroder, 2005; Walter, 1993) and can be set as a standard for each reproductivestage(Moran2005; Schroder, 2005). It is specially applicable in the field where the reare limited resources as it is a simple observation made on the animals (McDonald, 2002). Yet, despite the close genetic relationship between domestic cattle and buffalo, little of this information is applied to dairy buffaloin Pakistan and nodataareavailable on the influence of body conditions core on ovariancy clicity and pregnancy status.

Thus the aim of the present study is to establish the relationship between BCS and ovarian cyclicity and pregnancyrateinbuffaloes. This will help dairy farmers, particularly the small holders, to be the runderstand the possible reasons for low reproductive efficiency of buffaloes. This relationship will provide information upon which to base the decision as to whether to breed or depending on BCS.

MATERIALSANDMETHODS

This experiment was conducted at the Livestock Production Research Institute (LPRI) Bahadar nagar, near district Okara, Pakistan (The trial was based on 113 multiparous (lactating and non-lactating) Nili-Ravi buffaloes Allanimalswerepermanentlyhoused at LPRI. For the period of the trial all buffalowere managed and fedsimilarly. All buffalowere allowed to graze on pasture for 6-8 hours of the day and house dinanimals heds overnight where they were offered green chopped fodder (berseem) and wheat straw. The lactating her dwere offered concentrate at milking time (evening and morning) roughly according to the timilk production.

(105)
Assessmentofbodyconditionscore:

The body conditions coring system used in the current study was based on a 1 (thin) to 5 (obese) scale with 0.5 intervals using the Edmonson chart developed for use in Holstein Friesian cows (Castellano, Bentsen et al. 2010). Similar conditions attributes could also be identified in buffalo and therefore the method was considered appropriate for body conditions coring buffalo. Using this system all of the buffalo (n=113) were assigned a BCS by each of the four independent investigators who agreed for each animal within one unit (0.5). In accuracies associated with all ocating BCS's to pregnant animals were avoided, as the point sused for assessment were not affected by changes in body shaped uctop regnancy.

Assessmentofpregnancyandcyclicity:

 $\label{eq:pregnancystatus} Pregnancystatus was confirmed through ultrasound using aportable Bmodeul trasound machine and a 7.5 MHz transrectal probe (Shenzhen Well. D Electronics Co., Ltd, China, Model number: WED-9618 V). Pregnant animals (n=82) were body conditions core dand allowed to return to the herd to reduce the risk of interfering with the pregnancies. After BCS, non-pregnant (n=31) animals we resubjected to further examination for any uterine abnormality and ovarian cyclicity. Size of the ovary, presence of follicles, corpus luteum and cysts were examined to monitor the ovarian cyclicity of the animals. Those animals which had no detectable pregnancy were subjected to the same assessment of BCS, pregnancy and ovarian cyclicity two weeks later. This was to confirm early pregnancies not previously detected. This also allowed the operator to detect changes in ovarian structures to refine the assessment of the ovarian cyclicity of the animals. Seventeen buffaloes were found to be cyclic and 14 noncyclic.$

Statisticalanalysis:

Relationship of the BCS on ovarian cyclicity and pregnancy rate was analyzed using logistical regression model using BCS and days postpartum as an explanatory variable in the final model. Among the non-cyclic buffaloes, data from two buffaloes were excluded, one having a tumor and the other having a structural adhesion. For the seconds creening two animals could not be returned for second examination due to local management problems.

RESULTS

 $\label{eq:higherbodyconditionscore} Higherbodyconditionscore and probability of pregnancy rate has been shown in figure landtable 1. Similarly, higherbody conditions core is also significantly (P<0.05) correlated with ovariancy clicity during the breedings eason in buffaloes. The relationship between BCS and probability of ovariancy clicity in buffalois shown in Figure 2 and table 2.$

DISCUSSION

ThepresentstudydemonstratedthattheBCScanprovideanaccurateassessmentofreproductiveperformancein buffaloes a sincattle where it has been proven as a consistent and reliable predictor of nutritional status (Domecq, the second status) and the second status of the second sta1995;Kunklen.d.).BCSwaspositivelyassociatedwithpregnancyrateswheninseminationwassynchronized andperformed within a shortfixed period postpartum, (Burkeetal, 1996) which is in a greement with the present study.Thisissupportedbytheevidencethat,whenanimalsareinnegativeenergybalanceorhavealowBCS, circulatinglevelsofleptininthebodyaretoolowtoactivatetheHPGaxistopermitcyclicity(Popa2008;Meza-Herrera2009;Castellano,Bentsenetal.2010).Therefore,asshowninthecurrentstudy,animalswithlowBCS andnutritionalstatusarelesslikelytobecyclingandare,consequently,lesslikelytobepregnant(Spicer1990). The present study clearly indicates that the probability of ovarian cyclicity and pregnancy was significantly higher in those animals with higher BCS than those with low BCS. For every unit increase in BCS, a 13 percentageunitincreaseinpregnancyrateswasobserved, which suggested that signs of behavioral estrus were stronger and fertility was improved as BCS improved (That chere tal 1999). For the present study, both the probability of ovariancy clicity and pregnancy approached one as BCS approached 3. Such high probabilities wouldnotbeexpected formormal populations of buffaloor cattleat BCS3. These abnormally high probabilities forcyclicityandpregnancyatBCS3wereobtainedinthecurrentstudymaybeduetothelownumberofanimals inthisBCScategory.

CONCLUSION

BCSisahighlypractical method for determining nutritional status of buffaloes, especially in the developing countries with limited resources like Pakistan where farmers can not afford expensive techniques and expertise. Such as trong correlation can influence the decision as to whether to bree do motth us minimising the economic loss associated with the failure to conceive. It will thus be an important additional tool for the farmers to manage infertility in the immilking herds.

REFERENCES

- Afzal, M.Anwar, M., Mirza, M.A. (2007). "Some factors affecting milkyield and lactation length in NiliRavi Buffaloes." Pakistan Vertinary Journal 27(3):113-117.
- Burke JM, de la Sota RL, Risco CA, Staples CR, Schmitt EJ-P, Thatcher, WW. Evaluation of timed inseminationusingagonadotropin-releasinghormoneagonistinlactatingdairycows.JournalOfDairy Science1996;79:1385-1393.
- Castellano, J.M., A.H.Bentsen, etal. (2010). "Kisspeptins: Bridgingenergyhomeostasis and reproduction." BrainResearch1364:129-138.
- Domecq,J.J.,Kaneene,J.B.,Lloyd,J.W.,Skidmore,A.L.(1995)."ValidationofBodyConditionScoreswith UltrasoundMeasurementsofSubcutaneousFatofDairyCows."JournalofDairyScience78(10):2308-2313.
- GamsworthyPC.Theeffectofenergyreservesatcalvingonperformanceofdairycows.In:Butterworths(ed), NutritionandLactationintheDairyCow.London,England,1988;157.
- Gordon, I. (1996). Controlled reproduction in cattleand buffalo. Vol. 1. p452
- Kunkle, W. E., Sand, R. S. (n.d.). Effect of Body Condition on Rebreeding. University of Florida: IFAS Extension. Florida, Institute of Foodand Agricultural Sciences 1-8.
- McDonald, P., Edwards, R.A., Greenhalgh J.F.D., Morgan C.A. (2002). Animal Nutrition. Animal Nutrition. London, Pearson Prentice Hill. Six: 693
- Meza-Herrera, C.A., Gonzalez-Bulnes, A., Kridli, R.T., Mellado, M., Archiga-Flores, C.F., Salinas, H., Luginbuhl, J.M. (2009). "Neuroendocrine, metabolic and genomic cuessignal lingtheonset of puberty in females. "Reproduction in Domestic Animals 46(4):1-8.
- Moran, J. (2005) Body Condition Score. In Department of primary Industries (Ed.), Tropical dairy Farming: Feedingmanagement for small holder dairy farmers in the humin dtropics: CSIRO.
- PakistanEconomicalSurvey(2006)MinistryofAgriculture,HealthandFoodTech.,Islamabad.
- Popa, S.M., Clifton, D.K., Steiner, R.A. (2008). "Theroleofkisspeptins and GPR54 in the neuroendocrine regulation of reproduction." Annual Review of Physiology 70 (2):213-238.
- Schroder,U.,Staufenbiel,R/(2005)."InvitedReview:MethodstoDetermineBodyFatReservesintheDairy CowwithSpecialRegardstoUltrasonographicMeasurementofBackfatThickness."JournalofDairy Science89:1-14.
- Spicer,L.J.,Tucker,W.B.,Adams,G.D.(1990)."Insulin-LikeGrowthFactor-linDairyCows:Relationships amongenergybalance,bodycondition,ovarianactivity,andestrousbehaviour."JournalofDairyScience 73(4):929-937.

Proceedingsofthe15thAAAPAnimalScienceCongress 26-30November2012, ThammasatUniversity, RangsitCampus, Thailand

ComparisonofTraditionalProstaglandinandCIDRBased SynchronizationProtocolsonOestrousandFertilityinBuffaloesin LowBreedingSeasoninPakistan

M.R.Khan, J.Lievaart, P.C.Wynn, D.M.McGilland H.M.Warriach

EHGrahamCentreforAgricultureInnovation,CharlesSturtUniversityWaggaWagga2650Australia

Agrowingandemergingareainpoultryresearchisthefindingandapplicationofmedicinalherbsasnatural growthpromoterstoenhanceimmunityandgrowthperformanceduetoseriouscriticismontheuseofantibiotics. Inpresentstudyweexaminedthepotentialsoffeedingdriedgarlicpowdertomalebroilerchicks(Cobb-500). Onehundredandsixty.one-day-oldbroilerchickswererandomlyallocatedtofourreplicated(n=4)treatments; GE-3,GE-2,GE-1andGE-0thatreceivedgarlic@3,2and1g/kgoffeed,respectivelyandGE-0servedas control.Birdswererearedinfloorpens(10birds/pen)inanopensidedhousewhereoptimumenvironmentaland mangemental conditions were maintained during the experimental period of 42 days. Birds in all pens had unlimitedaccesstofreshdrinkingwaterandfeedandwerevaccinatedagainstNewcastle(ND),InfectiousBursal (IBD), and Infectious Bronchitis (IB) diseases. Onday-42, three birds from each penwerer and only selected for blood collection to determine serum lipid profile using Blood Biochemical Analyzer, antibody titre using Hland the serum lipid profile using Blood Biochemical Analyzer, and the serum lipid profile using Biochemical Analyzer, and the serum lipid pELISAkitsandwerekilledtofindoutdressingpercentage.Garlicpowderdidnotaffectfeedintake.However, feedefficiency,bodyweightgainanddressedweightwassignificantly(p<0.05)improvedbybirdsingroupGE-3andGE-2.GE-3hadhigher(p<0.05)antibodytitreagainstND(4552±24),IB(5.50±0.7)andIBD(4.25±0.6) $compared to other groups except GE-2. A significant reduction in serum cholesterol (120 \pm 02), low-density$ lipoprotein(83±01)andtriglycerides(50±02)andincreasedinhigh-densitylipoprotein(29±01)wasobserved inGE-2toothergroups. The difference between GE-2 and GE-3 washowever insignificant. These findings demonstrated that garlic powder can potentially be used in broiler production to improve the immune status, growthperformanceandtooptimizelipidprofile.

KeyWords: Garlicpowder,Immunity,Growthperformance,Lipidprofile,Broilers

INTRODUCTION

ThebuffaloisanintegralpartofthePakistandairysystemAccordingtothePakistaneconomicsurvey(2011-12) the population of buffaloes is 32.7 million providing 29,565 thousand tonnes of milk annually. Buffaloes however suffer from a variety of reproductive problems. These problems include a long prepubertal period, seasonalbreeding and silento estrus. These problems alone or collectively contribute towards prolonged interview of the seasonal breeding and silento estrustic seasonal breeding and seasonal breeding and silento estrustic seasonal breeding and silento estrustic seasonal breeding and se calvingintervals.Domesticbuffaloeshaveaninclinationtowardsseasonalbreeding(Qureshi,Habib,Samad, Lodhi,&Usmani,1999)withasuspensioninsexualactivityduringsummerinmanypartsoftheworld(Hafez, 1955;Shah,1990).Buffaloesareverypronetothermalstress(Pandey&Roy,1966)causinghyper-prolactinemia andlowluteinizinghormone(LH)concentrations:theyhavefewersweatglands(Acharya,1990;Cockrill,1993; Heranjal, Sheth, Wadadekar, Desai, & Rao, 1979). The hypoprolactine miainduced by high ambient temperature is also associated with increased photoperiod causing changes in pineal gland secretory activity; (Sheth, Wadadekar, Moodbidri, Janakiraman, & Parameswaran, 1978; Wettemann & Tucker, 1974). In temperate regions where buffalo are found such as Italy where feeding management is very good a distinct seasonal reproductive pattern also prevails and according to Borghese (2005) and Zicarelli(1997b) seasonality is influencedbyphotoperiodthroughchangingmelatoninsecretionwhichreducesfertilityinaseasonalmanner (Morgan&Williams,1989).Hyper-prolactinemiaisacauseofsubfertilityandovarianinactivitybysuppressing gonadotropin secretion and ovarian steroid synthesis decreasing progesterone in the blood supply (Hafez, Jainudeen, & Rosnina, 2000; Razdan, Kaker, & Galhotra, 1981; Reiter, 1991, 1998; Roy & Prakash, 2007; Wettemann&Tucker, 1974).LowlevelsofcirculatingLHduetohighambienttemperatureandphotoperiod causepoorfolliclematurationandthusalowlevelofoestradiol(Heranjal.etal.,1979:Palta,Mondal,Prakash& Madan, 1997). Theroleof melatoninin reproduction is poorly understood in buffaloes. Melaton insecretion is



related with season and as with all species the Italian Mediterrane and uffaloproduces high levels during shorter that the season of the seadays(Borghese,Barile,Terzano,Pilla,&Parmeggiani,1995;Parmeggianietal.,1993;G.Presicce,2007;G.A. Presicce, 2007). Management and nutrition are also important contributory factors for summer anoestrous (Kaker, Razdan, & Galhotra, 1982; Qureshi, Habib, etal., 1999; Qureshi, Samad, Habib, Usmani, & Siddiqui, 1999;Zicarelli,1997b).Thereasonfor36.5% of breeding Egyptian buffaloes not being pregnant in the study of Heranjaletal.(1979)wasnutritionaldeficiency.Insummerthehotambienttemperaturedecreasesfeedsources (Mudgal, 1979) and intake (Jainudeen, 1990), thus causing loss in body conditions core and further deterioration of reproductive condition. Management plays an important role inheat detection. Buffaloes are not renowned for detectable oestrous expression (Jainudeen, 1990), which is often silent (Chaudhry, 1990) and mostly occurs duringnighttime:theproblemisexacerbatedbyhotsummers.Themajorroleofhormonesintheexpressionof oestrus and the fact that buffaloes respond well to exogenous hormones (De Rensis & López-Gatius, 2007)suggestthattheuseofhormonestocontrolfertilityanddecreaseintercalvingintervals(MadanM.L., 1983; Perera,2011) maybeaviable way of minimising the problem of long intercal ving interval. Various hormones are used indifferent combinations in cattle and buffalos of ar: progester one based protocols are considered to be the set of the setmosteffective in controlling summer anoestrus (Barile et al., 2001; Naseer, Ahmad, Singh, & Ahmad, 2011; Neglia et al., 2003; Singh, Singh, Sharma, & Nanda, 1984). High circulating progesterone increase ovarian follicleturnoverandalsosensitizethehypothalamusandpituitarytogonadalactivity(Baruselli,2001).Inthis study the efficacy of a controlled internal drug release (CIDR) device was compared with a prostaglandin (PG)administration protocol extensively used in Pakistan in the Pakistani summer. These methods were compared without any addition of GnR Handoestradio linthe interest of keeping the protocol simple and cheap forsmall-holderfarmerstoadopt.

MATERIALSANDMETHODS:

This study was conducted at government and small privated airy farms in Okara and Kasurdistricts of Pakistan during the low breeding season (June to August). Nili Ravi buffaloes (n=120) were randomly selected from government (n=70) and small rural dairy farms (n=50) with an average of 9m on th post partumanoes trus (Min: 2.47. Max: 24 months). The animals range dinage from 4to 8.6 years and were fed under normal small-holder farm conditions. Rectal palpation was carried out and the animal's history of any reproductive disorders was collected. Data on age, parity, BCS, perday milk production and presence of calf was also collected. All the animals were reproductively sound and healthy. Oestrous response rate was calculated by confirmation of oestrous, but as a part of the protocolall the animals in CIDR group were inseminated and pregnancy rate was calculated dividing pregnant divided by inseminated. Two animals lost CIDR and 3 animals died (2 in CIDR and onein PG group) after in semination.

Experimentaldesign:

Buffaloes were randomly allocated to two treatment groups (n=60 per group). Group one was treated with a CIDR for 7 days, prostagland in (PG) on day 6 with the CIDR being removed on day 7. The CIDR devices were provided by Pfizer Australia containing 1.38 mg progesterone and the PG source was prostagland in F2 á (Utalyse, Pfizer). The animals were subjected to rectal palpation to check signs of oestrus. Oestrus was confirmed with uterine to ne2+onascale of 1-5 and mucus and vulvulars welling. Time dartificial insemination (TAI) was carried out wice at 48 and 60 hours after removal of the CIDR device. Group two was treated with PG injection on day 0 and was bred on confirmation of heat. Those animals without any heat signs were re-injected with PG injection on day 11 and were bred in the next 3-4 days if on heat. Pregnancy diagnosis was carried out after 40 days via transrectal ultras on ography (Honda; Model: HS-1500; 7.0 MHZ).

Statisticalanalysis:

Dataforoestrusresponseandpregnancyratebetweenthetwotreatments,theimpactofmanagement(tiedand untied)andthepresenceofacalfwascomparedusingaChisquareanalysis.Theeffectofbodyconditionscore (BCS)andparityontheoestrusresponseandpregnancyratewasconfirmedwithaMannWhitneystatistical test.Theeffectofageanddailymilkproductionontheoestrusresponse,andthedurationofanoestruspost-partum in days were compared usingAnova and a t-test.A probability level with P value <0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Theresultsforoestrousbehaviourandpregnancyrates with the two treatments are given in Table 1. When the CIDR was used with PGF2 a (Treatment 1) oestrus was detected in 84.5% of animals, but only in 23.3% of animals receiving a PGF2 a (Treatment 1) This did not lead to a higher pregnancyrate (CIDR 19.6%; PGF2 a regime 30.8%; P=0.296) Body conditions coredid not vary significantly between animals expressing oestrus and those that did not irrespective of treatment. However animals that expressed a calf were in significantly (p=0.006) better condition than those that did not irrespective of treatment. However animals that expressed a calf were in significantly (p=0.006) better condition than those that did not. However animals that expressing oestrus and those that did not irrespective of treatment. However animals that expressed a calf were in significantly (p=0.006) better condition than those that did not. However animals the expressing oestrus and those that did not. However animals the expressing oestrus and those that did not. However animals the expressing oestrus and those that did not. However animals there are a success at the event of a calf (Table 1). There there are a success at the event of a calf (Table 1). There there are an associated with either oestrus expression or success with delivery of a calf (Table 1). Similarly milk production was not associated with the event of a calf (Table 1). Similarly milk production was not associated with the event of the e

	Oestrous expression			Pregnancy success			Test	
	Yes	No	P-value	Yes	No	P-value	· used	
Treatment1 CIDR: number of treated animals (%) Treatment2 PGF2α: number of treated animals (%)	49/58 (84.5) 14/60 (23.30)	9/58 (15.5) 46/60 (76.70)	0.000	11/56 (19.6) 4/13 (30.8)	45/56 (80.4) 9/13 (69.2)	0.296	Chi- Square test	
BCS across treatments (1-5)	2.90	2.80	0.335	3.20	2.80	0.006	Mann	
Parity across treatments	3.00	3.10	0.712	3.60	2.90	0.141	Whitney	
Age (years) across treatments	8.30	9.00	0.253	9.80	8.00	0.057	Anova or T-test	
Milk production (Kg) across treatments	5.10	4.10	0.160	5.20	5.20	0.986	same results	
	74(61.5)	52(43.4)						

DISCUSSION

Postpartumanoestrusisamajorcauseofinfertilityandlonginter-calvingintervals. Thisstudy demonstrated that oestrusexpressionwashigherinanimalsreceivingaprotractedregimenofprogesteronereleaseusingaCIDR device. This is because high progesterone in the blood supply suppresses GnRH neurons into niccenter of the superscript supehypothalamus. However LH secretion still remains relatively high along with tonic FSH release which helps in the secret secretthe development of a cohort of follicles. The high P4 prevents follicles from reaching the preovulatory stage.Furthermore high P4 primes the brain for estrogen and on CIDR removal a surge of GnRH occurs, which increasesFSHandLHsecretionfromtheanteriorpituitary.ThechangeinthesizeofthefollicleduetoFSHand LHreleasealsoincreaseE2production(Senger,2005).ThereforetheCIDRcausesahighpercentageofanimals displaying an oestrus response relative to those receiving PG only. The PG is only effective in the presence of a functional CL, while insummer the buff alohave small inactive ovaries without any palpable structures and so the structure sthey do not respond to PG. The pregnancy percentage was lower in CIDR group than PG group animals and there is the present of the present owerenosignificant differences across treatments. This may be due to the failure of ovulation after the GnRH surge, or an in appropriate timing of AI following a delay in ovulation by 30 hours after standing heat observed in the standard standarbuffaloes (Kanai & Shimizu, 1983; Warriach, Channa, & Ahmad, 2008). The relatively high pregnancy percentage in the PG groups ugg est sthat heat detection was accurate and this option may be an effective method the statement of the statemfor small holder dairy farmers to use system. Only one animal (1/35) in PG group was detected on heat on government farms where teaser bull was used twice a day for heat detection along with visual observation.



Suspected animals were rectaly palpated for confirmation of heat. Therefore the current 48 and 60 hours TAI, which was originally estimated for cattle/cows, needs further research for Buffaloes. There is also an eed for investigations on detecting heat and AI using CIDR devices in small-holder rural dairy systems where the animals are underfrequent observation. The farmer can detect animal on heat without any additional time and cost. Body conditions core has no influence on oestrus response but has a significant effect on pregnancy rate. This further accentuates the need for good nutrition and shows the efficacy of the set reatment protocols in well fed animals.

CONCLUSION

ThisstudyshowsthattheCIDRdeviceismoreeffectiveinsynchronizingoestrusthantheuseofPG.Thehigh oestrusresponseandlowpregnancyrateinCIDRgrouprequiresmoreresearchontheuseofTAItechniqueswith theCIDRdevicetooptimisethetimingofAI.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authoris thank fulto AusAID for funding the study, Pfizer Australia for providing free CIDRS and ASLP team for their immenses upport during trials.

REFERENCES

Acharya, R.(1990). The buffalo: dairy, draught and meatanimal of Asia.

- Barile, V.L., Galasso, A., Marchiori, E., Pacelli, C., Montemurro, N., & Borghese, A. (2001). Effect of PRID treatmentonconceptionrateinmediterraneanbuffaloheifers. LivestockProductionScience, 68(2-3), 283-287.doi:10.1016/s0301-6226(00)00228-1
- Baruselli, P. (2001). Controloffollicular developmentapplied to reproduction biotechnologies in buffalo Atti, 1, 128-146.
- Borghese, A. (2005). Buffaloproduction and research. REUTechnical Series.
- Borghese, A., Barile, V., Terzano, G., Pilla, A., & Parmeggiani, A. (1995). Melatonintrendduringseasonsin heifersandbuffalocows. Bubalusbubalis, 1,61-65.
- Chaudhry, R.(1990). Recentadvances infemale reproduction.
- Cockrill, R.(1993). Developing the waterbuffalo: a decade of promise. Buffalo Journal, 9(1), 1-11.
- DeRensis, F., & Lopez-Gatius, F. (2007). Protocols for synchronizing estrus and ovulation in buffalo (Bubalus bubalis): A review. Theriogenology, 67(2), 209-216. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology. 2006.09.039
- Hafez, E. (1955). Puberty in the buffalo-cow. The Journal of Agricultural Science, 46(02), 137-142.
- Hafez, E., Jainudeen, M., & Rosnina, Y. (2000). Hormones, growth factors, and reproduction. HAFEZ, ESE; HAFEZ, B.Reproduction infarmanimals, 7, 33-54.
- Heranjal, D., Sheth, A., Wadadekar, K., Desai, R., & Rao, S. (1979). Serumgonadotrophins and prolactinin anoestrus buffaloes. Indian J. Dairy Sci, 32, 383-385.

Jainudeen, M.(1990). Reproduction problems of buffaloes in the world.

Kaker, M.L., Razdan, M.N., & Galhotra, M.M. (1982). Serum prolactinlevels of hon-cycling murrah buffaloes (Bubalus bubalis). Theriogenology, 17(5), 469-474. doi:10.1016/0093-691x(82)90173-x

≪111≫

Kanai, Y., & Shimizu, H. (1983). Characteristics of the estrous cycle of the swamp buffalo under temperate
conditions.Theriogenology,19(4),593-602.doi:10.1016/0093-691x(83)90179-6

- MadanM.L.,N.,S.M.K.,Tri,C.V.,A.K.andPrakash,B,S.(1983).Plasmaestradiol17-fÅ,progesteroneand cortisolamonganesterusruralanimals.PaperpresentedattheSymposiumonanimalreproductioninIndia, HAU,Hissar,India.
- Morgan, P., & Williams, L. (1989). Central melaton in receptors: implications for a mode of action. Cellular and Molecular LifeSciences, 45(10), 955-965.
- Mudgal, V.(1979). Effect of levels of nutrition on reproduction in riverine buffaloes. Buffalo Reproduction and Artificial Insemination. FAOAnimal Production and Health Paper, 13, 247-257.
- Naseer, Z., Ahmad, E., Singh, J., & Ahmad, N. (2011). Fertility Following CIDR Based Synchronization Regimens in Anoestrous Nili-Ravi Buffaloes. Reproduction in Domestic Animals, no-no. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0531.2010.01746.x
- Neglia, G., Gasparrini, B., Di Palo, R., De Rosa, C., Zicarelli, L., & Campanile, G. (2003). Comparison of pregnancy rates with two estrus synchronization protocols in Italian Mediterranean Buffalo cows. Theriogenology,60(1),125-133.doi:10.1016/s0093-691x(02)01328-6
- Pakistan, M.o.F.G.o. (2011-12). Pakistane conomic survey.
- Palta, P., Mondal, S., Prakash, B.S., & Madan, M.L. (1997). Peripheralinhibin levels in relation to climatic variations and stage of estrous cycle in buffalo (Bubalus bubalis). Theriogenology, 47(5), 989-995. doi: 10.1016/s0093-691x(97)00055-1
- Pandey, M., & Roy, A. (1966). VitaminAandcarotenestatusofdomesticruminantsandtheeffectofseasonson vitaminA storageinbuffaloes. The Indianveterinary journal, 43(7), 613.
- Parmeggiani,A.,Seren,E.,Esposito,L.,Borghese,A.,DiPalo,R.,&Terzano,G.(1993).
- Plasma levels of melatonin in buffalo cows. PUBLICATION-EUROPEANASSOCIATIONFORANIMAL PRODUCTION,62,401-401.
- Perera, B.M.A.O. (2011). Reproductive cycles of buffalo. Animal Reproduction Science, 124(3-4), 194-199. doi:10.1016/j.anireprosci.2010.08.022
- Presicce,G.(2007).Reproductioninthewaterbuffalo.ReproductioninDomesticAnimals,42,24-32.
- Presicce,G.A.(2007).ReproductionintheWaterBuffalo.ReproductioninDomesticAnimals,42,24-32.doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0531.2007.00907.x
- Qureshi,M.,Habib,G.,Samad,H.,Lodhi,L.,&Usmani,R.(1999).StudyonFactorsLeadingtoSeasonalityof ReproductioninDairyBuffaloesII.Non-NutritionalFactors.ASIANAUSTRALASIANJOURNALOF ANIMAL SCIENCES,12,1025-1030.
- Qureshi,M.,Samad,H.,Habib,G.,Usmani,R.,&Siddiqui,M.(1999).StudyonFactorsLeadingtoSeasonality of Reproduction in Dairy Buffaloes I. Nutritional Factors. ASIAN AUSTRALASIAN JOURNAL OF ANIMAL SCIENCES,12,1019-1024.
- Razdan, M., Kaker, M., & Galhotra, M. (1981). Serum luteinizing hormone levels of non-cycling buffaloes (Bubalusbubalis). Indian J Anim. Sci, 51, 286-288.
- Reiter, R.J. (1991). Pineal gland interface between the photoperiodic environment and the endocrine system. Trends in Endocrinology & amp; Metabolism, 2(1), 13-19. doi:10.1016/1043-2760(91)90055-r

≪112≫

Reiter, R.J. (1998). Chapter5Thepinealgland. In E.E. Bittar&B. Neville (Eds.), Principles of Medical Biology (Vol. Volume 10, pp. 145-164): Elsevier.

Roy,K.S.,&Prakash,B.S.(2007).Seasonalvariationandcircadianrhythmicityoftheprolactinprofileduring thesummermonthsinrepeat-breedingMurrahbuffaloheifers.Reproduction,FertilityandDevelopment, 19(4),569-575.doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/RD06093

Senger, P.L. (2005). Pathwaysto Pregnancy and Parturition (2nd Reviseded.): Current Conceptions, Inc.

Shah, S.N.H. (1990). Prolonged calving intervals in the Nili-Ravibuffalo Rijks universite itte Utrecht.

Sheth,A.,Wadadekar,K.,Moodbidri,S.,Janakiraman,K.,&Parameswaran,M.(1978).Seasonalalterationsin theserumprolactinandLHlevelsinthewaterbuffaloes.CurrentScience,47(3),75-77.

- Singh,G.,Singh,G.B.,Sharma,R.D.,&Nanda,A.S.(1984).OvulationandfertilityafterPRID,PRID+GnRH andGnRHinanestrousbuffaloes.Theriogenology,21(6),859-867.doi:10.1016/0093-691x(84)90379-0
- Warriach, H. M., Channa, A.A., & Ahmad, N. (2008). Effect of oestrus synchronization methods on oestrus behaviour, timing of ovulation and pregnancy rated uring the breeding and low breedings easons in Nili-Ravi buffaloes. Animal Reproduction Science, 107(1-2), 62-67. doi:10.1016/j.anireprosci.2007.06.007
- Wettemann, R.P., & Tucker, H.A. (1974). Relationship of Ambient Temperature to Serum Prolactinin Heifers. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine.
- SocietyforExperimentalBiologyandMedicine(NewYork,N.Y.),146(3),908-911.doi:10.3181/00379727-146-38217

≪113≫

Zicarelli,L.(1997b).Reproductiveseasonalityinbuffal.BubalusBubalis.4(Suppl 29),52-54.

Proceedingsofthe15thAAAPAnimalScienceCongress 26-30November2012, ThammasatUniversity, RangsitCampus, Thailand

TheInfluenceofImprovedColostrumManagementandMilk FeedingRegimensonSerumProteinandWeightGaininSahiwal CalvesinPakistan

C.J.Coombes, H.M.Warriach, D.M.McGill, S.Latif, Z.B.Naqviand P.C.Wynn

 $\label{eq:provision} Provision of a dequate colos trum to new born calves is essential for cal fhe althand future animal productivity. The ideal combination of colos trum and milk ration and its subsequent effect on Sahiwal calf performance and immune systeminitiation was investigated in this study. Sahiwal calves (n=32) we reallocated to colos trum and milk ration and videly accepted improved husband rypractices. It was found that appropriate colos trum feeding increased serum protein concentration significantly (p<0.01), while milk ration and calfstart erintake had the greatest influence on overall live weight gain to we aning (p<0.05 for both parameters). By improving provision of colos trum and milk, Pakistanifarmers will be able to raised airy calves in a manner that is cost effective while also increasing the future productive potential of their milking herds.$

KeyWords: Sahiwal,Calf,Colostrum,Pre-weaning,Pakistan,Productivity

INTRODUCTION

Newborncalvesarebornwithanon-functionalimmunesystemandrelyonthepassivetransferofantibodiesvia colostrumfromtheirdaminthefirst24hoursafterbirthinordertoinitiateimmunesystemdevelopment(Weaver etal.2000).Provisionofcolostrumtocalvesisknowntoreducemorbidityandmortalityduetothedecreased chanceofmicrobialinfection, and the failure of passive transfer of colostral immunoglobulins to the new born calfisamajoreconomicconcernforcattleproducersacrosstheglobe(Godden2008).Therateofmortalityin Sahiwalheifercalvesto30daysofageisestimatedtobeabove11%inPakistan(Wynnetal.2009),morethan twicethatofcalvesinAmericandairyfarms(Waltner-Toews,Martin&Meek1986).Sahiwalandbuffalocalves are often deprived of colos trum because of husbandry practices in Pakistan that prevent free access to the dam, and the second seconand prohibit the suck ling of the calf until the placentais expelled. This is often accompanied by restrictions tomilkfedpre-weaning.Itishypothesisedthattraditionallyraisedcalvesareimmunocompromisedasaresultof this colostrum deprivation. Morbidity and mortality of calves can be reduced by making improvements to traditionalhusbandrypractices(Perezetal.1990), includingprovision of adequate colostrum in the 24 hours afterbirth(Nocek,Braund&Warner1984).Calfperformanceandweightgainisalsoenhancedbyanincreasein the volume of milk fed to calves (Huber et al. 1984). The objective of this study was to evaluate the effects ofimproving calfmanagement in Pakistan by increasing the volumes of colos trum and milk fed to calve sin order to the second secpositivelyinfluenceimmunologicaldevelopmentandweightgaintoweaning.

MATERIALSANDMETHODS

Colostrumgroupandserumprotein

Newborn Sahiwal calves (20 male and 12 female) were used in a 2x2 factorial experiment conducted at the LivestockProductionResearchInstitute(LPRI), Bahadurnagar, Pakistan. Calves were randomly allocated to a colostrum group ('Traditional'or'Improved') to encompass the first 24 hours post birth, and were house das a group separate from their dams. Colostrum washand milked from the calf's dam, weighed, and fed to the calf. Colostrum intake for'Traditional' calves was a spergeneral Pakistani practice, withon ly one quarter of the udder being milked. The Improved group reflected ideal calfrearing practices with all four quarters of the udder being milked. Blood was collected by jugular venipuncture at 48 hours of a geand centrifuged (1200 xg) to separate the serum. Serum protein concentration was used as a measurement of immunological development and was determined using a hand-held refractometer (Milwaukee MR series, accuracy +/-0.02g with automatic temperature control)



Milkrationandgrowthrate

At24hoursofage, calves were moved into individual crates and randomly allocated to milk ration groups. The 'Low' group reflected common calf rearing practices in Pakistan and milk was fed at a rate of 7.5% calf bodyweightperday. The 'High' group was fed at rate of 12.5% calf body weightperday. Calves were fed pooled freshmilk twice daily vianipple feeders and weighed every sevend as son as tanding scale four hours after their morning milk feed. Milk rations were adjusted week ly after weighing the calves to reflect the new body weight. Calves were fed their specific milk ration until they reached six weeks of a gewhen they were then gradually we ane dover three weeks using as tepdown method (Khanetal. 2007). Upon reaching eight weeks of a gemnilk was completely with drawn from the diet. Calfs tarter pellets were offered all bit um from four weeks of a geuntil weaning, and in take was recorded three times per week over a 24 hour period. Calves remained in the trial until three months of a ge, upon which they were returned to the LPR lherd.

Statistics

 $\label{eq:analyse} An ANOVA was used to analyse the effect the main factors had on calfs erum protein concentration, weight gain perday, and final weaning weight. The effect of covariates was investigated by way of simple linear regression. The level of significance used in this study was 0.05.$

RESULTS

Serumprotein

 $Colostrumintakefor'Traditional'calvesaveraged 2.56L\pm0.90L, and for'Improved'calvesaveraged 4.39L\pm 0.93L. Serumprotein concentration was significantly influenced by colostrum group (p<0.01). This is a direct result of improved colostrum intake, with total volume of colostrum ingested also having a significant effect (p<0.01). Litres of colostrumingested per kilogram of calf body weight also influenced serum protein concentrations ignificantly (p<0.01). The quality of the colostrum (grams of protein per litre of colostrum) had no effect on serum protein concentration. Failure of passive transfer (FPT) of immunity was classified as a serum protein concentration in the serum protein concentration of the serum protein for the serum protein concentration of the serum protein of the serum protein concentration. Failure of passive transfer (FPT) of immunity was classified as a serum protein concentration of the serum protein of the serum protein concentration. Failure of passive transfer (FPT) of immunity was classified as a serum protein concentration of the serum protein of the serum protein concentration. Failure of passive transfer (FPT) of the serum protein concentration. Seg/dL (Tyleretal. 1996). Calves in the 'Traditional' group experience da FPT rate of 25%, while 'Improved' calves all acquired success fulp assive transfer.$

Liveweightgain

Overallweightgaintoweaningwasmostsignificantlyinfluencedbystarterpelletintakeperday (p<0.05). Milk rationgroupalsohadasignificanteffect (p<0.05), with calves in the 'High' groupgaining 32.5 kg±5.61 kg, and the 'Low' group gaining 27.0 kg ± 7.28 kg to weaning. Colostrum group and the interactions between the colostrum group and milkration didnot have as ignificant effect on overall weight gain.

DISCUSSION

Asanticipated, the traditional methods used to raise Sahiwal calves in Pakistan resulted in inferior live weight gain and poor passive immunity. Provision of colos trum involumes greater than those currently fed to new born calves will significantly increase calfs erum protein concentration and therefore improve immuno competence (Hopkins Quigley 1997). Current research shows that a minimum of 4 Lof colos trum provided within 1 2 hours of calving is required for mew born dairy calves how even this recommendation was derived from studies with Bos taurus breeds (Weaver et al. 2000). Sa hiw als (Bosindicus), may be able to achieve success fulpassive transfer with lower volumes. Increasing the volume of milk fede achday to calves pre-weaning will result in enhanced weight gain. Heavier calves at weaning have the potential to reach puberty faster than lighter calves, provided adequate nutrition is maintain edpost weaning (Boggs et al. 1980). This could lead to more lactation speranimal and therefore reward the farmer with a high erover all milky ield.

CONCLUSION

Improvements to colostrum and milk feeding practices resulted in an enhancement of the functional immune



statusofSahiwalcalvesandanincreaseinliveweightgaintoweaning. Thesetwohusbandrypracticescanbe combinedtoimprovetheefficiencyofcalfrearingbothforfinancialgainandimprovedcalfwelfare. Farmersare thereforelikelytospendmoretimegenerating income from their animals rather than simply keeping them for sociological reasons.

REFERENCES

- Boggs, D.L., Smith, E., Schalles, R., Brent, B., Corah, L. & Pruitt, R.1980, 'Effects of milkand for ageintakeon caliperformance', Journal of animals cience, vol.51, no.3, p.550.
- Godden,S.2008, 'Colostrummanagementfordairycalves', VeterinaryClinicsofNorthAmerica:FoodAnimal Practice, vol.24, no.1, pp.19-39.
- Hopkins, B. & Quigley, J. 1997, 'Effects of method of colostrum feeding and colostrum supplementation on concentrations fimmunoglobulin Gintheserum of neonatal calves', Journal of dairyscience, vol. 80, no. 5, pp.979-83.
- Huber, J., Silva, A., Campos, O.F. & Mathieu, C. 1984, 'Influence of feeding different amounts of milk on performance, health, and absorption capability of baby calves', Journal of dairy science, vol.67, no.12, pp. 2957-63.
- Khan, M., Lee, H., Lee, W., Kim, H., Kim, S., Ki, K., Ha, J., Lee, H. & Choi, Y.2007, 'Pre-andPostweaning performanceofHolsteinfemalecalvesfedmilkthroughstep-downandconventionalmethods', Journal of dairyscience, vol.90, no.2, pp.876-85.
- Nocek, J., Braund, D.& Warner, R.1984, 'Influenceofneonatalcolostrumadministration, immunoglobulin, and continuedfeedingofcolostrumoncalfgain, health, and serum protein', Journalofdairy science, vol.67, no. 2, pp.319-33.
- Perez, E., Noordhuizen, J., Van Wuijkhuise, L. & Stassen, E. 1990, 'Management factors related tocal fmorbidity and mortality rates', Livestock Production Science, vol. 25, no. 1-2, pp. 79-93.
- Tyler, J.W., Hancock, D.D., Parish, S.M., Rea, D.E., Besser, T.E., Sanders, S.G. & Wilson, L.K. 1996, 'Evaluationof3assaysforfailureofpassivetransferincalves', JournalofVeterinaryInternalMedicine, vol. 10,no.5, pp.304-7.
- Waltner-Toews, D., Martin, S. & Meek, A. 1986, 'Dairy calfmanagement, morbidity and mortality in Ontario Holsteinherds. II Ageandse as on alpatterns', Preventive Veterinary Medicine, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 125-35.
- Weaver, D.M., Tyler, J.W., VanMetre, D.C., Hostetler, D.E. & Barrington, G.M. 2000, 'Passive transfer of colostralimmunoglobulinsincalves', JournalofVeterinaryInternalMedicine,vol.14,no.6,pp.569-77.
- Wynn, P., Warriach, H., Morgan, A., McGill, D., Hanif, S., Sarwar, M., Iqbal, A., Sheehy, P.& Bush, R.2009, 'Perinatalnutritionofthecalfanditsconsequencesforlifelongproductivity', Asian-AustralasianJournalof AnimalSciences, vol.22, no.5, pp.756-64.

116

Proceedingsofthe15thAAAPAnimalScienceCongress 26-30November2012,ThammasatUniversity,RangsitCampus,Thailand

EffectofImprovedExtensionServicesonAdoptionRatesand ProductionofSmallHolderDairyFarmersinPakistan

H.M.Warriach1,2,D.M.McGill2,M.Ishaq1,S.Latif1,A.Bhatti1,Z.Batool1,S.Arif1, N.Murtaza1,R.D.Bush3andP.C.Wynn2

University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan, 2EH Graham Centre for Agricultural Innovation, Charles Sturt University, Australia, 3Faculty of Veterinary Science, University of Sydney, CamdenNSW2570Australia

The objective of the study is to demonstrate the effect of improved extension services on adoption rates and production of small holder dairy farmers in Pakistan. During the first phase of the project as impleap proach of extension targeting male farmers was used. Whereas in the second phase of the project awhole family approaches targeting all the family members was utilized. The effect of improved extensions ervices on adoption rates and production data was collected every month from the farmers (n=538). These farmers were working indistricts Kasur, Okara, Pakpattan, Jhelum and Bhakkar within Punjab province. Preliminary, results indicated higher adoption rates when extension services were provided using the whole family approach compared to the simple approach during the first year of both phases. Improved farm practices had significant effects on the milk production of farmers. The average milk production was higher in an imal strom the farmers who had provided free access to water and feeding to the iranimal scompared to those whoke pt the iranimal sunder the traditional practices of the thering animals. The datagenerated from this study will be helpfultod evise betters trategies for improved extensions ervices in order to optimize the dairy production of small holder farmers and will have a ripple effect for the others to follow.

KeyWords: Extensionservices,Smallholderfarmer,Dairy

INTRODUCTION

Pakistan,likemanydevelopingcountries,hasanagrarianruralbasedeconomy.Livestockisamajorcontributor tothenational(12%)andagricultural(50%)economy(PakistanEconomicSurvey,2006).Thelivestocksector hasbeenrecentlydeclaredasoneofthefastestgrowingsectorsandprovidesimprovedlivelihoodsformorethan 35millionpeoplewithfarmers/householdsderiving30to40%oftheinincomefromlivestock. Milk remains the major contributor to income derived from livestock. The value of milk alone exceeds the combinedvalueofwheat,rice,maizeandsugarcaneinthecountry.Milkisproducedunderdifferentproduction systemsnamely,ruralsubsistencesmallholding,ruralmarketorientedsmallholding,ruralcommercialfarmsand peri-urban dairying. It is estimated that around 70% of the dairy households in Pakistan still operate under conditionsofsubsistencebymaintainingherdsofthreeorfouranimals(Burkietal.,2005).Theproductivityof livestock is still lagging behind its potential level. In order to meet the requirements of a rapidly growing population, dairyproductionneedstobeincreased. Thiscanbedonebyadoptingmoderntechniquesofdairy farming.Newtechnologiesdevelopedbyresearchersaredisseminatedamongthefarmersthroughaneffective extensionprogram.

The role of extension has been to provide research-based education and information to the production sector. The most important management areas on a dairy farm are feeding and forages, udder health, reproduction, calf raising, and herdhealth (Dahletal., 1991a). Problems olving in these areas requires abroad base of knowledge and expertise, and often the implementing agency must organize a multidisciplinary team of extensions pecialists or other professional stoassist producers (Dahletal., 1991b). Services to the dairy sector are being provided by government agencies and arange of NGOs, and virtually all services providers who interact with the farmers are veterinarians or para-veterinarians who perform vaccination, treatment and A.I. Limitations in the extension service and the research/extension interface are considered to be bottlenecks in the development of the dairy sector. In particular lthestyle of communication between farmers and extension staff, the number of skilled extension staff and a failure to consider problems and solutions in a



whole-of-farmsystemscontextareimportantlimitations. Thus the majorobjective of this study is to demonstrate the effect of improved extensions ervices on adoption rates and farme conomics of small holder dairy farmers in Pakistan.

MATERIALSANDMETHODS

In2007, anAustralianCentreforInternationalAgriculturalResearch(ACIAR) researchprojectLPS/2005/132 wascommencedwiththeaimofincreasingdairyproductionthroughimprovedextensionservices. Smalldairy farmershaving4-10(buffaloand/orcattle) forproductionwerethemaintargetgroupforthisproject. Duringthe first phase of the project a simple approach of extension targeting male farmers was used. In 2011, ACIAR extended this research project for an additional five years. The project is currently working in five districts of Punjab (Okara, Pakpattan, Kasur, Jhelum, Bhakkar) and two districts (Thatta and Badin) of Sindh province. During this second phase of the project awhole family approach targeting all familymembers was utilized. A number of innovative ways of extension have been adopted including the use of video practices, demonstration plots, problem based learning, staged rama, radio and TV shows to improve the effectiveness of the program. Benchmark data were collected on whole farming systems from 228 farmers during the first phase and 292 farmers during the second phase of the project. Subsequently, at the endofevery yeard at a have been collected to monitor the impact of the seinitiative sontherate of extension message adoption. Inorder to analyze the farme conomics, datawas collected from 10 primary leading farmers, two from each of our project district of Punjabannually.

Theprojectplacedemphasisonacomprehensive interdisciplinary educational programo fine etings, workshops and trainings of both farmers and extension workers. Basichusbandry, nutrition, and calfmanagement were the initial subjects addressed during both phases of the project. A doption rates between the whole family approach and simple approach after one year of both phases were analyzed using a Chi-squaretest. Similarly, adoption rates of various modules at the start and after one year of project phase-II were analyzed using a t-test. Comparisons of various average monthly incomes of small holder farmers were analyzed using a t-test. Statistical analysis was carried out using SPSS (Version 10.0) with <0.05 regarded assignificant.

RESULTS

Adoptionrates (50%) were significantly higher (P < 0.05) by more than three-fold when a whole family approach was implemented compared to the simple approach (14%) after one year of both phases (Figure 1). Comparison of a doption rates of various modules (animal husbandry, basic concepts of hutrition and cal finutrition) at the start and after one year of the second phase is shown in Figure 2. Untying an imals and giving free access to water together with twice daily cleaning of sheds were readily adopted, how ever investing in infrastructure in the form of shed construction was not as easy for farmers (Figure 2a). Offering fodder ad libitum, feeding concentrate and Improve dextensions ervices have significantly increased (P < 0.05) the farmin come of small and mineral mixes were perceived as being readily adoptable messages (Figure 2c). Over all there was about \$ US/month increase in the income of small holder dairy farmer (Table 1)

DISCUSSION

Toourknowledgethisisthefirstreportwhichclearlydescribestheeffectofimproved extension services on adoption rates and farm economics of small holder farmers in Pakistan. Higher adoption rates (50%) were achieved when we introduced a whole family (male, female and children) approach compare to simple approach (14%) relative to the traditional male only approach to extension. An effective extension program with participation by the whole family is highly desirable to enhance farm productivity. Manyorganizations a iming at improving small holder dairying fail to appreciate this fact and ignore women and children in the irraining and skills development programmes. Women normally cannot leave their home and families for a few days to participate intraining programmes and usually require female trainers for effective communication. Thus during the second phase of the project we arranged parallels essions for women and children co-ordinated by women trainers. This approach along with training of the male farmers resulted in high eradoption rates.



In order to demonstrate the role of children in rural communities this project initiated a buffalo calfraising competitionamong the children of farmers (10-16 years) in Pakpattan district. These results demonstrated that under field conditions the average daily buffalo calf live weight gain (431 gm/day) was comparable to many controlled studies invarious leading research institutes of Pakistan (Bhattietal., 2009; Iqbaland Iqbal, 1992). These findings clearly indicated that we can effectively enhance animal productivity through the active involvement of children in our extension program.

In the present study, adoption rates of various modules at the start and after one year of project phase-II are significantly higher. Possible reasons of high adoption rates other than the whole family approach are the implementation of the innovative ways of extension likevide opractices, demonstration plots, problem based learning, staged rama, radio and TV shows. Innovative methods of extension played as ignificant role in order to achieve higher adoption rates. While devising training programmes, one should keep in mind that "Seeing is believing" and "Farmers do not have ears, they only have eyes."

Thepresentstudyclearlydemonstratedthatimprovedextensionservicesresultedinsignificantlyincreasedfarm incomeforsmallholderdairyfarmers. Therewasanaverageincreaseofabout\$US100\$inmonthlyincomeafter oneyearofeffectiveextension. Farmerswereshowntohaveadoptedbasichusbandryandimprovednutrition practices. Providing ad-libitum access to water and feeding resulted in the increase of approximately 1 lit/animal/day(Warriachetal.,unpublisheddata)However, there is an editorious adoption rates on the productivity and farme conomics of small holder farmers. In conclusion, these preliminary results indicate that improved extensions ervices have as ignificant impact on higher adoption rates resulting in an increase infarmine comeso fismall holder farmers.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Theauthorssincerelythankthecooperatingsmalldairyholderfarmersandtheirfamilies, extensionworkers, research assistants for participation and contribution to this project; ACIAR for funding the project No. LPS/2010/007.

REFERENCES

- Bhatti,S.A.,M.S.Khan,M.SarwarandEhsanullah.2009.PerformanceofbuffaloandcowcalvesduringpreweaningperiodundersamemanagementalconditionsattheUniversityofAgriculture,Faisalabad.Pakistan J. Zool.Suppl.Ser.,No.9,pp.623-628,2009.
- Burki, A.A., Khan, M.A., Bari, F., 2005. The state of Pakistan's dairy sector; Anassessment, CMERWorking paperno.05-34. LahoreUniversity of Management Sciences, DHA, LahoreCantt.
- Dahl,J.C.,J.K.Ryder,J.J.Holmes,andA.C.Wollenzien1991a.Thefirststepinimprovingmilkproduction: financialanalysisofamodeldairy.Vet.Med.86:224.
- Dahl,J.C.J.K.Ryder.B.J.Holmes, and A.C.Wollenzien. 1991b. The final stepinim proving milk production of a model dairy implementation of frecommendations. Vet. Med. 86:439.
- Iqbal,T.andIqbal,J.,1992.Raisingofbuffalocalvesondifferentscheduleofwholemilk.In:Thirteenthannual report(1992),LivestockProductionResearchInstitute,Bahadurnagar,Okara,pp.62-63.

Pakistan, EconomicSurvey2006. Ministry of Agriculture, Healthand Food Technology, Islamabad.

Table1.Comparisonofvariousaveragemonthlyincomesofsmallholderfarmers

Survey	No.ofmilking animals	Land(Acers)	Dairyincome/ month(Rs)	Cropsincome/ month(Rs)	Incomefrom othersources/ month(Rs)	Totalincome/ month(Rs)
2011	2	6.7	7161a	5172a	4710a	17043a
2012	2.2	6.7	12758b	9358b	5400b	27516b

a,b Meanswith a different superscripts within a columnare significantly different (P<0.05)





The Journal of Animal & Plant Sciences, 24(4): 2014, Page: 1263-1265 ISSN: 1018-7081

ParticipationofWomeninDairyFarmPracticesunderSmall HolderProductionSysteminPakistan

Z.Batool1,H.M.Warriach1,2,M.Ishaq1,S.Latif1,M.Afzal1,A.Bhatti1, N.Murtaza1,S.Arif1andP.C.Wynn2

University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan, 2EH Graham Center for Agricultural Innovation, CharlesSturtUniversity, Australia

The objective of the study was to investigate the participation of women indairy farm practices in the small-holder production system in Pakistan. A question naire was designed to collect the data from female farmers (n=200) of districts Bhakkarand Jhelumin the Punjab province. Our results indicate that the participation of women indairy farm practices was significantly higher (p<0.05) in Bhakkaras compared to district Jhelum. The present study suggested that, in order to maximize the small-holder dairy farm productivity, as trongextension program should be implemented to enhance the skills and knowledge of women.

KeyWords: Women, Dairyfarmpractices, Smallholder

INTRODUCTION

Livestock are considered a key asset for rural livelihoods and offer significant opportunities for improving household incomes. Women traditionally play a major role in conducting various livestock management activities allover the world. Pakistaniwomenhave as ignificant role in agriculture and livestock rearing. Nearly 65.9 % of Pakistan's population are living in rural areas that are directly and indirectly linked with the agricultural related sector for their livelihood (Farhana et al; 2008). Women comprise half of the rural population and contribute 60 to 80 % of labourin the animal husbandry (Younasetal., 2007). Womennot only performnormal household chores such as cooking, cleaning, mending clothes and raising children (Kazmi, 1999), but also participate in rearing of livestock and carry outvarious dairy farmpractices. These practices include feeding and watering, fodder cutting, cleaning animals and their sheds, caring for sick animals, calfrearing, milking and the processing of dairy products like ghee, butter and yogurt. Some of the seactivities, like fodder production, are generally considered the responsibility of fmen, but immany cases the women are also involved.

The participation of women in dairy farm practices varies by region, age, culture and social status and are changing rapidly insome parts of the country. The existing information regarding participation of women in dairy farm practices is very limited. Therefore, the present study was aimed to investigate the participation of women indairy farm practices in the small-holder production system within the districts of Bhakkarand Jhelum. Additionally, possible factors affecting the irparticipation indairy farm practices investigated. It is anticipated that the information generated from this study will be helpful indentifying the extension needs and are as where women can improve dairy production by enhancing herskills and knowledge.

MATERIALSANDMETHODS

A dairyextensionproject(no.LPS/2010/2007,fundedbyACIAR)isworkinginPakistanaimedatstrengthening thedairyvaluechainsinPakistanthroughimprovedfarmmanagementandmoreeffectiveextensionservices. A questionnairewasdesignedtocollectdatafromprojectworkingareas,92femalefarmersfromBhakkarand102 from Jhelum. These two districts provide a contrast between an undeveloped arid region poorly served by irrigation and state livestock services (Bhakkar) and a more advanced region where farmers have access to extensive irrigation and support from the state livestock veterinarians (Jhelum). Eight villages were selected fromBhakkarandninefromJhelum.

(121)

Statisticalanalysis

Participation of women indairy farm practices undersmall holder production system in comparison to Bhakkar and Jhelum was analyzed using Chi-squaretest. All the analysis was carried out with the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS-13.0). A p-value of 0.05 was regarded assignificant.

RESULTS

Participation of women indairy farm practices was significantly higher (P<0.05) in Bhakkaras compared to district Jhelum. Comparisons of various dairy farm practices between both districts are shown in Table 1. Socio-economical status and cultural norms are significantly affecting women's participation indairy farm practices in the small-hold erproduction system in Bhakkarand Jhelum. From Jhelum 15.6% women are not participating in dairy farm practices due to cultural or religious barriers and 24% due to their relative affluence. Whereas, in district Bhakkaron ly 4.4% are prohibited from participating because of a cultural barrier while 9% are not participating due to the irrefuguence. The education level for women was observed to be almost the same in both Bhakkarand Jhelum (Figland Fig2).

DISCUSSION

Thepresentstudyrevealedthattheparticipationofwomenindairyfarmpracticeswassignificantlyhigherin BhakkarincomparisontodistrictJhelum.Womenareexclusivelytakingpartinvariousdairyfarmpracticeslike husbandryandnutritionalmanagement.Thepresentstudyshowsclearlythatprovisionofappropriateextension services to women in the field of animal husbandry and nutritional is likely to significantly improve the productionofanimals.Thewomentrainedinlivestockproductionactivitieswillhelpincreasemilkandmeat productionatthenationallevelandraisehouseholdincomes(Younusetal.,2007;Shehzad,2004).

Factorscausinglowerparticipationofwomenindairyfarmpracticesaresocio-economicalstatusandcultural normsinJhelum.Genderrolesareshapedbyideological,religious,ethnic,economicandculturalfactorsandare akeydeterminantofthedistributionofresponsibilitiesandresourcesbetweenmenandwomen(Moser,1989). OursurveydatashowedthatfromJhelum15.6%womenarenottakingpartindairyfarmpracticesduetocultural barriersand24%duetotheirhigheconomicalstatus.Thelatter24%ofeconomicallyadvantagedwomendonot workthemselvesbuttheyhirelabourers,whereasmostoftheruralandtribalwomendomostoftheonfarmwork themselves.Landholdingalsoaffectstheireconomicalstatus.AlthoughtheaveragelandholdinginBhakkar(9 Acres)islargerthaninJhelum(6.9Acres)butthefertilityoflandispoorerThelowersoilfertilitywithless irrigationwaterandmorehotweatheraremajorfactorslimitingproductioninBhakkarwhileholdingsinJhelum arehighlyfertileandproductive.

The presents tudy indicated that the education level was almost the same in the two districts. According to the Pakistan Social and Living Standard Measurement (PSLM) Survey 2010-11 the literacy rate for the population (10 years and above) is 58 percent. (Pakistan Economic Survey 2011-12). It is important to know that equal opportunities (schools and colleges) are available in both of the districts, which would seem to be the case given the results of our survey. The presents tudy suggested that, in order to maximize the dairy farm productivity a strong extension programs hould be implemented to enhance the skills and knowledge of women. We propose to identify the remote areas where more women are taking part in livestock production. Following this, these women can be engaged with extension programs to ensure they know of the best practices for livestock health and production.

REFERENCES

- Farhanaetal;2008,Exploringthegenderinvolvementinagriculturaldecisionmaking:Acasestudyofdistrict chakwal,PakJAgri.Sci.,Vol.45(3),2008.
- Kazmi,S.1999.WomenResourceDevelopmentintheAgriculturalSector(BookXVI)AssociationofBusiness, ProfessionalandAgriculturalWomen,Pakistan:516-522.
- Moser, C. 1989. Gender planning in the Third World: meeting practical and strategic gender needs. World Development, 17(11):1799–1825.



Shahzad, M. 2004. Daughters of the Soil, Tuesday, January 04, 2004 Ziqa'ad 13, 1424 A.H. http://www.lead.org.pk/.

Younas, M., S. Gulrez, and H. Rehman, 2007. Women's role in livestock production. The Dawn. Dec 17, 2007. http://www.dawn.com.

Table 1. Comparison of participation of women invarious dairy farm practices between district Bhakkar and Jhelum

	Districts				
Livestockmanagementactivities	Bhakkar(%)	Jhelum(%)			
ShedCleaning	71(78.3)	80(73.1)			
Foddercuttingfromfield	19(20.7)a	17(15.7)b			
Feedandwatering	58(64.1)a	22(19.4)b			
Careofcalf	67(73.9)a	32(28.7)b			
Milking	71(78.3)a	22(19.4)b			
Milksale	64(69.6)a	61(56.5)b			
Careofsickanimals	37(40.2)a	10(9.3)b			
Valueadditionofmilk	71(78)	98(89.9)			

a,bmeanswithadifferentsuperscriptwithinrowsaresignificantlydifferent(P<0.05)



(123)

Proceedingsofthe15thAAAPAnimalScienceCongress 26-30November2012,ThammasatUniversity,RangsitCampus,Thailand

MarketingMilkfromSmall-HolderDairyFarmersinPakistan

S.S.Godfrey1,T.Nordblom1,H.M.Warriach1,2,N.Aslam1,P.C.Wynn1, G.Ramsay1andK.Behrendt1

- EHGrahamCentreforAgriculturalInnovation,CharlesSturtUniversity,Australia,
- 2 UniversityofVeterinaryandAnimalSciences,Lahore,Pakistan

The dairy sector offers en or mous scope for economic growth and poverty alleviation. A very high proportion (97%)ofthemilkproducedgoestoconsumersthroughtraditionalvaluechains. These chains are adominating linkbetweenmillionsoffarmersandconsumers.Developmentstrategies,however,havenotbeenabletotapthe pro-poorpotentialthatthesechainsoffer, targeting instead high profile processors. These large scale processors serviceonlythemostaccessibleandlargerfarmerswithoutconsideringthepredominantpopulationofsmallholderfarmers: ineffect they are only interested ine conomies of scale. The study reported in this paper will describethekeyattributesoftraditionalchainsandthenhighlighttheopportunitiesandrisksassociatedwith their evolution and their potential to assist the profitability of farmers contributing milk to them. The chains are the statement of the stcharacterized by the collection of milkonfarm and then selling this to a primary milkven do rofdhodi. The milkis thenonsoldto2-3largermilkvendorsinachainwhocollectandthentransportthemilktocommercialretail outletsinlargeurbancentres.Duringtheseprocessesoftransfermilkmaybeadulteratedanddilutedtoensure thateachvendorisabletomakeaprofitfromtheirtransactions.Milkisalsosoldeitherbyvolumeorbyweight: sincethedensityofmilkisgreaterthanthatofwaterthereisasmallincrementalprofitthataccumulateswith these transactions. The volumes of vessels used for the assessment of payments are also not standardized. In the volume of the value of the valueessencethefarmerisrarelyaccordedfullpaymentforthisproduct, which is often of poorquality once marketed. However, importantly each of the vendors provides loans to those one step further up the chain there by enabling each member to survive financially. The farmers receive cash advances for their product to enable them to continue to purchase resources required to feed and carefor the animals. Thus the flow of production nedirection the animal statement of the statement of theto market and the flow of cash in the form of loans in the other direction are equally significant to the sustainabilityofthesechains.

KeyWords: Milk,Small-holder,Dairyfarmers,Marketingchains

INTRODUCTION

Inspiteofanageofindustrialdevelopment, agriculturestillformsamajorpartoftheback-boneofthePakistani economy. Its contribution to the nation's GDP has decreased from 25.9 percentin 1999-2000 to 20.9 percentin 2010-11. The majoragricultural pursuits include cropping, livestock fisheries and forestry. While the cropping sectom has shrunk over the past 12 years from 65.1 percentin 1990-91 to 37.5 percentin 2010-11, the contribution of livestock to the agricultural sectom has increased from 29.8 percention 55.8 percentin the same period (Hassan, 2010-11). Of the 46.44 million to nue soft milk produced in Pakistan 16.13 million to nue soft million to use from a standard to the same period (Hassan, 2010-11). Of the 46.44 million to nue soft milk produced in Pakistan 16.13 million to nue soft million to use from a standard to the same period (Hassan, 2010-11). Of the 46.44 million to nue soft milk produced in Pakistan 16.13 million to nue soft million to use from a standard to the same period (Hassan, 2010-11). Of the 46.44 million to nue soft milk produced in Pakistan 16.13 million to nue soft million to the same period (Hassan, 2010-11). Of the 46.44 million to nue soft milk produced in Pakistan 16.13 million to nue soft million to the same period (Hassan, 2010-11). Of the 46.44 million to nue soft milk produced in Pakistan 16.13 million to nue soft million to the same period (Hassan, 2010-11). Which there are a standard to the same period (Hassan, 2010-11). Which there are a standard to the same period (Hassan, 2010-11), which there are a standard to the same period (Hassan, 2010-11), which there are a standard to the same period (Hassan, 2010-11). Which there are a standard to the same period (Hassan, 2010-11). Which there are a standard to the same period (Hassan, 2010-11). Which there are a standard to the same period (Hassan, 2010-11). Which there are a standard to the same period (Hassan, 2010-11). Which there are a standard to the same period (Hassan, 2010-11). Which there are a standard to the same period (Has

Most of this milk volume is generated from more than 8.5 million small-holder farmer sowning less than 10 animals kepton smallare as of 1-5 hectares: 94 percent of farms in Pakistanareless than 10 hectare sinarea (Khan et al, 2010). Although cropping activities have traditionally generated the predominance of family income, the challenger emains to increase lives to ck productivity to help the family budget and alleviate poverty in rural regions.

Both milk production and demand vary significantly over the course of the year. Fortunately the production curves of buffalo and cowscomplemente acho ther well to provide a relatively constant supply of milk. Peak the second second

≪124>>>

productivity for buffalo is achieved post calving from September to December, while spring calving cows provide peak milkyields during the high consumptions ummermonths from Mayto August. Maintaining this patterno finil kproduction requires the farmer to maintain feed supply during the annual periods offeed deficit at the height of summer and middle of winter. This is rarely achieved and somilk supply decreases to 55% of peak production in summer just when demand has increased by 60%. The link between the produce rand the consumer is provided predominantly by informal milk marketing chains, with only 3% of the product being handled by commercial milk processing companies. The nature of the informal marketing network has been investigated here.

MATERIALSANDMETHODS

TwodistrictsofPunjabwerechosenfortheseobservationalstudiesbasedontheircontrastingclimaticattributes aswellastheirrelativeeconomicdevelopment.FarmersintheOkaraareaareservicedbyirrigationandhave readyaccesstogovernmentveterinaryservices.Characteristicallytheygenerateincomefrombothcroppingand livestockenterprises.ThisregionisclosetolargeurbanmarketsinLahore.IncontrastBhakkarisadriermore isolated environment, where irrigation is limited by water supply most often from bores and government veterinaryservicesarescarce.

The author has investigated the structure and dynamics of typical marketing chains in each region by interviewing participants from the initial milk collector operating at the farm gate through to the final milk vendor in urban Lahore. Limited milk samples have been analyzed for milk protein, fat, added water and mycotoxinM ltoassessmilkqualityattheshop-front.

RESULTS

It is important to note that a significant proportion of milkons mall-holder dairy farms is consumed domestically, often with little entering these marketing chains. However with the advent of more effective extension programs a higher proportion of the family production enters the sechains. The traditional chains remain in a reaswhere transportation is limited by poor oad infrastructure allowing only motor bicycles access to the farm gate.

The semarketing chains are characterized by a complex series of inter-personal interactions that dictate the flow of product from the farm to the consumer. They involve both financial transactions as well as the manipulation of the product to generate a profit for each operator in the chain. One such chain is illustrated in Figure 1.



Thefirststep:thedhodi

Inthiscasemilkfromover800farmerswascollectedbysmallmilkcollectors,knowncolloquiallyasdhodis, servicing10farmerseachusingmotorbicycles.Thefarmerandthedhodiaredependentoneachotherwiththe farmerprovidingtheproductandthedhodiextendspayments2weeksinadvancetoallowthefarmertopayfor theupkeepofhisanimals.ThesepaymentsextendfromPKR2,000to10,000perfortnightdependingonmilk volume Anecdotalevidenceshowsthatthedhodiinsomeinstancesdeliverspharmaceuticalsandotheressential productstoisolatedfamiliesandofcourseisamajordisseminatorofinformationthroughoutthecommunity.The productleavesthefarmintactcontainingthenormalfat(6%inbuffaloand3.5%incow)andprotein(3.2-3.5%) levels.Thequalityofmilkleavingthefarmisassessedtypicallybytasteandsmellonlywithnoassessmentfor cellcountormicrobialsafety.Thepricepaidforthemilkwillvaryaccordingtosupplyanddemandaswellas localfactorssuchastheinterventionofmilkbuyersfromthelargercompanies.Thepricedifferentialbetweenthe dhodiandthecorporatebuyerismostoftenaroundPKR2.Howeverthepriceofferedbythedhodiisdictatedby themediummilkcollector.Milkiscollectedincontainerswith44.7kgwhichwhenadjustedformilkdensity becomes49litres.Ifthemilkfatisashighas6%thevolumeendsupas53litres.Theadjustmentfrom44.7to53 litresprovidesalucrativemarginforthesmallcollectorofPKR265workingonthebasisofPKR32perlitrefor milk.

Thesecondstep:themediummilkcollector

Themilkfromaround10smallcollectorsisaggregatedbymediummilkcollectors,whoassessmilkqualityby measuringfatcontentonly.Commerciallyfatisthemostimportantcomponentdownthemarketingchain.The mediumcollectorispaidafixedcommissiononmilkvolume,whichisfixedandnotdependentontheprevailing milkprice.ThesecollectorsinturnprovideloansofuptoPKR0.1milliontoallowdhodistoserviceorreplace theirmodeoftransport,theirmotorbicycles.Theycollectaround600litresanddonothavetotransportthemilk anywhere.

Thethirdstep:thelargemilkcollector

Atthispoint the volumes of milkaregetting larger with more than 5,000 litres being collected from 10 small collectors. The larger collector requires a form of transportation for the milk which is usually a truck while milk is being collected in containers of a round 160 litres. The merchant now needs to employ at least 6 staff with a truck which might well be on the road collecting and distributing for 18 hours daily for 365 days of the year. Ice is now being added to container satabout 10% by weight of volume.

Thefourthstep:theretailer

The typical retail outlets sell around 400 litres per day. Again the hours of operation are long with retail outlets being open for 17 hours per day: ice is often used as power out ages are common over the summer months during the peak milk consumption period. Some of the milk may be converted into fermented products like yogh urt and lass i, both of which are gaining in popularity and add to the profitability of the shop. Preliminary analyses of milk samples purchased from retail outlets in Lahore have suggested that milk protein content can be as low as 1.5% with milk fat at around 3.1% and water added to dilute the original product by 1:2 (N.Aslam, unpublished results). In the limited analyses conducted to date a flat oxin M lise x pressed at levels 5-10 times acceptable world standards (NAslam, unpublished results).

DISCUSSION

Clearly the structure of traditional milk marketing chains has been honed from centuries of evolution in which the most ratelimiting resources have been transport and refrigeration: in essence each member of the chain is quick to pass on the product to the next link as quickly as possible while at the same time generating as mall profit margin for each litre of milk transacted.

Inreturnthechainprovides aflow of finance in the opposite direction to finance the activities of those one step closer to the source of milk, the cow or buffalo. The very complexity of the structure provides significant



employmentopportunities for relatively under-educated merchants. With improvements intransportation and an increasing demand by the consumer for a high quality product that meets acceptable foods a fety standards, the whole structure of the set raditional means of milk marketing may be threat ened. The consequences for village communities remain to be seen.

REFERENCES

- Farooq, O. (2011). Agriculture, Economic Survey of Pakistan, Ministry of Finance, Govenment of Pakistan Retrievedfrom http://www.finance.gov.pk/survey/chapter_11/02-Agriculture.pdf.
- Hassan,Z.(2010-11).GrowthandInvestment,EconomicSurveyofPakistan,MinistryofFinance,Govenement ofPakistanRetrievedfrom http://www.finance.gov.pk/survey/chapter_11/01-Growth%20and%20Investment.pdf.
- Khan,B.,Habib,A.andFayyaz,A(January2010).AgricultureStatisticsofPakistan2008-09.Governmentof Pakistan.

(127)



ImprovedCalfRearingPracticesUnderSmallholderFarming SystemsinPakistan

S. ArifA,F,H.M.WarriachA,B,D.M.McGillB,P.C.ThomsonC,Z.BatoolA,S.LatifA,A.BhattiA, M.IshaqA,R.D.BushCandP.C.WynnB

- A UniversityofVeterinary&AnimalSciences,Lahore,Pakistan
- B GrahamCentreforAgriculturalInnovation,CharlesSturtUniversity,Australia
- C FacultyofVeterinaryScience,UniversityofSydney,CamdenNSW2570,Australia

Abstract

The objective of the study was to evaluate the improved calf rearing practices under smallholder farming systems inPakistan. In the2011, a surveywascarriedoutacross523 smallholderdairy farms from five districts (Okara, Pakpattan, Jhelum, Kasur, and Bhakkar) of the Punjab through personal interview. Dataon aspectssuchas calvingseason, calfhusbandry, colostrumfeeding and nutrition were collected and analyzed. In thesecondsurveyin 2013, improved extensions ervices were provided to the farmers for atwoyear period. A followupsurveyof427of thesamefarmerswasconductedinordertocapturetheimpactoftheinterventionson adoption rates of calf rearing practices. The results from the first survey show that calving rates were significantlyhigher(P<0.001)inbuffalo during July to September and in March in cattle compared to other months of the year. The majority of the smallholderfarmers(60%)didnotoffercolostrumtotheir calvesimmediatelyafterbirthandinsteadwaitedforthe expulsionoftheplacenta.Mostofthefarmers(55%) weanedtheircalvesoffinilkat6monthswhile39%lefttheir calvestosuckleuptooneyearofage.Inthesecond follow-up survey, 94% of trained farmers adopted some form of improved colostrum feeding which was significantly higher (P < 0.001) than observed in the control group (20%). The adoption rate of correct colostrum feedingbeforeplacentaexpulsionwassignificantlyhigher(P<0.001) in the trained farmers (89%) compared to the untrained control group (21%). Of these, only 58% offered colostrum ad libitum, although this was still significantly higher than observed in the control group 9%. The outcomes of this studyclearly indicatethatbyprovidingappropriateextensionservicestosmallholderdairyfarmersinPakistancalf rearing practicesthroughoutthecountrycanbegreatlyimproved.

Keywords: calfrearing, extension services, smallholder farmers

Introduction

Pakistanhasanagrarianrural-basedeconomylikemanydevelopingcountrieswithlivestockamajorcontributor to the national (11.9%) and agricultural (55.4%) economy (Pakistan Economic Survey 2012). Dairy is a major componentofthelivestocksectorinbothnumbersofcattleandbuffalo(38and33millionrespectively) andincome generation (Habib et al 2007). Milk is produced under different production systems namely, rural subsistence smallholding, ruralmarket oriented smallholding, rural commercial farms and periurban dairying. It is estimated that around 70% of the dairy households inPakistan still operate under conditions of subsistence bymaintainingherds of three or four animals.Underthese smallholder farming systems, on an average there are 5-8 cows and buffalosperherd including 3-4lactating and 2-4 heifers/calves. Animals are fed under a fodder cut and carry system with mixed grazing in some areas. Smallholdersalsogrow seasonal foddersfortheiranimalsandmixitwithcrop residues, withwheatstraw beingverypopularthroughouthecountry.

Calvesplayasignificantroleinthedevelopmentofanydairysector, as there aring of healthy calves through the provision of appropriate nutrition and health management practices will result in a more productive herd (Mehmood1991). Generally, calves in Pakistan are neglected because of their high feeding costs and low returns from sale at weaning age (Bhattietal 2009). Calf nutrition and feeding management is the most ignored area in both husbandry and research (Wynnetal 2009). Higher mortality losses in buffal ocal ves (52%) are reported



from the region due to poor colos trum and feeding management of calves (Ramakrishna 2007). Mostly calves are deprived of colos trum due to human consumption or the custom of giving colos trum to friends to make sweets (Wynn et al 2009). Calfinanagement starts from the late trimester of pregnancy because a cow.snutrition and health status influence calf health at birth. After birth, the calves are more susceptible to disease scompared to the adults because of low immunity.

For this reason there is aneed for the propermanagement of all aspects of calf rearing, including husbandry, nutrition and health, to sustain a health yand productive dairy herd. Feeding colos trumined iately after calving is the only source of immunoglobulin for passive immunity particularly in ruminants, for which no exchange of immune factors occurs in utero. (Larson et all 980). However, Pakistan, many farmers do not feed colos truminant timely manner (Ahmadet al 2009). Farmers usually waitfor the expulsion of the placent adue to their adherence to traditional practices, and that leads to allow ered immunity level and high mortality before weaning. Therefore, the objectives of the present study were (1) to determine the ongoing calf rearing practices and (2) capture the impact of improved extensions ervices on calffeeding.

Materials&methods

Dairyproject

The Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) funded a research project (LPS/2010/2007) with the aim of strengthening the dairy value chains in Pakistan through improved farm managementandmoreeffectiveextensionservices. The target groups of the project were small holder dairy farmers having a herd of 4-8 (buffalo/cattle)mixed animals. The present studywas conducted in five districts of Punjab (Okara, Pakpattan, Kasur, Jhelum and Bhakkar). Abaseline survey was conducted to monitor the ongoing farming practices and identify problems, followed by 2 years of extension activities and a follow-upsurvey was carried out to capture its impact. The climate of the study districts insummer anges from (24-33 oC), winter (11-23 oC) and averager ain fallwas (15-115 mm) (Climate of Pakistan, 2011).

Survey1

In 2011, a baseline survey was conducted from (n=523) registered (working with project) smallholder dairy farmers through personal interview. It was generalized survey containing several questions regardingwhole farmpractices. It includes ongoing calfrearing practices such as calving season of buffaloand cattle, colostrum feeding, calf husbandry and nutrition. The baseline survey data was analyzed to assess the existing management practices, to evaluate the extension needs of dairy farmers, and to determine what farmers perceive as important factors for earing calves.

Extensionservices

Afterthebaselinesurveywasconducted,wedevelopedawiderangeofextensionmaterialcomprisedofsimple, adoptable and significant impact oriented messages. Comprehensive extension material on calf husbandry, nutritionandhealthweredisseminatedtothefarmers.Wehaveadopteda.wholefamilyapproach.ofextensionin whichwetrained all the familymembers (male, female and their children). Training was provided to the same registered farmers on amonthly basis throughout the duration of project.Everymonth one fact sheetwas delivered by ourtrainedextensionworkers. Anumberof innovativeextension techniqueshave beenadopted, including theuseofvideopractices, problem-based learning, and roleplays, calf rearing competitions and directfarmer counseling inordertodisseminatetheseextensionmessages.

Survey2

In the first step, we filtered one extension message out of many other key messages regarding calf rearing through a preliminary survey (n=462) from all the stakeholders (farmers, extension workers and academia) involved invarious project activities, in order to segregate one simple, adoptable and significant impactoriented message. We followed this process because it was very difficult to capture the adoption rates of all extension messages. Ad libit un colostrum feeding before expulsion of placenta was chosen as the most important message.

In 2013, we carried out a follow up survey from the same group of registered farmers (n=427) and a control group of farmers (n=105) from the same villages in order to compare the impact of improved extension services on adoption rate of calf rearing practices. This control group had never attended project training sessions.

Statisticalanalysis

Logisticregressionwasusedtoassessthesimultaneouseffectofbothsurveysonadlibitumcolostrumprovision. AnalyseswereconductedusingGenStatRelease16.Inthesecondstudy,96farmerscouldnotbeintervieweddue totheir unavailability. The data of thesemissing farmerswere excluded from all the analysis. Impact of improved extension services on adoption of colostrum feeding practices were compared using 2-test for proportionstest(SPSSversion10.0).

Results

Survey1

Calving rateswere significantly higher (P < 0.001) in buffalo during July toSeptember and duringMarch incattle compared to other months of the year. Various calf husbandry practices under the smallholder dairy production system are presented inTable 1. The majority of the smallholder farmers (60%) did not offer colostrum to their calves immediately after birthand instead waited for the expulsion of the placentawhich can occur24 hourspost-partum. Most of the famers (55%) we aned their calves of finilkat 6 months while 39% retained calves on their mother up to one year of age. Some farmers started offering green fodder and concentrate to the incalves from one month of age with many starting this procedure at 2 months of age (Figure 1).

Districts	No. of farmers	Calves field up continuously (%)	Calves housed with adult animals (%)	Calves tied part of day (%)	Dehoming (%)	Navel disinfection (%)
Kasar	76	57 (75)	29 (38.1)	7 (9.2)	6 (8)	6 (7.8)
Pakpattan	91	78 (85.7)	40 (43.9)	7(76)	5 (5.4)	7 (7.6)
Jhelum	101	77 (76.2)	36 (35.6)	15 (13.8)	E(0.9)	9 (8.9)
Bhakkar	106	101 (95.2)	78 (73.5)	2 (1.8)	32 (30.1)	27(18.1)
Okara	149	112 (75)	61 (40.9)	28 (18.7)	32 (21.4)	26 (17.4)



Figure 1. Age at which farmers start offering green fodder (1) and concentrate (1) to their calves in Punjab.

Survey2

The proportion of trained farmers who used improved colostrum feeding practices was 94% which was significantly (P < 0.001) higher than the use of these practices (20%) in the control untrained group (20%) of farmers. Of these trained farmers 89% fed colostrum before placenta expulsion which was significantlyhigher(P < 0.001)thanthe21% useofthis practice in the control farmers. Of the trained farmers

(131)

Table2. Impactofprovisionofextensionservicesonadoptionofimprovedcolostrumfeedingpractices

Discussion

Toourknowledge this is the first reportwhichclearlydescribes the impactof improved extension services on adoption rates of calfrearing practices undersmall holder farming systems in Pakistan A high eradoption rate (89%) of colostrum feeding before placenta expulsion was achieved when we introduced awhole family approach. An effective extension program with participation by the whole family is highly desirable to enhance farm productivity.

Many organizations aiming at improving smallholder dairying fail to appreciate this fact and ignore women andchildrenintheirtrainingandskillsdevelopmentprograms. Womennormallycannotleavetheir homeandfamiliesfora fewdays toparticipate in trainingprogramsandusually require female trainers for effectivecommunicationandforculturalreasons. Thisapproach, alongwith training of themale farmers resulted inhigher adoption rates. The present study demonstrated that the highest number of calving soccurred in buffalo during July to September and during Marchineattle. This finding is consistent with earlier report (Hassanetal 2010). The factors responsible formost of the calving occurs during these specific monthsmay be due to greater fodder availability, seasonal adaptability genoty peandmanagement. Factors affecting calving patterns of various breeds need to be investigated.

Thepresentstudycapturedthevariousongoingcalfrearingpracticesunderthesmallholderfarmingsystemsin the Punjab. It shows that most of the smallholder farmers (60%) do not offer the colostrum to their calvesimmediatelyafterbirthandwaitfortheexpulsionoftheplacenta. This finding is in agreement with a previous study where up toonly 20% of calves received colostrum within 2-3 hours of birth (Ahmadetal 2009). Local mythology dictates that iff armers feed colostrum immediately after birth, it may lead to diarrheain the new born and retention of placentain the dam. However, inruminants, transplacental transmission of antibodies does not occur and then ewly born calves are passively immunized by colostrum feeding alone.

The neonatal digestive system can absorbantibodies for up to 24 hours (Bush and Staley 1980). As the intestinal cellsmature, they lose the capability for absorption, so early colostrum feeding is critical and preferably within 12 hours of calving. The present study also demonstrated that the majority of farmers tied up their calves continuously for the whole day within the confines of the large therd.

Mostlikelythisleadstochronicstress.Thehousingmanagementofthelivestock seriously affects their health and productive performance, especially in calves which are more prone to diseases as their immunity level is low (Tiwarietal 2007). The majority off armers do not disinfect the navel cord after birth and this is a common cause of navel cord infection in calves. In particular, the navel cord is a source through which pathogenic agents can enter the body and causes erious infections in mew born calves.

Allthesepoor calf-rearingmanagement practices contribute to high calfmortality, which can reach 60% on some smallholderbuffalo farms (Ahmad etal2009). Calfmortality has a relation with other key management practices such as the provision of a clean environment and proper high quality feeding management: if the farmer manages all aspects of health related to calfrearing satisfactorily, then calfmortality can be reduced significantly.

Thisstudy clearly demonstrates that by providing appropriate extension services to smallholder dairy farmers in Pakistan calfrearing practices can be greatly improved.

Acknowledgements

The authors since rely thank the cooperating small dairy hold enformers and their families and ACIAR for funding the project No. LPS/2010/007

References

AfzalM,Javid,MH,AnjumAD(1983).Pak.VetJ3,30.

AhmedS,YaqoobM,HashmiN,ZamanMA,AmjadS(2009).Pak.VetJ29,125.

BhattiSA,KhanMS,SarwarMandEhsanullah(2009).PakJZool.SupplementSeries9,623.

BushLJ,StaleyTE(1980).J.DairySci.63,672.

ClimateofPakistan(2011)PakistanMeteorologicalDepartment

HassanF,KhanMS,RehmanMS,SarwarM,BhattiSA (2010).Ital.JAnim.Sci.6(Suppl2),1298.

HabibG,HameedA,AkmalM(2007).Pak.Vet.J27,35.

LarsonBL,HearyHL Jr,DeveryJE(1980) J.DairySci.63,665.

MehmoodMA(1991)Comparativestudyofthefactorscontributingtocalfmortalityinbuffaloesandcows.MSc (Hons)Thesis.

Pakistan Economic Survey (2012-13) Ministry of Agriculture, Health and Food of Pakistan. Pakistan AgriculturalResearchCouncilIslamabad,Pakistan.Ramakrishna,K.V.(2007).IndianVetJ.84,537.

TiwariR,SharmaMC,SinghBP (2007) LivestockResearchforRuralDevelopment19(3).

WynnPC, WarriachHM, MorganA, McGillDM, HanifS, SarwarM, IqbalA, SheehyPA, BushRD (2009). Asian-AustJAnim.Sci 22,756.Email:shumaila arif01@yahoo.com

≪133≫

Proc.Aust.Soc.Anim.Prod.2014Vol.30

EconomicComparisonofFeedingBuffaloandCowMilktoKundhi BuffaloCalvesinPakistan

M. AijazA,,S.MajeedA,S.LatifAH.M.WarriachA,B,D.M.McGillB,S.ArifA,Z.BatoolA,A. BhattiA,P.C.ThomsonCandP.C.WynnB

- A UniversityofVeterinary&AnimalSciences,Lahore,Pakistan
- B EHGrahamCentreforAgriculturaIInnovation,CharlesSturtUniversity,Australia
- $C \quad Faculty of Veterinary Science, University of Sydney, Camden NSW 2570, Australia$

Calvesplayasignificantroleinthedevelopmentofeverydairysector. Rearinghealthycalvesthroughprovision of appropriate nutrition and health management practices ensures a productive herd. Generally, calves in Pakistanare neglectedbecauseoftheirhighfeedingcostsandlowreturnsfromsaleatweaningage(Wynnetal 2009).Profitable calf rearing strategies are needed to encourage the farmers to raise calves for dairy, meat or breeding purposes.

Feedingbuffalomilktocalvesismorecostlythanfeedingcowmilkbecauseitishasahighermilkfatcontent whichispreferredbyconsumersinPakistanandhence,itreceivesabetterprice.Theobjectiveofthisstudywas tocompareeconomicsoffeedingbuffaloandcowmilktoKundhibuffalocalvesinPakistan.Sixteencalvesafter parturitionwererandomlydividedintotwogroupsandhousedinindividualpens.

All the calves were offered colostrums ad libitum. Calvesineachgroupwereofferedeithercowmilkor buffalomilkatarateof15%oftheirbodyweight.This was adjusted weekly with the maximum amount offeredsettofivelitresperday.Adlibcalfstarterration wasofferedfromthethirddaytobothgroups.Themilk was gradually withdrawn from day 42 until weaned completely at day 56. Milk samples were collected weeklyinthemorningandeveningandanalyzed for fat and protein content.Weight gainwasmeasured weekly along with body measurements to track growthperformanceandhealthstatus.



Results show that calves offered buffalo milk forthe8weekdurationofthestudyhavesignificantly(P< 0.05) better growth performance than calves fed cowmilkinthepre-weaningperiod(Figure1).Therefore, tomaximize growth performance buffalomilkwould bepreferred.However, this study also shows that buffalocalves can be successfully reared on cow milk. Atweaning the average liveweight of the calves fedbuffalomilkwas65.0 \pm 4. lkgandthosefedcowmilkwas58.7 \pm 5.3kg.Thecorrespondingdifferenceinfeed costswas 1850 Pakistani rupee less for the cowmilkfedgroupwhichwouldnotsignificantlyaltertheprofit oftheenterprise.

Thereforeitisrecommended that feeding cowmilk is a viable option for small-holder dairy farms who are trying to lower costs whilst maintaining a profitable growth rate for buffalocal ves.

Wynn,P.C.,Warriach,H.M.,Morgan,A.,McGill,D.M.,Hanif,S.,Sarwar,M, Iqbal,A.,Sheehy,P.A.andBush, R.D. (2009)

Asian-AustJAnim.Sci.22,756-763 TheprojectwasfundedbyAusAID Email:kumbheraijaz@yahoo.com

FactorsAffectingtheQualityofColostruminBuffalo

A.BhattiA,F,H.M.WarriachA,B,S.LatifA,M.IshaqA,D.M.McGillB,S.ArifA, Z.BatoolA,M.AijazA,P.C.ThomsonCandP.C.WynnB

- A UniversityofVeterinary&AnimalSciences,Lahore,Pakistan
- B GrahamCentreforAgriculturalInnovation,CharlesSturtUniversity,Australia
- C FacultyofVeterinaryScience,UniversityofSydney,CamdenNSW 2570,Australia

Calvesplayasignificantroleinthedevelopmentofeverydairysector. Rearinghealthycalvesthroughprovision of appropriate nutrition and health management practices ensures a productive herd. Generally, calves in Pakistanare neglectedbecauseoftheirhighfeedingcostsandlowreturnsfromsaleatweaningage(Wynnetal 2009).Profitable calf rearing strategies are needed to encourage the farmers to raise calves for dairy, meat or breeding purposes.

Colostrum contains a largeamount of serum immunoglobulins and it is the primary source of immunity which can be absorbed by the calfin the first 24 hours of life. New born calves are born without a measurable concentration of serum immunoglobulin (IgG) which is critical for proper immune function (Barrington et al 2001). It is generally accepted that calfinortality is caused by improper colostrum feeding management in this first 24 hours post-partum. Colostrum quality, assessed by measuring density, depends upon many factors including the time from the previous lactation (dryperiod) and feeding level and parity of the dam. There is limited data available on the quality of colostrum from buffalo (e.g. Arumughan and Nararayan 1981)).

The objective of this study was to evaluate the factors affecting the quality of colostrum in buffalo and the relationshipbetweenthisparameterandliveweightgainto8weeksofage.Atotalof16pregnantbuffalointhe lasttrimesterwereselectedfromanumberofdifferentcommercialdairyfarmsintheHyderabadareaofSindh, Pakistan.Allbuffaloeswerekeptunderasimilarfeedingandhousingsystem.Informationonthelengthofthe dryperiodandparityof thebuffalowascollected from the recordsmaintainedat the farm.Colostrumquality wasanalyzedusingacolostrometerwhichpredictstheIgGcontentbasedonviscosity.Serumproteinlevelswere alsomeasured on the third day of agewith a refractometer.The relationship between colostrum density, thedurationofthedryperiodandparityofthedamwasanalyzedusinglinearregression.

The results from this study show that the colostrum immunoglobulin content assessed with a colostrometer ranged from 60g/L to 120g/L with an average of $92.5\pm17.1g/L$. The correspondingdryperiods from these buffalo ranged from one to fourmonths with an average of 3.0 ± 0.72 months. The correlation between dryperiodand colostrum quality washigh with a value of 0.74. The regression analysis showed that the length of the dryperiod had a significant (P<0.05) effect on the colostrum quality (R2 value of 0.55 and residual standarder rorof 11.95) and that each additional monthabuff allow as dryyielded an increase incolostrum quality of 17.6g/L. The results also show a dryperiod of at least three months is required to ensure ago od colostrum quality of ver90g/L. Incontrast, the parity of the 16 buff allow easignificant effect on colostrum quality (P>0.05). However the relationship between colostrum quality and live weight gain over 8 weeks was not significant. Therefore it was not surprising that the duration of the dryperiod and live weight gain over 8 weeks were not significant the duration of the dryperiod and live weight gain over 8 weeks were not significant the duration of the dryperiod and live weight gain over 8 weeks were not significant the duration of the dryperiod and live weight gain over 8 weeks were not significant the duration of the dryperiod and live weight gain over 8 weeks were not significant the duration of the dryperiod and live weight gain over 8 weeks were not significant to the significant to the dryperiod and the duration of the dryperiod and the

Therefore the conclusion from the study is that farmers should ensure the dryperiod of their pregnant buffalois longenough to maximize colos trum quality in the ensuing lactation to improve als unvivability.

Arumughan, C.andNararayan, K.M. (1981) Lipids 16,155. Barrington, G.M, McFadden, T.B., Huyler, M. TandBesser, T.E. (2001) Livestock ProdSci70,95.

TheprojectwasfundedbyAusAID Email:azharbhatti53@gmail.com

Proc.Aust.Soc.Anim.Prod.2014Vol.30

FactorsAffectingtheMilkPriceinaSmall-holderDairyProduction SystemofPakistan

M.IshaqA,F,S.LatifAH.M.WarriachA,B,D.M.McGillB,S.ArifA,Z.BatoolA,A.BhattiA, M. AijazA,P.C.ThomsonCandP.C.WynnB

A UniversityofVeterinary&AnimalSciences,Lahore,Pakistan

B GrahamCentreforAgriculturalInnovation,CharlesSturtUniversity,Australia

C FacultyofVeterinaryScience,UniversityofSydney,CamdenNSW 2570,Australia

There arenumerous factors that contribute tomilkprice in the Pakistanidairyproduction system.Buffalo (Bubalusbubalis)milkismostoften preferredbecauseofitshigh(>6%)fatcontent.Factorsthatinfluencemilk price receivedonfarmareseldomanalysed,whichmakesitdifficultforfarmerstomake managementdecisions that willimprove theirprofitability.Theaimofthisstudywastodetermine factorsaffectingbuffalomilkprice in small-holder dairy production systems in Punjab province Pakistan. Dairy farmers (n=523) from seven districts of Punjab & Sindhweresurveyed on different factorsaffecting buffalomilkprice. Questions were asked related to locational, seasonal, marketing and educational factors that impact their dairy enterprise. Data were log transformed to normalise variance and factors were analysed independently inaunivariable analysis.

Table1: Factorsthatinfluencetheprice(PKR/Litre)receivedonfarmforbuffalomilk.

Predictor Group	Mean	SE	Pvalue	
Location/district	Bhakkar	34.96	0.50	< 0.001
	Jehlum	39.13	0.55	
	Kasur	36.49	0.51	
	Okara	33.52	0.35	
	Pakpatan	30.55	0.47	
Education	none	33.34	0.60	0.029
	primary+middleschool	34.51	0.34	
	matriculation	35.64	0.43	
	intermediate	35.58	0.95	
	university	34.68	0.92	
Season	winter	33.75	0.31	< 0.001
	summer	35.77	0.33	
Milkbuyer	bigmilkcompany	35.95	1.00	< 0.001
	Smallbuyer/dodhi	33.31	0.24	
	neighbour/villager	39.81	0.55	
	other	32.88	1.59	
Milkcontract	suppliedundercontract	34.67	0.44	0.400NS
	suppliedtofreemarket	34.92	0.31	
	other	31.19	2.68	
Primaryfarmactivity	cropping	34.91	0.33	0.703NS
	dairying	34.45	0.36	
	dairying+cropping	35.11	0.89	
	otheractivities	35.43	1.22	

Location, educational achievement, season and type of milk buyer all influence milk pricesignificantly. Factors that did not influencemilkprice received included the relative importance of cropping compared tolivestocktotheenterpriseandwhethermilkwasproducedundercontract. The resultshave shown that there is scope for improvement relating to the process of education: thus the further refinement of out extension training programs is warranted. The high enprice formilk in summer reflects both increased demand and a scarcity of supply. The mechanism of marketing milk through traditional marketing chains also deserves further attention.

136

FundedbyACIAR Email:drishaq_rai@yahoo.com

Proc.Aust.Soc.Anim.Prod.2014Vol.30

TransferofAflatoxinfromHighlyContaminatedFeedtoMilkand EffectofMycotoxinBinderonTransferrateinNili-RaviBuffaloes

N. AslamA,I.RodriguesD,D.M.McGillA,B,H.M.WarriachA,B,A.CowlingA,A.HaqueCandP.C.WynnA

A UniversityofVeterinary&AnimalSciences,Lahore,Pakistan

- A grahamCentreforAgriculturalInnovation,CharlesSturtUniversity,WaggaWagga2650N.S.W.,Australia
- B ASLP DairyProject,UniversityofVeterinaryandAnimalSciences,Lahore54000Pakistan
- C BuffaloResearchInstitute(BRI),Bhunniky,PattokidistrictKasur,Pakistan
- D BIOMINHoldingGmbH,Herzongenburg,Austria

Fungal contamination leads to production of my cotoxins that provide a major limitation to dairy production worldwide and a key health hazard for consumers. This experiment was conducted to; a) observe the extent of the second secondcarry over a teo fa flat ox in B linfeed to the a flat ox in M limetaboli teinmilk in Nili-Ravibuffaloes and b) evaluate the set of the set otheefficacyofacommercialmycotoxinbinder(Mycofix®,BiominSingapore)incorporatedintofeedtoreduce this transfer.Multiparousbuffaloes(n=28)wererandomlydistributedtofourgroupscorresponding to2levels (highandlow)ofaflatoxinBleachwith2treatments(withandwithoutmycotoxinbinder)inafactorialdesign. Animalswere offered mycotoxin contaminated concentrate ration and corn providing a total of 1475 µg/day(groupsA andB) or 2950 µg/day (groups C and D) of a flatoxinB1. Groups B and D were given 50 g of mycotoxin binder daily mixed with feed while groups A and C were kept as controls. Feed samples were analyzed by HPLC (Romer Labs, Singapore) for aflatoxinB1 and milk samples were evaluated by ELISA(AgraQuant® AflatoxinM1 Fast ELISA kits) for the liver metabolite aflatoxinM1. The total daily meanaflatoxinMlconcentration in milk for animals fed 2950 µg/day of aflatoxinBl was SED=5.99). The mean significantly (P<0.001)higher (112.6 μ g) than those fed 1475 μ g/day (62.2 μ g: daily concentration of a flatoxinM1 inmilkof animals from both treatment groups fed with 50 go fmy cotoxin binderwassignificantlylower (76.5 μ g) than those without binder at 98.3 μ g (SED=5.99: p<0.001). The interaction of binder and treatment was not statistically significant i.e. the 50 gofbinder was able to sequester aflatoxinB1withthesameefficiency in groups fed with high and low concentrations of aflatoxinB1 Effect of aflatoxinB1 intake and mycotoxinbinderonmilk production and carry overrate into the milkisgiven below(Table1).

Variables	Low aflatoxin intake		High aflatoxin intake		Significance level (SED)		
	Without binder A	With binder B	Without binder C	With binder D	Effect of aflatoxin	Effect of binder	Effect of Aflatoxin x binder interaction
Total aflatoxinB1 intake (ug/day)	1475	1475	2950	2950	N/A	N/A	N/A
Milk production (kg/day)	9.3	8.9	8.4	10.2	P=0.831 (0.71)	P=0.357 (0.71)	P=0.181 (1.0)
Concentration of aflatoxinM1 (ug/kg)	8.1	5.6	14.6	10.3	P<0.001 (0.44)	P<0.001 (0.44)	P=0.051 (0.63)
Total aflatoxinM1 excreted (µg/day)	74.6	49.8	122.0	103.3	P<0.001 (5.99)	P<0.001 (5.99)	P=0.613 (8.48)
aflatoxinM1 into milk (%)	5.06	3.37	4.14	3.50	N/A	N/A	N/A

Carryover rate of M1 into milk calculated as total aflatoxinB1 excreted / total aflatoxinB1 intake x 100

The addition of Mycofix @tothedietof buffalohas a clear inhibitory effect on mycotox intransfer to milk, which is similar to the efficacy of this binding agent on controlling mycotox intransfer to constraints (Pietrietal 2004) and the second sec

PietriA.,BertuzziT.PivaG.,BinderE.M.,SchatzmayrD.andRodriguesI.(2009).InterJ.ofDairySci.4.34.

ThisresearchwasfundedbyBIOMINAustria Email:drnaveedaslam@gmail.com



VOLUME 1

Improvinglivelihoodsfromgrasslandsbybalancinghuman needsandtheenvironment

Utilisationofconservedforagetoimprovelivestockproductionon smallholderfarmsinAsiaandAfrica

MarsetyoA,MuhammadShoaibTufailB,SamuelMbukuC,MupenziMutimuraD,XushengGuoEand JohnPiltzF

A DepartmentofAnimalSciences,TadulakoUniversity,Palu,CentralSulawesi,Indonesia

- B PakistanDairyDevelopmentCompany,KotLakhpat,Lahore,Punjab,Pakistan
- $C\ Kenya A gricultural Research Institute, National Beef Research Centre, POB ox 3840, 20100 Nakuru, Kenya A gricultural Research Centre, National Beef R$
- D RwandaAgricultureBoard,P.O.Box5016,Kigali,Rwanda
- E StateKeyLaboratoryofGrasslandandAgro-Ecosystems,SchoolofLifeSciences,LanzhouUniversity, Lanzhou730000,People'sRepublicofChina
- F Correspondingauthor.GrahamCentreforAgriculturalInnovation(analliancebetweenNSWDepartment ofPrimaryIndustriesandCharlesSturtUniversity),WaggaWaggaAgriculturalInstitute,PineGullyRoad, Wagga Wagga, NSW, 2650 Australia Contact email: john.piltz@dpi.nsw.gov.au, marsetyomarsetyo@yahoo.co.uk

Abstract.

Ruminant livestock are essential to the livelihoods of smallholder farmers in many developing countries. Livestock production on these farms is characterised by low milk production, low live weight gain and poor reproductive performance because of poor nutrition. Access to high quality for age has been identified askey to improving livestock health and productivity. Conservation of surplus for age as hay or silage provides the opportunity to ensure livestock have access to high quality for age year-round. This paper reports on for age conservation inselect countries in Asia and Africa.

Keywords: Forageconservation, silage, hay, smallholder, livestock.

Introduction

Livestockareanimportantlivelihoodstrategyinmostdevelopingcountries(Otteetal.2005;Otienoetal.2006; Rao et al. 2009) by providing meat, milk, manure, hides, draught power and collateral (financial asset, insurance).Smallholdercattlefarmingisthemajorsourceoflivelihoodforover54% ofpoorpeopleinsub-SaharanAfrica(IFPRI2007)andover70% ofthepopulationinPakistanisdirectlyinvolved withlivestockasa primary source of food and/or income (Devendra and Thomas 2002; Thomas et al. 2002). Furthermore smallholderlivestockfarmsarethemajormeatandmilkproducersindevelopingcountriesofAsiaandAfrica. Despite their importance, livestock are usually undernourished due to lack offeeds of sufficient quality and quantity; the consequences of which are low production, increased diseases usceptibility, highermortal-ity rates and reduced fertility (Xueetal.2005). This is typical of lives to ck production systems on smallholder farms in developing countries where traditionally farmers have been lives to ck keepers/users.

Lackofhighqualityforage,whichisinfluencedbyseasonalsupplyandcompetitionwithneighbouringfarmers fortheavailableforageresourceisthemajorchallengefaced. Themajorityoflivestockarepartofintegrated crop/livestocksystemsandlowqualitycropresiduesrepresentasignificantproportionofthetotalannualdiet, particularlywherelivestockaretetheredforallormostoftheyear. Inregionsdependentongrazing, accessto highqualityfeedisseasonalanddependentonrainfallandtemperature. Opportunitiesforimprovementinvolve forage production and conservation as well as efficient use of local feed resources. This paper outlines experiences with forage conservation and using conserved forage to improve livestock production on smallholderfarmsfromsomecountriesofAsiaandAfricawithadiverserangeofenvironmentsandsituations.



China

The Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau is one of the three most important lives to ckproduction areas in China. It has a hars henviron mentand in sufficient feed supply during the long coldseas on (Novemberto June). With an area of 129.3 million ha, it accounts for 32.5% of China's total grass land area and supports about 41.5 million sheep and 13 million yaks. Year-round survival of the Tibetan lives tock is largely dependent on the native alpine pastures, which are characterized by high altitude (>3,500 m), very low annual average temperature (-5to-1°C), as hort growing season (from June to September), low productivity, without an absolute frost-free period, and extensive seasonal variation in feed supply. Animals in the traditional grazing system of ten suffer from poor nutrition, health-related problems, low production and low fertility, and losses of up to 30% have been reported during some extended colds easons (Xue et al. 2005). Moreover, severe degeneration of the native alpine pasture has extended the gap between for a gesupply and an imalfeed demand in recent decades.

Conservationofforageandfeedsupplementationareimportantstrategiestosustainanimalfarmingsystemsin thecoldseason.Hayofcultivatedforage,generallyoaten(Avenasativa),andstrawresiduesfromcrops,suchas oatandbarley(Hordeumvulgare)havebeenusedaswintersupplementsbylocalfarmerssincetheChinaReform of1978(Wu1996).Intheagro-pastoralareasoftheplateau,haymakingisauniversalandtraditionalwayfor fodderconservation.Inpurelypastoralareasoftheplateau,herdersnormallybuyoatenhayorhighlandbarley straw from the agro-pastoral zone. However, only limited amounts of oaten hay are provided to lact a ting and weakanimalsthroughoutwinterortothewholeherdduringaseveresnowdisaster(CaiandWiener1995)when lossesduetostarvationfrequentlyexceed20%ofahousehold'sherdsorflocks(ZhangandZhang2002);and mostanimalsarenotgivenanysupplementsduringthecoldseason(Longetal.1999).Localherdersalsoharvest grasses from fenced winterpastures and conserve this ashay. Research has shown that supplying oaten havor barleystrawtoyakherdsduringwintertimecouldimprovecalvingrateby19to25%, and considerably reduce bodyweightlosscomparedtounsupplementedyaks(Longetal. 1999). Silagewithhighnutritivevalue and palatability has been made by local farmers from either native grasses or crops. However, temperature during $harvest in most regions is only 10 to 15^{\circ} C and commercial inoculants do not produce well fermented silage$ (ZhangandDe2007).Localfarmershavebeenaskedtosprayseveralindigenousinoculantse.g.dilutedyakmilk yoghurt, onto the wilted and chopped forage at ensiling in order to make high quality silage in this unique environment.ResearchhasshownthatfeedingoatensilagetopregnantTibetansheepgrazingpasturesincreased ewebodyweightandlambbirthweight(Huaetal.2012).Anotherstudyshowedthatsupplementationofanative grass(Elymusnutans)silagetofinishingTibetansheepisaneconomicalandefficientwaytoimprovedaily weightgainontheTibetanPlateau(Fengetal.2009).Forageconservationorfeedsupplementsinthegrowing seasonorinthewinter/springisapromisingtechnologyformanyareas, and especially for those areas where snowstormsfrequentlyoccur.

Indonesia Small holder farming, with average areas of 0.5 ha, is the predominant system in Indonesia. Small holder farms use an ixed cropping strategy, involving first sowing subsistence food crops (mainly paddyrice) in the rainy season, followed by cash crops (e.g. peanut, bean, maize) in the early dry season. As part of their farming system, farmers also raise as mall number (2-5) of cattle. Indonesia's traditional beef productions ector makes an important contribution to the country as the second largest contributor to meat supply (19%) after broiler chickens, as well as providing employment and income for over 4.57 million rural families.

Smallholderfarmersrelyonnaturalgrassasthemajorcomponentofcattlefeedusingthe'cutandcarry' feeding system, which is time-consuming for farmers. High quality for age has become less available because previously uncultivated land is now being used for crops. When for age is scarce and of low quality. gduring the dryse as on, cattle are undemutritionals tress and low quality straw and locally purchased, available, cheap agricultural was te and by-products are often fed. Only as mall number of farmers practice for age conservation. Various approaches to fod der conservation have been trialled and an umber of for age conservation technologies including silage, urea-ammonia treatment of straw and hay production have been delivered to the small holder farmers in Indonesia. Both silage and urea-ammonia treatment of straw pose problems for farmers and are not widely used. As urvey of 96 small holder farmers in the district of Bulukumba, South Sulawes is howed that while the majority of farmers (56.25%) understand the principals of for age conservation, as izeable proportion (43.75%) do not know how to conserve for age effectively.

Hayisthemostpromisingtechnologythatsmallholderfarmershaveforeattleorbuffalofeed,mainlyinJavaand someouterislands.Farmerscommonlycollectdrystraw,mainlyricestraw,andstoreitinastallneartheirhouse. Priyantietal.(2012)reportedthatabout74%and80%offarmersinlowlandanduplandEastJava,respectively collectedricestrawfromtheirown and other fields, while 24% offarmers purchased from other farmers or agents. Farmers also collect peanut, mungbean, and corn stover. Farmers often fed the straw plus other supplementssuchasricebran,tofuwaste,ortreelegumestomeetanimalnutrientrequirements.Thisisinline withcurrentfindingsthatsupplementationstrategiesimprovetheutilizationoflowqualityforagebyanimals. Forexample,Syahniaretal.(2012)reportedthatsupplementationwithtreelegumesatalevelof2.8gDM/kg BW per day was sufficient to meet the maintenance energy requirements of Ongole cows fedrice straw ad libitum.Morever,Marsetyoetal.(2012)suggestedthatadditionofGliricidiaoramixtureofcopramealandrice branincreasedfeeddigestibilityandliveweightgainofBalicalvesgivenElephantgrasshayorcornstoverasa basaldiet.Suchintegrationbetweenanimalandcropproductionisatraditionalpracticeinthevillagesbutcould beimprovedthrougheducationonhowtocreatemorenutritiousdiets.

Therehasbeennoeconomicevaluation of the impact of for age conservation practices on bee feattless mall holder farmers. The only observation in Central Sulawesiand South Sulawesion for age management indicated that conserved for ages, mainly hay making of straw (rice, peanut, mungbean, cornstover), have led to as ubstantial labour savings by decreasing time feeding from 4-6 hours down to 1-2 hours/day. With better feeding management, the body condition of cattle improves, which leads to a better price when sold. The additional income is used to purchase goods such as motor bikes that are then used to take children to school, and for carrying for ages, thus saving even more time, or in some cases, allowing small holders to take off-farmwork. Hay making has led to an increase in the price of straw which also potentially provides a source of additional income to farmers.

Kenya

Kenyahasanationaldairycattleherdestimatedataboutfourmillion(MoLD2011)andabout80%(Friesians, 1733 Ayrshires, Guernseys, Jerseys and their crosses with local zebus) are found on small-scale farms and produceabout80% of the marketed milk. Kenyaexperiences abimodalrainfall pattern and the distribution of livestock feed closely follows this pattern resulting in periods offeed short age between the rainy seasons. The situation is worsened with to frequent droughts. Therefore, there is an edd to conserve the excess feed produced during the rainy season to stabilize feed supply throughout the year.

Forageconservationisdoneasstandinghay(part-icularlyintheAridandSemi-AridLands(ASALs)),baledhay orsilage.Therearecertainfeedsavailableonthesefarmswhichwouldbemoresuitabletoconserveassilagethan as hay; maize stalks, surgarcane (Saccharum officinarum) tops, Napier grass (Pennisetum purpureum) and sorghum(Sorghumbicolor)stover.However,themajorlimitationtotheuseofthesemethodsbysmall-scale farmersisthelackofsimpleandappropriatetechnologiesforhaybalingandensiling.

InKenya,dryingasthemeansofconservinggrassspecieshasbeenacommonpractice,butcurrently,ensilingof variousforagesisbeingpromotedbyseveralgovern-mentagenciesandotherdevelopmentpartners.Production ofhighqualityhay,byharvestingatfullmaturity,increasesyieldofgrassperunitofland.Thetechnologyof ensilingforageinnylonbagshasbeentakenupinsomesmallholderproductionsystemsbuttherearevarious constraints to adoption These include the high cost of the bags, lack of suitable choppers and inappropriate storageresultinginlossesofensiledmaterialtorodents.Ensilingusinglargeplasticbagsplacedhorizontallycan beanalternativeformediumandlargescalefarms,butsmallscalefarmersfindthisachallenge.Forthesmall holderfarmers,tubesilageisrecommendedespeciallywherethefarmethasasmallquantityofmaterialtoensile. Onetubecanholdupto500kg,howeversmallertubesarealsoavailableandthesizechosenlargelydependson thequantityofmaterialtobeensiled.Whereafarmerhasalargerquantityofforagetoensiletheaboveground (silagebun)methodofmakingsilageispreferred.

Smallholder farmers in Kenya are increasingly making tubes i lage, a low cost procedure which requires high quality fodder, as i lage tube (polythenetube 1000'gauge), molasses and polytheneshe etgauge 500. One tube may contain from 350-500 kg of si lage or compacted material and therefore becomes difficult to move. When the tube is full and tied at both ends, the farmer has a large cylindrical airtight bag in which the for age mixture ferments, turning into si lage. The technology works with a wide range of green fodder. The ensiled material will


bereadyforuseinthedryseasonafter3monthsandcanbeconservedforeven30yearswithoutlosingquality providedtheairtightsealremainsintact.

Pakistan

Pakistanhasanestimated 160 millionruminantlivestock, comprising of buffalo, cattle, goats, sheep and camels, but is not self-sufficient in milk, meat and other products of animal origin. More than 90% of all ruminant livestock are integrated with small-scale mixed farming systems (Devendra and Thomas, 2002; Thomas et al. 2002). Pakistanisthe fourth largest milk producer in the world (34 billion litres per annum), but productivity is low due to poor nutrition, poor management and neglect of health problems which results in late maturity, extended calving intervals and low milk production (Farooq, 2011). More than half (51%) of to take venues from dairys ales are accrued by small holders having 1-4 animals, with each of the schouse -holds generating amonthly income of US \$60 to \$240. Approximately 60% of the milk produced by small holders is consumed at home, and there maining 40% is marketed (FAO2011).

Fodderscarcityisthecoreconstraint, with current supply 40% less than demand and there are two periods of severe scarcity each year; May to June and October to November. Farmers rely heavily on low quality crop residues (Thomasetal. 2002); approximately 40 million tons (46% of the total animal feed resources) of crop residues are fed annually. Yields of traditional for age crops are less than half to aquarter of potential for improved hybrid varieties when grown with traditional agronomic practices. Improved varieties grown with recommended farming practices have a yield increase of around 75% (Din 2008).

Silage technology was introduced into Pakistan almost two decades ago by different government and international agencies, and also private sector companies like Nestlè Pakistan and Pioneer Seeds. However, despiteheavy inputs interms of time and money, uptake of silage technology has been less than hoped for in traditional lives tock feeding and production systems. This is because, inmany parts of the country, small holder farmers are stillable to feed crop residues and agricultural by-products during the dryse as on. However, more recently maize and sorghums ilages have become more popular with a key group of small holder farmers that have the necessary skills and are able to routinely produce well-fermented silage. Berseem silage making is also getting acceptance in the farming community though the high moisture content at the time of silage making can be problematic.

Silagemakingsystems include Little Bag Silage (LBS), where for age is ensiled instrong plastic bags with a capacity of 5 kg of chopped green for age (Lane 1999). LBS allows conservation of available fodder in small quantities overalong period of time and issuitable for the small farms producing only a couple of bags overal 00 daygrowing season. Silagemaking in small (1.2mx0.7m) drums was extensively promoted by Pakistan Dairy Development Company (PDDC) to a group of model small-holder farmers during 2007-2008 with training provided. Chopped maize, sorghum and be resemwere ensiled successfully and produce dex cellent results when fed to lives to ck. Milk production remained steady through out they ear, was better than fom eighbouring farmers, and with surplussilage being available for sale. Farmers are now prepared to buy silage, indicating awillingness to feed silage, but alack of awareness on how to make it. Small holders could now engage in entrepreneurial activity and produces ilage as a market able commodity.

Rwanda

Agricultural production in Rwanda is based on mixed crop-livestock production (Rutamu 2004) and feed resourcesremainamajorconstrainttolivestockdevelopment.Grazinglandsaresharplyshrinkingbecauseof encroachment of crop cultivation with increasing human pressure (Mutimura and Everson 2011). As landholdingsaresmall,withover60% of householdscultivatingless than 0.7 ha, livestock ownerspractise zero-grazing(cutandcarry).Napiergrass(Pennisetumpurpureum), introduced in the 1970s, is adapted to the cut-and-carry system, and it constitutes 95% of an imalfeed resources (Staaletal. 1997; Kamanziand Mapiye 2012). Herbage production is high but its nutrient concentration is too low for dairy cows. Otherfeed resources like fodder trees (e.g. Leucaena sp., Calliandra sp.) are used to supplement the Napier grass. Grasses including Chlorisgayana, Brachiariasp.and Cenchrusciliaris are also used by large and small-holder farmers (Lukuyu et al. 2009), as a recorpresidues such as sweet potatovines, bananale aves and bananapseudos tems, stovers and straws Except for Napiergrass (Pennise tumpurpure um) which is conserved as silage, othergrass seeg. Chloris



gayana, Cenchrusciliaris, Brachiariasp.areconservedashay (Mutimuraetal.2007, unpublished). Farmersrely heavily on these feeds as strategy to copeduring the dryse as on (Kamanziand Mapiye 2012).

Forage conservation has been challenging for farmers in Rwanda, especially smallholder farmers who have limited landsize. For example, when ranking feed resources incentral and southern plateauareas of Rwanda, Kamanziand Mapiye (2012) found that conserved feed was the feed resource least used by smallholder dairy farmers. However, in peri-urban areas, dairy farms (small or large) use silage to feed their dairy cows (Nyiransengimana and Mbarubukeye 2005). Lack offechnicals kills has been identified as the cause why farmers fail to adopt for age conservation and this stops farmers from coping with feeds hortages, especially during the dry season (Lukuyu et al. 2009). Except for isolated research results, Rwandahas very limited experience with the treatment of cropresidues to improve quality, especial-ly digestibility and intake. However are cent experience in Rwandaproved that ammoniated straw based rations for feed lot be efford uction is economically feasible even when using indigenous Ankoles teers (Mpangwaet al. 2010).

A seedbankofimprovedforagehasbeendevelopedinRwandatoincreasequalityforageproduction.Theuseof improvedforageswasadoptedbyatleast5,000dairyfarmers,andsubsequentlyimportsofprotein-richconcent-rateswerereducedby30%(Ndabikunze2004).About50farmersaregeneratingincomefromsalesofhayinthe EasternProvinceofRwandawhilemorethan200farmersintheWesternProvincegetincomefromsalesoffresh Napier grass to dairy farms who use it to make silage (Mutimura and Ebong 2010, unpublished data). This technology has been coupled with the use of conserved cropresidues as roughage to satisfy toruminant feed supply. Different technologies for conserving for age/feeds are available in the country, and improved for age cultivat-ion and conservation, including hay and silage making technologies have been disseminated to smallholder and commercial dairy farmers. Farmers' capacity to apply the introduced technologies has been enhanced through as eries of fraining workshops and practicalon-farmtraining sessions (Ndabikunze2004).

Discussion

Growthintheagriculturalsectorindevelopingcountrieshasbeenidentifiedasthekeytopovertyalleviation (Cervantes-GodoyandDewbre,2010).Improvinglivestockproductivitythroughimprovednutritionisacritical com-ponentofthisgrowth.Accesstomoreandbettergualityforageprovidestheresourceneededforimproved lives to cknutrition on small holder farms. Given the constraints of land, water and the need to produce food for the standard standardhumannutrit-ionthis will require access to improve d, higher yielding and adapted for a gevarieties combined withbettermanage-menttoachievepotential yields. In addition, access to high quality for age yearround by smallholder farmers will require production of surplus for age that can be conserved as either hay or silage, and the subscription of the subscrstored for use when for a gequality or quantity is limiting. Smallholder farmers still need to be encouraged to adoptbetterforageproduction, conservation and feeding technology to improve an imal production. This will requiretargetedextensionservices with cleargoals. For a geconservation systems will need to be tailored to the specificneedsofthedifferentfarmingsystems, belowcostandprovides a festoragemethods that are without risk ofdamagee.g.fromrodentattack.Inareaswherehaymakingisdifficultduetowetweatherorlowtemperatures, andforcertaincropse.g.maize,thepreferredmeansofconservationwillbeensiling('tMannetje2000).Farmers making silage will need additional skills because a number of factors influence fermentation quality. Fermentationqualityisimportantbecausepoorlyfermentedsilageisunpalatableand, evenifhighinenergy and proteinwillonlysupportlowintakes. As a result milkproduction on live weight gain will below.

Conclusion

Despiteadiverserangeofenvironments and situations, experiences in production of high quality for age, for age conservation and developing local feed resources have been proved as an efficient way to increase lives to ck productivity, and the livelihoods of small holder farmers, indeveloping countries.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank their respective organisations and all partner organisations that have been involved in research and extension of the strategicutilisation of for a geproduction and conservation technologies with the goal of fince as inglives to ckproductivity on small holder farms. - Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research; Kenya Agricultural Research Institute; Lanzhou University, China; New South Wales' Department of the strategicutilisation of the strategicutilisation

(143)

PrimaryIndustries,Australia;PakistanDairyDevelopmentCompany;RwandaAgricultureBoardandTadulako University,Indonesia.

References

- Cai L, Wiener G (1995) 'The Yak' (Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific of the Food and Agriculture OrganisationoffheUnitedNations,Bangkok,Thailand).
- Cervantes-Godoy, D, Dewbre, J (2010). Economic Importance of Agriculture for Poverty Reduction, OECD Food, Agriculture and Fisheries Working Papers. No.230 ECD Publishing.
- Devendra C, Thomas D (2002) Crop–animal interactions in mixed farming systems in Asia Agricultural Systems,71(1–2),27-40.
- DinGMU(2008)Enhancinglandandanimalproductivitywithcereal-legumecombinationsofimprovedfodder crop varieties under irrigation in Pakistan. International Centre for Agricultural Research in DryAreas (ICARDA).Islamabad.PresentationtotheNationalAgriculturalResearchCentre,Islamabad.
- FAO(2011)DairyDevelopmentinPakistan:Dairyandlivelihoods.FAODairyReports,Pakistan.
- FarooqO(2011).PakistanEconomicSurveyIslamabad:Copyright©2010.MinistryofFinance,Governmentof Pakistan Retrieved from Feng BF, Zhao XQ, Xu SX, Zhao L (2009) Fattening effect of different concentrationsupplementinglevelsandsilageonTibetansheep.ChineseAnimalHusbandryandVeterinary Medicine36,15-17.http://www.finance.gov.pk/survey/chapter 11/02-Agriculture.pdf.
- HuaZ, BaoSK, ZhaoSN (2012. Effect of oatsilage supplement-ation on performance of pregnant Tibetan Sheep Heilong-jiang XumuShouyi.11,68-69.
- IFPRI(2007)'TheRoleofAgricultureinDevelopment:ImplicationsforSub-SaharanAfrica.'(Eds.DiaoXS, Hazel P, Resnick D, Thurlow J) Research Report 153, International Food Policy Research Institute, WashingtonDC,USA.
- KamanziM, MapiyeC(2012). Feedinventory and smallholder farmers' perceived causes offeed short age for dairy cattle in Gisagara District, Rwanda. Tropical Animal Health Production 44:1459–1468.
- LaneIR(1999)FodderdevelopmentforsmallholderdairyinginAzadJammuandKashmirandNepal.Tropical AgriculturalAssociationNewsletter19:23-27.
- LongRJ,ZhangDG,WangX,HuZZ,DongSK,(1999)Effectofstrategicfeedsupplementationonproductive and reproductive performance invakcows. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 38,195–206.
- Lukuyu BA, Kitalyi A, Franzel S, Duncan A, Baltenweck I (2009) Constraints and options to enhancing productionofhighqualityfeedindairyproductioninKenya,UgandaandRwandaICRAFWorkingPaper no.95.Nairobi,Kenya:WorldAgro-forestryCentre.
- MannetjeL't(2000)Introductiontotheconferenceonsilagemakinginthetropics.In'Silagemakinginthe tropicswithparticularemphasisonsmallholders'.(Ed.L 'tMannetje)p.1.(FAO:Rome)
- Marsetyo,Damry,QuigleySP,McLennanSR,PoppiDP(2012)LiveweightgainandfeedintakeofweanedBali cattlefedarangeofdietsinCentralSulawesi,IndonesiaAnimalProductionScience52,630–635.
- MoLD, 2011. Ministry of Livestock Development, Animal Production Division Annual Report for 2010, Nairobi,Kenya,98pp.
- MpangwaJF,MpofuI,UwimanaG,NiyirebaRT,EbongC(2010)Developmentofafeedlotsystemforcattle basedonricestrawandmolassesinRwanda.ISAR,Annualreport.
- Mutimura M, Everson TM (2011) Assessment of livestock feed resource-use patterns in low rainfall and aluminiumtoxicityproneareasofRwandaAfricanJournalofAgriculturalResearch6(15),3461-3469.
- Ndabikunze SN (2004) Development of innovative forage production technologies for improved dairy productivity. Ministry of Agriculture and Animal Resources (MINAGRI), Kigali, Rwanda.
- NyiransengimanaE,MbarubukeyeS(2005)Peri-urbanlivestockproductioninRwanda.AfricanCropScience ConferenceProceedings,Vol.7.pp.825-826
- OtienoDJ,Oluoch-KosuraW,KarugiaJT,DruckerA,RegeE(2006)RiskmanagementinSmallholderCattle Farming:AHypotheticalInsuranceApproach in Western Kenya. Proceedings of the 26th International

≪14≯

AssociationofAgriculturalEconomistsConference,GoldCoastAustralia,August12-18,2006.

- Otte J, Costales A, Upton M (2005) Smallholder Livestock Keepers in the Era of Globalization. Pro-Poor LivestockPolicyInitiativeResearchReport,UniversityofReading.
- PriyantiA,HanifahVW,MahendriIGAP,CahyadiF,CrambRA(2012)Small-scalebeefcattleproductionin EastJava,IndonesiaAustralianAgricultureandResourceEconomicsSociety,Conference(56th).February 7-10,2012,Fremantle,Australia.
- RaoSVN,RamkumarS,NatchimuthuK,BezkoraowajnyjP(2009)DairyCattleFeeding-EvidenceBasedPropoorinstitutionalapproach.ProceedingsoftheAnimalNutritionAssociationConference,NewDelhi,14– 17February,2009.http://fodderinnovation.org/Project/downloads/RAGACOV
- RutamuI(2004)Investmentopportunitiesinthedairysub-sectorofRwanda.Finalreport,SNV-IFAD,Kigali-RwandaAS%20paper%20ANA%20Conf%20Feb%2009.pdf
- StaalS,ChegeL,KenyanjuiM,KimariA,LukuyuB,NjumbiD,OwangoM,TannerJC,ThorpeW,WambuguM (1997) Characterisation of dairy systems supplying the Nairobi milk market. International Livestock ResearchInstitute,Nairobi.
- Syahniar TM, Antari R, Pamungkas D, Marsetyo, Mayberry DE, Poppi DP(2012) The level of tree legumes required to meet the maintenance energy requirements of Ongole (Bos indicus) cows fed rice straw in Indonesia Animal Production Science 52,641–646.
- Thomas D, Zerbini E, Parthasarathy, Rao P, Vaidyanathan A (2002) Increasing animal productivity on small mixed farms in South Asia asystems perspective Agricultural Systems 71 (1–2), 41-57.
- WuN(1996)ConservationofyakbiodiversityanditsdevelopmentpotentialinWesternSichuan,China.In: Miller, D.J., Craig, S.R., Rana, G.M. (Eds.), Conservation and Management of Yak Genetic Diversity—ProceedingsofaWorkshopinICIMOD,Oct.29–31,1996,Kathmadu,Nepal.
- XueB,ZhaoXQ,ZhangYS(2005)SeasonalchangesinweightandbodycompositionofyakgrazingonalpinemeadowgrasslandintheQinghai-TibetanplateauofChinaJournalofAnimalScience83,1908-1913.
- Zhang DF, Zhang XH (2002) Snow disaster causing mechanism of grasslands in northern China. Journal of Natural Disasters 11,80–84.
- ZhangL, DeKJ (2007) Experimentof quality evaluation of special silage in Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau. Chinese Qinghai Journal of Animaland Veterinary Sciences, 37, 15-16.

≪145≫





SustainableAnimalAgriculture forDevelopingCountries 27-31July,2013,Lanzhou,China



Effectofbodyconditionscoreonmilkproductionand reproductiveinbuffalo

Ishaq1*,M.H.M.Warriach1,2,D.McGill2,R.DBush3,S.Aruif1,N.Murtaza1&P.C.Wynn2

- 1 UniversityofVeterinary&AnimalSciences,Lahore,Pakistan,
- 2 SchoolofAnimalandVeterinarySciences,CharlesStartUniversityAustralia,
- 3 FacultyofVeterinaryScience,UniversityofSydney,CamdeaNSW 2570,Australia

ABSTRACT

The objective of his study was to determine the effect of BCS on milk production and reproductive disorders in Nili-Ravibuffalounder field conditions of Pakistan. The datawas collected form 55 small holder farms from districts Kasur (n= 26) and Okara (n= 29) respectively. Data regarding milk production and reproductive disorders we recollected by trained veterinarian. The result showed that buffaloes having high BCS (4, 5) have significantly (P>0.05) higher milk production as compared to low BCS(1,2). Similary, data showed that reproductive disorders we resignificantly high BCS (4, 5).

Keywords: Nili-Ravi, bodyconditionscore, milkproduction, reproductive disorders

≪147>

***Correspondingauthor:** Ishaq,M. **Email:** drishaq_rai@yahoo.com

Improvinglivelihoodsfromgrasslandsbybalancinghuman needsandtheenvironment

EstablishingASuccessfulDairyCommunityDevelopmentProgram: TheChallengesAndPitfalls

Wynn,P.C.1*,H.M.Warriach1,2,D.M.McGill1&R.D.Bush3

GrahamCentreforAgriculturalInnovation,CharlesSturtUniversityAustralia UniversityofVeterinary&AnimalSciences,Lahore,Pakistan FacultyofVeterinaryScience,UniversityofSydney,CamdenNSW2570,Australia *CorrespondingauthorEmail:pwynn@csu.edu.au

Abstract

The awarding of a research grant designed to investigate the limitations to dairy animal productivity in socioeconomicallydisadvantagedcommunitiesinacountrytotallyforeigntothesuccessfulapplicantspresents manychallenges. Thispapethighlights someoffhekeychallenges that have been arisen throughout the 6 years of our dairy extension program awarded through the Agriculture Sector Linkages Program established as a co-operative agreement between the Pakistani and Australian governments. Successful sustainable programs depend on the identification of the right partner organizations and staff to conduct the program and then the keeping of accurate records to measure and report on the success of farmers to both sponsors and host organizations.

Introduction

Pakistan is heavily dependent on an agrarian rural based economy, with livestock contributing 50% to the country'seconomy(PakistanEconomicSurvey,2006).Thepredominanceofvillagesarepopulatedwithfarmers owning3-10dairyanimals, withmuchofthemilkconsumeddomestically, while asmall proportion is on sold into either the local community or to milk buyers operating in marketing chain culminating in the sale of milkin large cities. However, Pakistan's standing as the world's 4 th large stmilk producer relies on production of less than 6 litres per day per animal from over 50 million buffalo and cattle. Our aim was to improve the productivity of the national herd

MaterialsandMethods

FormingtherightpartnershipsAsanAustraliandairyscientistfundedtoinvestigatewaysof"revolutionising" the commercial acumenof these farmers through co-operation with organizations already working in the field with them, it was difficult to know where to start. Governmental institutions like the state or federal Livestock Ministries are the most likely choices on offer from governments. The advantage of working with a large bureaucracylike astate Livestock Ministry which employs hundreds of veterinary officers servicing the needs of millions of dairy farmers is that there is a structure to work with. Furthermore, there is scope for extension of their activities as only about 20% of small-hold enfarmers receive any assistance at all.

The disadvantages are that the organization is most often hampered by inertiabased on a career structure for the veterinary extensions taff that offers no incentive to excel. Some officers can wait for as long as 20 years for promotion beyond basegrade. There is no mechanism for promotion based on performance. Thus engaging these staffin an experimentary extension are alchallenge.

The other issuere latest other management of finance, which onces entrother ministry to fund the project, becomes difficult to access because of the bureau cratic process of approval of expenditure. Delays in fund release can cause major delays in progress with program inception. Working with NGO's is an ideal objective, but their activities can change marked ly over a short period: therefore there is no continuity in support. Similarly, smaller co-operative companies have their own commercial objectives which often do not align with the welf are of farmers.

Co-operation with otheraid agencies

Some countries are a washwith funding from a range of international agencies most of ten with a motive to service the political agendas of countries funding the organization. Their objectives most of ten overlap, and yet because their funding is dependent on the delivery of a work program decided at the point of signing of contracts, there is little incentive or scope for co-operation of sharing of resources between projects. Insome cases, the program can be designed by one consultancy and then implemented by an entirely independent organization which might not be able to deliver effectively.

Shiftingobjectives

The political agendas of governments can change and therefore the emphases of projects can also change in line with these. As udden pushfor a "propoor" approach to aid, for example, means that flexibility needs to be built into every project to meet the needs of an ever changing political environment.

Choosingtherightstaff

The rule of thum bis to choose young resilient expatriates taff to immerse directly into the environment in which the project is to be implemented. Their decision making processes will not be influenced by previous project management experience. They then need to have an advisory group who visits on a frequent basis to provide some guidance with program direction and also to assure senior bureau crats in partner organizations that back-up assistance is never faraway. Then newly trained local graduates, who will be compliant with the aims of the project, need to be chosen carefully. Having the right staff in place in both the operational team and among the partner organizations is critical to success. Once local staffs are trained, expatriate staffs need to with draw to over seep rogress with the project from a far. These staff will also need to visit the project team on a frequent basis to monitor progress and offer further suggestions.

Keepinggoodrecords

Thekeytosuccessistomeasuretherateofsuccessinthetargetedfarmingcommunitiesthroughaccuraterecord keeping. This involves the development of a comprehensive survey that will provide the baseline for on-farm productivity and community development. This must be constructed carefully as the survey can be conducted only once. Thereafter, accurate on farm record keeping is required to measure progress. The database needs to be maintained constantly and analyse datfixed times to ascertain responses to the extension activity. There is an each of or constant reviewing of the project approach to ensure that the financial investment is reaping the return demanded by the funding agency.

ResultsandDiscussion

Projects ustainability: the key to success

Resultscanonlybeevaluated after the sustainability and outcomes of the project can be measured. Success is dependent on developing aworking relationship with farmers and collaborating partners based on trust. Rather than offering incentives to farmer stoen sure their engagement, amore effective mechanism is to initiate aproject with sentinel farmers who are the innovators in any community. These leaders will so on demonstrate the virtues of the project if this implemented correctly and others will then follow. Engagement with women and children as well as the local school teacheris acritical component for success with extension. Above all, it is essential that the project develops to keep all partners happy. This might mean adjusting the project aims to accommodate the wishes of local industry leaders. In the end, it is critical that acadre of workers in the partner organization sise fit with funding provided from within their organization or from farmers to carry on the project after external aid funding ceases. Persistence combined with flexibility toge therwith accurate data recording and reporting will always payof fint the long run.

149

Conclusion

Successful extension activities require total involvement of projects taff with the communities they are working with. The nature of extension material hast ovary to ensure maximum engagement of the whole family. At an organization allevelitis essential that an established network of extension staff is inplace to ensure that success with the project extends well beyond the period of funding for the program. The leaders of the program must be working cohesively and preferably are from the current generation of young graduates who are the future of the industry we are assisting.

(150)

Reference

 $Pakistan, {\tt Economic Survey 2006. Ministry of Agriculture, {\tt Health and Food Technology, Islama bad.}$

New Extension Model for Small Holder Dairy Farmers in Pakistan

Warriach 1, 2, H. M., D. M. McGill 2, M. Ishaq 1, S. Latif 1, A. Bhatti 1, Z. Batool 1, S. Arif 1, Z.Akram 1, R. D. Bush 3, • • P. C. Wynn 2

- University of Veterinary & Animal Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan
- 2 EH Graham Centre for Agricultural Innovation, Charles Sturt University, Australia
- 3 Faculty of Veterinary Science, University of Sydney, Camden NSW 2570, Australia Corresponding author: H. M. Warriach, E-mail: hassanwarriach71@yahoo.com

Abstract

The objective of the study is to demonstrate the effect of improved extension services on adoption rates of small holder dairy farmers in Pakistan. Preliminary results indicated significantly higher adoption rates when extension services were provided using the whole family approach compared to the simple approach after one year of both phases. In conclusion, this study indicates that improved extension services have a significant impact on adoption rates of small holder farmers.

Key words: Extension services, Dairy, Adoption rate, Small holder farmer

Introduction

Pakistan, like many developing countries, has an agrarian rural based economy. Livestock is a major contributor to the national (12%) and agricultural (50%) economy (Pakistan Economic Survey, 2006). It is estimated that around 70% of the dairy households in Pakistan still operate under conditions of subsistence by maintaining herds of three or four animals (Burki et al., 2005). The productivity of livestock is still lagging behind its potential level. In order to meet the requirements of a rapidly growing population, dairy production needs to be increased. This can be done by adopting modern techniques of dairy farming. New technologies developed by researchers are disseminated. Thus the major objective of this study is to demonstrate the effect of new extension model on adoption rates of small holder dairy farmers in Pakistan.

Materials and Methods

Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) research project was commenced with the aim of increasing dairy production through improved extension services. Small dairy farmers having 4-10 (buffalo and/or cattle) for production were the main target group for this project. During the first phase of the project a simple approach of extension targeting male farmers was used. During the second phase of the project a whole family approach targeting all family members was utilized. A number of innovative ways of extension have been adopted including the use of video practices, demonstration plots, problem based learning, stage drama, radio and TV shows to improve the effectiveness of the program. Benchmark data were collected on whole farming systems from 228 farmers during the first phase and 292 farmers during the second phase of the project. Subsequently, at the end of every year data have been collected to monitor the impact of these initiatives on the rate on the rate of extension message adoption.

Statistical analysis

Adoption rates between the whole family approach and simple approach after one year of both phases were analyzed using a Chi-square test. Similarly, adoption rates of various modules at the start and after one year of project phase-II were analyzed using a Chi-square test.

Results and Discussion

To our knowledge this is the first report which clearly describes the effect of improved extension services on adoption rates of small holder farmers in Pakistan. Higher adoption rates were achieved when we introduced a



wholefamily(male,femaleandchildren)approachcomparetosimpleapproachrelativetothetraditionalmale onlyapproachtoextension. An effective extension program with participation by the whole family is highly desirable to enhance farm productivity. Manyorganizations aiming a timproving small holder dairying fail to appreciate this fact and ignore women and children in the irtraining and skills development programmes. Women normally cannot leave the irhome and families for a few days to participate intraining programmes and usually require female trainers for effective communication. Thus during the second phase of the project we arranged parallels essions for women and children co-ordinated by women trainers. This approach, along with training of themale farmers resulted in high eradoption rates.

Conclusion

 $\label{eq:preliminary} Preliminary results indicate that improved extensions ervices have a significant impact on higher adoption rates of small holder farmers in Pakistan.$

References

Burki, A.A., M.A. Khan and F. Bari, 2005. The state of Pakistan• fs dairy sector; An assessment, CMER Workingpapemo.05-34.LahoreUniversityofManagementSciences, DHA, LahoreCantt.

≪152>>

PakistanEconomicSurvey2006.MinistryofAgriculture,HealthandFoodTechnology,Islamabad.



56th Annual Conference of the Australian Agricultural & Resource Economics Society, Fremantle, 7-10 February 2011

Dairy enterprise and whole farm performance in mixed farming systems: Punjab, Pakistan

Sosheel Godfrey1, Karl Behrendt2, Tom Nordblom1 and Peter Wynn1

EH Graham Centre for Agricultural Innovation (alliance between Charles Sturt University and NSW Department of Primary Industries).1 Wagga Wagga, NSW 2650, 20range, NSW 2800, Australia

Introduction:

The share of agriculture to GDP in Pakistan is 21%, more than half of which is from livestock. Milk is the major product of livestock. Pakistan is the third largest milk producer in the world with gross annual production of 47M tonnes. 40 million of the country's rural population are dependent on livestock for their livelihood. Punjab province has the largest share of milk production. It is important to understand the economics of dairy production in Pakistan's complex mixed farming systems.

Material & Methods:

- This study used farm level data from a longitudinal survey in irrigated Okara and partially rain fed Bhakkar districts of Punjab (Table 1, Figure 1). The survey recorded milk production per animal whereas feed quantities, health costs, crops cultivated and herd composition were for each farm from January 2007 to December 2009.
- Whole-farm and enterprise gross margins have been calculated for animal, fodder, crops and vegetable enterprises.
- Labour being permanent, with no significant opportunity costs, has been taken as a fixed cost to estimate operating costs. The value of land managed and livestock owned were assumed to be the major farm assets, with a 9% finance cost per annum for estimating net profit or disposable household income.



Conclusion:

Results:

- Overall losses from livestock enterprises are possibly due to low productivity and directly related to nutrition and management practices. Our study confirms this premise of the ACIAR project.
- Actual cost of capital, in particular to the small dairy holder, may be much higher than the assumed (9%), as they borrow from traditional money lenders.
- **Question 1.** Does integrated mixed farming limit farmers from capitalising on advantages of becoming specialized producers?
- **Question 2.** Are the better production efficiencies we found with larger numbers of milking animals also associated with greater milk marketing efficiencies?



- 40% farmers in Okara and 30% in Bhakkar had average variable costs (Rs/kg) higher than farm gate milk prices of Rs 23 and Rs 21 per kg respectively and were thus making losses. Milk average variable costs per kg had an inverse relationship with production (Figure 2, Table 1).
- Milk gross margins were slightly positive although overall livestock activity gross margins were negative. The whole-farm gross margin that included crops was positive, mitigating the negative effects of livestock in both the districts.
- Farm operating profits, after removing labour cost from whole farm gross margin estimates, was positive for most sample farms. Net profit showed losses when finance costs were included, though return on assets was higher for Okara than Bhakkar (Figure 3, Table 1).



(154)



Conference of the Australian Agricultural & Resource Economics Society, Fremantle

Identifyingproducer,middlemen,retailerandconsumerissues fromapro-poorvaluechainperspective:Adairy casestudyfromPunjabofPakistan

So sheel God frey 1, Karl Behrendt 2, Gavin Ramsay 1, Peter Wynn 1 and Tom Nordblom 1

EHGrahamCentreforAgriculturalInnovation(alliancebetweenCharlesSturtUniversityandNSWDepartment ofPrimaryIndustries).1WaggaWagga,NSW2650,2Orange,NSW2800,Australia.

Abstract:

Informal fresh unpackaged milk value chains (movers of 95% production) in Pakistan, link millions of rural producers and urban consumers and provide a livelihood to thous and sofmiddlemen (colloquially known as dhodhi) and retailers. Not muchisk nown about the way the sechains operate, apart from their general structure and an egative public perception of end product quality following adulteration of milk as it passes from farm to the consumer. This paper looks at a specific chain from rural producer to urban consumer using quantitative and qualitative methods, taking a case study approach. It describes the information sharing mechanism and the unwritten rules under which the chain operates amid low profit margins and dated technology. Financial advantage is gained by changing units, dilution and lowering price, where both producers and consumers are at the losing end. Milk is diluted with ice which affects its microbial quality and lowers protein and fat concentrations. Yet the consumers till prefers fresh milk as its pro-poor "as it offers small financial incentives through cashad vances, loans and income generation/employment opportunities: margins for each operator are low and their distribution inequitable. Poor rural producers and urban consumers are linked by the sechains but milk quality and the pricing mechanismal ong the chain require review.

Keywords: milk,valuechain,producer,collector,retailer,consumer,gadvi,kilogram,litre,Rs

Introduction:

Indeveloping countries, 2.6 billion live on less than \$2 aday. A billion of them live in rural areas and dependen a griculture and lives tock for their livelihoods. Another three quarters of a billion are urban based. Poverty is pervasive in both rural and urban environments closely linked to malnutrition. Effective value chains are essential immeeting the evolving needs of rural and urban poor. These typically represents malls cale production and marketing systems, which offer theme ansto increase access to an imal sourced foods for poor consumers, and present opportunities for poor producers and marketers: thus they have a pro-poor value chain focus (Baker, 2008; Echeverría, Solh, Seré, & Hall, 2011; Otte, et al., 2012).

Collins (2009) defines "food value chains as systems driven by interaction of their technical (production, processing, transport, etc.), economic (profitability), information-related (communication) and governance (humanrelationships) subsystems".

A valueonmarketingchainisanetworkofmultiplefirms/actorsconnectingtheoriginalproducertotheenduser. These firms or personnel integrate across organizational boundaries through the provision of products and services that add value for their customers (Lambert & Cooper, 2000). Fresh produce chains require physical transport, storage and some processing that is customized to the requirement and profitability of consumer segments (Andersonetal., 2007; Kohls & Uhl 2002; Schaffner, Schroder, & Earle, 2003).

Productexchangetakesplaceonlyifanarbitrageopportunityexists.Thismeansanopportunitytomakeprofitby moving produce to areas with higher demand and at higher prices. While the product exchanges hands, its ownership, price, and the level of risk borne by each hand leral sochanges. Income and its distribution is gauged



bymappingthechain. These chains catertoun differentiated product markets where competitive advantage is gained only by lowering prices, quality or quantity attributes of the product (Gunderson, Wysocki, & Stern, 2009; Kaplinsky & Morris, 2001; Kula, Downing, & Field, 2006; Schaffner, et al., 2003).

Thetraditionalopenmarketsfunction with minimal flow of information between various tiers of the chain. Price is a highly effective communication signal to induce change. Accurate and open sharing of information among participants can help businesses succeed but the lead firms of ten behave opport unistically by either distorting information or disclosing it in an incomplete manner (Boehlje, 1999; Boehlje & Schiek, 1998; Williamson, 1991). In these markets official rules are either weak or poorly implemented. Local traders and retailers of ten located close to the consumer, impose their own rules to control the key processes along the chain dubbed as governance. In the absence of formal contracts, safeguards are set in the form of investment host ages. Product quality aspects are imposed upon the chain members upstream but with limited information sharing that often leads to an tagonistic relations (Alten burg, 2006; Purcell, Gniel, & Gent, 2008).

Thisstudy examines a specific rural-urbanin formal fresh unpackaged milk value chain in Punjabof Pakistan. The study provides an insight into technical, economic, information and governance that have an impact on a poor value chains for whole milk, and identifies possible avenues for policy intervention to improve out comes for the producer and consumer.

WhymilkandPakistan'sdairyindustry?

With 181 million in habitants (33% below poverty line), Pakistanis the sixthmost populous nation in the world. The country has 2% population growth rate with a strong rural-urban migration trend. Current estimates suggest that 37% of the country's population is urban with projection sthat by 2050, nearly 56% of the people will be living incities (Mazhar, 2011-12; United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, 2012). Milkhas a major share in the food basket of an average Pakistanihousehold. Half of the household's total budget is spenton food and on equarter of that is spenton milk and milk products. With average consumer price inflation (CPI) of 17% in the last four years, with food having 40% weighting on this index, price scalation poses a serious risk to average Pakistanihouseholds. A food price rise of 10 to 30% can push 4 to 10 million Pakistanis below the poverty line (Carrasco & Mukhopadh yay, 2012; Khan, 2011-12; Pakistan, 2010-11).

Nearly80% of the milk is produced by rural producers and 95% of this milk goes to consumer sthrough informal value chains. The industry generates significant income and employment generation opport unities not only for farmers and hired labourers incountry's crop-lives to ckfarming system, but also formilk traders and retailers in the final markets (Staal, Pratt, & Jabbar, 2008; Zia, et al., 2011).

The livestock sector contributes 11.6% to national GDP and is considered the most important sector to help alleviate poverty in a country where one third of the population lives below the poverty line (Amjad, 2010; Farooq, 2011-2012; Naveed&Ali, 2012). Milkisthemajopproductoflivestock and its market value exceeds that of the combined value of major cash crops (Afzal, 2010). Of the country's 28 million households, 8.8 million households or 31% rearbuffalo (33 million) and cattle (37 million). Almost 90% of these households have 10 or less animals. The dairy animal shave low milky ields compared to othermilk producing countries. The average farms ize in the country is 6.4 acres (Garcia, Khan, & Hemme, 2004; Pakistan. Agricultural census organization, 2010).

Milkasaproduct,itsattributesandhandling:

Milkisregardedasbeingnature'smostcompletefood.Thetypeofanimal(breedandspecies)anditsdietcanlead todifferencesinthecolour,flavour,andcompositionofmilk.Theaveragepercentagecompositionofcowand buffalomilkisasfollows:

Table 1: Cow and buffalo milk composition

Species	Water	Fat	Protein	Lactose	Ash
Cow	87.2	3.7	3.5	4.9	0.7
Buffalo	82.8	7.4	3.6	5.5	0.8

Data Source: FAO (Fellows & Hampton, 1992)

The price and quality is usually dependent upon three factors namely milk-fat, protein content and microbial quality. Milkisaperishable commodity and spoils very quickly unless ambient temperature is maintained that prevents microbial contamination. Dilution of milk with water (orice) will reduce the quality by diluting the key measures of butter fat, protein and microbial quality (Harding, 1995).

Methods:

This research was carried out intwost ages during September 2011. Irrigated Okaraan drainfed Bhakkard is tricts of Punjabwere chosen based on access to and priore conomic analysis of farm data to estimate the cost of milk production in these districts (Godfrey, Behrendt, Nordblom, & Wyyn, 2011). Four question naires were designed for producers, middlemen, retailers and consumers to capture quantitative and qualitative data in an informal milk value chain. Quantitative data collected included physical (volumes) and financial (costs and margins) flows as well as technology and infrastructure (transport, storage, cooling and processing) as pects. Qualitative data included information on pricing and the frequency and mode of payment formilk and a set of keyrules by which the chaining over ned. The consumer's preferred attributes for freshmilk were ascertained as well.

Face-to-face interviews we reconducted with each respondent, which took between fifteen minutes and anhour depending on the respondent's place in the chain. The difference in time taken depended on the level of complexity and number of questions asked: for example, the question naire for the consumer was brief compared to the one sused for chain members upstream. All question naires included an explanation of the purpose of the research to all respondents. In the first stage, a purposive sampling method was used to ensure the sample adequately represented the particular interest of the study (Patton, 2002; Robson, 2002). Interviews we recarried out ode velop abroader understanding of informal milk chains and markets, the details of which are as follows:

- a) Twentysevenmilkproducersofvariedlandandlivestockholdings,producingandsellingatleastsome milk,fromfourvillagesineachofthetwodistricts.Theseproducerswereidentifiedandtheinterviewer introducedbytheongoingACIARprojectandgovernmentofPunjab'sdairyextensionstaff.
- b) Twentyfourmiddlemenofvariousscaleswereinterviewed.Atarurallevel,interviewswerecarriedout withimmediatebuyersorlargemilkcollectorsAttheurbanlevel,thosedeliveringmilkatretailshopswere interviewed.
- TwentytwospecializedmilkretailerswereinterviewedindifferentareasofthecitiesofLahore,Bhakkar, SahiwalandDeraIsmailKhan.
- d) Elevenmilkconsumerswereinterviewedattheretailshopsinthecitiesmentionedabove.

Afterinitialanalysisthestudyfocussedononetraditionalrurallybasedchainthatwasstudiedasaspecific case(Yin,2009). Thisvaluechainischaracterizedbythepresenceofmanyintermediariesintheflowof product to the marketplace. This provided an example of what we describe as a complex rural-urban informalvaluechainmodel. ThischainconnectedfarmersinOkarawithconsumersinLahore. Toidentify theparticipantparticipants, asnowballsamplingmethodwasusedwhereoneomoreidentified individuals provided the information on other parts of the chain (Patton, 2002; Robson, 2002). Thus producers identified theirsmall buyers, which led to medium and large buyers, and then the milk retailer. It took three daystoelucidate the structure and study this chain. The point of origin was avillage inrural Okara, 135 km southeastofthe final consumption market in metropolitan Lahorecity.

Results:

An umber of milk value chains models existed in both the districts and are depicted in Figure 1. The results presented here focus on one specific model from rural Okara district to metropolitan Lahorecity (depicted by the presented here focus on the second se



bolded path). In this chain, milk was collected and transported with minimal use of current milk transport technology, and the chain had a complex structure with many tiers of collectors.

As illustrated in Figure 2, the rural-urban informal fresh unpackaged milk chain linked hundreds of rural producers with thousands of consumers (consumption estimates based on household income economic survey 2011 percapita milk consumption estimates) in the final urban market destination and created more than one hundred employment opport unities.



- Technical subsystem and actors of the value chain: This section introducesspecificactorsandtheirfunctions,geographicallocation aswellasprovidingatimecourseformovementofproductdownthe chaintotheconsumer(Table2).
- 2. The typical producer was located in a village in rural Okara. The smallproducerowned5acresoflandand5dairyanimalsofwhich1 cowand1buffalowerelactating.Heandhiswifespentthreehours per day performing husbandry practices and hand milking. The farmer was selling almosthalf of his mixed cow and buffalo milk production, with the remainder being used domestically. He was sellingpart of bothhismorning and evening milking. The evening milking waskeptinare frigeratororice was added when electricity was notavailable and sold then extday.

The small collector collected small volumes of milk from ten to fifteenfarmer'sdoorstepanddeliveredittoacentralcollectionpoint onceeverymorning, aprocess that took 4 hours. Heused his motor cycleand steel potstocollect milk and travelled 40 kilometres daily. Heeven milked the animal shimself, if there was some doubtabout the farmer's integrity in maintaining the purity of the product. In addition, hedelivered groceries or agricultural inputs on demand to farmer's household.

Themedium collector's operation was located at abusstand, a midpoint between a few villages. His 3 hour morning operation did not require travelasmilk was delivered at his centre by elevens malk collectors. A big open topsteel tank was available but not used, as milk was measured directly by the large collector and transferred to histruck. Themedium collector's job was to record milk volumes supplied by each small collector, to measure and record factor tent.

The large collector was from a powerful Gujjar clan that dominates the Lahoremilk market. He was collecting milk from 8 middle medium collectors and supplying to 16 differents hops in Lahore including his ownshop. He made a 300 km return tripbet we en Lahore and Okaraona daily basis. This was an 18 hour operations even days a week. This was avery basic operation as plastic containers having a holding capacity of 138 litres were used to transport milk. Five kgo fice was added to every 41 litres of milk (8.2 milk: 1 ice) to carry it to the final destination.

The milk retailer was related to the large collector and was being supplied milk only by this chain. He was selling milk directly to the final consumers in an impover is hed area of Lahorecity, around 150 km from its origin. His operation required little investment in infrastructure to store and sell milk, and two refrigerators formilks to rage. Ice was added in the case of electricity disruption, which was a common occurrence. The only value adding activity under taken was 1300 Farmer producers 8 Medium milk collector 88 Small milk collectors 1 Large milk collector 16 Retailshops 31000 of Consumers Figure 2: Pyramido f Okara-Lahore freshun packaged milk value chain making yog urthemilk was boiled. Milk and yog urtwere both sold in transparent polythene bags.

The consumers at retails hops in Lahoremilk market preferred freshund packaged milk. The main choic exciterion was taste, which was defined by sweetness and thickness. That is, the more cream found in the purchased product after boiling, the happier the consumer was. The consumers we renot sure of the unit of purchase, but the quantity consumed by each purchase reasons and family size.

Actors	Producer(s)	Small collector(s)	Medium collector (s)	Large Collector	Retail shop(s)
Functions, geographical location and time along the chain	Milk production from both cows and buffalo at village	Milk collection from local villages and delivery at central rural collection point	Milk exchange facilitation at a central rural collection point	Milk collection from rural central collection points and distribution to urban retailers	Milk sale to final urban consumers i.e. Lahore city
	3 hours that includes 0.5 hours for hand milking two animals twice and 2 hours for husbandry practices	4 hours from 6:00 to 10:00am for the collection and delivery of morning milking only	3 hours from 10:00 am to 1:00pm for delivery, recording and transfer onwards	18 hours as starts 5:00am and last delivery at 11:00pm	17 hours as shop opens at 6:00am and closes at 10:00pm
Technology and Infrastructure (Storage Transport Cooling Processing)	Hand milk and storage of evening milk in refrigerator. Ice added when electricity breakdown	Motor cycle used for milk collection (40 km travelled) in steel pots. Ice used to store evening milking.	No travel required, Open top steel tank available but not used. Milk directly transferred to large collector's containers / truck	Plastic containers of 138 <i>litre</i> capacity used to collect milk, 5 kg of ice added to every 41 <i>litre</i> , 300 to 400 km return trip on truck	Freezers available at the shop for storage of milk. Ice also added in case of electricity breakdown. Milk is sold is polythene bags. Yogurt is the only processing done

2. Economicsubsystemofthevaluechain: Thissectionintroducesgrossmarginsperactor, excluding the owneroperator's opportunity cost of labour and gives an estimate of the capital invested by each participant (Table3). The measuring units used formilks a less are explained later in the governance section. The figure sgiven we recollected on the day of survey and are representative of transactions that occurduring this season of the year.

Theproducersold4.5gadviofmixedcowandbuffalomilktosmallthecollectorandkeptthesameamountfor domesticuse.Hisgrossmarginfrommilksoldwas13Rsthatday(Godfrey,etal.,2011).Hiscapitalinvestment toproducemilk,consideringlandandlivestocktobethemajorassets,was2.56millionRs.

The small collector's margin based on actual volume collected would have actually been aloss of -18 Rs but at this step of the chain, there was a conversion from gadvitolitres and are ward/penalty system in place for fat content (to be described in the governances ection). These adjustments increased the collection volume by 8 litres and thus his margin was Rs 238 that day. His capital investment to enter this business was 0.1 million Rs and comprised of Rs 50,000 for a motor cycle and milk collection pots, with a similar amount being extended as advances to farmers.

The medium collector's margin was 1,580 Rs based on a commission of 3 Rs/litre and a total collection of 660 litres that day. His capital cost to enter this business was 1.1 million Rs extended as interest free loans to eleven local small collectors, collecting milk to service the needs of his large collector customer from Lahore.

The large collector's grossmarg inwas46,600 Rs based on a collection 6700 litres (8.2 milk: lice). His capital investment was in a truck used for transportation of milk worth 1.4 million Rs and inloansest imated to be worth 1 million Rs formilk supplied on credit to retail customers.

Themilkretailer's grossmargin was 500 Rs/day, assuming average sales of 465 litres at each shop. A small proportion of this is comprised of the adjustment of the sale of alitre of milk to 900 mlin commercial outlets. This point will be explained further in the information section. This was based on a milkretail price of 42 Rs/litre whereas yogurt was actually sold at 55 Rs/kg, which is ignored in this calculation. His capital investment of 50,000 Rspaid for two refrigerators used formilks to rage.

3. Informationflowsonpricingofproduct: Therewasnoevidenceofhowfarmgatemilkpricewas fixed.IntheLahorecitymarket,thecitydistrictgovernmentannuallyfixesmilkprice/litre,whereasthereisno setmechanismtofixthemilkpriceatthefarmgate.Theproducerwasgiventhepriceofmilkbythesmall collector,whichwasnegotiable.Theproducerdidhoweveralsoconsultwithneighbouringfarmersonprevailing prices.

Thesmallcollectorwasgivenapricebythemediumcollectoratthecentralcollectionpointthatchangedevery fewweeksbasedonsupplyanddemand. Themediumcollectorstillgotthesamecommissionirrespective of pricechange. The large collector was of the opinion that the major processors such as Nestle, Haleeband Engro actually control themilk farm gate price A difference of 2Rs/litre was noted between this chain and big processor farm gate prices, with the latter using accurate litre scales when buying milk and offering stable prices across seasons. The producer still preferred to sell to the informal milk chains due to the fact that they we regetting advance payment for the imilk.

The retailshops in Lahorecity claimed to change price only once per year asset by the city district government. At the time of this study the freshunp ackaged milk price wasset at Rs50/litre. The retails shops we reselling milk in litres, kilograms and gavdiwith different units being sold at different prices. The retails ector in the chain we re selling milk between 42 to 60 R sperlitre (though units varied) and market prices we reobserved to vary from 42 to 70 R sand the different units of sale that include dg advi, litres and kilogram. This difference in units is assumed to be away to get around the price perlitres et by the government. The shops are assumed to be selling all esser quantity (litre) for a given price keeping the immargins or higher the price for a bigger unit (such as gad vi). It was evident that the price was not strictly being enforced across the commercial sector. The ultraheattreated (UHT) packaged milk processed by large processors was being sold at Rs 85/litre.

4. Governanceinthevaluechain: Therearenoformal statutory regulations for this chain and now ritten contracts among chain actors. However there is a set of unwritten rules to exercise control. Thus business practices and their impact on the quality of milk products reaching the consumer can be adjusted to advantage lead actors of the chain, that are large collectors and retailers, without recourse to any authority. Rules currently operating within the chain investigated are detailed in Table 4. This chain operated seven days a week and the onlyholiday was leven thay of everyls lamic monthwhen milk is given as charity to the poor and deserving.

Rule1): CashAdvance,LoansandPaymentSchedules:Thecashadvance,loansandpaymentschedulesvaried ateachstepofthechain:thesearrangementsmadethechaincohesive.Upstream,attheruralend,themedium collectorextendedaloan of 0.1 million Rstoeach of the small collectors, which enabled them to provide a monetary payment to their farmer suppliers who demanded atwo week cashadvance for the milk sold to the small collector. This cashadvance was based on the milk volumes old. The term "economic host ages" has been coined (Williamson, 1991) to describe the interdependency of the relationship between operators within these 3 phases of the marketing chain.

The large collector made cash payments to medium and small collectors every eighthday of the business cycle but downs tream at the retailend hew as supplying milk to some his customers on credit. It is assumed that he was locked in with his customers to o, due to this credit arrangement.

Rule2): Inconsistentunits,fatpremium/qualityanddilution:Inconsistentunitsofvolumewerefoundallalong thechain.Itishypothesizedthatthesehavedevelopedhistoricallytogenerateincomesforoperatorswithinthe chain,partofwhichistodistortthevolumeofmilksoldasalitretotheconsumertotheadvantageoftheretail outlet.Giventhatthereisnostatutoryregulatoryauthoritytoprotecttheconsumerthisisnotentirelyunexpected. Similarlyretailpricescanbeadjustedbeyondthepricefixedbythecitygovernment.

In this chain the most important attribute of the raw product was its fat content as it was sought after by the urban consumer, there by raising the importance of high fat buffalomilk which can therefore be diluted more prior to sale. There was little understanding of the nutritional value of milk protein and microbial quality. The temperature of the milk washowever, maintained by addingice to the milk directly, which apart from acting as a diluent, may have potentially introduced microbial agents.

Thesmallcollector's gadvicontained100 gramsmore milk than its hould (1130 grams instead1030 grams for milk having a high erdensity). This is a deliberate ploy to gain illicitly 100 grams of milk pergadvicollected from the producer. These additional grams were taken into account at the central collection point, and we reconverted to litres at the point of exchange of product. Thus his milk collection increase d from 41 gadvito 45 litres that is a gain of 41 itres because of this deception.

Hepreferredbuffalomilkduetoitshigherfatcontent, butwasgenerallybuying, mixedcowandbuffalomilk. He assessed quality of milk collected by visual appearance and smellascultural norms did not allowany further checks. The large collector had placed a reward/penalty system in place at the medium collector's central collection point where the milk exchanged hands. The medium collector measured and recorded fat content on behalf of the large collector against the 6% standard Asthesmal collector's milk had 6.5% fat, hegained another 41 it resasit was diluted to provide the standard 6% fat content. There was a centrifugal machine present at the collection point to test fat, but it was a rely used as estimation was at the discretion of the medium collector. The following formula was used as a tool to encourage the supply of unadulter at edhigh fat content buffalomilk (Table 4).

The large collector diluted the milk with ice at this stage (8.2 litres of milk: 1 litre equivalent of ice which varied with season) to ensure that it does not get spoiled on its way to the Lahoremarket which was a tenhour trip. The retail milks hops in the city, not owned by the large collector had their own formulator est fat based on which the price was fixed. On arrival of the truck, 2.5 litres of milk was boiled to get as tandard 400 grams of khoya (milk thick ened by heating in an open iron pan). The price + was fixed based on grams of khoya obtained from this process. This was to ensure collection of higher fat content milk preferred by the final consumers.

Themilkwassoldbytheretailshoptotheconsumeringadvi,litresandkilograms.Itisassumedthatthelitrewas 900grams,whichmeantalowerquantityforthepricepaid.Amaund(alocalunit)wasactual40kgatthefarm gateand46litresintheLahoremarketduethereadyacceptanceofdilutionbythevendors.

	Farmer(s)	Small collector	Medium collector	Large Collector	Retail shop(s)
Volumes	4.5 gathis (5.1 litres based on 130 grans access collection pot)	41 gadvis but 49 litres after unit conversion and fat standardization	660 litres based on fat content premium	6700 litre that includes 5970 <i>litres</i> of milk and 820 kg ice (8,2milk:1ice)	465 <i>litres</i> /shop (sells 0.9ml for every litre sold and thus makes 45 litres extra)
Price at each step	30 Rs/gadwi	32 Rs/litre	35 Rs/litre	40 Rs/litre	42/litre
Estimated Revenue / day (P*Q)	135 Rs - 30*4_5	338 Rs - 41*2 = 32*8	1,980Rs - 3*660	59,050Rs = milk 5,970*5 = ice730*40	840Rs = 465*2
Estimated Variable costs / day		100 Rs/day motor cycle fuel	400 Rs/day based on -8000Rs/month to record keeper -2000Rs shop rent & utility bills -2000Rs for miscellaneous such as entertainment of shop guests	12,500 Rs/day based on -8000Rs/day truck fuel -8000/month truck driver's salary -270 to 400 Rs for 6 loaders -2460 Rs of ice for 830/g ice @ 3Rs/kg	430 Rs/day based on -8000Rs/month shop and utility bills -4000Rs/month shop helper's salary -1000Rs/month polythene bags for selling milk
Gross margins per actor	Rs 12.58/day	238 Rs/day	1,580Rs/day	46,600Rs/day	503 Rs/day
Capital Investment	2.56 million Rs (0.31 million for livestock and 2.25 million for land)	0.1 million Rs (50,000 Rs for motor cycle and pots. 50,000Rs approx. advances to farmers)	I million Rs as loans to small collectors	Truck worth 1.4 million Rs and 1 million Rs as milk on loan to some retail customers	50,000 Rs as refrigerator(s) for milk storage

The unit conversions are gadvi =1130 grams at larmer's door step, litre=1030 gram or ml during transport and exchange in the chain, litre=900grams at the retail shop in the city when sold to final consumer
 OANDA <u>http://www.oanda.com/currency/converter/</u> exchange rate of 15th Sept. 2011 where 1AUD=89.3Rs

Discussionandconclusion:

Theresearchhasgiven an insight into how arural-urban informal freshun packaged milkvalue chain operates in Pakistan, which has not been described previously. It has quantified the number of participants and employment opportunities along the chain.

The reisn of ormal contract at any stage in this chain, yet producer so btain advances for their milk, regular cash flows and additional services such as a gricultural inputs as a part of the arrangement. Small collectors obtain interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium collector generates viable returns on his interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium collector generates viable returns on his interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium collector generates viable returns on his interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium collector generates viable returns on his interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium collector generates viable returns on his interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium collector generates viable returns on his interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium collector generates viable returns on his interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium collector generates viable returns on his interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium collector generates viable returns on his interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium collector generates viable returns on his interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium collector generates viable returns on his interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium collector generates viable returns on his interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium collector generates viable returns on his interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium collector generates viable returns on his interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium collector generates viable returns on his interest free loans to operate and earn their livelihood while the medium c



capital. The small collector is in partirapped, by both the producer to whom he extends advances, and the medium collector from whom he borrows the money. The large collector holds the most power at the rural end of the chain yethe has to keep the demands and expectations of his retail customers. This chain collects, transports and sells freshunpack aged milk with a fat content of 4 to 5%, which is higher or equivalent to the pack aged milk usually containing 3.5% fat), but which is market edatal most that fifthe price of the pack aged product.

Therisksassociated with this chain and the raised from the study include:

- a) The chains operate with minimal use of technology and the answerpartly is that the consumer pays alower price but is this practice sustainable in the long run? What about the microbial quality and protein content?
- b) The margins, in particular those earned by the producer and small collectors are negligible. The actors downstream are gaining competitive advantage only by lowering prices and distorting the quantity and quality of milkonsale.
- c) Thereisnoformalmechanismforsettingafarmgatepricewhilethepriceoffreshmilkinurbancentresset bythegovernmenthastobereconsidered
- d) Themilkunitconversionsdepriveboththefarmerandfinalconsumerofquantitiesforwhichtheyreceive nopayment/milk.Havingfatcontentastheonlydeterminantofinilkqualityamatterforconcernwherethe livingstandardsandexpectationsofconsumersisbecomingmorediscerning.

This chain operates in an industry environment which is complex and competitive. There are a large number of small producers and final consumers catered for by a large number of collectors and distributors at different tiers of the chain and retailers. More chains and different model will have to be studied before making any concrete recommendations for the more effective marketing of such an important component of the Pakistani diet.

References

- Afzal,M.(2010).Re-designingSmallholderDairyProductioninPakistan.PakistanVeterinaryJournal,30(3), 187-190.
- Altenburg, T. (2006). Governance Patterns in Value Chains and their Development Impact. The European JournalofDevelopmentResearch,18(4),498-521.
- Amjad,R.(2010).KeyChallengesFacingPakistanAgriculture:HowBestCanPolicyMakersRespond?A Note. Islamabad:PakistanInstitueofDevelopmentEconomics.
- Anderson, D., Britt, L., Favre, D.J., Bodegraven, A., Ackerman, K., Mentzer, J.,... Abbott, J. (2007). The 7 Principles of Supply Chain Management. Supply Chain Management Review, 11(3), 41-46.
- Baker, J. (2008). Urbanpoverty: aglobalview (Vol. 10fl). Washington, D.C.: The World Bank.
- Boehlje, M. (1999). Structural changes in the agricultural industries: How do we measure, analyze and understandthem? American Journal of Agricultural Economics, 81(5), 1028-1041.
- Boehlje, M., & Schiek, W. (1998). Critical Success Factors in a Competitive Dairy Market. Journal of Dairy Science, 81(6), 1753-1761.
- Carrasco, B., & Mukhopadhyay, H.. (2012). Food Price Escalation in SouthAsia—A Serious and Growing Concern(Vol.10). Manila: Asian Development Bank.
- Collins, R. (2009). Value chain management and post harvest handling: partners in competitiveness. In W. Florkowski, R. Shewfelt, B. Brueckner & S. Prussia (Eds.), Postharvest Handling: ASystems Approach (2nded.): Elsevier.
- Echeverría, R., Solh, M., Seré, C., & Hall, S. (2011). Moremeat, milkandfish–by and forthe poor. [Proposal submitted to the CGIAR Consortium Board]. International Livestock Research Institute.
- Farooq,O.(2011-2012).EconomicSurveyofPakistan:AgricultureIslamabad:MinistryofFinanceRetrieved fromhttp://www.finance.gov.pk/survey/chapter_12/02-Agriculture.pdf.

Interme	ediatelechnologyPublicationsinassociationwithCTA
Garcia,O.,Kl onsmall	han,A.R.,&Hemme,T.(2004).AreviewofmilkproductioninPakistanwithparticularemphasis l-scaleproducers.
Godfrey,S.,E mixedfa Agricul	Behrendt,K.,Nordblom,T.,&Wyyn,P.(2011).Dairyenterpriseandwholefarmperformancein armingsystems:Punjab,Pakistan.Paperpresentedatthe56thannualconferenceoftheAustralian lturalandResourceEconomicsSociety,Fremantle,WesternAustralia
Gunderson, United	M.,Wysocki,A.,&Stern,J.(2009) A FunctionalEvaluationofBusinessModelsinFreshProducein States.InWojciechJ.Florkowski,StanleyE.Prussia,Robert
L. Shewfelte Press.	&BernhardBrueckner(Eds.),PostharvestHandling:ASystemsApproach:(2nded.):Academic
Harding,F.(1	995).Milkquality.London;NewYork:BlackieAcademic&Professional.
Hemme,T.,& Rome:F	&Otte,J(2010).StatusandProspectsforSmallHolderMilkProduction,AGlobalPerspective. FoodandAgricultureOrganizationoftheUnitedNations.
Kaplinsky,R	.,&Morris,M.(2001)Ahandbookforvaluechainresearch(Vol.113):IDRC.
Khan,A(201 http://w	11-12). Economic Survey of Pakistan: Inflation Islamabad: Ministry of Finance Retrieved from /ww.finance.gov.pk/survey_1112.html.
Kohls,Richa NJPrent	urd,&Uhl,JosephN.(2002).Marketingofagriculturalproducts(9thed.ed.).UpperSaddleRiver, ticeHall.
Kula,Olaf,D chainap	Downing, Jeanne, & Field, Michael. (2006). Globalization and the small firm: An industry value proachtoe conomic growth and poverty reduction: USAID.
Lambert,D.M 29(1),65	M.,&Cooper,M.C.(2000).Issuesinsupplychainmanagement.Industrialmarketingmanagement, 5-83.
Mazhar,N.(2 Ministr	2011-12).EconomicSurveyofPakistan:Population,LabourForceandEmployment.Islamabad: yofFinanceRetrievedfromhttp://www.finance.gov.pk/survey_1112.html.
Naveed, A., Sustain	& Ali, N. (2012). Clustered Deprivation-District profile of poverty in Pakistan. Islamabad: ablePolicyDevelopmentInstitute.
Otte, J., Cost Livesto manyvi	ales, A., Dijkman, J., Ciamarra, U., Robinson, T., Ahuja, V.,Roland-Holst, D (2012). ock sector development for poverty reduction: an economic and policy perspective - Livestock's rtues.Rome:FoodandAgricultureOrganizationoftheUnitedNations
Pakistan, Fee Islamat integrat	deral Bureau of Statistics. (2010-11). Household Integrated Economic Survey (HEIS) 2010-11. bad: Federal Bureau of Statistics Retrieved from http://www.pbs.gov.pk/content/household ted-economic-survey-hies-2010-11.
Pakistan. Ag Statistic	gricultural census organization. (2010). Agricultural Census 2010. Lahore: Pakistan Bureau of csRetrievedfromhttp://www.pbs.gov.pk/content/agricultural-census-2010-pakistan-report.
Patton,M.(20	002).QualitativeResearch&EvaluationMethods(3rded.).CaliforniaSagePublicattion,Inc.
Purcell,T.,G Practiti	iniel,S.,&Gent,R(2008).MakingValueChainsWorkBetterforthePoor:AToolbookfor onersofValueChainAnalysis.PhnomPhen:AgriculturalCensusOrganization.
Robson,C(2 Oxford	002).Realworldresearch:aresourceforsocialscientistsandpractitioner-researchers(2nded.). :Blackwell
Schaffner,D Boston:	.,Schroder,W.,&Earle,M(2003).FoodMarketing:AnInternationalPerspective(2nded.ed.). :McGrawHill.
Staal,S.,Pratt develop	t,N.,&Jabbar,M.(2008).Dairydevelopmentfortheresourcepoor.Part3:PakistanandIndiadairy pomentcasestudies.
UnitedNatio	nsDepartmentofEconomicandSocialAffairs.(2012).PopulationDivision,PopulationEstimates



Australian

Good Food, Good Life

held at AAAP Congress, Bangkok, Thailand

Thursday 29 Nov 2012

Effectofimprovedextensionservicesonadoptionratesandfarm economicsofsmallholderdairyfarmersinPakistan

H.M.Warriach1,2,D.M.McGill2,M.Ishaq1,S.Latif1,A.Bhatti1,Z.Batool1,S.Arif1,N. Murtaza1,R.D.Bush3,andP.C.Wynn2

- UniversityofVeterinary&AnimalSciences,Lahore,Pakistan hassanwarriach71@yahoo.com
- 2 EHGrahamCentreforAgriculturalInnovation,CharlesSturtUniversity,Australia
- 3 FacultyofVeterinaryScience,UniversityofSydney,CamdenNSW 2570,Australia

Abstract

The objective of the study is to demonstrate the effect of improved extensions ervices on adoption rates and farm economics of small holder dairy farmers in Pakistan. During the first two years of the project a whole family approach estargeting all the family members was used. Whereas in the second phase of the project a whole family approaches targeting all the family members was used. The effect of improved extensions ervices on adoption rates and farme conomics was collected on amonthly basis from the farmers. These farmers were working in the districts of Kasur, Okara, Pakpattan, Jhelum and Bhakkar within the Punjab province. Preliminary results indicated significantly higher (P < 0.05) adoption rates when extensions ervices were provided using the whole family approach (50%) compared to the simple approach (14%) after one year of both phases. Improved extensions ervices have significantly increased (P < 0.05) the farmincome of small holder dairy farmers. Over all there was about \$US100/month increase in the income of small holder dairy farmers. Over all indicates that improve dextensions ervices have as ignificant impacton adoption rates estimate in farm economics of small holder farmers. The data generated from this study will be helpful to devise better strategies for improve dextensions ervices in order to optimize the dairy production of small holder farmers and will have aripple effect on the others to follow.

Keywords: Extensionservices, adoptionrate, farme conomics, smallholder farmer, dairy

Introduction

Pakistan, likemany developing countries, has an agrarian rural based economy. Livestockis amajor contributor to the national (12%) and agricultural (50%) economy (Pakistan Economic Survey, 2006). The livestock sector has been recently declared as one of the fast est growing sectors and provides improved livelihoods formore than 35 million people with farmers/households deriving 30 to 40% of the innome from livestock.

Milk remains the major contributor to income derived from livestock. The value of milk alone exceeds the combined value of wheat, rice, maize and sugarcane in the country. Milkisproduced under different production systems namely, rurals ubsistences mall holding, ruralmarketoriented small holding, rural commercial farms and peri-urban dairying. It is estimated that around 70% of the dairy households in Pakistan still operate under conditions of subsistence by maintaining herds of three or four animals (Burkietal., 2005). The productivity of livestock is still lagging behind its potential level. In order to meet the requirements of a rapidly growing population, dairy production needs to be increased. This can be done by adopting modern techniques of dairy farming. New technologies developed by researchers are disseminated among the farmers through an effective extension program.

Theroleofextension has been to provide research-based education and information to the production sector. The most important management areas on a dairy farm are feeding and forages, udder health, reproduction, calf raising, and herdhealth (Dahletal., 1991a). Problems olving in these areas requires abroad base of knowledge and expertise, and often the implementing agency must organize amultidisciplinary team of extensions pecialists or other professional stoassist producers (Dahletal., 1991b). Services to the dairy sector are being provided by government agencies and arange of NGOs, and virtually all services providers who interact with the farmers are veter in arians or para-veter in arians who perform vaccination, treatment and A.I. Limitations in the extension



service and the research/extension interface are considered to be bottlenecks in the development of the dairy sector. In particular the style of communication between farmers and extension staff, the information available to extension staff, the number of skilled extension staff and a failure to consider problems and solutions in awhole-of-farm systems context are important limitations. Thus the major objective of this study is to demonstrate the effect of improved extension services on adoption rates and farme conomics of small holder dairy farmers in Pakistan.

MaterialsandMethods

In2007, anAustralianCentreforInternationalAgriculturalResearch(ACIAR) researchprojectLPS/2005/132 wascommencedwiththeaimofincreasingdairyproductionthroughimprovedextensionservices. Smalldairy farmershaving4-10(buffaloand/orcattle) forproductionwerethemaintargetgroupforthisproject. Duringthe first phase of the project a simple approach of extension targeting male farmers was used. In 2011, ACIAR extended this research project for an additional five years. The project is currently working in five districts of Punjab (Okara, Pakpattan, Kasur, Jhelum, Bhakkar) and two districts (Thatta and Badin) of Sindh province. During this second phase of the project awhole family approach targeting all familymembers was utilized. A number of innovative ways of extension have been adopted including the use of video practices, demonstration plots, problem based learning, staged rama, radio and TV shows to improve the effect iveness of the program. Benchmark data were collected on whole farming systems from 228 farmers during the first phase and 292 farmers during the second phase of the project. Subsequently, at the endofevery yeard at a have been collected to monitor the impact of the seinitiative sonther at eor first phase and project district of Punjabannually.

The project place demphasis on a comprehensive interdisciplinary educational program of meetings, workshops and trainings of both farmers and extension workers. Basichus bandry, nutrition, and calfmanagement were the initial subjects addressed during both phases of the project. A doption rates between the whole family approach and simple approach after one year of both phases were analyzed using a Chi-squaretest. Similarly, adoption rates of various modules at the start and after one year of project phase-II were analyzed using a Chi-squaretest. Comparisons of various average monthly incomes of small holder farmers were analyzed using a t-test. Statistical analysis was carried out using SPSS (Version 10.0) with <math>P < 0.05 regarded assignificant.

Results

 $\label{eq:solution} Adoptionrates (50\%) were significantly high er (P < 0.05) by more than three-fold when a whole family approach was implemented compared to the simple approach (14\%) after one year of both phases (Figure 1). Comparison of a doption rates of various modules (animal husbandry, basic concepts of hutrition and cal finutrition) at the start and after one year of the second phase is shown in Figure 2. Untying animals and giving free access to water together with twice daily cleaning of sheds we rereadily adopted, how ever investing in infrastructure in the form of shed construction was not as easy for farmers (Figure 2a). Offering fodder ad libitum, feeding concentrate and Improve dextensions ervices have significantly increased (P < 0.05) the farmincome of small and mineral mixes were perceived as being easy and of direct benefit to productivity: incontrast feeding concentrate and sufficient milk and water were perceived as being readily adoptable messages (Figure 2c). Over all there was about US $ 100/month increase in the income of small hold erd airy farmer (Table 1).$



Figure1. The difference in adoption rates (%) of extension messages following the use of a traditional "male only" extension approach (phasel) as compared with a whole family approach (phase2).



Figure2. The difference in adoption rates (%) of specific extension messages following the use of atraditional "male only" extension approach (phase 1, 2011) as compared with a whole family approach (phase 2, 2012). 2a: watering cleaning and shed construction; 2b: as pectso fanimal nutrition: 2c as pectso fail feeding

Table 1. Comparison of various averagemonthly incomes of small holder farmers

Survey	No.ofmilking animals	Land(Acers)	Dairyincome/ month(Rs)	Cropsincome/ month(Rs)	Incomefrom othersources/ month(Rs)	Totalincome/ month(Rs)
2011	2	6.7	7161a	5172a	4710a	17043a
2012	2.2	6.7	12758b	9358b	5400b	27516b

a,bMeanswithadifferentsuperscriptswithinacolumnaresignificantlydifferent(P<0.05)

Discussion

Toourknowledgethisisthefirstreportwhichclearlydescribestheeffectofimprovedextensionserviceson adoption rates and farm economics of small holder farmers in Pakistan. Higher adoption rates (50%) were achievedwhenweintroducedawholefamily(male,femaleandchildren)approachcomparetosimpleapproach (14%) relative to the traditional male only approach to extension. An effective extension program with participationbythewholefamilyishighlydesirabletoenhancefarmproductivity.Manyorganizationsaimingat improvingsmallholderdairyingfailtoappreciatethisfactandignorewomenandchildrenintheirtrainingand

skills development programmes. Women normally cannot leave their home and families for a few days to participateintrainingprogrammesandusuallyrequirefemaletrainersforeffectivecommunication. Thusduring these condphase of the project wearranged parallels essions for women and children co-ordinated by women trainers. This approach, along with training of the male farmers resulted in high eradoption rates.

In order to demonstrate the role of children in rural communities this project initiated a buffalo calfraising competitionamong the children of farmers (10-16 years) in Pakpattan district. These results demonstrated that under field conditions the average daily buffalo calf live weight gain (431 gm/day) was comparable to many controlled studies invarious leading research institutes of Pakistan (Bhattietal., 2009; Iqbaland Iqbal, 1992). These findings clearly indicated that we can effectively enhance animal productivity through the active involvement of children in our extension program.

In the present study, adoption rates of various modules at the start and after one year of project phase-II are significantly higher. Possible reasons of high adoption rates other than the whole family approach are the implementation of the innovative ways of extension likevide opractices, demonstration plots, problem based learning, staged rama, radio and TV shows. Innovative methods of extension played as ignificant role in order to achieve higher adoption rates. While devising training programmes, one should keep inmind that "Seeing is believing" and "Farmers do not have ears, they only have yes."

Thepresentstudyclearlydemonstratedthatimprovedextensionservicesresultedinsignificantlyincreasedfarm incomeforsmallholderdairyfarmers. Therewasanaverageincreaseofabout\$US100inmonthlyincomeafter oneyearofeffectiveextension. Farmerswereshowntohaveadoptedbasichusbandryandimprovednutrition practices. Providing ad-libitum access to water and feeding resulted in the increase of approximately 1 lit/animal/day(Warriachetal.,unpublisheddata)However, there is an editorious stigatefurther the effects of various adoption rates on the productivity and farme conomics of smallholder farmers. Inconclusion, these

preliminaryresults indicate that improved extensions ervices have as ignificant impact on higher adoption rates resulting in an increase infarmin comeso fsmallhold erfarmers.

Acknowledgements

Theauthorssincerelythankthecooperatingsmalldairyholderfarmersandtheirfamilies, extensionworkers, research assistants for participation and contribution to this project; ACIAR for funding the project No. LPS/2010/007.

References

- Bhatti,S.A.,M.S.Khan,M.SarwarandEhsanullah.2009.PerformanceofbuffaloandcowcalvesduringpreweaningperiodundersamemanagementconditionsattheUniversityofAgriculture,Faisalabad.PakistanJ. Zool.Suppl.Ser.,No.9,pp.623-628,2009.
- Burki, A.A., Khan, M.A., Bari, F., 2005. The state of Pakistan's dairy sector; Anassessment, CMERWorking paperno.05-34. LahoreUniversity of Management Sciences, DHA, LahoreCantt.
- Dahl,J.C.,J.K.Ryder,J.J.Holmes,andA.C.Wollenzien1991a.Thefirststepinimprovingmilkproduction: financialanalysisofamodeldairy.Vet.Med.86:224.
- Dahl,J.C.J.K.Ryder.B.J.Holmes, and A.C.Wollenzien. 1991b. The final stepinim proving milk production of a model dairy: implementation of recommendations. Vet. Med. 86:439.
- Iqbal,T.andIqbal,J.,1992.Raisingofbuffalocalvesondifferentscheduleofwholemilk.In:Thirteenthannual report(1992),LivestockProductionResearchInstitute,Bahadurnagar,Okara,pp.62-63.
- Pakistan, EconomicSurvey2006. Ministry of Agriculture, Healthand Food Technology, Islamabad.

Sustainabilityofmilkproductionfromsmall-holderfarmers:a Pakistaniperspective

PCWynn1,SGodfrey1,MIshaq3,NAslam1,RDBush2,HMWarriach3,DMMcGill1

- GrahamCentreforAgriculturalInnovation,CharlesSturtUniversityWagga,NSW 2650Australia
- 2 FacultyofVeterinaryScience,UniversityofSydney,Camden,NSW 2570Australia
- 3 ASLP DairyResearchprogram,UniversityofVeterinaryandAnimalScience,LahorePakistan

Abstract

Maintainingthemilksupplyforapopulationof180millionpeoplewhodependheavilyonthiscommodityfor theiranimalproteinneedsremainsachallengegiventhepoorleveloftrainingprovidedforthe8.5millionsmall holderdairyfarmerstowhomthistask falls. Thekeyobjectiveofanyextensionprogramneedstofocuson boostingtheproductionperanimalbeyondthemeanof3.15litresperday.Instrivingtoattainthisgoalfarmers mustbeabletoachieveaprofitmarginsufficienttojustifytheirinvestmentinimprovingproductivity.Oneofthe keyobjectivesofthedairyindustryinthefuturemustbetorationalisemilkmarketingchainssothatasignificant proportion of the profits derived from selling high quality milk to consumers is passed directly to the producer. Withtheprovisionofcleareconomicsignalsthefarmerwillstrivetoimprovefeeding,diseasecontrol, reproductive management and the environment in which animals are kept. Changes to the industry are not necessarily going to come from direct government investment, but are more likely to be achieved by the implementationofgovernmentpoliciesdesignedtoencourageprivateandcorporateinvestmentintheindustry.

Keywords: Milkproduction, smallholderdairies, marketing, extension

Introduction

PakistaniMinisterforLivestockandDairyDevelopment,HamayunAzizKurdproudlyinformedtheNational Assemblyearlyin2014thatPakistanstandsasfourthintherankingofthelargestmilkproducingcountrieswith anannualproductionof36.2milliontonnesfromeightmillionfarminghouseholds.Pakistanisthefourthlargest producerofmilkintheworldbehindIndia,ChinaandtheUnitedStates.Hefurtherstatedthattheannualmilk productionacrossthecountryisworthasmuchasRs177billionandiseasilythelargestproductintheentire agriculturesector(Anon2014).

The contribution of the dairying to the national economy is to the tune of Rs540 billion with 97 percent of the ing informal non-documented economic activity. Approximately two thirds of this is consumed by the domestic household or sold in local markets, leaving one third to be sold as fresh unpackaged milk through informal chains (Ziaetal. 2011). The formal production and processing sector comprises only 3% of national production.

While the Minister has good reason to be proud of the sestatistics, they beliet hefact that total milk production is derived from 34.6 million buffal o and 39.7 million cattle (Ahmad 2014) each producing as little as 3 litres per day. Furthermore the estimated 5% increase in production annually is offset by a 15% increase inconsumer demand which is currently at 43.2 million to nnes, some 5 million to nnes above annual total production.

Thegovernment'sresponse to this issue involved funding the national Livestock and Dairy Development Board to install 150 milk cooling tanks, train 168 milk cooling tank operators, 176 village livestock workers and establish 3871 farmers in "milk producing groups" similar to the concept of farmer co-operatives. Further to this the Board had already registered and trained 566 quality bree ders and registered 1004 Progeny Testing program Farmers. Are these the answers that the increasing lyurbanised population of 188 million people of Pakistan are looking for?

It is important to remember that 60% of the population lives on less than \$2 aday (World Bank 2013) and milk products provide 10.6% and 18.7% of the total calories and protein intake percapitaperday (Pakistan Bureau of Statistics 2011).

Some of the answers lie within the problem areas identified within the industry by the Pakistan Dairy DevelopmentCompany, an independent governmentor ganisation established under the Ministry of Industries, Production and Special Initiatives in 2006 (PDDC 2006).

Thekeyissuesraisedatthattimewere:

- •
- The lowprofitabilityofsmall-holderdairyoperations; Theseparationoffarmers from the milk marketing sector and market forces operational in regional urban
- centres;
 - Inadequateinfrastructureforbothmilkstorageandtransport: this includes refrigeration to preserve milk
- quality;
 - Pooreducationalfacilitiesavailableforfarmingcommunities;
- Little knowledgeofhowtofeedalactatinganimal;
- Inadequate training for the government veterinary extension officers who advise farmers on animal
- productivity;
- Lack of awareness of the consumers of the quality attributes of milk;
- Adulteration of the product along the marketing chains to maximise profit margins for milk chain • operatives:
- The poor range of dairy products available to consumers suggesting that the industry lacked innovativeentrepreneurial thinking;
- Inadequateresearchfacilitiesacrossdairyproductionsystemstoprovidetheinnovativethinkingrequiredto sustainavibrantandprofitableindustry.

Thenatureofsmall-holderdairyoperations

Closeanalysisofsmall-holderdairyproductionunitsmostoftenarenotprofitable. Itisimportanttonotethatthe rationaleforowningbuffalcandcattledoesnotoftenrelatetoboostingfamilyincomeA dairyanimalmostoften providesthesolesourceofanimalproteinforthefamilyforanaveragelactationofmorethan200days. The amino balance, vitamins and minerals provided by milk protects children and women from nutritional deficiencies.Whereproductionexceedsfamilyneedsthentheattractionofmakingasmallincomeforthesame durationhelpsafamilypayforotheressentialfoods,clothingandpharmaceuticals.

As most of these farming operations also rely on cash cropping from their small areas and irrigation water allocation, income from livestock provides an insurance against crop failure as well as providing dung which enables nutrients to be recycled to the soil profile thus avoiding the use of expensive inorganic fertilisers. Animals also act as an insurance policy to pay for weddings, funerals, medical expenses and education fees (Afzal 2006). Both cropping and forage growing operations are seasonal and it is important that the farmer manageshislimited arable areatom aximise production from both of the seoperations.

Given the need to milk animal stwice daily and feed animals constantly, dairy operations generate employment opportunities. Most these tasks are the domain of the women infamilies as their domestic duties keep them close to the family homewhere an imals are most of tenkep to reasons of security and fore as confinance employment.

Thepricingofmilk

Evenwithallofthesefactors, milkpricereceived is very important to the farmer and his family. Yet the very nature of traditional milk marketing chains dictates that the relatively uneducated dairy farmer is isolated from the prices etting principles of supply and demand in operation in the urban market place. Factors influencing price received on farmer as well as the pricing policies of statutory organisations affected the price received for milk on farm (Ishaqetal. 2015).

Given the convoluted structure of informal marketing chains the fixing of milk prices in the urban market place leaves little room for profits having for the milk collectors or dhod is that form the chain and even less scope for a structure of the structure of

(170)

for the family for an average lactation of more than 200 days. The amino balance, vitamins and minerals provided by milk protects children and women from nutritional deficiencies. Where production exceeds family needs then the attraction of making as mallincome for the same duration helps a family pay for otheressential foods, clothing and pharmaceuticals.

As most of these farming operations also rely on cash cropping from their small areas and irrigation water allocation, income from livestock provides an insurance against crop failure as well as providing dung which enables nutrients to be recycled to the soil profile thus avoiding the use of expensive inorganic fertilisers. Animals also act as an insurance policy to pay for weddings, funerals, medical expenses and education fees (Afzal 2006). Both cropping and forage growing operations are seasonal and it is important that the farmer manageshislimited arable areatom aximise production from both of the seoperations.

Given the need to milk animal stwice daily and feed animals constantly, dairy operations generate employment opport unities. Most these tasks are the domain of the women infamilies as their domestic duties keep them close to the family homewhere an imals are most of tenkept for reasons of security and for ease of management.

Thepricingofmilk

Evenwithallofthesefactors, milkpricereceived is very important to the farmer and his family. Yet the very nature of traditional milk marketing chains dictates that the relatively uneducated dairy farmer is isolated from the prices etting principles of supply and demand in operation in the urban market place. Factors influencing price received on farmer as well as the pricing policies of statutory organisations affected the price received for milk on farm (Ishaqetal. 2015).

Given the convoluted structure of informal marketing chains the fixing of milk prices in the urban market place leaves little room for profits having for the milk collectors or dhod is that form the chain and even less scope for a realistic price being offered to the farmer. The dilution of milk with water and the addition of the radulterant sto boost perceived protein and factor tents by the scope rators is essential for profits having along the chain.

We have surveyed marketing chains in 3 districts of Punjaband found that the addition of water added up to 25% of the volume of milksold in the urban market place (Table 1).

Districts	Fat%	Protein%	SNF%	Addedwater%	Lactose%
Okara	4.527	2.570	6.818	19.65	3.598
Pakpattan	4.175	2.568	6.850	18.51	3.618
Kasur	4.231	2.367	6.303	24.61	3.327

 Table1:CompositionofmilkcollectedintheurbanmarketplacesofOkara,PakpattanandKasurinCentral

 PunjabProvincePakistan

 $\label{eq:list} It is clear that shop owners are able to balance the fat content of milk to remain above the 4\% benchmark by strategically blending the higher fat buffalomilk (<6%) with cow milk together with water to maintain fat at a level acceptable by the consumer whop laces a high emphasis on the yield of cream in the raw product and ghe euponboiling. It is the low protein levels that should be of concern to the consumer with concentrations of less than 2% of ten being found in the mark et place, suggesting that the dilution rate can be as high as 1:2 along some marketing chains. The container suse of formeas using milk volume along the chain also favour the trader, while in many commercial outlets the consumer is provided with 900 ml when in fact the has paid for one litre.$

Pakistan, however, is no different to other developing countries where informal marketing systems facilitate the supply of cheapercalories for the consumer (FAO.2013). Policies and developments trategies in many countries often fail to recognize and provide adequate support for smallholder production systems and associated marketing chains, focusing instead on high erprofile industrial production (Echeverría et al. 2011).



Theimportanceofmilkquality

While the dilution of milk with wateris well known give the amount of ice that is added to minimise the spoilage of product, other more covert contaminants can be found in milk. Concentrate feeds based on cottons eed and whe at glutenare highly susceptible to fungal contamination with the result that my cotox ins are often transferred from feed constituents to milk. Our studies have shown that up to 5% of a flat ox in B linfeed will be transferred to the milk of buffalo as the aflat ox in M 1 metabolite resulting inconcentrations that exceed international standard up to 100-fold. Given the highly carcinogenic nature of these to xins this represents a "sleeping" hazard for all consumers of milk in Pakistan (Aslametal 2015).

Thefutureformarketingdairyproducts

The traditional informal marketing chains described above are very reminiscent of mechanisms for the distributionandsaleofagriculturalproduceinthewesternworlduptothestartoftheindustrialrevolutionofthe 19thcentury.

This involved producing grain, milk, meat and fibre at the local level which was sold to traders and then through smalls cale merchants in the rawstate of perhaps with a single step of processing such as churning cream to form butter or grinding grain to flour. Governments of tense the price but the rewas little regulation of product quality. International trades eldom played arole, althoughs ad ly the dumping of heavily subsidized products like milk powder in the market place of developing countries has the potential to distort traditional marketing systems. This une thic algoratic chascom promised small-hold erfarming systems in both Africa and Asia of tendes troying the soles our ceso fincome form arginal populations such as no madic graziers. This has compromised the price formil knowledges.

Then with the advent of the industrial revolution the food production and marketing systems of Europe and North America under went profound change. The establishment of large scale first stage processing companies to for example grind grain (egCargill) or process milk lead to the development of second ary processing companies producing refined food products (e.g. Nestle).

The first U.S. milk processing plant to install pasteurization equipment was the Sheffield Farms Dairy in Bloomfield, New Jerseyin 1891, while Chicagobecame the first major Americancity to passalaw requiring commercial milk to be pasteurized. Mass distribution of milk was not possible until the advent of the milk bottle sealed with waxin 1884 and then the plastic coated card board milk cart on in 1932 (Bellis 2014)

These changes lead in evitably to large scale chains to resand supermarkets with associated large wholes a lead logistic scompanies. Inevitably this lead to pressure on farmer stoproduce more with lower profit margins per litre. If farmers were notable to increase their herd they went out of business, which has lead to commercial herds in California of more than 2000 cows. Similar trends have been seen in Australia. While the sceptic scald this would not happen in developing countries, this has not proved to be the case. Food systems in developing countries in Latin America, Asia, Eastern Europe, and some of Africa have undergone are volution since the 1980's resulting in the demise of small-hold erfarming systems (Reardon and Timmer 2012).

WillPakistanfollowthistrend?PerhapswewilllearnmorefromtheexperienceofIndiawhichhasrecently allowedmultinationalsupermarketcompaniestotradeinlargerpopulationcentres.

Increasingtheresilienceofsmall-holderdairyfarmers

Given the poor education available to most small-holder farmers, practice sused for an imal husbandry are most often of a traditional nature which transcend the generations. The low productivity of cattle buffaloherds is in part due to the poor extension services on offer from the government veter in ary advisory services. It is also important that only around 40% of small holder farmers are accorded any government services at all. The veter in ary curriculum of most universities places as trong emphasis on curative medicine and management of reproduction. Seldom is nutrition included as a major component of any curriculum. Similarly veter in ary services.



extension staff know little about calf rearing and its importance for farm profitability. Thus the training of extension staffisanimportant component of any assistance program.

Thetraditionalmechanismforfarmerextensionistoprovideformalpresentationsonsitetomalefarmersintheir villages. Our experience was that even with themost straightforward messages, success with this approach was limited to adoption rates of no better than 30%. This was even the case with our initial approach to training to untie animal sand provide free access to water and feed. The identification of sentine learly adopting farmers in villages helped in encouraging others to join our program. It was important to note that Punjabifarmers have an innate sceptic is move to get the reco-operatively with inavillage to achieve a common goal.

Howevermuch greater success was achieved when a "whole family" approach was taken to the provision of extensions ervices. This involved offering simultaneous extensions ervices to menand women, with the village school female teacher attending the female extension session. The school teacher then displayed the extension messages in the school room for the children to read. The material provided needed to be largely pictorial to ensure illiterate adults and poorly educated children understood the message. The content of the women's sessions was broadened to discuss informally matters relating to female and child health and for this reason the village health worker was often invited to attend also. Some sessions were also designed to broad encreational activities such as training with henna, stitching and even making ice-cream. The endresult of this approach was that many families then discussed the content of the meetings around the family meal that even ing and then the adoption of extension messages became afamily decision rather than that of the material provides and the state of the extension of the scale of the message of the scale of the sc

Howevermuch greater success was achieved when a "whole family" approach was taken to the provision of extensions ervices. This involved offering simultaneous extensions ervices to mean dwomen, with the village school female teacher attending the female extension session. The school teacher then displayed the extension messages in the school room for the child rentore ad. The material provided needed to be largely pictorial to ensure illiterate adults and poorly educated child ren understood the message. The content of the women's sessions was broadened to discuss informally matters relating to female and child health and for this reason the village health worker was often invited to attend also. Some sessions were also designed to broad encreational activities such as training with henna, stitching and even making ice-cream. The endre sult of this approach was that many families then discussed the content of the meetings around the family meal that even ing and then the adoption of extension messages became afamily decision rather than that of the male farmer by himself. Often it was the even perceptive female who fores a wbusiness opport unities for the family.

Assessingtheimpactoftrainingprograms.

Inevitably funding bodies like to be able to quantify the success of the programs they have funded. Yet this is often the most difficult as pecto fany project.

Inordertoachievethisgoalwedevelopedasimplequestionnairewhichsoughttogainanunderstandingofthe levelofadoptionofthesimplemessageswehadprovidedtosome900farmersforupto5years.

Thesimplicityofquestionsisshownhere: Un-tyingofanimals: Un-aware Aware

Indevelopingthisprogramwecategorizedfarmersaseither

- 1. Farmersregisteredwithourprogramandmostlikelytoadoptourmessages;
- 2. Farmersnotregisteredbutwhomaintaincontactwithregisteredfarmersorwhoattendourmeetingswithout formallyregistering.
- 3. Traditional farmers who have not shown significant interestinour programs.

Table2: Ratesofadoptionofextensionmessagesdeliveredtofarmersonspecifictopics.Thecategoriesof farmersaregivenaboveandtheywererandomlyselectedfrom5districtsinPunjaband2inSindh.The extensionmessagesaredetailedasfollows:

Untying:Farmerswereadvisedtountieanimalsandbuildasmallyardtoallowanimalsaccesstowaterad libitum.

Farmer					Ad Lib		
Group	Untying	TwoMonthsDry	Vaccination	BreedingBull	Colostrum	BalFeed	ImpSeed
1			Awareness	Recommendation			
(n=179)	98.3	95.5	Level(%)		97.2	92.7	89.8
2							
(n=116)	88.7	82.8	93.1	80.2	67.0	77.6	75.7
3							
(n=104)	75.0	78.9	80.8	71.8	42.2	68.6	73.5

Two monthsdry:Farmerswereadvisedtodryoffanimalsfor2monthspriortocalving.

- Vaccination:FarmerswereadvisedtouseeffectivevaccinesforFootandMouthdiseaseandHemorrhagic Septicemia
- Breed Bull:Farmerswereadvisedtousesemenfromprovensiresinbreedinganimals.
- Ad libitumcolostrum:Farmerswereadvisedtoprovideforcalvesaccesstocolostrumadlibituminthefirst 24hoursaftercalving.
- Bal Feed: Farmers were advised to provide sufficient quantities of a balanced ration including forage, concentrateandtracemineralstolactatinganimalstomaximiseproductionImpseed:Farmerswereadvised tosourceimprovedforageseedtoincreaseyields

Thesurprising result from these data was the poor understanding of the importance of colos trum to the neonatal calf. This highlights the effectiveness of impact assessments in determining future emphases for extension programs. In this case amore effective extension message needs to be delivered on the importance of colos trum: it possible also that the message needs to be delivered in addifferent way.

Conclusion

Of the factors that we relisted above as limiting for the development dairy industry, perhaps the most important is the lack of appreciation of the quality attributes of milk. Every year we learn more about the health-giving properties of this wonder fulbiological human food.

Wehaveknownforsometimeabouthevirtuesofthemajormacronutrientsinmilksuchasproteinlactoseandfat alongwithvitaminsandminerals. Weunderstandnowthatthecaseinsarehighlycomplexproteinscapableof yielding peptides that control a range of biological activities including behaviour, insulin sensitivity, blood pressure, gutabsorption, immunity, gutmotility and absorption and cholesterol status. Furthermore fatty acid composition and complex arbohydrates are now seen askey metabolic regulators for the consumerof fmilk. Yet most milk in Pakistan is boiled because of problems with food safety thereby destroying many labile milk components as well as denaturing the key proteins. Of course alternative methods to boiling such as heat treatment through pasteurization are needed to minimise the incidence of major milk-borne illnesses like tuberculosis, diphtheriaandtyphoid. The consumption of frawmilk through commercial outlets is strictly limited worldwide for this reason. An education program developed with a joint government private enterprise consortium would goalong way to change consumer knowled geand demand for quality products at the right price. Partofthismaybe aschool milk program where the same time providing an education program for the whole community.

So where does this leave the small-hold erdairy farmer who is losing money for every litre of milk hemarkets through the traditional chains? As is seen in most countries it is not the government extensions ervices that are



destined to change the profitability of milk production: public sector organisations are typically ineffective becauseoftheirstructuralinertia. Itistheprivatesectorthatneedstostepforwardtodevelopamuchwiderrange ofhighqualitydairyproductsandtoeducatetheconsumerontheirhealthgivingvirtues. Extensionservices for farmers must be run using our "whole family approach" to achieve the best results. Inevitably the role of the traditional marketing chainswill passtoinnovative private entrepreneurs, both large and small as suggested by Reardon and Timmerabove, toprovide much more direct links between the farming at eand the consumer. Payment to farmers must be based on strict quality attributes including the elimination of heavy metals, insecticides, herbicides and mycotoxins from the milk. These regulations need to be implemented by private industry and not government organisations.

Thereareothercontributing issues that will lead to the restructuring of the industry, however once the pricing of milk is linked to consumer demand for quality product, other changes in the production system will follow. However it is unlikely that 8.5 million dairy farmers will still be will be managing viable production systems in 5-10 years time. The Pakistanidairy industry has the potential to be one of the most efficient in the world given the rich natural resources available to these farmers. We await the partnership of government and private industry to deliver for the dairy farmer of the future.

References:

- AfzalM.2006.AperspectiveonlivestockdevelopmentinPakistan.PaperpresentedatNationalConferenceon InvestmentOpportunitiesinLivestockSector;2006.
- AhmadJ.2014.EconomicSurveyofPakistan&LivestockSector(2013-2014)inFinanceMo,ed.Islamabad: GovernmentofPakistan.
- Anon. 2014. Pakistan ranks at fourth with 36.2 million tons milk production Islamabad: Associated Press of PakistanLtd.
- AslamN,RodriguesI,McGillDM,WarriachHM,CowlingA,Haque4A,WynnPC.2015.Transferofaflatoxin fromhighlycontaminatedfeedtomilkandeffectofinycotoxinbinderontransferrateinNili-Ravibuffaloes. AnimalProductionSciencesubmitted.
- Bellis M. 2014. Milk & Dairy Related Inventions: The history of milk use, milk products, and milk related machinery. About Money.
- EcheverríaR,SolhM,SeréC,HallS.2011.Moremeat,milkandfish-byandforthepoor:.Nairobi:International LivestockResearchInstitute.Reportno.
- FAO2013.TheStateofFoodandAgriculture2013.Rome:FAOUnitedNations.
- IshaqM,LatifA,McGillDM,Warriach HM,BatoolZ,MajeedS,AijazM,ThomsonPC,WynnPC.2015.Factors affectingbuffaloandcowmilkpriceundersmall-holderdairyproductionsysteminPakistan.Mymensingh: BangladeshAgricultureUniversity.
- PakistanBureauofStatisticsGotP.2011.NationalNutritionSurveyinGodfreyS,ed.Islamabad:Governmentof thePakistan.
- PDDC.2006.Thewhiterevolution"DhoodhDarya".Pages105.Lahore:PakistanDairyDevelopmentCompany.
- Reardon T, Timmer CP. 2012. The Economics of the Food System Revolution. Annual Review of Resource Economics4:14.11-14.40.
- WorldBank.2013.WorldDevelopmentIndicators2013.Washington, DC:WorldBank.Reportno.
- ZiaU,MahmoodT,AliM.2011.DairyDevelopmentinPakistan.Rome:FoodandAgricultureOrganizationofthe UnitedNations.Reportno.

≪175≫

Theimpactofextensionprogramstoincreasetheproductivityofthe small-holderdairyfarmingindustryofPakistan

P.C. WynnA,D,D.M.McGillA,B,N.AslamAB,S.TufailAB,S.LatifAB,M.IshaqB,ZBatoolB,R.D.BushC, H.M. WarriachA,BandS.S.GodfreyA

AGrahamCentreforAgriculturalInnovationCharlesSturtUniversity,WaggaWagga2650NSWAustralia. BASLP DairyProject,UniversityofVeterinaryandAnimalSciences,Lahore54000Pakistan. CFacultyofVeterinaryScience,UniversityofSydney,PMB3Camden,NSW2570,Australia DCorrespondingAuthor:PeterWynnE-mail:pwynn@csu.edu.au

Summarytextforthetableofcontents

The 8.5 millions mall-holder dairy farmers of Pakistan produce over 90% of the nation's milk from 74 million animals averaging little more than 3 litres per day. Current marketing practices determine that they produce milk at aloss. This paper eview sours trategies to improve efficiencies in the industry to ensure that high quality milk will be available for the consume into the future.

Abstract

Dairyfarmingoperationswithsmallanimalnumbersproducinglowvolumesofaroundthreelitresperanimal perdaypredominateinPakistan'sdairyindustry. Althoughmuchofthisisconsumeddomestically, manyfarmers sell small volumes into traditional milk marketing chains which feed the product into urban retail outlets. Analysisofthesemarketingchainsshowthatthesefarmersmakealossoneverylitresold, whileattheotherend milkavailabletotheconsumerisofpoorqualityandoftendilutedasmuchas1:2withwater. Smallincremental profitmarginsareachievedbydilutionandtheuseofdistortedvolumemeasures astheproductispassedfrom smalldealerstolargerdistributorsandthentoretailoutlets. Itisimportantthatfarmersareabletoimprovethe efficiencyofproductionbyboostingtheproductivityofanimals. Thiscanbeachievedthroughtheadoptionof betternutrition and animal husbandry practices. At the same time small scale local marketing chains require refinementtoensureprofitsgeneratedfrommilkproductionstaywithlocalcommunities. Thispaperreportson thedevelopmentofeffectiveextensionstrategiesinvolvingthewholefamilyincludingthefarmer, hiswifeand children. They have led to significant improvements in the profitability of small-holder dairy farming and a growing awareness of farmers of the commercial potential for their household cows and buffalo. The sustainability of these small-holderproductionsystems in the face of changing consumerdemands for higher qualityproductsandworlddairyproducttraderemainstobeseen.

Keywords: Small-holderdairyfarmingPakistan

Introduction

Thecurrentstatusoftheindustry

Pakistan'seconomyisheavilyreliantuponagriculturalproductionwhichaccountsfor21% of the country'sGDP, withlivestockproduction contributing56% of agriculture's contribution (Anon,2015c). The livestock sector is dominated by milkand meat production with 62% of milk coming from abuffalopopulation of 34.6 million and there main dercoming from 39.7 million cattle, not all of which are kept formilk production (Anon, 2015a). The combined value of milk and meat of \$16.7 million exceeds the economic value of all cash crops (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013).

Thereare8.5millionruralsmallholderandperiurbandairyproducersmilkingtwotothreemilkinganimalswhich produceabout95% of the totalmilk production in Pakistan (Afzal, 2010). Around 80% of this comes from rural areas, many of which are isolated from major urban communities, while 15-20% is derived from periurban production units (FAO, 2011). Largerherds comprising more than 30 milking animals constitute only 0.3% of the total holding (Afzal, 2010). Most of the milkis produced in Punjab (63%) and Sindh (23%) while KPK and Baluchistan provide only 12% and 2% of total milk production of Pakistan (FAO, 2011).



 $\label{eq:statistics} While the statistics form ilk production are impressive, the productivity percowisvery low by worlds tandards. An imal sproduce as little as 3.15 litres perday when in many cases they have the genetic capability to produce 4 or 5 times this volume. While annual production is increasing at the rate of 53.2% per annum (Anon, 2015a), consumer demandis increasing by 15% each year to an impressive 43.2 million to nnes, some 5 million to nnes more than is produced. While the average length of lactation for the international dairy herd is 305 days which in many cases can be extended to 600 days (Abdelsayed et al., 2015), Pakistani buffalo and cattle struggle to maintain productivity beyond 200 days.$

Furthermoretheestimated 3.2% increase in production annually is offset by a 15% increase inconsumer demand which is currently at 43.2 million tonnes, some 5 million tonnes above annual total production. The short fall is made up from imports of whole milk powder, of which there is up to 50,000 tonnes being traded globally every month (Anon, 2015b).

Sustainabilityoftheindustry.

Increasingly livestock rearing and the consumption of animal products are seen as being environmentally unsustainable. Yetglobaldemandformeat and dairy products continue storise with the increase in urbanization of our worldpopulation (Stoll-KleemanandO'Riordin, 2015). The contributions of methane, nitrous oxide and carbondioxide from livestock toglobal warming are significant with 18% of total globale missions coming from this source (FAO., 2006). The use of poor quality rough ages and overstock ingoff ragile environments leading to low productivity per animal in the developing world exacerbates this problem. Clearly improvements in the efficiency of production per animalis required to reduce averse environmental impacts while at the same time providing more high quality food for the world (Foley et al., 2011).

Given the structure of the dairy industry in Pakistan based on small-holder production and the reliance of both urban and rural communities on milk as the major source of animal protein, we have focused on ways of increasing milk production peranimal on small-holder farms. Dairy animals are ideally suited to meeting these basic requirements since the family's daily needs can be provided injust as ingle milking of one or two animals for up to 250 days over the course of lactation. Incontrast the lack of refrigeration prevents the storage of meatine village house holds and so slaughter of lives to ckis not viable unless the family is able to sell meat into the local community.

Challengesassociated with the dissemination of information to small-holder farmers. Firstlyitis important to understand there as on sthat farmers ownanimals. A part from providing milk the number of animal sowned by the family conveyssocial status within their community, while at the same time acting abankor insurance to meet essential family expenses such as the financing of weddings, funerals and expensive medical care. So profitability of any small-holder dairy enterprise is not necessarily a prime concernforthe farmer. Of tenthemost profitable aspect of any farm is the cropping component, with the dairy enterprise very much a secondary concern. Very often there is no informal marketing chainform ill particularly inmore isolated regions where up to 70% of farmers produce milks olely to feed the infamilies (Raja, 2003).

In a recent survey reported by Godfrey (2015) of a 115 small-holder dairy farming operations in their rigated region of Okara, gross farmanalysis showed that the predominance of these dairy operations were not profitable (Table 1). The financial viability of the whole operation was dependent on the amount of finance borrowed to remain operational. Given that the profitability of the farm was carried by the cropping component, farmers were less receptive to any advice of fered to improve the profitability of the irray operations. Interestingly the return on assets was similar to that observed in many Australian farming operations.
Milkproductionperyear(kg)	<2,300	2,300-3,700	3,700-10,100	SED	PValue
Numberoffarms	39	38	38		
Aveproduction/animal(kg/yr)	780	990	1234		
Avemilkprice(PKR/kg)	22.89	22.84	23.25	0.60	0.752
Costofproduction(PKR/kg)	57.05	33.66	24.15	4.94	< 0.001
Profit(PKR/kg)	-34.16	-10.82	-0.9		
Enterprisemilkprofit(PKR/kg)	-43,072	-32,064	-679	8,355	< 0.001
TotalcropGM(PKR)	271,487	353,346	442,862	68,443	0.047
WholefarmGM(PKR)	228,202	299,082	464,162	89,724	0.019
Wholefarmop.profit(PKR)	134,651	170,029	303,281	78,667	0.082
Totalfinancecosts(PKR)	401,817	489,926	594,840	77,836	0.049
Netprofit	-267,166	-319,896	-291,559	70,390	0.755
Returnonassets(%)	3.27	1.37	4.24	1.84	0.290

Table1Grossmarginanalysisofsmall-holderdairyoperationsintheOkarairrigateddairyregionofPunjabstatein2011.Thefarmsarecategorizedaccordingtothevolumeofmilkproducedeachyear. DataaregivenasmeansandvarianceestimatedasameanSEDforeachvariable(source:2008-2009AgricultureSectorLinkagesDairyProgramfarmersurvey-unpublished)

The failure of farmers to be compensated adequately with a fairmark exprise for their milk is due to the structure of marketing chains connecting them to consumers, most of whom are urban based. Factors influencing price received on farmare dependent on whether milk is derived from buffaloor cattle, location of farms relative to markets, season, the education alstatus of the farmer and the pricing policies of statutory organisations affected the price received formilk on farm. Milk processors have the potential to collude to control prices, which are based on the conomic imperatives of the companies rather than the cost of production for small-hold erfarmers.

The structure of one marketing chain described in detail by God frey (2015) is given in Figure 1.



Figure1: Pyramidoftherelationshipsbetweenparticipantsinafreshunpackagedmilkvaluechainservicingthe needsofsmall-holdermilkproducersintheirrigatedOkara-Lahoreregion(Godfrey,2015)

≪178≫

Given the number of participants in these informal marketing chains relative to the number of farmers being serviced and the fixation of milk prices in the urban market place, there is little room for profits having for the milk collectors or dhod is that form the chain and even less scope for a realistic price being offered to the farmer. The dilution of milk with water and the addition of other adulter ant stoboost perceived protein and fat contents by the seoperators is essential for profits having along the chain.

Inasurveyofmarketingchainsin3districtsofPunjabandfoundthattheadditionofwateraddedupto40% of the volumeofmilksoldintheurbanmarketplace(Table2).

Districts	Fat%	Protein%	SNF%	Lactose%	Added water%
Kasur	2.2	1.7	4.5	2.4	30.5
Okara	2.7	1.9	5.1	2.7	41.2
Pakpattan	3.2	2.4	6.3	3.3	26.0

Table2: CompositionofinilkcollectedintheurbanmarketplacesofOkara,PakpattanandKasurinCentralPunjabProvince Pakistan(Aslam,2015).

Typically consumers are looking formilk containing 4% fat and this can be achieved by vendors strategically by blending the higher fat buffalomilk (<6%) with commilk together with water. Yetinours urvey of milk collected from milk outlets in Okara, Pakpattan and Kasur fat content was allow as 2.2% (Table 2). At this level the yield of ghe euponboiling is unacceptable for the consumer. It is also the low protein levels that should be of concern to the consumer with concentrations of less than 2% (Table 2) of ten being found in the market place suggesting that the dilution rate can be as high as 1:2 along some marketing chains. The containers used for measuring milk volume along the chain also favour the trader, while in many commercial outlets the consumeris provided with 900 mlwhenin fact he/she has paid for one litre. The alternative source of product from milk manufacturers is also problematic, since product labelling provides no fat concentration information at all, but rather an energy content. this provides no fat concentration.

Pakistan, however, is no different to other developing countries where informal marketing systems facilitate the supply of cheaper calories for the consumer (FAO, 2013). Yet the presence of 97 middle meninamarketing chain (Figure 1) through which only small volumes of milk flow, each making a small margin on the product they handle, is unsustainable in the long run.

Suchafinding is not unusual since policies and developments trategies in many countries of ten fail to recognize and provide a dequate support for small holder production systems and associated marketing chains. Instead the future is seen to lie with high errofile industrial production (Echeverria et al., 2011). However there is still a place for informal marketing chains in rural environments, particularly where there is no alternative for selling milk. These however must provide a more direct link between the producer and the consumer to ensure high quality product reaches the consumer while a dequate profit segmentated from the sale passback to the farmer.

The challenges of improving extension services to small-holder farmers

Given the poor scope for improved milk prices received on farm and the secondary importance of milk productioninthewholefarmbudgetformanyfarmers, it slittlewonder that high rates of a doption for extension messages delivered by veterinary staffarerare. Of course it is important to note that nonore than 40% of small-holder farmers in Pakistan receive any form of extension services from either government, NGO or private industry sources. The effectiveness of extension using the traditional formatof didactic delivery of information to male farmers has also found to be wanting.

This can easily be explained by the fact that males mostly have very little to dowith the collection of fodder, feeding, shedmanagement and value adding to the milk produced (Table 3).



Activity	Men	Women	Girls	Boys
Feeding	0.70 ^a	2.53	1.50	0.60
Collectingfodder	0.60	2.70	0.5	0.40
Shedmanagement	0.70	2.75	0.95	0.45
Marketingofproducts	2.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
Vaccinationandtreatment	2.10	1.30	0.80	0.30
Dairyproductpreparation	0	2.00	2.00	0
Average	1.01	2.04	1.13	0.45

Table 3. The extent of involvement of members of the small-holder farming family in livestock production practices on farm.

a Ranking, 0-1, minimum participation; 1.1-2, Some participation; 2.1-3, Maximum participation (source: adaptedfromZia, Mahmood, & Ali, 2011)

Given this information logic would dictate that an extension program focussing on improving animal productivity should focus on women and children and not the male members of the household. Yet the social structure of the traditional Pakistani family shows clearly that the male is the family leader and therefore the recipient to fall information that is important for the sustainability of the family.

The Agriculture Sector Linkages program (ASLP) dairy program has focused on refining their extension approachtoincorporatethefarmer, hiswife, hischildrenandthenthosethatprovideancillaryservicestothe community. These included the villages chool teacher and community healthworker. This has led to much higher adoption rates of key extension messages, which initially were as low as 15% using the traditional "male only" approach. An ecdotalevidence has suggested that this approach leads to significant discussion within the family unit on each extension message. In the case of calfrearing, the children were often active participants in the family debate, with their interest being engendered from the schoolen viron mentinwhich extension messages are displayed prominently on bull et inboards.

Assessmentoftheimpactofourextensionprogram

The success of any extension program can only be gauged by monitoring the increase inknowledge on the subject material among the farming communities. There was are quirement for a carefully constructed survey in which farmers and the infamilies were assessed on the inlevel of knowledge of the fundamental principle sunderlying the key messages. These messages related to major limitations to productivity that have been observed in small-holder dairy production systems.

Theyincluded:

- the needtountieanimalstoprovidefreeaccesstowaterandfeed;
- the requirementfora2monthdryperiodbetweenlactations;
- the needtovaccinateanimalsusinghighqualityeffectivevaccines;
- the selection of provensires formating;
- correctly balancingfeedstoprovideadequateenergy,proteinandtraceminerals;
- the useofhighqualityseedtomaximiseforageproduction.

Thesurveyof399farmersshowedthattheknowledgeofsocalledtraditionalfarmerswhohavenotbeentrained in the program varied markedly over these subject areas (Figure 2). Remarkably their knowledge of the importanceofcolostrumtothesurvivalofthenewborncalfwasverylow,whileattheotherendofthespectrum, a veryhighproportionunderstoodtheconceptoftheimportanceofprovidingwaterandfeedadlibitum.





 $\label{eq:Figure2:Theimpactofheprovision of extensions ervices to small-holder dairy farmers on their knowledge of 7 major parameters contributing to whole farm productivity. Farmers we reasked 5 standard questions relating to each topic. Number of farmers from across 5 districts in Punjab interviewed in this survey, registered: 179; unregistered: 116; traditional: 104. Columns within production parameter with different superscripts (a,b,c) we resignificantly different (p<0.05).$

While the impact of the extension program is clearly visible with these results, the interesting observation is that farmers who attend meeting solution twant to be engaged directly withour program also benefit. However, it is not possible to assess whether these farmers implement the knowledge they have acquired as their production systems are not monitored.

Itisfairtosaythatourprogramrefinedover7yearsinthetwomajorprovinces,PunjabandSindhhasgenerated significantadvancesinproductivityinthefarmingcommunitieswehaveworkedwithThefutureoftraditional marketingchainsandsmall-holderdairyfarming.

Thefutureoftraditionalmarketingchainsandsmall-holderdairyfarming.

Historyhasshownthattraditionalinformalmarketingchainsevolveovertime.InNorthAmericaandEuropein the19thcentury,grain,milk,meatandfibreproducedbysmall-holderfarmersatthelocallevelweretradedto localsmallscalemerchantsintherawstateorperhapswithasinglestepofprocessingsuchaschurningcreamto formbutterorgrindinggraintoflour.Governmentsoftensetthepricebuttherewaslittleregulationofproduct quality.

Then with the advent of the industrial revolution the food production and marketing systems of Europe and North America under went profound change. The establishment of large scale first stage processing companies to for example grind grain (egCargill) or process milk lead to the development of secondary processing companies producing refined food products (e.g. Nestle). Mass distribution of milk was not possible until the advent of the milk bottle sealed with waxin 1884 and then the plastic coated card board milk carton in 1932 (Bellis, 2014).

These changes lead in evitably to large scale chains to resand supermarkets with associated large wholes a lead logistic scompanies. In evitably this lead to pressure on farmers to produce more with lower profit margins per litre. If farmers were notable to increase their herd they went out of business, which had led to commercial herds in California of more than 2000 cows. Similar trends have been seen in Australia. While these prices and this would not happen in developing countries, this has not proved to be the case. Food systems in developing countries in Latin America, Asia, Eastern Europe, and some of Africa have undergone are volution since the 1980's resulting in the demise of small-hold erfarming systems (Reard on and Timmer, 2012).

Inevitably Pakistan's 8.5 million small-holder dairy farmers will be subjected to the whims of the world's economy. The industry will be subject to change as the expanding middle class consumer demands higher quality dairy products that meet world foods a fety standards. However any expansion of the industry will have to involve improve deficiencies in production that also account for environmental sustainability. Whether small-holder farming communities can meet the sechal lenges remains to be seen.

Referencelist:

ABD	ELSAYED, M., THOMSON, P.C. & RAADSMA, H.W.2015. Areview of the genetic and non-genetic
1	factorsaffectingextendedlactationinpasture-baseddairysystems. Animal Production Science, 55, 949-
	966.

AFZAL,M.2010.Re-designingsmallholderdairyproductioninPakistan.PakistanVeterinaryJournal,30,187-190.

ANON2015a.Agriculture.In:FINANCE,M.O.(ed.)EconomicsurveyofPakistan2014-2015.Islamabad: MinistryofFinance.

ANON.2015b.Globaldairytrade.ChartFocusMarch2005[Online].[Accessed7July2015].

ANON2015c.Growthandinvestment.In:FINANCE,M.O.(ed.)EconomicsurveyofPakistan2014-2015. Islamabad.

ASLAM, N.2015. Mycotoxins, dairyproduction and milkquality in Pakistan. PhD, Charles Sturt University.

BELLIS, M.2014. Milk&DairyRelatedInventions:Thehistoryofmilkuse, milkproducts, and milkrelated machinery. AboutMoney[Online].

ECHEVERRÍA, R., SOLH, M., SERÉ, C. & HALL, S. 2011. Moremeat, milkandfish-byandforthepoor. InternationalLivestockResearchInstitute.

FAO2011.DairydevelopmentinPakistan.In:ZIA,U.,MAHMOOD,T.&ALI,M.R.(eds.).Rome,Italy.

FAO2013.TheStateofFoodandAgriculture2013.Rome:FoodandAgricultureOrganizationoftheUnited Nations.

FAO.2006.Livestock'sLongShadow;EnvionmentalIssuesandOptions,RomeItaly,FoodandAgricultural OrganisationoftheUnitedNations.

- FOLEY,JA.,RAMANKUTTY,N.,BRAUMAN,KA.&AL,E.2011.Solutionsforacultivatedplanet.Nature, 478,337-341.
- FOODANDAGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION. 2013. FAOSTAT, Production, Final 2011 Data [Online]. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Available: http://faostat.fao.org/site/339/default.aspx[AccessedSeptember2013].

GODFREY,S.S.2015.Milkvaluechainanalysis:industrycompetitivenessandthedairypolicyenvironmentin Pakistan.PhD,CharlesSturtUniversity.

RAJA, R. J. 2003. Pakistan smallholder dairy production and marketing. Islamabad: Ministry of Food, AgricultureandLivestock, Pakistan.

REARDON, T.&TIMMER, C.P.2012. The Economics of the Food System Revolution. Annual Review of Resource Economics, 4, 14.1-14.40.

STOLL-KLEEMAN, S. & O'RIORDIN, T. 2015. The sustainability challenges of our meat and dairy diets. Environment:ScienceandPolicyforSustainableDevelopment, 57, 34-48.

182